
 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

City of Dripping Springs 

Council Chambers, 511 Mercer St, Dripping Springs, TX 

Tuesday, April 18, 2023 at 6:00 PM 

AGENDA 

CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

City Council Members 
Mayor Bill Foulds, Jr. 

Mayor Pro Tem Taline Manassian 

Council Member Place 2 Wade King 

Council Member Place 3 Geoffrey Tahuahua 

Council Member Place 4 Travis Crow 

Council Member Place 5 Sherrie Parks 

Staff, Consultants & Appointed/Elected Officials 
City Administrator Michelle Fischer 

Deputy City Administrator Ginger Faught 

City Attorney Laura Mueller 

City Treasurer Shawn Cox 

People & Communications Director Lisa Sullivan 

City Secretary Andrea Cunningham 

IT Director Jason Weinstock 

Planning Director Tory Carpenter 

Building Official Shane Pevehouse 

Parks & Community Services Director Andy Binz 

DSRP Manager Emily Nelson 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

PRESENTATION OF CITIZENS 

A member of the public who desires to address the City Council regarding any item on an agenda for an 

open meeting  may do so at presentation of citizens before an item or at a public hearing for an item 

during the City Council’s consideration of that item. Citizens wishing to discuss matters not contained 

within the current agenda may do so, but only during the time allotted for presentation of citizens. 

Speakers are allowed two (2) minutes to speak during presentation of citizens or during each public 

hearing.  Speakers may not cede or pool time.    Members of the public requiring the assistance of a 

translator will be given twice the amount of time as a member of the public who does not require the 

assistance of a translator to address the City Council.  It is the request of the City Council that members 

of the public wishing to speak on item(s) on the agenda with a noticed Public Hearing hold their comments 

until the item(s) are presented for consideration.  Speakers are encouraged to sign in.  Anyone may 

request a copy of the City’s policy on presentation of citizens from the city secretary.  By law no action 

may be taken during Presentations of Citizens. 

1



PRESENTATIONS 

1. Presentation and discussion regarding the Heritage Public Improvement District 

issuance of bonds.   

CONSENT AGENDA 

The following items are anticipated to require little or no individualized discussion due to their nature 

being clerical, ministerial, mundane or routine. In an effort to enhance the efficiency of City Council 

meetings, it is intended that these items will be acted upon by the City Council with a single motion because 

no public hearing or determination is necessary. However, a City Council Member or citizen may request 

separate deliberation for a specific item, in which event those items will be removed from the consent 

agenda prior to the City Council voting on the consent agenda as a collective, singular item. Prior to 

voting on the consent agenda, the City Council may add additional items that are listed elsewhere on the 

same agenda. 

2. Approval of the March 21, 2023, City Council regular meeting minutes. 

3. Approval of the April 4, 2023, City Council workshop and regular meeting minutes. 

4. Approval of the March 2023 City Treasurer's Report. 

5. Approval of Agreement for Disclosure of Confidential Tax Information between the City 

of Dripping Springs and Los Olivos Market Dripping Springs LLC. 

6. Approval of a Co-Sponsorship Agreement between the City of Dripping Springs and 

Pride of Dripping Springs for the Pride of Dripping Springs Festival on June 24, 

2023. Applicant: Juana Searcy, President, Pride of Dripping Springs 

7. Approval of a Professional Services & Use Agreement between the City of Dripping 

Springs and Hell Country Productions, Inc. for a Haunted House at Dripping Springs 

Ranch Park. Applicant: Aaron Sulser, Hell Country Productions, Inc. 

8. Approval of Resolution Designating the Mayor, Mayor Pro Tem, and Certain City Staff 

as Authorized Signatories regarding Financial and Budgetary Procedures. Sponsor: 

Mayor Bill Foulds, Jr. 

BUSINESS AGENDA 

9. Discuss and consider approval of the selection of a contractor and authorization for city 

staff to negotiate an agreement for Building Inspection and Plan Review Services based 

on responses to the Request for Proposals.  Sponsor: Mayor Bill Foulds, Jr. 

10. Discuss and consider approval of an Ordinance annexing and an Ordinance rezoning a 

97.44-acre property to Planned Development District with a base zoning of SF-3 and 

GR, with 68.38-acres of residential uses, approximately 6.7-acres of commercial uses, 

and approximately 22.36-acres of open space, as amended by the ordinance language 

herein, for property located on U.S. 290 and north of the intersection of Drifting Wind 

Run commonly known as “Gateway Village”. Applicant:  John Doucet, Doucet and 

Associates 

2



a. Applicant Presentation 

b. Staff Report 

c. Planning & Zoning Commission Report 

d. Public Hearing 

e. Annexation Ordinance and Agreement 

f. Zoning Ordinance 

11. Discuss and consider approval of Agreements related to the Gateway Village 

Subdivision.  Applicant: Matthew Scrivener 

a. Staff Report 

b. Offsite Road Agreement 

c. Wastewater Agreement 

d. Water Agreement 

e. Line Extension Agreement 

12. Discuss and consider approval of a Resolution of the City of Dripping Springs, Texas 

consenting to the Annexation of Land commonly known as Gateway Village into 

Dripping Springs Municipal Utility District No. 1 and containing related findings and 

provisions.  Applicant: Matthew Scrivener 

13. Discuss and consider approval of a First Amendment to Agreement Concerning 

Creation and Operation of Dripping Springs Municipal Utility District No. 1. Applicant: 

Matthew Scrivener 

REPORTS 

Reports of Staff, Boards, Commissions, Committees, Boards and Agencies are on file and available for 

review upon request. The City Council may provide staff direction; however, no action may be taken. 

14. March 2023 Maintenance Report 

Craig Rice, Deputy Public Works Director 

15. Emergency Management Report 

Roman Baligad, Emergency Management Coordinator 

16. Planning Department Report 
Tory Carpenter, Planning Director 

EXECUTIVE SESSION AGENDA 

The City Council for the City of Dripping Springs has the right to adjourn into executive session at any 

time during the course of this meeting to discuss any matter as authorized by Texas Government Code 

Sections 551.071 (Consultation with Attorney), 551.072 (Deliberations about Real Property), 551.073 

Deliberations about Gifts and Donations), 551.074 (Personnel Matters), 551.076 (Deliberations about 

Security Devices), and 551.086 (Economic Development). The City Council for the City of Dripping 

Springs may act on any item listed in Executive Session in Open Session or move any item from Executive 

Session to Open Session for action. 

17. Consultation with Attorney related to settlement of litigation related to code 

enforcement and open government. Consultation with Attorney, 551.071 

3



18. Consultation with Attorney regarding legal issues related to coordination with the 

Dripping Springs Visitors Bureau. Consultation with Attorney, 551.071 

19. Consultation with Attorney regarding legal issues related to the South Regional Water 

Reclamation Project, Wastewater, and Amendment 2 Permits, Water Service, and 

related items. Consultation with Attorney, 551.071 

20. Consultation with Attorney related to legislative program and matters regarding water, 

wastewater, utility issues, and other municipal issues at the Texas 

Legislature.  Consultation with Attorney, 551.071 

UPCOMING MEETINGS 

City Council & Board of Adjustment Meetings 
May 2, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. (CC & BOA) 

May 16, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. (CC) 

June 6, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. (CC & BOA) 

June 20, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. (CC) 

Board, Commission & Committee Meetings 
April 20, 2023, Emergency Management Commission at 12:00 p.m. 

April 24, 2023, Transportation Committee at 3:30 p.m. 

April 25, 2023, Planning & Zoning Commission at 6:00 p.m. 

April 26, 2023, Economic Development Committee at 4:00 p.m. 

April 27, 2023, Farmers Market Committee at 10:00 a.m. 

May 1, 2023, Parks & Recreation Commission at 6:00 p.m. 

ADJOURN 

TEXAS OPEN MEETINGS ACT PUBLIC NOTIFICATION & POSTING OF MEETING 

All agenda items listed above are eligible for discussion and action unless otherwise specifically 

noted.  This notice of meeting is posted in accordance with Chapter 551, Government Code, Vernon's 

Texas Codes. Annotated.  In addition, the City Council may consider a vote to excuse the absence of any 

City Council Member for absence from this meeting. 

I certify that this notice of meeting was posted at the City of Dripping Springs City Hall and website, 

www.cityofdrippingsprings.com, on April 14, 2023, at 2:15 p.m. 

 

 

City Secretary 

 

This facility is wheelchair accessible. Accessible parking spaces are available. Request for auxiliary aids 

and services must be made 48 hours prior to this meeting by calling (512) 858-4725. 

4



 

STAFF REPORT 
 

City of Dripping Springs 

PO Box 384 

511 Mercer Street 

Dripping Springs, TX 78620 

Submitted By: Laura Mueller, City Attorney; Andre Ayala, Hilltop Securities Inc.; Dottie 

Palumbo, Special Council 

Council Meeting Date: December 20, 2022 

Agenda Item Wording: Discuss and consider approval of the Amended and Restated 
Heritage Public Improvement District Financing and 
Reimbursement Agreement between the City of Dripping 
Springs and M/I Homes of Austin, LLC. 

Agenda Item Requestor: M/I Homes of Austin, LLC  

Summary/Background:   Project Overview 

The Heritage project is approximately 189 acres located in the heart of 

Dripping Springs. It is characterized by a variety of residential project types, 

parks, open space, and trails, and commercial uses compatible with the 

surrounding community. The project has been annexed into the city limits, 

and the zoning classification is Planned Development District (PDD) # 5. 

Many of the public improvements will be funded through a Public 

Improvement District (PID).  

Public Benefits 

The following public benefits will be provided in Heritage: 

• Wastewater facilities 

• Water facilities 

• Entryway monument 

• Offsite roadway 

• Collector roadways 

• Detention ponds 

• Package plant 

• Trails, parks, and open space 

• Landscaping and hardscaping 

Most of the improvements listed above will be funded through the PID, and 

some will be funded by the home builders.  (The original documents were 

assigned to M/I Homes and TriPointe Homes in November 2020).   

 PDD #5 Zoning  

5

Item 1.



The Planned Development District (PDD) has its own standards regarding 

setbacks, impervious cover, design standards, and so on. The PDD was 

adopted by City Council in June 2017.   

The proposed Heritage PDD will provide a minimum of 28 acres of parks 

and open space, an amenity center, and will also include a variety of housing 

types suited to the needs of several demographic segments of the population. 

 700 DUs 

 Residential:  Single Family, Garden Home, Condo, Courtyard, 

Townhomes, Multi-Family 

 Trail System and Sidewalks 

 Neighborhood Center/Amenity Center 

 Open Spaces and Pocket Parks 

     

FUNDING & CONSTRUCTION 

 

FACILITY CITY 

FUNDING 

OWNER 

FUNDING 

RESPONSIBILITY 

TO BUILD 

First Amendment 

Facilities 
(everything needed 

for First 

Amendment except 

Stage 1 Facilities) (§ 

1.15) (§ 2.3) 

100%  City 

Stage 1 Facilities 
(Onsite + lines to 

get to existing City 

lines) (§1.24) 

(§1.28) 

 100% Owner 

Stage 2 Onsite 

Facilities (§1.24) 

(§1.29) 

 100% Owner 

Stage 3 Onsite 

Facilities (§1.24) 

(§1.30) 

 100% Owner 

Effluent 

Transmission Line 

(§ 2.4(a)) 

½ of 

anything 

over cap 

Pro-rata 

between 

Owner and 

anybody who 

uses it to 

obtain capacity 

+ ½ of 

anything over 

cap 

Owner 

6

Item 1.



Heritage Stage 2 

Effluent Disposal 

Fields (may be built 

in phases) 

(construction and 

removal) (§ 2.5(b)) 

(§ 2.7(e)) 

 100% Owner 

Third Amendment 

Facilities (§ 1.33) (§ 

2.5(d)) 

½ of 

anything 

over cap 

Pro-rata 

between 

Owner and 

anybody who 

uses it to 

obtain capacity 

+ ½ of 

anything over 

cap 

City 

Force Main 

Improvements or 

Agreed Alternative 

(§ 2.6) 

 

 Pro-rata by 

Owner and 

other users of 

the Force Main 

Improvements 

City 

Discharge Permit 

Facilities (excludes 

Force Main 

Improvements)(§ 

2.6(a)) 

100%  City 

Temporary Onsite 

Wastewater 

Treatment Plant 

and 

Decommissioning 

(§ 2.9) 

 100% Owner 

 

Updated PID Finance Agreement 

The City approved the PID Finance and Reimbursement Agreement in 

October 2017 with Stratford Land Company. This Agreement, along with 

the other agreements related to this project, were assigned to M/I Homes and 

Trendmaker Homes in 2020.  The PID  Agreement is designed to provide 

reimbursement through PID Bonds and Assessments to the firm constructing 

the public improvements.  These improvements are listed above.  The 

Amended Agreement performs two primary tasks.  One task is to update the 

agreement due to recent legislation.  The second task is to update the order 

of improvements.  The order of improvements aligns with current 

documents and only those improvements constructed and then approved and 

accepted by the City will be eligible for PID Bonds and reimbursement.   

7

Item 1.



The original agreement provided for up to $27.5 million in PID bonds for 

reimbursement for Public Improvements estimated at $24 million.  In 

addition, Non-PID Funded Public Improvements were anticipated to be 

around $18 million.  These same amounts exist in the Amended Agreement. 

Also, in both the original and Amendment Agreements, the PID 

improvements will be funded by the Owner and then reimbursed from the 

proceeds of the PID Bonds or Special Assessments.  The phasing of which 

improvements will be completed when has shifted, but are still in line with 

what was envisioned in the related agreements including the Road and 

Wastewater Agreements.  As each set of improvements are completed by 

the Owner, and the improvements are approved and accepted by the City, 

the Owner can seek reimbursement through the PID Bonds and 

Assessments.  

New Phasing Plan 

 

8

Item 1.



 

Previous Phasing Plan  

 

Commission 

Recommendations: 

N/A 

Recommended  

Council Actions: 

Approval of the amended agreement.   

Attachments: Amended Agreement, documents from original project.  

Next Steps/Schedule: If approved the city administration and planning department will implement.  

State of Texas:  No limit.   

9

Item 1.



 

10

Item 1.



  6/16/2017 

Heritage Project-Staff Report  Page 1 of 11 

 

 

City of Dripping Springs | Heritage Development-PDD # 5  

Staff Report for City Council  

 

Project Overview 

 

The proposed Heritage project is approximately 189 acres located in the heart of Dripping 

Springs. It is characterized by a variety of residential project types, parks, open space, and trails, 

and commercial uses compatible with the surrounding community. The project will be annexed 

into the city limits, and the zoning classification will be Planned Development District (PDD) # 

5. Many of the public improvements will be funded through a Public Improvement District 

(PID). The City’s PID Policy is attached to this report as “Attachment B.” 

 

Project Timeline 

 

The table below is an overview of key dates pertaining to Heritage PDD and Annexation and 

Development Agreement. It is not an exhaustive list, but provides dates when drafts were 

submitted, presentations, and P&Z and City Council meeting dates during which the project was 

discussed. City staff and consultants met several times on dates not included on this list to review 

draft documents.  

 

Date Action 

Oct. 27, 2015 Applicant submits drafts and meet with staff and consultants  

Jan. 6, 2016 Meeting between development team, staff and consultants 

Jan. 11, 2016 Development team-Parks and Recreation Commission briefing 

Jan. 12, 2016 City authorizes voluntary annexation proceedings 

Jan. 26, 2016 Development team-P&Z briefing (PDD and PID) 

Feb. 1, 2016 Development team-Historic Preservation Commission briefing 

Feb. 8, 2016 Development team-Transportation Committee briefing 

Feb. 12, 2016 Development team-revised PDD drafts submitted to the City along with PID 

SAP and Finance Agreement 

Feb. 16, 2016 Annexation Public Hearing # 1 

Feb. 17, 2016 Annexation Public Hearing # 2 

Feb. 23, 2016 Development team-P&Z briefing (PDD and PID) 

Mar. 8, 2016 -Annexation-Institution of Proceedings 

-Transportation Committee met with HDR and Heritage developers to review 

Traffic Capacity Analysis  

Mar. 17, 2016 Conference Call- City Staff, Consultants, and Applicant representatives  

Mar. 22, 2016 -P&Z briefing (PID informational) 

-P&Z briefing and public hearing (PDD) 

-City Council Meeting - PID Public Hearing 

-City Council-PDD concept plan presentation 

May 4, 2016 Special called P&Z meeting for recommendation of PDD Ordinance 

April 18, 2017 Annexation Institution of Proceedings – City Council approves resolution 

May 23, 2017 P&Z Workshop-presentations only, no action taken  

June 12, 2017 P&Z special meeting for recommendation 

11

Item 1.



  6/16/2017 

Heritage Project-Staff Report  Page 2 of 11 

 

June 13, 2017 City Council workshop-presentation only, no action taken 

June 20, 2017 Possible City Council Action:  

 PDD Zoning Ordinance 

July 11, 2017 Possible City Council Action: (last day for annexation adoption before 

expiration) 

 Annexation Adoption  

 PDD Zoning Ordinance 

 Annexation and Development Agreement 

 Wastewater Service Agreement 

 PID Creation 

 PID Finance Agreement 

 PID Service and Assessment Plan 

 

Public Benefits 

 

The following public benefits will be provided in Heritage: 

 Wastewater facilities 

 Water facilities 

 Entryway monument 

 Offsite roadway 

 Collector roadways 

 Detention ponds 

 Package plant 

 Trails, parks, and open space 

 Landscaping and hardscaping 

Most of the improvements listed above will be funded through the PID, and some will be funded 

by Stratford Land Company.  

 

Function of the PDD 

 

The Planned Development District (PDD) is a zoning classification that has its own standards 

regarding setbacks, impervious cover, design standards, and so on. After careful consideration, a 

PDD is adopted by City Council and becomes part of the Zoning Ordinance.  

 

PDDs are designed to allow for unique and superior-quality developments to occur. Land uses and 

design standards for PDDs are tailored to fit the physical features of the site and to achieve 

compatibility with existing and planned adjacent uses. A PDD allows flexibility in zoning and 

design standards to create a mixed-use, compact development.  

 

The proposed Heritage PDD will provide a minimum of 28 acres of parks and open space, an 

amenity center, and will also include a variety of housing types suited to the needs of several 

demographic segments of the population.     

 

Public Concerns 

12

Item 1.



  6/16/2017 

Heritage Project-Staff Report  Page 3 of 11 

 

In 2016, several residents have reached out to City Hall to expressed concerns about the proposed 

Heritage project. A list of concerns, along with strategies to address them, are summarized in the 

table below. 

 

Concern  Strategy 

-Request traffic study regarding impact of 

additional traffic created by Heritage on HSR, 

RR 12, Springlake Rd. and US 290 

-Request no road accessibility into HSR via 

Shane Ln. and Golden Eagle or any other 

connection between HSR and Heritage 

-Traffic Study submitted to City and reviewed 

by the Transportation Committee 

-Traffic Impact Analysis to be submitted at 

time of first plat 

-Any connection to Shane Ln. is not part of 

Heritage project 

-Connection to Shane Ln is indicated in 

City’s Transportation Plan 

-A connection between 290 and Shane Ln. 

will likely be constructed by the ISD and City 

(not a part of the Heritage development)  

-Request Development Parcel A to be 

comprised of entirely detached single-family 

homes abutting any portions of HSR Section 

II.  

-Request 8 foot stone wall buffer separating 

Development Parcel A and portion of HSR, 

Section II 

-Development Parcel A will include single-

family detached homes, garden homes, and 

townhomes. Commercial use is also slated but 

will be located along the roadway and not 

abutting HSR 

-A 25’ setback will be required for lots in 

Parcel A abutting HSR 

-Impact on City water and sewer -Wastewater Agreement is being drafted and 

will be completed by the time of the project 

approval 

-Water is provided by the WSC, not the City. 

Water provision for Heritage is being worked 

out between the developer and the WSC 

 

Transportation  

 

A Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) will be submitted with the first plat. The Applicant also provided 

to the City a capacity and analysis study (Traffic Study). The study results showed that the 

proposed transportation network was sufficient to handle the volume of traffic expected to be 

generated. The Traffic Study was reviewed and approved by the Transportation Committee.  

 

On March 8, 2016, the Transportation Committee along with a consultant from HDR met with the 

Heritage development team to review the Traffic Study. At this meeting Heritage presented the 

results of their traffic capacity analysis and received committee recommendations. One of the 

significant recommendations was to realign the intersection at RR12. The original intersection at 

RR12 was proposed at Brookside. This alignment was not optimal especially given the intersection 

improvement Old Fitzhugh Road and RR12. Redesigning this entry point to Heritage was a 

challenging undertaking. Realignment would require coordination with three separate property 

owners and involve significant cost and effort on behalf of the city. Following this meeting several 

actions were undertaken:  

13

Item 1.



  6/16/2017 

Heritage Project-Staff Report  Page 4 of 11 

 

1. Develop alternative options for entry realignment.  

2. Contact affected property owners and determine feasibility of the alignment, potential costs, and 

possible timeline.  

3. HDR conduct a review of the traffic capacity study by Heritage and provide any comments.  

4. Committee members were tasked to conduct a final review of the Heritage Road plan and 

provide any final input.  

 

At the February 22, 2016 Transportation Committee meeting, the Committee focused on these 

issues. After considerable discussion it was determined that realigning the intersection at RR12 

was not feasible at this time. Considerable discussion was also given to a left turn lane on the main 

East-West Road in Heritage. Given the traffic capacity analysis, a left turn lane was deemed not 

required at this time. However, the landscaping islands will allow the city to pursue that option, if 

required, at a future date. Additionally, the Committee focused on the proposed slip streets and 

how they would affect traffic flow in the community. The committee deemed the slip street concept 

acceptable, pending review of the fire department for emergency access. At the end of discussion, 

the Committee voted (5 For, 1 Against) to approve the Heritage transportation concept plan, 

pending any final comments from HDR on the traffic capacity analysis.  

 

Offsite Roadway and Trail Agreement 

The Offsite Road and Trail Agreement covers the construction by the Owner of the offsite portion 

of the Roger Hanks Parkway road extension from the west property line of the Property to the 

intersection with Golden Eagle Drive, or another location as necessary to line up with the portion 

of the Roger Hanks extension being constructed by Dripping Springs Independent School District 

(“DSISD”) in order to provide a continuous roadway from the Property to US 290. Otherwise, the 

Owner shall deposit funds with the City. Additionally, the Owner is required to construct an offsite 

trail extension from the Property to Mercer Street or shall otherwise deposit funds to the City. A 

new exhibit for the Roger Hanks roadway extension is incorporated in the Annexation and 

Development Agreement and will be provided at the meeting.  This Agreement does not eliminate 

the Heritage Project’s duty to pay for other facilities, including roadway facilities, if such 

improvements are required under the Code. 

 
Wastewater Agreement 

 

SUMMARY OF HERITAGE AGREEMENT1 

 

1. CITY PROVIDES RETAIL WASTEWATER SERVICE (§ 2.1) 

a. 700 LUEs total. 

 

2. THREE STAGES OF SERVICE (§ 2.2) 

a. STAGE 1 (First Amendment) -- 150 LUEs upon Construction of Stage 1 

Facilities (First Amendment) 

b. STAGE 2 (Third Amendment or Discharge) -- 330 LUEs upon: 

i. Issuance of Amendment 3 

ii. Completion of 3rd Amendment Facilities; and  

iii. Owner’s construction of Stage 2 Onsite and Heritage Stage 2 Fields 

                                                           
1 This is only a summary actual Contract language should be consulted for definitive interpretation. 

14

Item 1.



  6/16/2017 

Heritage Project-Staff Report  Page 5 of 11 

 

 

OR (If Owner elects to forgo 3rd Amendment Facilities per 2.5(a)) 

 

i. Issuance of Discharge Permit 

ii. Completion of Discharge Permit Facilities; and 

iii. Owner’s Construction of Stage 2 Onsite facilities 

c. STAGE 3 (Discharge) – 220 LUEs upon: 

i. Issuance of Discharge Permit 

ii. Completion of Discharge Permit Facilities and Force Main 

Improvements (unless owner forgoes participation as allowed by 2.6(e)); 

and 

iii. Owner’s Construction of Stage 3 Onsite facilities 

 

3. IMPACT FEES 

a. Owner Pays Impact Fees (§ 2.3(a)) (§ 5.1) 

b. STAGE 1 – Owner pays $1,500 w/in 45 days of Effective Date, remainder upon 

pulling building permit 

c. STAGE 2 and STAGE 3 -- upon pulling building permit 

 

4. RESERVATION FEES (§ 5.2) 

a. STAGE 1 – $50/month after 1st Amendment Facilities are operational 

b. STAGE 2 and STAGE 3 – None 

 

5. RELEASE OF LUEs 

a. Failure to pay Reservation Fees 

 

6. EFFLUENT TRANSMISSION LINE (§ 2.4) 

a. Payment Cap: [Amount not yet specified] (§ 2.4(b)) 

i. If cost exceeds payment cap – City and Heritage splits costs above cap 

b. Built as part of 3rd Amendment facilities or as Discharge Permit Facilities (§ 2.4) 

c. If Owner builds Onsite WWTP, the Treated Effluent Line will not be built (§ 2.8) 

 

7. THIRD AMENDMENT FACILITIES (§ 2.5) 

a. City to file within 90 days of Effective date 

b. Owner can await Discharge Facilities or build Onsite WWTP instead of 

proceeding with 3rd Amendment facilities 

i. Election must be in writing after issuance of permit is final and City 

determines 3rd Amendment facilities are needed. 

c. Payment Cap: [Amount not yet specified] (§ 2.5(d)) 

i. If cost exceeds payment cap – City and Heritage splits costs above cap 

 

8. DISCHARGE PERMIT FACILITIES AND FORCE MAIN FACILITIES(§ 2.6) 

a. Owner may give City Notice and decide to build Force Main Improvements itself, 

but cost shall not exceed Owner’s Pro-rata share (§ 2.5(c)) 

i. If Owner doesn’t collect pro-rata share, Owner gets an impact fee credit  

15

Item 1.



  6/16/2017 

Heritage Project-Staff Report  Page 6 of 11 

 

b. Owner can elect to forgo Force Main Improvements, and City shall be required to 

serve only what is possible (§ 2.6(e)) 

 

9. 210 REUSE (§ 2.7) 

a. City does conversion to 210 

b. Owner gets free of charge for 3 years after water becomes available 

c. City must obtain 210 approval 

d. City to use best efforts to provide Heritage with 210 water in the event of shortage 

 

10. TEMPORARY ONSITE WWTP (§ 2.8)  

a. If Stage 2 or Stage 3 LUEs are not available in a timely manner, Owner may build 

Onsite WWTP. 

i. Election must be made before issuance of 3rd Amendment 

b. If Owner makes election, Owner needs not fund: 

i. Discharge Permit Facilities 

ii. The Force Main Improvements 

iii. Third Amendment Facilities 

1) Note:  The Treated Effluent Line is built as part of 3rd 

Amendment facilities or as Discharge Permit Facilities (§ 2.4) 

c. After completion, Onsite WWTP will be dedicated to City 

d. Onsite WWTP can’t be used for service outside of development (§ 2.9) 

 

11. REMOVAL OF WWTP 

a. Within 120 days after Discharge Facilities are completed, City will accept 

wastewater at City System 

b. Owner pays for decommissioning 

 

FUNDING & CONSTRUCTION 

 

FACILITY CITY 

FUNDING 

OWNER 

FUNDING 

RESPONSIBILITY 

TO BUILD 

First Amendment Facilities 
(everything needed for First 

Amendment except Stage 1 

Facilities) (§ 1.15) (§ 2.3) 

100%  City 

Stage 1 Facilities (Onsite + lines 

to get to existing City lines) 

(§1.24) (§1.28) 

 100% Owner 

Stage 2 Onsite Facilities (§1.24) 

(§1.29) 

 100% Owner 

Stage 3 Onsite Facilities (§1.24) 

(§1.30) 

 100% Owner 

16

Item 1.



  6/16/2017 

Heritage Project-Staff Report  Page 7 of 11 

 

FACILITY CITY 

FUNDING 

OWNER 

FUNDING 

RESPONSIBILITY 

TO BUILD 

Effluent Transmission Line (§ 

2.4(a)) 

½ of 

anything 

over cap 

Pro-rata between 

Owner and anybody 

who uses it to obtain 

capacity + ½ of 

anything over cap 

Owner 

Heritage Stage 2 Effluent 

Disposal Fields (may be built in 

phases) (construction and 

removal) (§ 2.5(b)) (§ 2.7(e)) 

 100% Owner 

Third Amendment Facilities (§ 

1.33) (§ 2.5(d)) 

½ of 

anything 

over cap 

Pro-rata between 

Owner and anybody 

who uses it to obtain 

capacity + ½ of 

anything over cap 

City 

Force Main Improvements or 

Agreed Alternative (§ 2.6) 

 

 Pro-rata by Owner and 

other users of the 

Force Main 

Improvements 

City 

Discharge Permit Facilities 

(excludes Force Main 

Improvements)(§ 2.6(a)) 

100%  City 

Onsite Temporary WWTP and 

Decommissioning (§ 2.9) 

 100% Owner 

 

Sustainable Places Project 

 

The proposed PDD.5 “(Heritage)” Project (196 ac.) represents just over a quarter (26.2%) of the larger 

(749 ac.) Study Area of the 2011-13 “Sustainable Places Project” (SPP). 

 

The SPP was guided by six “Livability Principles."   

 

A very brief comparison of the SPP recommendations for each, and how Heritage Project addresses 

them, is summarized as follows: 

 

 

 

Feature / Principles 

 

 

Sustainable Places Project 

 

PDD.5 / Heritage Project 

 

Land Area 749 ac. 189 ac. 

Total Dwelling Units 966 DU’s w/ Variety of Mix 700 DU’s w/ Variety Proposed 

Housing Choices Multiple Housing Choices. Multiple possible residential 

17

Item 1.



  6/16/2017 

Heritage Project-Staff Report  Page 8 of 11 

 

All kinds of housing for  

All kinds of people. 

 

Residential Choices:  

5-8ksf lots, 3-5ksf lots, Apts. 

Total: 966 DU’s / 5.1 DU/ac. 

Products: SFD, Garden Home, 

Village Condo, Courtyard  

 

Housing 2-4 Family DU’s, 

Townhomes, Multi-Family. 

Total: 700 DU’s / 3.57 DU/ac. 

Mobility Options Multiple Housing Choices.   

All kinds of housing for  

All kinds of people. 

Trail System provided. 

Sidewalks & Bike Lanes 

Provided on Streets. 

Economic Prosperity Live / Work / Shop / Learn. 

Jobs + Services available 

For Area Residents. 

 

Proposed: 40ksf Office;  

20 ksf TC/NC Retail 

Permitted Uses “Commercial Uses:” 

 

Proposed: Min. 20ksf “Commercial”  

@ Amenity / Neighborhood Center 

“G” 

***Additional “Commercial Uses” 

Allowed @Parcels “F” & MF 

portions  

of Parcels “B, C, & D”… 

Healthy Communities Healthy Bodies and Minds 

Recreation, Health, Food & 

Civic Activities. 

Greenbelt Open Spaces 

Pocket Parks, Amenity / 

Recreation Center, Trails, etc 

Concentrated and 

Balanced Growth 

Contributes to Town-Making.  Pedestrian-Friendly 

Mixed-Use Environments. 

“Town Center” Neighborhood,  

close to Schools and two 

(2) Historic Districts 

Environmental and 

Natural Resources 

Protect Natural Areas & Resources.  Waterways, 

Open Space, Existing Trees. 

Water Quality Buffer Zone &  

Greenbelt; Selective Tree 

Preservation;  

Pocket Parks 

 

Annexation and Development Agreement 

 

The Annexation and Development Agreement includes the following provisions: 

 

Article 2. Definitions 

2.11. Escrow Agreement:  The agreement between Owner and City executed on the same date 

as this Agreement that provides for the PID Dissolution Petition to be held in escrow. 

2.12. Exterior Design and Architectural Standards Ordinance: Article 24.03, Exterior Design and 

2.16 Architectural Standards, of Chapter 24, Building Regulations of the City of Dripping 

Springs Code of Ordinances. 

2.25 Water and Wastewater Infrastructure: Collectively, the water and wastewater infrastructure 

described in the Water Service Agreement and the Wastewater Utility Agreement.  

2.26 Wastewater Service and Impact Fee Agreement: The Nonstandard Wastewater Service 

Agreement between City of Dripping Springs and Owner executed on the same date as this 

Agreement. 

 

Article 3. General Provisions 

18

Item 1.



  6/16/2017 

Heritage Project-Staff Report  Page 9 of 11 

 

3.2  Minor Changes.  Minor changes can be made by the Administrator without action by City 

Council and Planning and Zoning.    

3.3 Amendments.  Amendments or changes to this Agreement, the PDD-5, or PD Master Plan 

shall not be considered a waiver of vested rights. 

3.4  Project Phasing. Each phase will have its own impervious cover, dwelling units, and 

parkland.   

3.5  Annexation and Development.  The Property will be annexed under Section 212.172 of the 

Local Government Code.  

 

Article 4. Offsite Road and Trail Agreement  

Offsite Road and Trail Agreement is referenced in the Annexation and Development Agreement.  

 

Article 5.  Water, Wastewater, Wells; Water Conservation Plan 

5.1 Water.  Dripping Springs Water Supply Corporation will be providing water.  

5.2 Wastewater.  Wastewater Service and Impact Fee Agreement. 

5.4 Water Conservation Plan.   

5.5   Water Reuse Ordinance. SLF is funding the effluent transmission line pursuant to the 

Wastewater Service and Impact Fee Agreement, and thus the Property shall not be 

subject to the reuse fees or charges otherwise applicable to developments, including any 

fees or charges for contribution for reuse infrastructure construction under the City’s 

Water Reuse Ordinance. 

 

Article 6. Development Standards 

6.1 PDD-5 Ordinance. 

6.2  Design Review and Enforcement.  An HOA will be created and maintained to do design 

review and enforcement  

6.3 Compliance.  Development will comply with building codes and PDD 5.   

6.4 Alternative Compliance.  The CCRs shall provide for and enable changes over time in the 

architectural design standards without requiring the revision of PDD-5.  

 

Article 7.  Applicable Rules & Regulations 

7.1 Intent.  This Agreement and the PDD-5 authorize certain Property uses and development 

on the Property, provide for the uniform review and approval of plats and development 

plans for the Property. 

7.2 Applicable Rules.  Permits and Site Plans shall comply with the Agreement, PDD-5, and 

city ordinances.   

7.3 Owner’s Right to Continue Development. Guarantees that the City will not impose a 

moratorium on building or development within the property; and the City will not impose 

land use or development regulations that will limit the rate or timing of land use approvals 

(preliminary plats, final plats, site plans, building permits, certificates of occupancy, or 

other necessary approvals).  

7.4.  Approvals. The City agrees that preliminary plats, final subdivision plats, and construction 

 documents submitted in accordance with this Agreement will be reviewed and processed 

 in accordance with the Code in effect on the Effective Date hereof as modified by this 

 Agreement, the PDD-5, and the Additional Heritage Agreements (as may be applicable.)  

19

Item 1.



  6/16/2017 

Heritage Project-Staff Report  Page 10 of 11 

 

7.5   Conceptual Plan. The City confirms that the Conceptual Plan in Exhibit B to PDD-5 

 complies with the City’s Master Plan, Comprehensive Plan, and the Sustainable Places 

 Project.  

7.6 Fiscal Security for Improvements PID Finance Agreement controls.  Otherwise, the Owner 

shall be required to provide fiscal security prior to any final plat approval.  Standard two 

(2) year maintenance bond upon acceptance of the public improvements. 

7.7 Payment of Costs.  Owner shall pay 100% of the cost of all public and private 

improvements and 100% of all cost overruns of public and private improvements and shall 

not seek reimbursement from the City unless authorized in the PID Finance Agreement. 

7.8 Fees & Development Review Expenses: Owner pays fees under the “Agreement for 

Payment of Fees and Development Review Expenses incurred by the City for the Heritage 

Public Improvement District”. 

 

Article 8.  Additional Matters 

8.1 Amenity Center. Owner shall construct an amenity center.  

8.2 Lighting shall be in compliance with Article 24.06 of the City’s Code of Ordinances 

(“Outdoor Lighting Ordinance”). Owner agrees that all restrictive covenants for the 

Project shall reinforce this provision and be applied to all construction and builders.  

Signage in the Project shall be in compliance with the PD Signage addressed in PDD-5 

through a Master Sign Plan.  

8.4 Annexation/Zoning: 

8.4.1 Timing for Annexation: Development Agreement is request for annexation.  

8.4.2 Land Uses: PDD-5. 

8.5 Public Improvement District will be created to pay for public improvements. The PID 

Financing Agreement shall provide the method of reimbursement for the public 

improvements and shall control over any inconsistent provision in this Agreement.  

8.4 Disannexation and Dissolution if project fails. 

Article 9. Term and Amendment 

9.1 Term. Forty-five (45) years.  

 

Comprehensive Plan and Citywide Trails Plan 

 

A brief summary of how Heritage supports elements of the City’s Comprehensive Plan and 

Citywide Trails Plan:  

 

Proposed trails are integrated in Heritage, and connect with other trails that are indicated in the 

Citywide Trails Plan. A network of sidewalks and trails will be constructed in Heritage, and bike 

lanes will be included along the main boulevard. This also ties in with the Dripping Springs 

Comprehensive Plan, which calls for inclusion of bike lanes and pedestrian facilities in new 

neighborhoods. The proposed parks and trails in Heritage will help implement the 

Comprehensive Plan’s goal of offering a variety of recreational activities and facilities to foster 

an active community. Additionally, the Comprehensive Plan supports a diversity of housing 

types, and encourages higher densities in areas deemed appropriate. Heritage proposes a mix of 

housing products, including single-family detached, townhomes, garden homes, 

duplex/quadplex, village condominiums, courtyard housing, and multifamily.  

 

20

Item 1.



  6/16/2017 

Heritage Project-Staff Report  Page 11 of 11 

 

Prior P&Z Recommendation-2016 

 

On May 4, 2016 the Planning and Zoning Commission held a special meeting for review and 

consideration of PDD # 5. The Commission recommended approval of the ordinance with a vote 

of 4-0. In the motion to approve, the Commission recommended striking out the last sentence in 

Section 2.4: PD Master Plan, which said: “Although some of these features may not be reflected 

on the PD Master Plan, the City acknowledges that their inclusion in this Ordinance satisfies the 

requirements of Section 5.6.1(b) of the PD Ordinance.” This has since been struck from the 

ordinance. The meeting minutes are attached as “Attachment A.” 

 

P&Z Workshop 

On May 23, 2017, the Planning and Zoning Commission conducted a workshop (no action taken) 

for the purpose of reviewing the most recent PDD 5 and Annexation and Development 

Agreement documents. Ocie Vest, Senior VP of Entitlements with Stratford Land, gave a 

presentation about the Project on behalf of the Owner, and explained the project land use, 

amenities, development documents and approvals timeline. City Staff and consultants provided 

an overview of PDD 5, Annexation and Development Agreement, and also briefly discussed the 

Offsite Roadway and Trail Agreement.    

 

P&Z Recommendation 6/12/2017 

 

The Planning and Zoning Commission held a Special meeting on June 13, 2017 to consider 

recommendation on the Annexation and Development Agreement and PDD – 5. The 

Commission heard presentations from Ocie Vest with Stratford Land, and also from City staff 

and consultants. After considering the items, the Commissioners motioned (5-0 in favor) to 

approve PDD – 5 and the Annexation and Development Agreement, subject to the City receiving 

the following documents in a form mutually acceptable by all Parties: PID Service and 

Assessment Plan, PID Finance Agreement, Wastewater Utility Agreement, and Offsite Road and 

Trail Agreement.  

 

21

Item 1.



1 
 

Attachment B 

 

City of Dripping Springs, Texas 

  

Policy and Procedures for  

Public Improvement Districts 

  
PURPOSE 

The purpose of the Public Improvement District, (“PID”), policy is to outline the issues to be 

addressed before the City Council can support the establishment and continuation of a PID as 

allowed by Chapter 372 of the Texas Local Government Code.   The policy outlines such things 

as petition requirements, information to property owners, and determination of annual plan of 

services, budget and assessments. It addresses City administration issues, which are in addition to 

the requirements of state law. 

GENERAL 

PIDs must be self-sufficient and not adversely impact the ordinary service delivery of the City, 

except where City Council elects to participate in the project's costs.  

PIDs must be established carefully and only when related to a public purpose to avoid a 

proliferation of special districts.  

PID petition signatures should reflect that a reasonable attempt was made to obtain full support of 

the PID by the majority of the property owners.  

COMMUNITY BENEFITS  

Subject to the requirements of Chapter 372 of the Texas Local Government Code, the City Council 

will prioritize approval of PID petitions for land in the City and / or Extraterritorial Jurisdiction, 

(“ETJ”) that provide for the following public benefits to a degree that is superior to the benefits 

typically generated by real estate development projects not involving PID financing.   

(a)  For proposed PIDs within the city limits, the petitioners shall be responsible for notice 

and coordination with and between the City and Dripping Springs ISD, (“DSISD”), at the 

earliest possible date to assess municipal and school service plans, the maximum PID 

assessment relative to municipal taxation, relative responsibilities for acceptance and 

maintenance of PID improvements to be financed by the PID and related matters. 

22

Item 1.



2 
 

(b) Projects that will generate primary employment or other long-term economic 

development benefits to the City, above and beyond the economic development benefits 

generated by typical residential developments.   

(c) Improvements or services that advance or exceed the City's conservation design 

standards.   

(d) Projects that create or enhance parks, hike and bike trails, recreational facilities, open 

space benefits, etc. that exceed what is required by applicable development regulations.  

(Link to City of Dripping Springs Comprehensive Plan 2010) 

(e) Projects that improve environmental protection, storm water quality, and flood control 

benefits in ways that exceed what is required by applicable development regulations.   

(f) Projects that increase or enhance multimodal transportation options.    

(g) Projects that improve public educational programs and/or facilities.   

(h) Projects that provide exceptional benefits to improve the public roadway network in the 

City. 

(i) Projects that provide water and wastewater infrastructure in the City.    

ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS FOR PIDS WITHIN THE ETJ   

(a) For proposed PIDs in the ETJ, the petitioners shall be responsible for notice and 

coordination with and between the City, County and DSISD at the earliest possible date to 

assess municipal annexation plans, the maximum PID assessment rate relative to municipal 

taxation, relative responsibilities for acceptance and maintenance of PID improvements to 

be financed by the PID, and related matters.    

(b)  Generally, the City will consider PID petitions for property in ETJ only if a 

development agreement has been approved that requires that the whole project is 

voluntarily annexed into the City and the project will enhance the City tax base; 

(c) Petitioner will dissolve, or agree to not create any other special district vehicles that 

may overlay the PID; including, but not limited to Municipal Utility Districts, Water 

Control & Improvement Districts.   

MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR A PID 

To be considered by the City Council, the real estate development project supported by the PID 

must meet the following minimum requirements:  

(a) The PID must be designed to achieve at least one of the priorities listed for Community 

Benefits or for PIDs in the ETJ.   

23

Item 1.



3 
 

(b) Petitioner will be required to pay fees for administrative or operational costs incurred 

by the City.  The payment of such fees is not a guarantee that the City will approve the 

PID.  The fees will pay for such as costs as:   

 (1) Reviewing the PID petition;    

 (2) Publishing related notices;   

(3) Reviewing the appraisal, the initial Service and Assessment Plan, and the 

Market Feasibility Study, including the cost of services provided by City 

consultants, bond counsel, and financial advisors;   

 (4) Bond issuance;  

(5) Review and approval of plans for and inspection of construction of PID 

improvements;   

(6) Procurement of contracts for PID administration and operation, collection of 

assessments, foreclosures, etc.    

(7) The City’s ongoing administrative and operational costs related to an approved 

PID, such as collection of PID assessments, review and approval of Service and 

Assessment Plan updates, and other costs shall be reimbursed from PID 

assessments.  The City’s costs will be determined on an annual basis.    

(8) Administration and management of ongoing PID responsibilities, such as 

preparation and updating of the Service and Assessment Plan, issuance of notices 

for annual City Council action on the Service and Assessment Plan, operation and 

maintenance of PID improvements, and other related matters shall be paid by PID 

assessments and performed by a third party firm under contract with the City.   

(c) The City will use PID bond proceeds only to pay or reimburse the costs of  PID 

improvements that have been designed and constructed to the applicable standards of, and 

accepted for maintenance or otherwise approved by, the government entity responsible for 

them.   

(d)  In the event of default under the terms of the PID petition or the PID agreement, the 

City shall, after providing notice and an opportunity to cure, have the right to recapture 

reimbursements if the PID Financing Agreement established a Cash Flow PID.  

(e) Before a PID petition may be approved, the PID petitioners and the City must enter into 

a PID Agreement that establishes:   

(1)  The basic terms and conditions for creation of the PID, including the provision 

of community benefits;    

24

Item 1.



4 
 

(2) Payment or reimbursement to the City of the City’s ongoing administrative and 

operational costs, including the cost of outside consultants to assist with PID 

formation and financing, including but not limited to: city attorney, financial 

advisor, bond counsel, underwriter and PID administrator; 

    

3) The financing of the PID improvements and the payment of assessment revenues 

or PID Bond proceeds to pay for the costs of the PID Improvements; and 

(4) The planning, development, construction, management, and maintenance of the 

PID improvements, including review and approval by the government entities 

ultimately responsible for the PID improvements;   

 (f) Property in the PID owned by the City shall not be subject to PID assessments. Property 

in the PID owned by another governmental entity may be assessed only pursuant to an 

inter-local agreement between the entity and the City.   

(g) The PID may not finance improvements or services that would not be accessible to the 

general public.    

Preferential Requirements.   

PIDs in which the cost of public improvements are financed without City financial participation 

are preferred.  Except for public improvements specifically approved in a City bond proposition, 

the City will not expend or pledge a tax increment, general fund revenue, general obligation or 

certificate of obligation bond proceeds, etc. to support the costs of PID improvements unless is 

explicitly approved by City Council as advancing a City purpose.  In addition: 

(a) PID petitions signed by 100% of the owners in the PID boundaries are preferred; 

(b) PIDs that have a value to lien that exceed 3:1 are preferred; 

(c) Petitioners that can demonstrate indication of demand (builder contracts with earnest 

money) are preferred; 

(d) PIDs that will exceed City development standards are preferred; and 

(e) PIDs that have a Market Feasibility Study are preferred. 

(f) A PID's budget shall include sufficient funds to pay for all costs above and beyond the 

City’s ordinary costs, including additional administrative and/or operational costs as well 

as additional maintenance costs resulting from the PID.  

 

(g) Use of assessments for partial recovery of a developer's capital costs will be allowed 

only in special cases where extraordinary public benefit is shown. Only those capital costs 

associated with continuing PID services will be considered for partial recovery.  

  

25

Item 1.



5 
 

REQUIREMENTS OF PETITION   

(a) The petitioners shall notify in writing the Mayor, the Councilmember of any district in 

which a proposed PID is located, and the City Administrator at least 30 days in advance of 

their intent to file a PID petition. The petitioners must attend one or more pre-filing 

meetings scheduled by the City.   

(b) The petition or PID Finance Agreement must include the following: 

(1) A legal description of the boundaries of the PID and a black and white map of 

the PID boundaries suitable for publication; 

 (2)  The general nature of the proposed improvements;    

 (3)  The estimated cost of the improvements;   

(4) The petitioner’s qualifications and previous experience with real estate 

development, financing of that development, prior PIDs, etc;   

(5) The proposed method of assessment, including a preliminary Service and 

Assessment Plan, including a comparison of the combined PID assessment and ad 

valorem tax burden on owners in the PID with comparable combined burdens on 

owners in nearby developments;   

(6) Any plan for phasing of both the real estate development supported by the PID 

and construction of public improvements in the development; 

(7)  The proposed apportionment of costs between the PID and governmental 

entities;   

(8)  A statement that the petitioners request or concur with the establishment of the 

PID; and 

  (9)  A current tax roll of the owners in the PID;   

(10)  A plan for ensuring dissolution of the PID will not impose unintended costs 

on the City or other governmental entities, and that addresses the maintenance or 

disposition of PID improvements if a PID is dissolved;   

(c) The petitioners must include with the PID petition a certified check for the required 

filing fee, which will be used to defer the City’s approximate internal staffing and overhead 

costs of processing and reviewing the PID petition. Petitioners must pay all direct costs of 

processing the PID petition, such as newspaper advertisements, postage, and contractors 

pursuant to Ordinance No, 1070.63, Fee Schedule Ordinance section 13.19. 

26

Item 1.



6 
 

(d)  A notification that anyone selling land in a public improvement district must include a 

"title encumbrance" which notifies any prospective property owner of the existence or 

proposal of special assessments on the property. All closing statements must specify who 

is responsible for payment of the PID assessment on a pro rata share thereof.  

 

NOTICE, PUBLIC HEARING AND APPROVAL OF THE PETITION  

(a) City staff and consultants will assess the adequacy of the PID petition and the PID 

agreement and their compliance with this chapter and Ch. 372 and recommend to the City 

Council whether to proceed with a public hearing on the PID petition.    

(b) The PID agreement must be executed on or before the date the PID assessments are 

levied.   

(c) If the City Council approves setting a public hearing on the PID petition, City staff will 

publish the newspaper notice and mail the notice to property owners required by Ch. 372.    

(d) The hearing may be continued from time to time. After the final adjournment of the 

public hearing, the City Council has six months to adopt a resolution making the findings 

required by Ch. 372 to approve the PID petition.    

FINANCIAL LIMITATIONS AND PERFORMANCE STANDARDS 

(a) Before authorizing issuance of PID bonds, the City Council shall:   

(1) Determine the total cost of PID improvements;    

(2) Approve a final Service and Assessment Plan and appraisal roll;   

(3) Levy an assessment; and    

(4) Establish a separate PID fund for the payment of the assessment. 

(b) The following limitations and performance standards shall apply to PID bonds.   

(1) The minimum appraised value-to-lien ratio at date of each bond issue shall be 

3:1.   

  (2) The maximum maturity for each series of bonds shall be 30 years.   

(3) The aggregate principal amount of bonds required to be issued shall not exceed 

an amount sufficient to fund:    

 a. The actual costs of the qualified PID improvements;   

b. Required reserves and capitalized interest during the period of 

construction and not more than 12 months after the completion of 

27

Item 1.



7 
 

construction and in no event for a period greater than 3 years from the date 

of the initial delivery of the bonds; and    

 c. Any costs of issuance.   

d. The PID bond reserve fund may be the lesser of: 

(i) The maximum annual debt service on the bonds,  

(ii) 10 percent of the par amount of the bonds, or  

(iii) 125 percent of the average annual debt service. The reserve fund 

will be funded from bond proceeds at the time bonds are issue. 

e. And any other reserves required at the time of sale in accordance with 

the law.   

 

PID ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT 

The City will contract with an outside consultant to administer the PID and to bill, collect, and 

track PID assessments. This cost will be considered a reimbursable project cost and should be 

included in the PID Service and Assessment Plan. 
 

 

28

Item 1.



 

City Council  March 21, 2023 

Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 1 of 6 

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING 

City of Dripping Springs 

Council Chambers, 511 Mercer St, Dripping Springs, TX 

Tuesday, March 21, 2023 at 6:00 PM 

MINUTES 

CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

With a quorum of the City Council present, Mayor Foulds, Jr. called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

City Council Members present were: 
Mayor Bill Foulds, Jr. 

Mayor Pro Tem Taline Manassian 

Council Member Place 2 Wade King 

Council Member Place 3 Geoffrey Tahuahua 

Council Member Place 4 Travis Crow 

Council Member Place 5 Sherrie Parks 

Staff, Consultants & Appointed/Elected Officials present were: 
Deputy City Administrator Ginger Faught 

City Attorney Laura Mueller 

City Treasurer Shawn Cox 

People & Communications Director Lisa Sullivan 

City Secretary Andrea Cunningham 

IT Director Jason Weinstock 

Parks & Community Services Director Andy Binz 

DSRP Manager Emily Nelson 

Architectural Consultant Keenan Smith 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Joshua and Spencer from Austin Scout Troop 550 led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

PRESENTATION OF CITIZENS 

A member of the public who desires to address the City Council regarding any item on an agenda for an 

open meeting  may do so at presentation of citizens before an item or at a public hearing for an item 

during the City Council’s consideration of that item. Citizens wishing to discuss matters not contained 

within the current agenda may do so, but only during the time allotted for presentation of citizens. 

Speakers are allowed two (2) minutes to speak during presentation of citizens or during each public 

hearing.  Speakers may not cede or pool time.    Members of the public requiring the assistance of a 

translator will be given twice the amount of time as a member of the public who does not require the 

assistance of a translator to address the City Council.  It is the request of the City Council that members 

of the public wishing to speak on item(s) on the agenda with a noticed Public Hearing hold their comments 

until the item(s) are presented for consideration.  Speakers are encouraged to sign in.  Anyone may 

29

Item 2.



 

City Council  March 21, 2023 

Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 2 of 6 

request a copy of the City’s policy on presentation of citizens from the city secretary.  By law no action 

may be taken during Presentations of Citizens. 

No one spoke during Presentation of Citizens. 

PROCLAMATIONS & PRESENTATIONS 

1. Proclamation of the City of Dripping Springs Proclaiming March 31, 2023, as "Pam 

Owens Day". Sponsor: Mayor Bill Foulds, Jr. 

 

Mayor Pro Tem Manassian read the proclamation and presented it to Pam Owens. 

 

2. Proclamation of the City of Dripping Springs Proclaiming the Week of April 15-22, 2023, 

as “International Dark Sky Week”. Sponsor: Mayor Bill Foulds, Jr. 

 

Council Member Parks read the proclamation. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

The following items are anticipated to require little or no individualized discussion due to their nature 

being clerical, ministerial, mundane or routine. In an effort to enhance the efficiency of City Council 

meetings, it is intended that these items will be acted upon by the City Council with a single motion because 

no public hearing or determination is necessary. However, a City Council Member or citizen may request 

separate deliberation for a specific item, in which event those items will be removed from the consent 

agenda prior to the City Council voting on the consent agenda as a collective, singular item. Prior to 

voting on the consent agenda, the City Council may add additional items that are listed elsewhere on the 

same agenda. 

3. Approval of the February 21, 2023, City Council regular meeting minutes. 

4. Approval of the March 7, 2023, City Council regular meeting minutes. 

5. Approval of the February 2023 City Treasurer's Report. 

6. Approval of an Escrow Agreement for the Mount Gainor Road Widening related to the 

Carter Tract. Sponsor: Council Member Crow 

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Manassian to approve Consent Agenda Items 4 – 6. Council 

Member Parks seconded the motion which carried unanimously 5 to 0. 

Mayor Pro Tem Manassian and Council Member Parks requested a review of the February 21, 2023, 

minutes, specifically regarding Business Item 17. 

BUSINESS AGENDA 

7. Presentation and possible action regarding Feasibility Study, Concept Plan, and Cost 

Estimates for the Stephenson Building. Larry Irsik, Architexas.  Sponsor: Mayor Bill 

Foulds, Jr. 

 Keenan Smith introduced the item. Larry Irsik gave a presentation which is on file. Staff is 

recommending authorization to negotiate an agreement for the production of construction 

30

Item 2.



 

City Council  March 21, 2023 

Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 3 of 6 

plans and authorization for staff to apply for a Certificate of Appropriateness with the Historic 

Preservation Commission. 

 A motion was made by Council Member Parks to authorize staff to apply for a Certificate of 

Appropriateness with the Historic Preservation Commission, and to authorize staff to 

negotiate a Professional Services Agreement with Architexas for construction drawings. 

Council Member King seconded the motion which carried 4 to 0 to 1, with Council Member 

Tahuahua abstaining. 

8. Discuss and consider approval of the selection of vendor(s) for Dripping Springs Ranch 

Park Network and Audio-Visual Request For Proposals and authorization for staff to 

negotiate respective professional services agreements. Sponsor: Council Member Parks. 

 Jason Weinstock presented the staff report which is on file. Staff recommends the selection of 

Felix Media Solutions and UniVista. 

 A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Manassian to authorize staff negotiate professional 

services agreements with Felix Media Solutions and UniVista for the Dripping Springs Ranch 

Park Network and Audio-Visual project. Council Member Parks seconded the motion which 

carried unanimously 5 to 0. 

9. Discuss and consider approval of a Co-Sponsorship Agreement between the City of 

Dripping Springs and The Little Longhorn for Eggstravaganza at Dripping Springs 

Ranch Park on April 8, 2023.  Sponsor: Council Member Parks. 

 Emily Nelson presented the staff report which is on file. Staff recommends approval of the 

agreement. 

 A motion was made by Council Member Parks to approve a Co-Sponsorship Agreement 

between the City of Dripping Springs and The Little Longhorn for Eggstravaganza at Dripping 

Springs Ranch Park on April 8, 2023. Council Member Crow seconded the motion which 

carried unanimously 5 to 0. 

REPORTS 

Reports of Staff, Boards, Commissions, Committees, Boards and Agencies are on file and available for 

review upon request. The City Council may provide staff direction; however, no action may be taken. 

 

Reports are on file and available for review upon request. 

10. February Maintenance Report 

Craig Rice, Deputy Public Works Director 

11. Planning Department Report 
Tory Carpenter, Planning Director 

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Manassian to adjourn into Executive Session under Texas 

Government Code Sections 551.071, Consultation with City Attorney and 551.072, Deliberation of Real 

Property and regarding Executive Session Agenda Items 12 – 16. Council Member Crow seconded the 

motion which carried unanimously 5 to 0. 

31

Item 2.



 

City Council  March 21, 2023 

Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 4 of 6 

EXECUTIVE SESSION AGENDA 

The City Council for the City of Dripping Springs has the right to adjourn into executive session at any 

time during the course of this meeting to discuss any matter as authorized by Texas Government Code 

Sections 551.071 (Consultation with Attorney), 551.072 (Deliberations about Real Property), 551.073 

Deliberations about Gifts and Donations), 551.074 (Personnel Matters), 551.076 (Deliberations about 

Security Devices), and 551.086 (Economic Development). The City Council for the City of Dripping 

Springs may act on any item listed in Executive Session in Open Session or move any item from Executive 

Session to Open Session for action. 

12. Consultation with City Attorney regarding legal issues related to coordination with the 

Dripping Springs Visitors Bureau. Consultation with City Attorney, 551.071 

13. Consultation with City Attorney related to opioid lawsuits. Consultation with 

Attorney, 551.071 

14. Consultation with City Attorney and Deliberation of Real Property regarding 

property acquisition related to the South Regional Water Reclamation Project and East 

Interceptor. Consultation with Attorney, 551.071; Deliberation of Real Property, 551.072 

15. Consultation with Counsel related to litigation regarding the South Regional Water 

Reclamation Project, Wastewater Permits, Code Enforcement, and related 

items. Consultation with Attorney, 551.071 

16. Consultation with City Attorney and Deliberation of Real Property regarding legal and 

real estate issues related to potential civic sites. Consultation with Attorney, 551.071; 

Deliberation Regarding Real Property, 551.072 

The City Council met in Executive Session from 7:14 – 7:57 p.m. 

Council Member Crow recused himself from Executive Session Agenda Item 16 and exited the 

chambers. An affidavit of potential conflict of interest is on file regarding his recusal.  

No vote or action was taken during the Executive Session. Mayor Foulds, Jr. returned the meeting 

to Open Session at 7:57 p.m. 

OPEN SESSION 

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Manassian to discuss and consider possible action regarding 

Executive Session Agenda Items 12 and 13. Council Member Crow seconded the motion which carried 

unanimously 5 to 0. 

12. Consultation with City Attorney regarding legal issues related to coordination with the 

Dripping Springs Visitors Bureau. Consultation with City Attorney, 551.071 

 A motion was made by Council Member Parks to direct People & Communications Director 

Lisa Sullivan and other staff to coordinate with the Visitors Bureau and explore future options 

related to the Bureau. Council Member Crow seconded the motion which carried unanimously 

5 to 0. 

 

32

Item 2.



 

City Council  March 21, 2023 

Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 5 of 6 

 

13. Consultation with City Attorney related to opioid lawsuits. Consultation with 

Attorney, 551.071 

 A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem to approve the resolution authorizing participation 

with the State of Texas through the Office of the Attorney General, in the latest opioid 

settlements and authorizing the Mayor to execute all related documents. Council Member 

Tahuahua seconded the motion which carried unanimously 5 to 0. 

 Filed as Resolution No. 2023-R13 

UPCOMING MEETINGS 

City Council & Board of Adjustment Meetings 
April 4, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. (CC & BOA) 

April 18, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. (CC) 

May 2, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. (CC & BOA) 

May 16, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. (CC) 

Board, Commission & Committee Meetings 
March 22, 2023, Economic Development Committee at 4:00 p.m. 

March 23, 2023, Emergency Management Commission at 12:00 p.m. 

March 27, 2023, Transportation Committee at 3:30 p.m. 

March 27, 2023, Founders Day Commission at 6:30 p.m. 

March 28, 2023, Planning & Zoning Commission at 6:00 p.m. 

March 30, 2023, Farmers Market Committee at 10:00 a.m. 

April 3, 2023, Parks & Recreation Commission at 6:00 p.m. 

ADJOURN 

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Manassian to adjourn the meeting. Council Member Parks 

seconded the motion which carried unanimously 5 to 0. 

This regular meeting adjourned at 7:59 p.m. 

 

APPROVED ON:  April 18, 2023  

  

Bill Foulds, Jr., Mayor  

ATTEST:  

  

Andrea Cunningham, City Secretary  

33

Item 2.



 

City Council  March 21, 2023 

Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 6 of 6 

 

34

Item 2.



 

City Council  April 4, 2023 

Workshop & Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 1 of 9 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL WORKSHOP 

& REGULAR MEETING 

City of Dripping Springs 

Council Chambers, 511 Mercer St, Dripping Springs, TX 

Tuesday, April 04, 2023, at 6:00 PM 

MINUTES 

CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

With a quorum of the City Council present, Mayor Foulds, Jr. called the meeting to order at 6:02 p.m. 

City Council Members present were: 

Mayor Bill Foulds, Jr. 

Mayor Pro Tem Taline Manassian (left meeting at 9:27 p.m.) 

Council Member Place 3 Geoffrey Tahuahua (arrived at 7:59 p.m.) 

Council Member Place 4 Travis Crow 

Council Member Place 5 Sherrie Parks 

Council Member absent was: 
Council Member Place 2 Wade King 

Staff, Consultants & Appointed/Elected Officials 
City Administrator Michelle Fischer 

Deputy City Administrator Ginger Faught 

City Attorney Laura Mueller 

City Treasurer Shawn Cox 

People & Communications Director Lisa Sullivan 

City Secretary Andrea Cunningham 

IT Director Jason Weinstock 

Planning Director Tory Carpenter 

Parks & Community Services Director Andy Binz 

Community Events Coordinator Johnna Krantz 

Planning & Zoning Commission Chair Mim James 

Transportation Consultant Leslie Pollack 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Council Member Parks led the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 

 

 

 

35

Item 3.



 

City Council  April 4, 2023 

Workshop & Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 2 of 9 

 

WORKSHOP 

Workshop items are for discussion only and no action will be taken. 

1. Public hearing and discussion of an Ordinance rezoning a 97.44-acre property to 

Planned Development District with a base zoning of SF-3 and GR, with 68.38-acres of 

residential uses, approximately 6.7-acres of commercial uses, and approximately 22.36-

acres of open space, as amended by the ordinance language herein, for property located 

on U.S. 290 and north of the intersection of Drifting Wind Run commonly known as 

“Gateway Village”. Applicant:  John Doucet, Doucet and Associates 

a. Applicant Presentation – Peter Verdicchio with SEC Planning gave a presentation 

which is on file. 

b. Staff Report – Tory Carpenter presented the staff report which is on file. Laura 

Mueller spoke regarding associated agreements and reimbursements. 

c. Planning & Zoning Commission Report – Chair James presented the report. The 

Commission recommended approval 6 to 0. 

d. Public Hearing – No one spoke during the Public Hearing. 

e. Ordinance Discussion – Leslie Pollack reviewed and answered questions regarding 

the transportation plan and parking. Ginger Faught discussed utilities, wastewater and 

LUEs related to the PDD. The City Council also discussed road construction, grading and 

cuts and fills. 

CITY COUNCIL 

 

PRESENTATION OF CITIZENS 
A member of the public who desires to address the City Council regarding any item on an agenda for an 

open meeting  may do so at presentation of citizens before an item or at a public hearing for an item 

during the City Council’s consideration of that item. Citizens wishing to discuss matters not contained 

within the current agenda may do so, but only during the time allotted for presentation of citizens. 

Speakers are allowed two (2) minutes to speak during presentation of citizens or during each public 

hearing.  Speakers may not cede or pool time.    Members of the public requiring the assistance of a 

translator will be given twice the amount of time as a member of the public who does not require the 

assistance of a translator to address the City Council.  It is the request of the City Council that members 

of the public wishing to speak on item(s) on the agenda with a noticed Public Hearing hold their comments 

until the item(s) are presented for consideration.  Speakers are encouraged to sign in.  Anyone may 

request a copy of the City’s policy on presentation of citizens from the city secretary.  By law no action 

may be taken during Presentations of Citizens. 

 

No one spoke during Presentation Citizens. 

 

 

 

36

Item 3.



 

City Council  April 4, 2023 

Workshop & Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 3 of 9 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 
The following items are anticipated to require little or no individualized discussion due to their nature 

being clerical, ministerial, mundane or routine. In an effort to enhance the efficiency of City Council 

meetings, it is intended that these items will be acted upon by the City Council with a single motion because 

no public hearing or determination is necessary. However, a City Council Member or citizen may request 

separate deliberation for a specific item, in which event those items will be removed from the consent 

agenda prior to the City Council voting on the consent agenda as a collective, singular item. Prior to 

voting on the consent agenda, the City Council may add additional items that are listed elsewhere on the 

same agenda. 

 

Via unanimous consent, Consent Agenda items were considered separately. 

2. Approval of the February 21, 2023, City Council regular meeting minutes. 

 A motion was made by Council member Parks to approve the February 21, 2023, City Council 

regular meeting minutes. Mayor Pro Tem Manassian seconded the motion which carried 2 to 

0 to 1, with Council Member Crow abstaining. 

3. Approval of the March 21, 2023, City Council regular meeting minutes. 

 Via unanimous consent, this item was postponed to April 18, 2023, City Council regular 

meeting for corrections. 

4. Approval of a Resolution Accepting Improvements and Approving and Accepting a 

Maintenance Bond for Big Sky Subdivision Phase 1 Streets, Drainage, and Wastewater 

Improvements and Releasing a Construction Bond. 

 A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Manassian to approve a Resolution Accepting 

Improvements and Approving and Accepting a Maintenance Bond for Big Sky Subdivision 

Phase 1 Streets, Drainage, and Wastewater Improvements and Releasing a Construction Bond. 

Council Member Parks seconded the motion which carried unanimously 3 to 0. 

 Filed as Resolution No. 2023-R14 

BUSINESS AGENDA 

5. Presentation and consideration of approval of the City of Dripping Springs Fiscal Year 

2021-2022 Audit. 

 Shawn Cox introduced the item. Roger Tovar, Partner with Whitley Penn,  presented the audit 

which is on file.  

 A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Manassian to approve the City of Dripping Springs 

Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Audit. Council Member Crow seconded the motion which carried 

unanimously 3 to 0. 

37

Item 3.



 

City Council  April 4, 2023 

Workshop & Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 4 of 9 

 

6. Public hearing and consideration of approval of an Ordinance regarding CUP2023-

0001: an application for a Conditional Use Permit to allow a warehouse/office use at 

27950 RR 12. Applicant: Jon Thompson 

a. Applicant Presentation – The applicant was not present. 

b. Staff Report – Tory Carpenter presented the staff report which is on file. Staff 

recommends approval of the conditional use permit. 

c. Planning & Zoning Commission Report – Chair James presented the report. The 

Commission recommended approval 6 to 0. 

d. Public Hearing – No one spoke during the Public Hearing. 

e. Ordinance – A motion was made by Council Member Crow to approve an Ordinance 

regarding CUP2023-0001: an application for a Conditional Use Permit to allow a 

warehouse/office use at 27950 RR 12 with the condition that Transportation Consultant 

Leslie Pollack review the site plan related to traffic. Council Member Parks seconded the 

motion which carried 2 to 1, with Mayor Pro Tem Manassian opposed. 

Filed as Ordinance No. 2023-11 

7. Public hearing and consideration of approval of Ordinances annexing property and 

regarding ZA2023-0001: an application for a zoning map amendment from Agriculture 

(AG) to Commercial Services (CS) for approximately 5.02 acres out of the C. H. Mallot 

Survey located at 1300 E US 290. Applicant: Victor Ostiguin, Doucet & Associates 

a. Applicant Presentation – Applicant Victor Ostiguin was present and available for 

questions from the City Council. 

b. Staff Report – Tory Carpenter presented the staff report which is on file. Staff 

recommends approval of the zoning amendment and annexation. 

c. Planning & Zoning Commission Report – Chair James presented the report on the 

zoning amendment, as the Commission does not provide recommendations on 

annexations. The Commission recommended approval of the zoning amendment 6 to 0. 

d. Public Hearing – No one spoke during the Public Hearing. 

[Council Member Tahuahua entered the chambers and took his seat at the dais at 7:59 p.m.] 

e. Annexation Ordinance – A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Manassian to 

approve an Ordinance annexing approximately 5.02 acres out of the C. H. Mallot Survey 

located at 1300 E US 290. Council Member Parks seconded the motion which carried 

unanimously 4 to 0. 

Filed as Ordinance No. 2023-12 

38

Item 3.



 

City Council  April 4, 2023 

Workshop & Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 5 of 9 

 

f. Zoning Ordinance – A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Manassian to approve 

an Ordinance regarding ZA2023-0001: an application for a zoning map amendment from 

Agriculture (AG) to Commercial Services (CS) for approximately 5.02 acres out of the 

C. H. Mallot Survey located at 1300 E US 290. Council Member Parks seconded the 

motion which carried unanimously 4 to 0. 

Filed as Ordinance No. 2023-13 

8. Discuss and consider approval of a Resolution of the City of Dripping Springs declaring 

a need for a regional housing authority within the city limits and authorizing an 

agreement with the Texas Housing Foundation.  Sponsor: Mayor Pro Tem Taline 

Manassian. 

 Mark Mayfield with the Texas Housing Foundation gave a presentation which is on file. 

 Laura Mueller’s staff report is on file and staff recommends approval of the resolution and 

agreement. 

 A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Manassian to approve approval of a Resolution of the 

City of Dripping Springs declaring a need for a regional housing authority within the city 

limits and authorizing an agreement with the Texas Housing Foundation. Council Member 

Tahuahua seconded the motion which carried unanimously 4 to 0. 

 Filed as Resolution No. 2023-R15 

9. Discuss and consider approval of a Wastewater Facilities Agreement with Cuncashca, 

LLC.  Sponsor:  Mayor Bill Foulds, Jr.  

 Ginger Faught presented the staff report which is on file. Staff recommends approval of the 

agreement. 

 A motion was made by Council Member Tahuahua to approve a Wastewater Facilities 

Agreement with Cuncashca, LLC. Mayor Pro Tem Manassian seconded the motion which 

carried unanimously 4 to 0. 

10. Discuss and consider approval of a Special Event Permit Application requesting use of 

the Parking Lot at Founders Memorial Park on Saturday, April 29, 2023, from 6-10pm 

for a private event at The Pound House. Applicant: The Polkinghorn Group. 

 Johnna Krantz presented the staff report which is on file. Staff and the Parks & Recreation 

Commission recommend approval of the application. 

 A motion was made by Council Member Parks to approve a Special Event Permit Application 

requesting use of the Parking Lot at Founders Memorial Park on Saturday, April 29, 2023, 

from 6-10pm for a private event at The Pound House. Council Member Crow seconded the 

motion which carried unanimously 4 to 0. 

11. Discuss and consider approval of Parking Agreement between the City of Dripping 

Springs and Roxie’s LLC for the use of the parking lot located at 299 Mercer Street for 

39

Item 3.



 

City Council  April 4, 2023 

Workshop & Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 6 of 9 

 

the 2023 Founders Day Festival as an in-kind sponsorship. Sponsor: Council Member 

Sherrie Parks.  

 Johnna Krantz presented the staff report which is on file. Staff and the Founders Day 

Commission recommend approval of the agreement. 

 A motion was made by Council Member Parks to approve a Parking Agreement between the 

City of Dripping Springs and Roxie’s LLC for the use of the parking lot located at 299 Mercer 

Street for the 2023 Founders Day Festival as an in-kind sponsorship. Council Member 

Tahuahua seconded the motion which carried unanimously 4 to 0. 

12. Discuss and consider approval of the selection of a firm and authorization  for staff to 

negotiate an agreement for the procurement of the Rathgeber Natural Resources Park 

Master Plan.  Sponsor: Council Member Sherrie Parks. 

 Andy Binz presented the staff report which is on file. Staff and the Parks & Recreation 

Commission recommend the selection of RVi Planning. 

 A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Manassian to approve of the selection of RVi Planning 

for the Rathgeber Natural Resources Park Master Plan project with authorization for staff to 

negotiate an agreement. Council Member Crow seconded the motion which carried 

unanimously 4 to 0. 

13. Discuss and consider possible action of an Agreement and Related Documents regarding 

transition of the Dripping Springs Visitors Bureau. Sponsor: Mayor Bill Foulds, Jr. 

 Laura Mueller gave a presentation which is on file. Staff recommends approval of the Terms 

Sheet so an agreement can be negotiated and brought back for final approval. 

 Action was taken on this item in Open Session after the Executive Session. 

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Manassian to adjourn into Executive Session under Texas 

Government Code Sections 551.071, Consultation with Attorney and 551.074, Deliberation of Personnel 

Matters and regarding Executive Session Agenda Items 20 and 21. 

20. Consultation with City Attorney regarding legal issues related to coordination with the 

Dripping Springs Visitors Bureau. Consultation with City Attorney, 551.071 

21. Consultation with Attorney and Deliberation of Personnel Matters regarding job 

descriptions, benefits, and compensation for the proposed Dripping Springs Visitors 

Bureau Director or Tourism and the Dripping Springs Visitors Bureau Brand 

Manager.  Consultation with City Attorney, 551.071, Deliberation of Personnel Matters, 

551.074 

The City Council met in Executive Session from 8:42 p.m. – 8:51 p.m. 

No vote or action was taken during the Executive Session. Mayor Foulds, Jr. returned the meeting 

to Open Session at 8:51 p.m. 

40

Item 3.



 

City Council  April 4, 2023 

Workshop & Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 7 of 9 

 

OPEN SESSION 

Mayor Foulds, Jr. returned the meeting to Open Session and returned to Business Agenda item 13. 

13. Discuss and consider possible action of an Agreement and Related Documents regarding 

transition of the Dripping Springs Visitors Bureau. Sponsor: Mayor Bill Foulds, Jr. 

Mayor Foulds, Jr. opened a Public Hearing regarding this item. 

Dripping Springs News Editor Madi Telschow spoke regarding the ongoing agreement 

with Visitors Bureau to produce the annual Visitors Guide for the Dripping Springs area. 

Visitors Bureau Brand Manager Sam Larghe spoke regarding the Dripping with Taste 

ongoing project. 

A motion was made Council Member Parks to approve the Terms Sheet and authorize staff 

to negotiate Agreement and Related Documents with the Visitors Bureau, which will be 

presented to the City Council for approval at future meeting. Council Member Crow seconded 

the motion which carried unanimously 4 to 0. 

14. Discuss and consider approval of Job Descriptions for Dripping Springs Visitors Bureau 

Director of Tourism and Dripping Springs Visitors Bureau Brand Manager, and 

authorization for the City Administrator to hire for the positions. Sponsor: Mayor Bill 

Foulds, Jr. 

 Michelle Fischer’s staff report is on file and staff recommends approval of the job descriptions 

and authorization to hire. 

 A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Manassian to approve Job Descriptions for Dripping 

Springs Visitors Bureau Director of Tourism and Dripping Springs Visitors Bureau Brand 

Manager, and authorization for the City Administrator to hire for the positions. Council 

Member Tahuahua seconded the motion which carried unanimously 4 to 0. 

 

REPORTS 
Reports of Staff, Boards, Commissions, Committees, Boards and Agencies.  All reports are on file and 

available for review upon request. The City Council may provide staff direction; however, no action may 

be taken. 

 

Report is on file and available for review upon request. 

15. Planning Department Report 

 

A motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Manassian to adjourn into Executive Session under Texas 

Government Code Sections 551.071, Consultation with City Attorney and 551072, Deliberations about 

Real Property and regarding Executive Session Agenda Items 16 – 19. Council Member Tahuahua 

seconded the motion which carried unanimously 4 to 0. 

 

 

41

Item 3.



 

City Council  April 4, 2023 

Workshop & Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 8 of 9 

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION AGENDA 
The City Council for the City of Dripping Springs has the right to adjourn into executive session at any 

time during the course of this meeting to discuss any matter as authorized by Texas Government Code 

Sections 551.071 (Consultation with Attorney), 551.072 (Deliberations about Real Property), 551.073 

Deliberations about Gifts and Donations), 551.074 (Personnel Matters), 551.076 (Deliberations about 

Security Devices), and 551.086 (Economic Development). The City Council for the City of Dripping 

Springs may act on any item listed in Executive Session in Open Session or move any item from Executive 

Session to Open Session for action.  

16. Consultation with attorney related to settlement of litigation related to code 

enforcement. Consultation with Attorney, 551.071 

17. Consultation with Attorney and Deliberation of Real Property regarding 

property acquisition related to the South Regional Water Reclamation Project and East 

Interceptor. Consultation with Attorney, 551.071; Deliberation of Real Property, 551.072 

18. Consultation with Attorney related to litigation regarding the South Regional Water 

Reclamation Project, Wastewater and Amendment 2 Permits, and related 

items. Consultation with Attorney, 551.071 

19. Consultation with Attorney and Deliberation of Real Property regarding legal and real 

estate issues related to potential civic sites and street extensions and 

expansions. Consultation with Attorney, 551.071; Deliberation Regarding Real Property, 

551.072 

20. Consultation with City Attorney regarding legal issues related to coordination with the 

Dripping Springs Visitors Bureau. Consultation with City Attorney, 551.071 

21. Consultation with Attorney and Deliberation of Personnel Matters regarding job 

descriptions, benefits, and compensation for the proposed Dripping Springs Visitors 

Bureau Director or Tourism and the Dripping Springs Visitors Bureau Brand 

Manger.  Consultation with City Attorney, 551.071, Deliberation of Personnel Matters, 

551.074 

The City Council met in Executive Session from 8:58 p.m. – 9:31 p.m. 

Mayor Pro Tem Manassian left the Executive Session at 9:27 p.m. and did not return to the meeting. 

No vote or action was taken during Executive Session. Mayor Foulds, Jr. returned the meeting to 

Open Session at 9:31 p.m. 

UPCOMING MEETINGS 

City Council & Board of Adjustment Meetings 
April 18, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. (CC) 

May 2, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. (CC & BOA) 

May 16, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. (CC) 

June 6, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. (CC & BOA) 

42

Item 3.



 

City Council  April 4, 2023 

Workshop & Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 9 of 9 

 

Board, Commission & Committee Meetings 
April 5, 2023, DSRP Board at 11:00 a.m. 

April 6, 2023, Historic Preservation Commission at 6:00 p.m. 

April 10, 2023, TIRZ No. 1 & No. 2 Board at 4:00 p.m. 

April 10, 2023, Founders Day Commission at 6:00 p.m. 

April 11, 2023, Planning & Zoning Commission at 6:00 p.m. 

April 12, 2023, Utility Commission at 4:00 p.m. 

ADJOURN 

A motion was made by Council Member Tahuahua to adjourn the meeting. Council Member Parks 

seconded the motion which carried unanimously 3 to 0. 

This regular meeting adjourned at 9:31 p.m. 

 

APPROVED ON:  April 18, 2023  

  

Bill Foulds, J., Mayor  

ATTEST:  

  

Andrea Cunningham, City Secretary  

 

43

Item 3.



 

1 | P a g e  
 

To:   Mayor Bill Foulds, Jr. and City Council, City of Dripping Springs 

From:   Shawn Cox, Finance Director/City Treasurer  

Date:   April 18, 2022 

RE:  March 2023 City Treasurer’s Report 

  

General Fund: 

The General Fund received $1,955,361.89 in revenues for March. Year to date, 74.82% of FY 2023 revenues have been 

collected.  

General Fund revenues are in line with the adopted budget. Some line items of note include: 

- 100-000-40000: Ad Valorem Tax - $999,425.70 was received in property taxes in March.  Through March 97.25% 

has been collected, totaling $2,488,733.70. 

- 100-000-40001: Sales Tax – $337,593.52 was received in Sales Tax, of which $254,712.92 is considered City 

Revenues and not allocated to either the Wastewater Fund or through agreements.  This represents an increase 

of 4.68% over March 2022 collections.  Thought March, the City has collected 58.84% of the $3,800,000.00 

budgeted for FY 2023.  

- 100-000-46002: Interest – Though March, $50,891.80 has been collected in interest.  This is $891.80 more than 

was budgeted. 

- 100-200-43000: Site Development Fees – A total of $206,297.29 was collected in Site Development Fees in March.  

For FY 2023, the City budgeted to collect $400,000.00.  Though March, $654,246.12 (163.56%) has been collected. 

General Fund expenditures are in line with the adopted budget.  Through March, there has been $4,238,676.86 (32.87%) 

in General Fund Expenditures.   

Utility Fund:  

For March, $13,614.80 was collected in revenues from the Wastewater, Water & Operations divisions.   

Utility Fund revenues are in line with the adopted budget. Some line items of note include: 

- 400-300-47009: Sales Tax – $67,618.70 was collected in sales tax, but was not transferred from the General Fund 

before the end of the month.  April’s transfer will include March’s total as well. 

Utility Fund expenditures are in line with the adopted budget. Some line items of note include: 

- 400-300-62019: Planning and Permitting – This line item is currently over budget by $13,931.35, and will continue 

to be monitored.  As these costs are related to our operations permits we are working with our engineer to watch 

these expenditures.  A future budget amendment will be needed but is not expected to negatively affect the 

budget overall. 

- 400-300-70003: Other Expenses – This line item is currently over budget by $10,471.09.  However, $31,490.84 

was paid to the Lower Colorado River Authority and will be reimbursed by the developers. 

44

Item 4.



 

2 | P a g e  
 

Dripping Springs Ranch Park (DSRP):  

DSRP received $26,799.29 in revenues for March. 

DSRP revenues are in line with the adopted budget. Some line items of note include: 

- 200-401-43012: Facility Rental Fees - $18,160.00 was collected in rental fees for March. 

- Primarily, the DSRP revenues come from CivicRec which deposits only into the General Fund.  For March, there 

were significant contributions, which are being transferred from the General Fund to the DSRP.  These totals will 

be shown in the April report. 

DSRP expenditures are in line with the adopted budget.   

Banking:  

On March 31st, the City’s cash balance was $30.04 Million. This is a 5.1% increase from the previous month’s cash balances.  

A total of $31,399.89 was collected in interest revenues for the month of March.  

 

 $-

 $10,000.00

 $20,000.00

 $30,000.00

 $40,000.00

 $50,000.00

 $60,000.00

 $70,000.00

 $10,000,000

 $15,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $25,000,000

 $30,000,000

 $35,000,000

 Oct  Nov  Dec  Jan  Feb  Mar  Apr  May  Jun  Jul  Aug  Sep

IN
TE

R
ES

T

C
A

SH
 O

N
 H

A
N

D

Banking
Cash on Hand Interest

45

Item 4.



4/14/2023 7:21:47 AM Page 1 of 12

Budget Report
City of Dripping Springs, TX Account Summary

For Fiscal: FY 2022-2023 Period Ending: 03/31/2023

Fiscal
Ac vity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Remaining
Current 

Total Budget
Period

Ac vity
Original 

Total Budget

Fund: 100 - General Fund

Revenue

Department: 000 - Undesignated

Ad Valorem Tax 2,559,204.88 2,488,733.70 -70,471.18 2.75 %999,425.70100-000-40000 2,559,204.88

Sales Tax Revenue 3,800,000.00 2,236,105.68 -1,563,894.32 41.16 %337,593.52100-000-40001 3,800,000.00

Mixed Beverage 75,000.00 49,279.35 -25,720.65 34.29 %7,616.32100-000-40002 75,000.00

Ad Valorem Tax Penalty/Interest 4,000.00 2,388.97 -1,611.03 40.28 %1,787.04100-000-40006 4,000.00

Solid Waste Franchise Fee 45,000.00 28,873.58 -16,126.42 35.84 %0.00100-000-41000 45,000.00

Alcohol Permit Fees 6,852.50 4,562.50 -2,290.00 33.42 %287.50100-000-42000 6,852.50

Other Revenues 40,000.00 584,746.84 544,746.84 1,461.87 %35,218.46100-000-46001 40,000.00

Interest 50,000.00 50,891.80 891.80 101.78 %12,764.13100-000-46002 50,000.00

CARES Act 0.00 -119.17 -119.17 0.00 %0.00100-000-46010 0.00

Transfer from DSRP 10,400.00 0.00 -10,400.00 100.00 %0.00100-000-47001 10,400.00

Transfer from HOT Fund 2,404.33 0.00 -2,404.33 100.00 %0.00100-000-47005 2,404.33

Transfer from Wastewater Fund 4,066.66 0.00 -4,066.66 100.00 %0.00100-000-47010 4,066.66

Transfer From TIRZ 0.00 194,000.00 194,000.00 0.00 %0.00100-000-47013 0.00

Department: 000 - Undesignated Total: 5,639,463.251,394,692.676,596,928.37 6,596,928.37 -957,465.12 14.51%

Department: 103 - Courts

Muni Court Fines/Special Fees 1,000.00 0.00 -1,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-103-43028 1,000.00

Department: 103 - Courts Total: 0.000.001,000.00 1,000.00 -1,000.00 100.00%

Department: 200 - Planning & Development

Health Permits/Inspections 75,000.00 50,055.00 -24,945.00 33.26 %6,800.00100-200-42001 75,000.00

Site Development Fees 400,000.00 654,246.12 254,246.12 163.56 %206,297.29100-200-43000 400,000.00

Zoning Fees 65,000.00 28,590.00 -36,410.00 56.02 %4,400.00100-200-43002 65,000.00

Subdivision Fees 890,750.00 227,830.42 -662,919.58 74.42 %73,792.97100-200-43030 890,750.00

Department: 200 - Planning & Development Total: 960,721.54291,290.261,430,750.00 1,430,750.00 -470,028.46 32.85%

Department: 201 - Building

Sign Permits 0.00 10,910.00 10,910.00 0.00 %1,375.00100-201-42007 0.00

Fire Inspections 50,000.00 66,722.52 16,722.52 133.45 %22,010.16100-201-43029 50,000.00

Building Code Fees 1,500,000.00 853,036.39 -646,963.61 43.13 %200,679.30100-201-43031 1,500,000.00

Department: 201 - Building Total: 930,668.91224,064.461,550,000.00 1,550,000.00 -619,331.09 39.96%

Department: 400 - Parks & Recreation

Sponsorships & Donations 5,000.00 4,840.00 -160.00 3.20 %0.00100-400-44000 5,000.00

Community Service Fees 1,800.00 470.00 -1,330.00 73.89 %70.00100-400-44001 1,800.00

Program & Event Fees 8,000.00 7,935.25 -64.75 0.81 %6,487.00100-400-44002 8,000.00

Park Rental Income 5,950.00 1,918.00 -4,032.00 67.76 %1,280.00100-400-44004 5,950.00

Transfer from Parkland Dedication 107,000.00 0.00 -107,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-400-47002 107,000.00

Transfer from Landscaping Fund 1,000.00 0.00 -1,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-400-47003 1,000.00

Transfer from HOT Fund 167,000.00 0.00 -167,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-400-47005 167,000.00

Transfer from General Fund 160,570.49 0.00 -160,570.49 100.00 %0.00100-400-47007 160,570.49

Department: 400 - Parks & Recreation Total: 15,163.257,837.00456,320.49 456,320.49 -441,157.24 96.68%

Department: 402 - Aquatics

Aquatic Fees 29,400.00 3,356.50 -26,043.50 88.58 %1,956.50100-402-44003 29,400.00

Park Rental Income 16,950.00 96.00 -16,854.00 99.43 %96.00100-402-44004 16,950.00

Department: 402 - Aquatics Total: 3,452.502,052.5046,350.00 46,350.00 -42,897.50 92.55%

Department: 404 - Founders Day

FD Craft/Business Booths 6,250.00 18,425.00 12,175.00 294.80 %-2,760.00100-404-45000 6,250.00

FD Food Booths 1,100.00 0.00 -1,100.00 100.00 %0.00100-404-45001 1,100.00

FD BBQ Cooker Registration Fees 4,600.00 0.00 -4,600.00 100.00 %0.00100-404-45002 4,600.00

FD Carnival 10,000.00 0.00 -10,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-404-45003 10,000.00

46

Item 4.



Budget Report For Fiscal: FY 2022-2023 Period Ending: 03/31/2023

4/14/2023 7:21:47 AM Page 2 of 12

Fiscal
Ac vity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Remaining
Current 

Total Budget
Period

Ac vity
Original 

Total Budget

FD Parade Registration Fees 3,750.00 3,685.00 -65.00 1.73 %3,685.00100-404-45004 3,750.00

FD Sponsorships 82,500.00 56,000.00 -26,500.00 32.12 %34,500.00100-404-45005 82,500.00

FD Parking Fees 1,700.00 0.00 -1,700.00 100.00 %0.00100-404-45006 1,700.00

FD Electric Fees 3,000.00 20.00 -2,980.00 99.33 %0.00100-404-45007 3,000.00

Department: 404 - Founders Day Total: 78,130.0035,425.00112,900.00 112,900.00 -34,770.00 30.80%

Revenue Total: 7,627,599.451,955,361.8910,194,248.86 10,194,248.86 -2,566,649.41 25.18%

Expense

Department: 000 - Undesignated

Salaries 2,624,223.34 0.00 2,624,223.34 100.00 %0.00100-000-60000 2,624,223.34

Health Insurance 278,376.89 164,150.22 114,226.67 41.03 %0.00100-000-61000 278,376.89

Federal Withholding 209,825.09 0.00 209,825.09 100.00 %0.00100-000-61005 209,825.09

TMRS 156,944.31 0.00 156,944.31 100.00 %0.00100-000-61006 156,944.31

Human Resources Consultant 15,000.00 4,906.25 10,093.75 67.29 %0.00100-000-62009 15,000.00

Dues, Fees & Subscriptions 41,337.95 13,533.49 27,804.46 67.26 %9,294.81100-000-63004 41,337.95

Training/Continuing Education 92,892.04 33,580.45 59,311.59 63.85 %8,034.50100-000-63005 92,892.04

Office Supplies 30,000.00 15,446.06 14,553.94 48.51 %2,356.14100-000-64000 30,000.00

Office Furniture and Equipment 6,000.00 4,976.75 1,023.25 17.05 %349.96100-000-64004 6,000.00

Postage & Shipping 3,200.00 1,542.86 1,657.14 51.79 %36.24100-000-66002 3,200.00

Animal Control 3,400.00 3,400.00 0.00 0.00 %3,400.00100-000-68004 3,400.00

Economic Development 5,000.00 0.00 5,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-000-69002 5,000.00

Mileage 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-000-70001 2,000.00

Contingencies/Emergency Fund 50,000.00 0.00 50,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-000-70002 50,000.00

Other Expenses 10,000.00 3,057.56 6,942.44 69.42 %860.54100-000-70003 10,000.00

Transfer to Reserve Fund 500,000.00 0.00 500,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-000-90000 500,000.00

Transfer to TIRZ 355,961.65 0.00 355,961.65 100.00 %0.00100-000-90002 355,961.65

Transfer to DSRP 275,884.04 0.00 275,884.04 100.00 %0.00100-000-90005 275,884.04

Transfer to Capital Improvements 300,000.00 0.00 300,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-000-90011 300,000.00

Transfer to Vehicle Replacement Fu 70,326.00 0.00 70,326.00 100.00 %0.00100-000-90013 70,326.00

Transfer to Farmers Marke 15,249.56 0.00 15,249.56 100.00 %0.00100-000-90015 15,249.56

Department: 000 - Undesignated Total: 244,593.6424,332.195,045,620.87 5,045,620.87 4,801,027.23 95.15%

Department: 100 - City Council/Boards & Commissions

Uniforms 1,500.00 0.00 1,500.00 100.00 %0.00100-100-64003 1,500.00

Family Violence Center 7,000.00 0.00 7,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-100-69000 7,000.00

Land Acquisition 10,000.00 0.00 10,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-100-69008 10,000.00

Department: 100 - City Council/Boards & Commissions Total: 0.000.0018,500.00 18,500.00 18,500.00 100.00%

Department: 101 - City Administrators Office

Regular Employees 0.00 233,875.89 -233,875.89 0.00 %36,655.37100-101-60000 0.00

Overtime 0.00 125.93 -125.93 0.00 %41.38100-101-60002 0.00

Health Insurance 0.00 9,943.30 -9,943.30 0.00 %1,799.84100-101-61000 0.00

Dental Insurance 0.00 799.02 -799.02 0.00 %138.96100-101-61001 0.00

Medicare 0.00 3,153.62 -3,153.62 0.00 %495.41100-101-61002 0.00

Social Security 0.00 10,761.30 -10,761.30 0.00 %2,118.28100-101-61003 0.00

Unemployment 0.00 527.71 -527.71 0.00 %78.28100-101-61004 0.00

TMRS 0.00 13,977.69 -13,977.69 0.00 %2,223.81100-101-61006 0.00

Department: 101 - City Administrators Office Total: 273,164.4643,551.330.00 0.00 -273,164.46 0.00%

Department: 102 - City Secretary

Regular Employees 0.00 50,702.63 -50,702.63 0.00 %9,981.94100-102-60000 0.00

Part-time Employees 0.00 7,872.05 -7,872.05 0.00 %1,010.00100-102-60001 0.00

Overtime 0.00 405.43 -405.43 0.00 %102.25100-102-60002 0.00

Health Insurance 0.00 4,482.95 -4,482.95 0.00 %1,185.62100-102-61000 0.00

Dental Insurance 0.00 260.55 -260.55 0.00 %69.48100-102-61001 0.00

Medicare 0.00 838.97 -838.97 0.00 %150.94100-102-61002 0.00

Social Security 0.00 3,587.26 -3,587.26 0.00 %645.36100-102-61003 0.00

Unemployment 0.00 330.54 -330.54 0.00 %74.13100-102-61004 0.00

TMRS 0.00 3,059.54 -3,059.54 0.00 %611.09100-102-61006 0.00

Municipal Election 8,000.00 0.00 8,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-102-62000 8,000.00

Code Publication 8,000.00 0.00 8,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-102-62018 8,000.00

47

Item 4.



Budget Report For Fiscal: FY 2022-2023 Period Ending: 03/31/2023

4/14/2023 7:21:47 AM Page 3 of 12

Fiscal
Ac vity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Remaining
Current 

Total Budget
Period

Ac vity
Original 

Total Budget

Uniforms 0.00 45.00 -45.00 0.00 %45.00100-102-64003 0.00

Public Notices 6,000.00 2,848.38 3,151.62 52.53 %1,014.50100-102-66003 6,000.00

Records Management 1,220.00 360.00 860.00 70.49 %60.00100-102-69003 1,220.00

Mileage 0.00 32.50 -32.50 0.00 %0.00100-102-70001 0.00

Department: 102 - City Secretary Total: 74,825.8014,950.3123,220.00 23,220.00 -51,605.80 -222.25%

Department: 103 - Courts

Part-time Employees 0.00 3,264.39 -3,264.39 0.00 %446.25100-103-60001 0.00

Medicare 0.00 47.35 -47.35 0.00 %6.48100-103-61002 0.00

Social Security 0.00 202.39 -202.39 0.00 %27.67100-103-61003 0.00

Unemployment 0.00 52.25 -52.25 0.00 %7.14100-103-61004 0.00

Muni Court Attorney/ Judge 15,500.00 4,110.00 11,390.00 73.48 %500.00100-103-62003 15,500.00

Department: 103 - Courts Total: 7,676.38987.5415,500.00 15,500.00 7,823.62 50.47%

Department: 104 - City Attorney

Regular Employees 0.00 79,684.58 -79,684.58 0.00 %12,269.21100-104-60000 0.00

Part-time Employees 0.00 285.00 -285.00 0.00 %180.00100-104-60001 0.00

Health Insurance 0.00 3,903.12 -3,903.12 0.00 %600.48100-104-61000 0.00

Dental Insurance 0.00 225.81 -225.81 0.00 %34.74100-104-61001 0.00

Medicare 0.00 1,105.46 -1,105.46 0.00 %172.20100-104-61002 0.00

Social Security 0.00 4,726.64 -4,726.64 0.00 %736.24100-104-61003 0.00

Unemployment 0.00 148.56 -148.56 0.00 %2.88100-104-61004 0.00

TMRS 0.00 4,760.29 -4,760.29 0.00 %743.52100-104-61006 0.00

Special Counsel and Consultants 55,800.00 13,909.57 41,890.43 75.07 %4,975.06100-104-62003 55,800.00

Government Affairs 60,000.00 20,000.00 40,000.00 66.67 %0.00100-104-69004 60,000.00

Department: 104 - City Attorney Total: 128,749.0319,714.33115,800.00 115,800.00 -12,949.03 -11.18%

Department: 105 - Communications

Regular Employees 0.00 62,163.58 -62,163.58 0.00 %11,687.74100-105-60000 0.00

Health Insurance 0.00 4,617.36 -4,617.36 0.00 %1,206.48100-105-61000 0.00

Dental Insurance 0.00 260.55 -260.55 0.00 %69.48100-105-61001 0.00

Medicare 0.00 896.62 -896.62 0.00 %168.74100-105-61002 0.00

Social Security 0.00 3,833.65 -3,833.65 0.00 %721.48100-105-61003 0.00

Unemployment 0.00 282.46 -282.46 0.00 %55.38100-105-61004 0.00

TMRS 0.00 3,721.02 -3,721.02 0.00 %708.28100-105-61006 0.00

Website 6,625.00 0.00 6,625.00 100.00 %0.00100-105-66000 6,625.00

Public Relations 5,200.00 270.53 4,929.47 94.80 %194.24100-105-66005 5,200.00

Department: 105 - Communications Total: 76,045.7714,811.8211,825.00 11,825.00 -64,220.77 -543.09%

Department: 106 - IT

Regular Employees 0.00 35,582.09 -35,582.09 0.00 %5,487.01100-106-60000 0.00

Health Insurance 0.00 3,665.94 -3,665.94 0.00 %608.68100-106-61000 0.00

Dental Insurance 0.00 208.44 -208.44 0.00 %34.74100-106-61001 0.00

Medicare 0.00 515.09 -515.09 0.00 %79.42100-106-61002 0.00

Social Security 0.00 2,202.52 -2,202.52 0.00 %339.60100-106-61003 0.00

Unemployment 0.00 144.01 -144.01 0.00 %0.00100-106-61004 0.00

TMRS 0.00 2,125.71 -2,125.71 0.00 %332.52100-106-61006 0.00

Office IT Equipment & Support 113,690.00 56,513.04 57,176.96 50.29 %4,617.43100-106-64001 105,890.00

Software 265,318.00 134,488.44 130,829.56 49.31 %24,912.50100-106-64002 218,759.00

Network/Phone 36,830.84 14,789.69 22,041.15 59.84 %3,131.07100-106-65000 36,830.84

Department: 106 - IT Total: 250,234.9739,542.97361,479.84 415,838.84 165,603.87 39.82%

Department: 107 - Finance

Regular Employees 0.00 103,567.54 -103,567.54 0.00 %15,921.12100-107-60000 0.00

Overtime 0.00 252.65 -252.65 0.00 %159.82100-107-60002 0.00

Health Insurance 0.00 11,576.18 -11,576.18 0.00 %1,781.68100-107-61000 0.00

Dental Insurance 0.00 677.43 -677.43 0.00 %104.22100-107-61001 0.00

Medicare 0.00 1,343.54 -1,343.54 0.00 %216.72100-107-61002 0.00

Social Security 0.00 5,744.60 -5,744.60 0.00 %926.65100-107-61003 0.00

Unemployment 0.00 431.99 -431.99 0.00 %32.59100-107-61004 0.00

TMRS 0.00 6,201.95 -6,201.95 0.00 %974.49100-107-61006 0.00

Financial Services 35,000.00 35,000.00 0.00 0.00 %35,000.00100-107-62001 35,000.00

48

Item 4.



Budget Report For Fiscal: FY 2022-2023 Period Ending: 03/31/2023

4/14/2023 7:21:47 AM Page 4 of 12

Fiscal
Ac vity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Remaining
Current 

Total Budget
Period

Ac vity
Original 

Total Budget

Uniforms 300.00 0.00 300.00 100.00 %0.00100-107-64003 300.00

TML Liability Insurance 25,000.00 10,125.00 14,875.00 59.50 %0.00100-107-67000 25,000.00

TML Property Insurance 41,000.00 23,201.00 17,799.00 43.41 %0.00100-107-67001 41,000.00

TML Workmen's Comp Insurance 25,000.00 36,411.50 -11,411.50 -45.65 %0.00100-107-67002 25,000.00

Mileage 0.00 157.69 -157.69 0.00 %137.21100-107-70001 0.00

Transfer to Wastewater U lity Fund 760,000.00 379,702.43 380,297.57 50.04 %0.00100-107-90003 760,000.00

SPA & ECO D Transfers 218,880.00 66,513.42 152,366.58 69.61 %0.00100-107-90004 218,880.00

Department: 107 - Finance Total: 680,906.9255,254.501,105,180.00 1,105,180.00 424,273.08 38.39%

Department: 200 - Planning & Development

Regular Employees 0.00 103,472.26 -103,472.26 0.00 %13,388.16100-200-60000 0.00

Overtime 0.00 15.75 -15.75 0.00 %15.75100-200-60002 0.00

Health Insurance 0.00 9,617.89 -9,617.89 0.00 %1,214.24100-200-61000 0.00

Dental Insurance 0.00 555.84 -555.84 0.00 %69.48100-200-61001 0.00

Medicare 0.00 1,449.80 -1,449.80 0.00 %186.60100-200-61002 0.00

Social Security 0.00 6,199.14 -6,199.14 0.00 %797.87100-200-61003 0.00

Unemployment 0.00 301.69 -301.69 0.00 %17.47100-200-61004 0.00

TMRS 0.00 6,170.55 -6,170.55 0.00 %812.28100-200-61006 0.00

Engineering & Surveying 70,000.00 0.00 70,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-200-62002 70,000.00

Health Inspector 50,000.00 40,156.63 9,843.37 19.69 %4,446.79100-200-62005 50,000.00

Architectural & Landscape Consulta 5,000.00 2,250.00 2,750.00 55.00 %62.50100-200-62006 5,000.00

Historic District Consultant 3,500.00 2,687.50 812.50 23.21 %687.50100-200-62007 3,500.00

Miscellaneous Consultant 250,000.00 74,932.10 175,067.90 70.03 %21,441.17100-200-62010 250,000.00

Uniforms 0.00 452.00 -452.00 0.00 %0.00100-200-64003 0.00

Mileage 0.00 55.35 -55.35 0.00 %0.00100-200-70001 0.00

Department: 200 - Planning & Development Total: 248,316.5043,139.81378,500.00 378,500.00 130,183.50 34.39%

Department: 201 - Building

Regular Employees 0.00 144,812.76 -144,812.76 0.00 %26,613.49100-201-60000 0.00

Overtime 0.00 3,052.01 -3,052.01 0.00 %1,499.29100-201-60002 0.00

Health Insurance 0.00 17,707.72 -17,707.72 0.00 %3,547.50100-201-61000 0.00

Dental Insurance 0.00 1,037.86 -1,037.86 0.00 %208.44100-201-61001 0.00

Medicare 0.00 2,121.10 -2,121.10 0.00 %403.10100-201-61002 0.00

Social Security 0.00 9,069.83 -9,069.83 0.00 %1,723.65100-201-61003 0.00

Unemployment 0.00 985.82 -985.82 0.00 %73.71100-201-61004 0.00

TMRS 0.00 8,795.88 -8,795.88 0.00 %1,703.62100-201-61006 0.00

Bldg. Inspector 750,000.00 447,539.02 302,460.98 40.33 %53,187.66100-201-62004 750,000.00

Lighting Consultant 1,000.00 2,062.50 -1,062.50 -106.25 %550.00100-201-62008 1,000.00

FireInspector 40,000.00 22,977.41 17,022.59 42.56 %0.00100-201-62014 40,000.00

Uniforms 1,700.00 1,771.17 -71.17 -4.19 %0.00100-201-64003 1,700.00

Fuel 0.00 65.81 -65.81 0.00 %0.00100-201-64008 0.00

Mileage 0.00 218.56 -218.56 0.00 %0.00100-201-70001 0.00

Department: 201 - Building Total: 662,217.4589,510.46792,700.00 792,700.00 130,482.55 16.46%

Department: 300 - Wastewater

Regular Employees 0.00 56,779.77 -56,779.77 0.00 %7,046.16100-300-60000 0.00

Overtime 0.00 381.23 -381.23 0.00 %0.00100-300-60002 0.00

On Call Pay 0.00 1,600.00 -1,600.00 0.00 %200.00100-300-60003 0.00

Health Insurance 0.00 5,174.11 -5,174.11 0.00 %598.66100-300-61000 0.00

Dental Insurance 0.00 299.63 -299.63 0.00 %34.74100-300-61001 0.00

Medicare 0.00 790.51 -790.51 0.00 %96.46100-300-61002 0.00

Social Security 0.00 3,380.12 -3,380.12 0.00 %412.44100-300-61003 0.00

Unemployment 0.00 144.00 -144.00 0.00 %0.00100-300-61004 0.00

TMRS 0.00 3,504.45 -3,504.45 0.00 %439.12100-300-61006 0.00

Uniforms 2,360.00 1,575.13 784.87 33.26 %0.00100-300-64003 2,360.00

Transporta on Improvement Proje 1,096,332.00 171,998.26 924,333.74 84.31 %13,786.26100-300-71001 1,096,332.00

Department: 300 - Wastewater Total: 245,627.2122,613.841,098,692.00 1,098,692.00 853,064.79 77.64%

Department: 304 - Maintenance

Regular Employees 0.00 155,121.06 -155,121.06 0.00 %24,999.60100-304-60000 0.00

Overtime 0.00 3,955.16 -3,955.16 0.00 %367.71100-304-60002 0.00

49

Item 4.



Budget Report For Fiscal: FY 2022-2023 Period Ending: 03/31/2023

4/14/2023 7:21:47 AM Page 5 of 12

Fiscal
Ac vity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Remaining
Current 

Total Budget
Period

Ac vity
Original 

Total Budget

On Call Pay 0.00 5,200.00 -5,200.00 0.00 %800.00100-304-60003 0.00

Health Insurance 0.00 21,320.55 -21,320.55 0.00 %3,550.88100-304-61000 0.00

Dental Insurance 0.00 1,249.67 -1,249.67 0.00 %208.44100-304-61001 0.00

Medicare 0.00 2,324.76 -2,324.76 0.00 %370.67100-304-61002 0.00

Social Security 0.00 9,940.55 -9,940.55 0.00 %1,584.98100-304-61003 0.00

Unemployment 0.00 941.29 -941.29 0.00 %59.72100-304-61004 0.00

TMRS 0.00 9,818.22 -9,818.22 0.00 %1,585.73100-304-61006 0.00

Vandalism Repairs 0.00 -3,141.85 3,141.85 0.00 %0.00100-304-62305 0.00

Office Maintenance/Repairs 18,510.00 5,999.34 12,510.66 67.59 %1,193.76100-304-63000 18,510.00

Equipment Maintenance 5,500.00 37.98 5,462.02 99.31 %0.00100-304-63001 5,500.00

Fleet Maintenance 44,180.00 20,877.81 23,302.19 52.74 %10,149.89100-304-63002 44,180.00

Stephenson Building & Lawn Maint 6,000.00 127.65 5,872.35 97.87 %48.95100-304-63008 6,000.00

Street/ROW Maintenance 204,050.00 58,154.35 145,895.65 71.50 %136.16100-304-63009 204,050.00

Triangle/Veterans Park Maintenanc 0.00 247.42 -247.42 0.00 %0.00100-304-63018 0.00

General Maintenance 0.00 53.65 -53.65 0.00 %53.65100-304-63023 0.00

Uniforms 12,320.00 1,767.45 10,552.55 85.65 %237.46100-304-64003 12,320.00

Fleet Acquisition 50,000.00 35,758.86 14,241.14 28.48 %-1,016.50100-304-64006 50,000.00

Maintenance Equipment 97,500.00 47,092.34 50,407.66 51.70 %46,783.89100-304-64009 97,500.00

Maintenance Supplies 5,100.00 2,069.33 3,030.67 59.42 %194.68100-304-64010 5,100.00

Street Electricty 20,000.00 7,679.78 12,320.22 61.60 %1,591.33100-304-65001 20,000.00

City Streets Water 4,000.00 1,409.29 2,590.71 64.77 %240.31100-304-65002 4,000.00

Office Electricty 5,500.00 2,202.18 3,297.82 59.96 %472.87100-304-65003 5,500.00

Office Water 650.00 209.58 440.42 67.76 %82.34100-304-65004 650.00

Stephenson Bldg Electric 1,500.00 382.78 1,117.22 74.48 %76.50100-304-65005 1,500.00

Stephenson Water 500.00 176.36 323.64 64.73 %35.18100-304-65006 500.00

Triangle Electric 0.00 191.25 -191.25 0.00 %38.25100-304-65009 0.00

Lighting Compliance 2,000.00 240.00 1,760.00 88.00 %0.00100-304-69001 2,000.00

Stephenson Bldg Improvements 210,000.00 4,962.50 205,037.50 97.64 %0.00100-304-69006 210,000.00

Downtown Bathroom 200,000.00 0.00 200,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-304-69010 200,000.00

City Hall Planning 30,000.00 0.00 30,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-304-69011 30,000.00

Street Improvements 693,707.99 175,264.47 518,443.52 74.74 %0.00100-304-71002 693,707.99

City Hall Improvements 500,000.00 7,835.50 492,164.50 98.43 %0.00100-304-71003 500,000.00

Department: 304 - Maintenance Total: 579,469.2893,846.452,111,017.99 2,111,017.99 1,531,548.71 72.55%

Department: 400 - Parks & Recreation

Regular Employees 0.00 70,334.82 -70,334.82 0.00 %11,566.38100-400-60000 0.00

Part-time Employees 13,400.00 0.00 13,400.00 100.00 %0.00100-400-60001 13,400.00

Camp Staff 0.00 2,769.32 -2,769.32 0.00 %592.20100-400-60005 0.00

Health Insurance 0.00 2,062.73 -2,062.73 0.00 %610.86100-400-61000 0.00

Dental Insurance 0.00 111.54 -111.54 0.00 %34.74100-400-61001 0.00

Medicare 0.00 1,057.42 -1,057.42 0.00 %175.49100-400-61002 0.00

Social Security 0.00 4,521.17 -4,521.17 0.00 %750.32100-400-61003 0.00

Unemployment 0.00 310.01 -310.01 0.00 %32.84100-400-61004 0.00

TMRS 0.00 4,204.60 -4,204.60 0.00 %700.92100-400-61006 0.00

Park Consultant 10,000.00 0.00 10,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-400-62011 10,000.00

Dues, Fees & Subscriptions 1,464.50 459.56 1,004.94 68.62 %0.00100-400-63004 1,464.50

Sports & Rec Park Lawn Mainten 0.00 1,170.00 -1,170.00 0.00 %0.00100-400-63010 0.00

Founders Park Lawn Maintenance 0.00 1,520.00 -1,520.00 0.00 %0.00100-400-63011 0.00

Charro Ranch Landscaping 0.00 1,320.00 -1,320.00 0.00 %0.00100-400-63012 0.00

General Parks Maintenance 1,000.00 222.19 777.81 77.78 %34.88100-400-63013 1,000.00

Founders Park/Pool Maintenance 50,740.00 2,632.24 48,107.76 94.81 %0.00100-400-63015 50,740.00

Sports & Rec Park Maintenance 31,420.00 176.24 31,243.76 99.44 %91.44100-400-63016 31,420.00

Charro Ranch Park Maintenance 7,250.00 222.57 7,027.43 96.93 %0.00100-400-63017 7,250.00

Triangle/Veterans Park Maintenanc 700.00 18.94 681.06 97.29 %18.94100-400-63018 700.00

Skate Park Maintenance 500.00 0.00 500.00 100.00 %0.00100-400-63036 500.00

Rathgeber Maintenance 900.00 978.69 -78.69 -8.74 %310.00100-400-63037 900.00

Equipment Rental 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-400-64005 1,000.00

Park Supplies 8,550.00 1,962.36 6,587.64 77.05 %375.42100-400-64011 8,550.00

Charro Ranch Supplies 1,500.00 1,237.72 262.28 17.49 %0.00100-400-64012 1,500.00

50

Item 4.



Budget Report For Fiscal: FY 2022-2023 Period Ending: 03/31/2023

4/14/2023 7:21:47 AM Page 6 of 12

Fiscal
Ac vity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Remaining
Current 

Total Budget
Period

Ac vity
Original 

Total Budget

Founders Park/Pool Supplies 0.00 5,782.59 -5,782.59 0.00 %5,722.60100-400-64013 0.00

Sports & Rec Park Supplies 400.00 0.00 400.00 100.00 %0.00100-400-64014 400.00

Park Program & Event Supplies 20,050.00 8,623.65 11,426.35 56.99 %12.46100-400-64015 20,050.00

Portable Toilets 7,250.00 3,200.00 4,050.00 55.86 %605.00100-400-65007 7,250.00

Triangle Electric 500.00 0.00 500.00 100.00 %0.00100-400-65009 500.00

Triangle Water 1,000.00 175.90 824.10 82.41 %35.18100-400-65010 1,000.00

Sports & Rec Park Water 13,000.00 11,043.55 1,956.45 15.05 %1,740.96100-400-65011 13,000.00

Sports & Rec Park Electricty 2,500.00 1,228.30 1,271.70 50.87 %812.33100-400-65012 2,500.00

Founders Park/Pool Electricty 0.00 2,892.98 -2,892.98 0.00 %476.57100-400-65014 0.00

Advertising 11,250.00 958.86 10,291.14 91.48 %284.20100-400-66001 11,250.00

City Sponsored Events 5,000.00 0.00 5,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-400-66004 5,000.00

Other Expenses 11,500.00 10,896.70 603.30 5.25 %0.00100-400-70003 11,500.00

Sponsored Events 0.00 1,760.00 -1,760.00 0.00 %0.00100-400-70007 0.00

All Parks Improvements 6,500.00 4,127.82 2,372.18 36.50 %1,719.58100-400-71004 6,500.00

Founders Park/Pool Improvmts 187,048.36 39,340.35 147,708.01 78.97 %0.00100-400-71005 187,048.36

Sports & Rec Park Improvements 150,000.00 0.00 150,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-400-71006 150,000.00

Charro Ranch Improvements 1,000.00 0.00 1,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-400-71007 1,000.00

Triangle Improvements 17,000.00 0.00 17,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-400-71009 17,000.00

Rathgeber Improvements 110,000.00 0.00 110,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-400-71010 110,000.00

Skate Park Improvements 75,000.00 0.00 75,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-400-71012 75,000.00

Department: 400 - Parks & Recreation Total: 187,322.8226,703.31747,422.86 747,422.86 560,100.04 74.94%

Department: 401 - DSRP

Regular Employees 485,020.13 207,898.81 277,121.32 57.14 %31,032.81100-401-60000 485,020.13

Overtime 0.00 2,547.99 -2,547.99 0.00 %986.58100-401-60002 0.00

On Call Pay 0.00 5,200.00 -5,200.00 0.00 %800.00100-401-60003 0.00

Health Insurance 73,071.07 23,587.83 49,483.24 67.72 %3,558.66100-401-61000 73,071.07

Dental Insurance 0.00 1,382.28 -1,382.28 0.00 %208.44100-401-61001 0.00

Medicare 0.00 3,002.72 -3,002.72 0.00 %457.22100-401-61002 0.00

Social Security 0.00 12,838.85 -12,838.85 0.00 %1,954.91100-401-61003 0.00

Unemployment 0.00 1,367.96 -1,367.96 0.00 %160.56100-401-61004 0.00

Federal Withholding 38,873.31 0.00 38,873.31 100.00 %0.00100-401-61005 38,873.31

TMRS 27,399.78 12,876.17 14,523.61 53.01 %1,988.86100-401-61006 27,399.78

Department: 401 - DSRP Total: 270,702.6141,148.04624,364.29 624,364.29 353,661.68 56.64%

Department: 402 - Aquatics

Regular Employees 0.00 30,274.45 -30,274.45 0.00 %4,507.68100-402-60000 0.00

Aquatic Staff 77,043.15 0.00 77,043.15 100.00 %0.00100-402-60007 77,043.15

Health Insurance 0.00 3,843.59 -3,843.59 0.00 %591.54100-402-61000 0.00

Dental Insurance 0.00 225.81 -225.81 0.00 %34.74100-402-61001 0.00

Medicare 0.00 438.97 -438.97 0.00 %65.36100-402-61002 0.00

Social Security 0.00 1,877.03 -1,877.03 0.00 %279.48100-402-61003 0.00

Unemployment 0.00 144.00 -144.00 0.00 %0.00100-402-61004 0.00

TMRS 0.00 1,808.02 -1,808.02 0.00 %273.16100-402-61006 0.00

Training/Continuing Education 0.00 769.81 -769.81 0.00 %0.00100-402-63005 0.00

Founders Park/Pool Maintenance 16,000.00 6,798.00 9,202.00 57.51 %59.27100-402-63015 16,000.00

Pool Supplies 24,705.00 4,096.28 20,608.72 83.42 %62.87100-402-64013 24,705.00

Network/Phone 1,650.00 628.70 1,021.30 61.90 %110.56100-402-65000 1,650.00

FMP Pool/Pavilion Water 6,000.00 1,167.72 4,832.28 80.54 %205.55100-402-65013 6,000.00

FMP Pool/Pavilion Electric 7,250.00 0.00 7,250.00 100.00 %0.00100-402-65014 7,250.00

Propane/Natural Gas 20,000.00 1,316.00 18,684.00 93.42 %1,316.00100-402-65019 20,000.00

Founders Pool Improvements 1,500.00 0.00 1,500.00 100.00 %0.00100-402-71011 1,500.00

Department: 402 - Aquatics Total: 53,388.387,506.21154,148.15 154,148.15 100,759.77 65.37%

Department: 404 - Founders Day

FD Clean Up 5,500.00 0.00 5,500.00 100.00 %0.00100-404-63019 5,500.00

FD Transportation 4,500.00 0.00 4,500.00 100.00 %0.00100-404-63038 4,500.00

FD Event Supplies 5,000.00 0.00 5,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-404-64016 5,000.00

FD Event Tent, Table, & Chairs 4,000.00 0.00 4,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-404-64017 4,000.00

FD Barricades 19,000.00 0.00 19,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-404-64018 19,000.00

51

Item 4.



Budget Report For Fiscal: FY 2022-2023 Period Ending: 03/31/2023

4/14/2023 7:21:47 AM Page 7 of 12

Fiscal
Ac vity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Remaining
Current 

Total Budget
Period

Ac vity
Original 

Total Budget

Portable Toilets 12,000.00 0.00 12,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-404-65007 12,000.00

FD Electricity 6,400.00 0.00 6,400.00 100.00 %0.00100-404-65016 6,400.00

FD Parade 650.00 0.00 650.00 100.00 %0.00100-404-66008 650.00

FD Publicity 9,500.00 3,595.76 5,904.24 62.15 %1,989.98100-404-66009 9,500.00

Events, Entertainment & Activities 22,500.00 0.00 22,500.00 100.00 %0.00100-404-66010 22,500.00

FD Sponsorship 6,000.00 0.00 6,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-404-66012 6,000.00

FD Security 32,500.00 14,190.00 18,310.00 56.34 %14,190.00100-404-68005 32,500.00

FD Health, Safety & Lighting 15,500.00 11,007.05 4,492.95 28.99 %11,007.05100-404-68006 15,500.00

FD Contingencies 3,438.01 0.00 3,438.01 100.00 %0.00100-404-70002 3,438.01

Department: 404 - Founders Day Total: 28,792.8127,187.03146,488.01 146,488.01 117,695.20 80.34%

Department: 500 - Emergency Management

Regular Employees 0.00 37,061.55 -37,061.55 0.00 %5,676.92100-500-60000 0.00

Health Insurance 0.00 101.71 -101.71 0.00 %15.94100-500-61000 0.00

Dental Insurance 0.00 225.81 -225.81 0.00 %34.74100-500-61001 0.00

Medicare 0.00 537.42 -537.42 0.00 %82.32100-500-61002 0.00

Social Security 0.00 2,297.79 -2,297.79 0.00 %351.96100-500-61003 0.00

Unemployment 0.00 144.01 -144.01 0.00 %0.00100-500-61004 0.00

TMRS 0.00 2,213.93 -2,213.93 0.00 %344.02100-500-61006 0.00

Office Supplies 0.00 225.22 -225.22 0.00 %0.00100-500-64000 0.00

Uniforms 500.00 0.00 500.00 100.00 %0.00100-500-64003 500.00

Emergency Management Equip 45,690.00 48,771.53 -3,081.53 -6.74 %91.67100-500-68000 45,690.00

Emergency Fire& Safety 611.00 984.81 -373.81 -61.18 %83.00100-500-68001 611.00

Emergency Management PR 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 100.00 %0.00100-500-68002 2,000.00

Emergency Equipment Maint 11,702.00 2,710.86 8,991.14 76.83 %190.71100-500-68003 11,702.00

Other Expenses 30,000.00 23,089.50 6,910.50 23.04 %10,597.50100-500-70003 30,000.00

Winter Storm Mara 0.00 108,278.69 -108,278.69 0.00 %73,323.69100-500-70015 0.00

Department: 500 - Emergency Management Total: 226,642.8390,792.4790,503.00 90,503.00 -136,139.83 -150.43%

Expense Total: 4,238,676.86655,592.6112,840,962.01 12,895,321.01 8,656,644.15 67.13%

Fund: 100 - General Fund Surplus (Deficit): 3,388,922.591,299,769.28-2,646,713.15 -2,701,072.15 6,089,994.74 225.47%

Fund: 200 - Dripping Springs Ranch Park

Revenue

Department: 401 - DSRP

Riding Permit Fees 9,500.00 6,860.00 -2,640.00 27.79 %60.00200-401-42008 9,500.00

Stall Rental Fees 37,200.00 20,492.00 -16,708.00 44.91 %475.00200-401-43010 37,200.00

RV Site Rental Fees 19,000.00 8,875.00 -10,125.00 53.29 %395.00200-401-43011 19,000.00

Facility Rental Fees 113,500.00 73,122.74 -40,377.26 35.57 %18,160.00200-401-43012 113,500.00

Equipment Rental Fees 6,000.00 4,090.00 -1,910.00 31.83 %2,665.00200-401-43013 6,000.00

Staff & Miscellaneous Fees 4,000.00 3,722.24 -277.76 6.94 %1,261.22200-401-43014 4,000.00

Cleaning Fees 25,000.00 14,248.43 -10,751.57 43.01 %3,150.00200-401-43015 25,000.00

Sponsorships & Donations 52,275.00 25.00 -52,250.00 99.95 %0.00200-401-44000 52,275.00

Program & Event Fees 0.00 90.00 90.00 0.00 %0.00200-401-44002 0.00

Coyote Camp 137,100.00 0.00 -137,100.00 100.00 %0.00200-401-44005 137,100.00

Riding Series 82,000.00 12,074.59 -69,925.41 85.27 %0.00200-401-44006 82,000.00

Miscellaneous Events 2,000.00 24,062.00 22,062.00 1,203.10 %0.00200-401-44007 2,000.00

Program Fees 15,100.00 100.00 -15,000.00 99.34 %100.00200-401-44008 15,100.00

Other Revenues 500.00 -1,181.24 -1,681.24 336.25 %0.00200-401-46001 500.00

Interest 600.00 1,634.06 1,034.06 272.34 %228.07200-401-46002 600.00

Merchandise Sales 21,065.20 16,858.00 -4,207.20 19.97 %305.00200-401-46006 21,065.20

Transfer from Ag Facility Fund 47,495.00 0.00 -47,495.00 100.00 %0.00200-401-47004 47,495.00

Transfer from HOT Fund 395,000.00 0.00 -395,000.00 100.00 %0.00200-401-47005 395,000.00

Transfer from General Fund 275,884.04 0.00 -275,884.04 100.00 %0.00200-401-47007 275,884.04

Department: 401 - DSRP Total: 185,072.8226,799.291,243,219.24 1,243,219.24 -1,058,146.42 85.11%

Revenue Total: 185,072.8226,799.291,243,219.24 1,243,219.24 -1,058,146.42 85.11%

Expense

Department: 400 - Parks & Recreation

Ranch House Maintenance 10,000.00 1,800.00 8,200.00 82.00 %360.00200-400-63035 10,000.00

52

Item 4.



Budget Report For Fiscal: FY 2022-2023 Period Ending: 03/31/2023

4/14/2023 7:21:47 AM Page 8 of 12

Fiscal
Ac vity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Remaining
Current 

Total Budget
Period

Ac vity
Original 

Total Budget

Ranch House Supplies 1,000.00 162.80 837.20 83.72 %0.00200-400-64024 1,000.00

Ranch House Equipment 0.00 255.00 -255.00 0.00 %0.00200-400-64025 0.00

Department: 400 - Parks & Recreation Total: 2,217.80360.0011,000.00 11,000.00 8,782.20 79.84%

Department: 401 - DSRP

On Call Pay 10,400.00 0.00 10,400.00 100.00 %0.00200-401-60003 10,400.00

Camp Staff 108,246.48 0.00 108,246.48 100.00 %0.00200-401-60005 108,246.48

Building/Office Maintenance 0.00 9,826.54 -9,826.54 0.00 %2,276.07200-401-63000 0.00

Equipment Maintenance 25,000.00 7,158.03 17,841.97 71.37 %75.93200-401-63001 25,000.00

Fleet Maintenance 5,500.00 55.00 5,445.00 99.00 %0.00200-401-63002 5,500.00

Lawn Maintenance 0.00 2,560.00 -2,560.00 0.00 %0.00200-401-63003 0.00

Dues, Fees & Subscriptions 5,127.50 2,982.40 2,145.10 41.84 %415.00200-401-63004 5,127.50

Training/Continuing Education 9,500.00 7,712.82 1,787.18 18.81 %7,337.62200-401-63005 9,500.00

General Maintenance 206,490.00 43,888.27 162,601.73 78.75 %160.63200-401-63023 206,490.00

Stall Cleaning & Repair 4,000.00 0.00 4,000.00 100.00 %0.00200-401-63024 4,000.00

Lift Station Maintenance 12,000.00 6,528.52 5,471.48 45.60 %0.00200-401-63028 12,000.00

Office Supplies 10,000.00 1,305.53 8,694.47 86.94 %732.79200-401-64000 10,000.00

IT Equipment 0.00 1,519.93 -1,519.93 0.00 %0.00200-401-64001 0.00

Uniforms 0.00 545.00 -545.00 0.00 %350.00200-401-64003 0.00

Office Furniture and Equipment 0.00 1,017.88 -1,017.88 0.00 %658.00200-401-64004 0.00

Equipment Rental 2,000.00 501.45 1,498.55 74.93 %242.00200-401-64005 2,000.00

Fleet Supplies 0.00 506.37 -506.37 0.00 %0.00200-401-64007 0.00

Fuel 0.00 100.45 -100.45 0.00 %100.45200-401-64008 0.00

Park Supplies 25,500.00 0.00 25,500.00 100.00 %0.00200-401-64011 25,500.00

Park Program & Event Supplies 0.00 98.00 -98.00 0.00 %0.00200-401-64015 0.00

Building Supplies 0.00 687.15 -687.15 0.00 %0.00200-401-64020 0.00

Merchandise 10,500.00 14,231.13 -3,731.13 -35.53 %0.00200-401-64021 10,500.00

Equipment 267,250.00 26,725.01 240,524.99 90.00 %0.00200-401-64023 267,250.00

Sponsorship Expenses 2,100.00 0.00 2,100.00 100.00 %0.00200-401-64026 2,100.00

Coyote Camp 16,000.00 356.97 15,643.03 97.77 %0.00200-401-64027 16,000.00

Riding Series 32,000.00 20,795.72 11,204.28 35.01 %5,607.09200-401-64028 32,000.00

Miscellaneous Events 700.00 14,281.64 -13,581.64 -1,940.23 %0.00200-401-64029 700.00

Programing 8,000.00 2,030.00 5,970.00 74.63 %2,030.00200-401-64030 8,000.00

Network/Phone 11,316.40 4,606.00 6,710.40 59.30 %1,459.36200-401-65000 11,316.40

Office Water 7,000.00 0.00 7,000.00 100.00 %0.00200-401-65004 7,000.00

Water 0.00 3,420.74 -3,420.74 0.00 %435.40200-401-65005 0.00

Portable Toilets 2,500.00 475.00 2,025.00 81.00 %80.00200-401-65007 2,500.00

Alarm 6,660.00 0.00 6,660.00 100.00 %0.00200-401-65008 6,660.00

Electricity 60,000.00 24,732.77 35,267.23 58.78 %5,121.86200-401-65017 60,000.00

Septic 750.00 0.00 750.00 100.00 %0.00200-401-65018 750.00

Propane/Natural Gas 2,500.00 1,207.72 1,292.28 51.69 %635.96200-401-65019 2,500.00

On Call Phone 501.60 0.00 501.60 100.00 %0.00200-401-65020 501.60

Advertising 17,750.00 69.94 17,680.06 99.61 %35.00200-401-66001 17,750.00

Mileage 500.00 0.00 500.00 100.00 %0.00200-401-70001 500.00

Contingencies/Emergency Fund 50,000.00 0.00 50,000.00 100.00 %0.00200-401-70002 50,000.00

Other Expenses 20,000.00 -257.63 20,257.63 101.29 %0.00200-401-70003 20,000.00

Hays County Livestock Board Agree 13,200.00 0.00 13,200.00 100.00 %0.00200-401-70004 13,200.00

Sponsored Events 7,900.00 208.22 7,691.78 97.36 %0.00200-401-70007 7,900.00

DSRP Sales Tax 0.00 1,171.89 -1,171.89 0.00 %0.00200-401-70013 0.00

DSRP Improvements 345,000.00 10,705.99 334,294.01 96.90 %1,679.99200-401-71008 345,000.00

Transfer to Vehicle Replacement Fu 29,595.00 0.00 29,595.00 100.00 %0.00200-401-90013 29,595.00

Department: 401 - DSRP Total: 211,754.4529,433.151,335,486.98 1,335,486.98 1,123,732.53 84.14%

Expense Total: 213,972.2529,793.151,346,486.98 1,346,486.98 1,132,514.73 84.11%

Fund: 200 - Dripping Springs Ranch Park Surplus (Deficit): -28,899.43-2,993.86-103,267.74 -103,267.74 74,368.31 72.02%

Fund: 400 - Utilities

Revenue

Department: 300 - Wastewater

ROW Fees 0.00 33.53 33.53 0.00 %0.00400-300-41002 0.00

53

Item 4.



Budget Report For Fiscal: FY 2022-2023 Period Ending: 03/31/2023

4/14/2023 7:21:47 AM Page 9 of 12

Fiscal
Ac vity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Remaining
Current 

Total Budget
Period

Ac vity
Original 

Total Budget

Texas Gas Franchise Fees 0.00 4,893.82 4,893.82 0.00 %0.00400-300-41004 0.00

Wastewater Service Fees 1,285,365.12 641,650.05 -643,715.07 50.08 %0.00400-300-43018 1,285,365.12

Late Fees 9,600.00 8,614.97 -985.03 10.26 %0.00400-300-43020 9,600.00

Delayed Connection Fees 5,000.00 15,000.00 10,000.00 300.00 %0.00400-300-43021 5,000.00

Transfer Fees 9,000.00 0.00 -9,000.00 100.00 %0.00400-300-43023 9,000.00

Over Use Fees 150,000.00 77,895.49 -72,104.51 48.07 %0.00400-300-43024 150,000.00

Other Revenues 95,000.00 0.00 -95,000.00 100.00 %0.00400-300-46001 95,000.00

Interest 0.00 5,675.11 5,675.11 0.00 %0.00400-300-46002 0.00

Transfer from TWDB 4,420,000.00 0.00 -4,420,000.00 100.00 %0.00400-300-47008 4,420,000.00

Sales Tax 760,000.00 379,702.43 -380,297.57 50.04 %0.00400-300-47009 760,000.00

Department: 300 - Wastewater Total: 1,133,465.400.006,733,965.12 6,733,965.12 -5,600,499.72 83.17%

Department: 301 - Water

Meter Set Fees 0.00 1,475.00 1,475.00 0.00 %200.00400-301-43038 0.00

Water Base Rate 7,800.00 17,596.99 9,796.99 225.60 %2,420.00400-301-43040 7,800.00

Water Usage 150,000.00 58,801.67 -91,198.33 60.80 %3,303.75400-301-43041 150,000.00

Equipment Fee 0.00 774.00 774.00 0.00 %362.00400-301-43043 0.00

Inspection Fees 0.00 50.00 50.00 0.00 %50.00400-301-43044 0.00

Other Revenues 0.00 4,251.74 4,251.74 0.00 %537.34400-301-46001 0.00

Department: 301 - Water Total: 82,949.406,873.09157,800.00 157,800.00 -74,850.60 47.43%

Department: 310 - Utility Operations

PEC Franchise Fee 130,000.00 90,730.27 -39,269.73 30.21 %0.00400-310-41001 130,000.00

ROW Fees 6,000.00 2,364.54 -3,635.46 60.59 %7.92400-310-41002 6,000.00

Cable Franchise Fees 130,000.00 80,448.49 -49,551.51 38.12 %0.00400-310-41003 130,000.00

Texas Gas Franchise Fee 3,000.00 0.00 -3,000.00 100.00 %0.00400-310-41004 3,000.00

Interest 0.00 35,637.09 35,637.09 0.00 %6,733.79400-310-46002 0.00

Transfer from General Fund 50,000.00 0.00 -50,000.00 100.00 %0.00400-310-47007 50,000.00

Department: 310 - Utility Operations Total: 209,180.396,741.71319,000.00 319,000.00 -109,819.61 34.43%

Revenue Total: 1,425,595.1913,614.807,210,765.12 7,210,765.12 -5,785,169.93 80.23%

Expense

Department: 300 - Wastewater

Regular Employees 0.00 64,111.27 -64,111.27 0.00 %3,576.98400-300-60000 0.00

Overtime 0.00 6,028.53 -6,028.53 0.00 %615.78400-300-60002 0.00

On Call Pay 0.00 2,600.00 -2,600.00 0.00 %0.00400-300-60003 0.00

Health Insurance 0.00 9,759.62 -9,759.62 0.00 %588.76400-300-61000 0.00

Dental Insurance 0.00 574.18 -574.18 0.00 %34.74400-300-61001 0.00

Medicare 0.00 1,052.70 -1,052.70 0.00 %60.65400-300-61002 0.00

Social Security 0.00 4,501.24 -4,501.24 0.00 %259.36400-300-61003 0.00

Unemployment 0.00 238.65 -238.65 0.00 %24.00400-300-61004 0.00

TMRS 0.00 4,323.55 -4,323.55 0.00 %254.08400-300-61006 0.00

Engineering and Surveying 625,000.00 19,273.88 605,726.12 96.92 %3,342.55400-300-62002 625,000.00

Planning and Permitting 7,500.00 21,431.35 -13,931.35 -185.75 %14,945.00400-300-62019 7,500.00

Lab Testing 34,250.00 5,187.25 29,062.75 84.85 %0.00400-300-62020 34,250.00

Fleet Maintenance 0.00 129.32 -129.32 0.00 %0.00400-300-63002 0.00

Dues, Fees & Subscriptions 0.00 290.00 -290.00 0.00 %0.00400-300-63004 0.00

Training/Continuing Education 0.00 1,700.40 -1,700.40 0.00 %495.00400-300-63005 0.00

Wastewater Treatment Plant Maint 119,407.00 67,544.90 51,862.10 43.43 %13,343.91400-300-63025 119,407.00

Routine Operations 99,500.00 56,019.31 43,480.69 43.70 %16,778.00400-300-63026 99,500.00

Operations Non Routine 106,860.00 68,952.09 37,907.91 35.47 %0.00400-300-63027 106,860.00

Lift Station Maintenance 74,270.00 31,854.67 42,415.33 57.11 %5,611.93400-300-63028 74,270.00

Sanitary Sewer Line Maintenance 64,116.00 3,138.21 60,977.79 95.11 %1,320.66400-300-63029 64,116.00

Drip Field Maintenance 44,900.00 1,467.18 43,432.82 96.73 %767.55400-300-63030 44,900.00

Sludge Hauling 178,100.00 59,267.68 118,832.32 66.72 %10,123.06400-300-63031 178,100.00

Wastewater Flow Measurement 9,000.00 7,890.00 1,110.00 12.33 %2,367.00400-300-63033 9,000.00

Utility Operations 4,250.00 47.45 4,202.55 98.88 %0.00400-300-63034 4,250.00

IT Equipment & Support 0.00 549.00 -549.00 0.00 %0.00400-300-64001 0.00

Uniforms 0.00 1,334.90 -1,334.90 0.00 %0.00400-300-64003 0.00

Supplies 27,400.00 4,294.05 23,105.95 84.33 %1,082.54400-300-64010 27,400.00

54

Item 4.



Budget Report For Fiscal: FY 2022-2023 Period Ending: 03/31/2023

4/14/2023 7:21:47 AM Page 10 of 12

Fiscal
Ac vity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Percent

Remaining
Current 

Total Budget
Period

Ac vity
Original 

Total Budget

Chemicals 16,440.00 5,564.81 10,875.19 66.15 %1,483.94400-300-64022 16,440.00

Network/Phone 12,330.00 5,536.35 6,793.65 55.10 %772.23400-300-65000 12,330.00

Electric 109,600.00 37,880.13 71,719.87 65.44 %5,695.48400-300-65017 109,600.00

Mileage 0.00 166.88 -166.88 0.00 %0.00400-300-70001 0.00

Other Expenses 52,000.00 62,471.09 -10,471.09 -20.14 %22,480.78400-300-70003 52,000.00

Capital Projects 2,000,000.00 0.00 2,000,000.00 100.00 %0.00400-300-71000 2,000,000.00

TWDB - Capital Projects 5,050,000.00 0.00 5,050,000.00 100.00 %0.00400-300-72001 5,050,000.00

TWDB - Engineering and Design 895,000.00 92,102.70 802,897.30 89.71 %28,325.00400-300-72002 895,000.00

TWDB - Special Counsel and Consul 0.00 19,130.66 -19,130.66 0.00 %16,675.90400-300-72003 0.00

TWDB - Misc. 175,000.00 2,200.00 172,800.00 98.74 %0.00400-300-72004 175,000.00

Transfer to General Fund 4,066.66 0.00 4,066.66 100.00 %0.00400-300-90006 4,066.66

Transfer to Vehicle Replacement Fu 29,911.00 0.00 29,911.00 100.00 %0.00400-300-90013 29,911.00

Department: 300 - Wastewater Total: 668,614.00151,024.889,738,900.66 9,738,900.66 9,070,286.66 93.13%

Department: 301 - Water

Lab Testing 25,000.00 2,087.00 22,913.00 91.65 %0.00400-301-62020 25,000.00

Routine Operations 25,000.00 0.00 25,000.00 100.00 %0.00400-301-63026 25,000.00

Operations Non Routine 20,000.00 590.49 19,409.51 97.05 %0.00400-301-63027 20,000.00

Water Line Maintenance & Repair 20,000.00 0.00 20,000.00 100.00 %0.00400-301-63032 20,000.00

Supplies 50,000.00 52,950.49 -2,950.49 -5.90 %36,890.00400-301-64010 50,000.00

Department: 301 - Water Total: 55,627.9836,890.00140,000.00 140,000.00 84,372.02 60.27%

Department: 310 - Utility Operations

Regular Employees 398,740.00 35,973.74 362,766.26 90.98 %15,031.50400-310-60000 398,740.00

Overtime 0.00 2,254.13 -2,254.13 0.00 %1,131.55400-310-60002 0.00

On Call Pay 10,400.00 1,264.28 9,135.72 87.84 %823.22400-310-60003 10,400.00

Health Insurance 56,988.71 4,460.22 52,528.49 92.17 %2,357.12400-310-61000 56,988.71

Dental Insurance 0.00 260.55 -260.55 0.00 %138.96400-310-61001 0.00

Medicare 0.00 562.54 -562.54 0.00 %238.03400-310-61002 0.00

Unemployment 0.00 452.85 -452.85 0.00 %149.10400-310-61004 0.00

Federal Withholding 33,063.21 0.00 33,063.21 100.00 %0.00400-310-61005 33,063.21

TMRS 24,650.69 2,387.60 22,263.09 90.31 %1,029.37400-310-61006 24,650.69

Financial Services 10,000.00 0.00 10,000.00 100.00 %0.00400-310-62001 10,000.00

Special Coounsel and Consultants 250,000.00 17,192.42 232,807.58 93.12 %13,921.20400-310-62003 250,000.00

Lab Testing 0.00 1,808.50 -1,808.50 0.00 %1,808.50400-310-62020 0.00

Equipment Maintenance 10,000.00 0.00 10,000.00 100.00 %0.00400-310-63001 10,000.00

Fleet Maintenance 10,000.00 123.17 9,876.83 98.77 %123.17400-310-63002 10,000.00

Training/Continuing Education 9,254.00 1,417.45 7,836.55 84.68 %0.00400-310-63005 9,254.00

Utility Operations 69,000.00 4,878.96 64,121.04 92.93 %94.00400-310-63034 69,000.00

IT Equipment & Support 5,640.00 0.00 5,640.00 100.00 %0.00400-310-64001 5,640.00

Software 37,267.00 870.16 36,396.84 97.67 %0.00400-310-64002 37,267.00

Uniforms 5,000.00 1,762.15 3,237.85 64.76 %1,124.00400-310-64003 5,000.00

Fleet Acquisition 45,000.00 33,411.51 11,588.49 25.75 %0.00400-310-64006 45,000.00

Fuel 15,000.00 152.35 14,847.65 98.98 %100.05400-310-64008 15,000.00

Equipment 50,000.00 22,566.85 27,433.15 54.87 %0.00400-310-64023 50,000.00

Department: 310 - Utility Operations Total: 131,799.4338,069.771,040,003.61 1,040,003.61 908,204.18 87.33%

Expense Total: 856,041.41225,984.6510,918,904.27 10,918,904.27 10,062,862.86 92.16%

Fund: 400 - Utilities Surplus (Deficit): 569,553.78-212,369.85-3,708,139.15 -3,708,139.15 4,277,692.93 115.36%

Report Surplus (Deficit): 1,084,405.57 3,929,576.94-6,458,120.04 -6,512,479.04 10,442,055.98 160.34%

55

Item 4.



Budget Report For Fiscal: FY 2022-2023 Period Ending: 03/31/2023

4/14/2023 7:21:47 AM Page 11 of 12

Group Summary

Fiscal
Ac vity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
Period

Ac vityDepartment

Current 
Total Budget

Original 
Total Budget

Percent
Remaining

Fund: 100 - General Fund

Revenue

000 - Undesignated 5,639,463.251,394,692.676,596,928.37 6,596,928.37 -957,465.12 14.51%

103 - Courts 0.000.001,000.00 1,000.00 -1,000.00 100.00%

200 - Planning & Development 960,721.54291,290.261,430,750.00 1,430,750.00 -470,028.46 32.85%

201 - Building 930,668.91224,064.461,550,000.00 1,550,000.00 -619,331.09 39.96%

400 - Parks & Recreation 15,163.257,837.00456,320.49 456,320.49 -441,157.24 96.68%

402 - Aquatics 3,452.502,052.5046,350.00 46,350.00 -42,897.50 92.55%

404 - Founders Day 78,130.0035,425.00112,900.00 112,900.00 -34,770.00 30.80%

7,627,599.451,955,361.8910,194,248.86 10,194,248.86 -2,566,649.41Revenue Total: 25.18%

Expense

000 - Undesignated 244,593.6424,332.195,045,620.87 5,045,620.87 4,801,027.23 95.15%

100 - City Council/Boards & Commissions 0.000.0018,500.00 18,500.00 18,500.00 100.00%

101 - City Administrators Office 273,164.4643,551.330.00 0.00 -273,164.46 0.00%

102 - City Secretary 74,825.8014,950.3123,220.00 23,220.00 -51,605.80 -222.25%

103 - Courts 7,676.38987.5415,500.00 15,500.00 7,823.62 50.47%

104 - City Attorney 128,749.0319,714.33115,800.00 115,800.00 -12,949.03 -11.18%

105 - Communications 76,045.7714,811.8211,825.00 11,825.00 -64,220.77 -543.09%

106 - IT 250,234.9739,542.97361,479.84 415,838.84 165,603.87 39.82%

107 - Finance 680,906.9255,254.501,105,180.00 1,105,180.00 424,273.08 38.39%

200 - Planning & Development 248,316.5043,139.81378,500.00 378,500.00 130,183.50 34.39%

201 - Building 662,217.4589,510.46792,700.00 792,700.00 130,482.55 16.46%

300 - Wastewater 245,627.2122,613.841,098,692.00 1,098,692.00 853,064.79 77.64%

304 - Maintenance 579,469.2893,846.452,111,017.99 2,111,017.99 1,531,548.71 72.55%

400 - Parks & Recreation 187,322.8226,703.31747,422.86 747,422.86 560,100.04 74.94%

401 - DSRP 270,702.6141,148.04624,364.29 624,364.29 353,661.68 56.64%

402 - Aquatics 53,388.387,506.21154,148.15 154,148.15 100,759.77 65.37%

404 - Founders Day 28,792.8127,187.03146,488.01 146,488.01 117,695.20 80.34%

500 - Emergency Management 226,642.8390,792.4790,503.00 90,503.00 -136,139.83 -150.43%

4,238,676.86655,592.6112,840,962.01 12,895,321.01 8,656,644.15Expense Total: 67.13%

3,388,922.591,299,769.28-2,646,713.15 -2,701,072.15 6,089,994.74Fund: 100 - General Fund Surplus (Deficit): 225.47%

Fund: 200 - Dripping Springs Ranch Park

Revenue

401 - DSRP 185,072.8226,799.291,243,219.24 1,243,219.24 -1,058,146.42 85.11%

185,072.8226,799.291,243,219.24 1,243,219.24 -1,058,146.42Revenue Total: 85.11%

Expense

400 - Parks & Recreation 2,217.80360.0011,000.00 11,000.00 8,782.20 79.84%

401 - DSRP 211,754.4529,433.151,335,486.98 1,335,486.98 1,123,732.53 84.14%

213,972.2529,793.151,346,486.98 1,346,486.98 1,132,514.73Expense Total: 84.11%

-28,899.43-2,993.86-103,267.74 -103,267.74 74,368.31Fund: 200 - Dripping Springs Ranch Park Surplus (Deficit): 72.02%

Fund: 400 - Utilities

Revenue

300 - Wastewater 1,133,465.400.006,733,965.12 6,733,965.12 -5,600,499.72 83.17%

301 - Water 82,949.406,873.09157,800.00 157,800.00 -74,850.60 47.43%

310 - Utility Operations 209,180.396,741.71319,000.00 319,000.00 -109,819.61 34.43%

1,425,595.1913,614.807,210,765.12 7,210,765.12 -5,785,169.93Revenue Total: 80.23%

Expense

300 - Wastewater 668,614.00151,024.889,738,900.66 9,738,900.66 9,070,286.66 93.13%

301 - Water 55,627.9836,890.00140,000.00 140,000.00 84,372.02 60.27%

310 - Utility Operations 131,799.4338,069.771,040,003.61 1,040,003.61 908,204.18 87.33%

856,041.41225,984.6510,918,904.27 10,918,904.27 10,062,862.86Expense Total: 92.16%

569,553.78-212,369.85-3,708,139.15 -3,708,139.15 4,277,692.93Fund: 400 - Utilities Surplus (Deficit): 115.36%

Report Surplus (Deficit): 1,084,405.57 3,929,576.94-6,458,120.04 -6,512,479.04 10,442,055.98 160.34%

56

Item 4.



Budget Report For Fiscal: FY 2022-2023 Period Ending: 03/31/2023

4/14/2023 7:21:47 AM Page 12 of 12

Fund Summary

Fiscal
Ac vity

Variance
Favorable

(Unfavorable)Fund
Period

Ac vity
Current 

Total Budget
Original 

Total Budget

100 - General Fund 3,388,922.591,299,769.28-2,646,713.15 -2,701,072.15 6,089,994.74

200 - Dripping Springs Ranch Park -28,899.43-2,993.86-103,267.74 -103,267.74 74,368.31

400 - Utilities 569,553.78-212,369.85-3,708,139.15 -3,708,139.15 4,277,692.93

Report Surplus (Deficit): 1,084,405.57 3,929,576.94-6,458,120.04 -6,512,479.04 10,442,055.98

57

Item 4.



 

STAFF REPORT 
 

City of Dripping Springs 

PO Box 384 

511 Mercer Street 

Dripping Springs, TX 78620 

Submitted By: Shawn Cox, Finance Director/City Treasurer 

Council Meeting Date: Tuesday, April 18, 2023 

Agenda Item Wording: Approval of Agreement for Disclosure of Confidential Tax Information 

Between the City of Dripping Springs and Los Olivos Market Dripping 

Springs LLC. 

Agenda Item Requestor: Shawn Cox, Finance Director/City Treasurer 

- Summary/Background:  

On September 21, 2010, the City of Dripping Springs and the Hays County Municipal Utility District 

#4 entered into a Strategic Partnership Agreement. One of the conditions of the agreement is that the 

City must pay the District fifty percent (50%) of the Sales and Use Tax Revenues earned in the District. 

Since Los Olivos Market reports and contributes sales tax revenues within the District, the City will 

need to enter into an Agreement for Disclosure of Confidential Tax Information.  The purpose of the 

agreement is to allow the Texas Comptroller’s Office to disclose any and all Sales and Use Tax 

information to the City. 

Commission 

Recommendations: 

N/A 

Recommended  

Council Actions: 

The Finance Director recommend approval of this agreement. 

Attachments:  Agreement for Disclosure of Confidential Tax Information 

 Strategic Partnership Agreement 

Next Steps/Schedule: Provide a copy of the agreement to the state Comptroller. 

 

58

Item 5.



59

Item 5.



60

Item 5.



61

Item 5.



62

Item 5.



63

Item 5.



64

Item 5.



65

Item 5.



66

Item 5.



67

Item 5.



68

Item 5.



69

Item 5.



70

Item 5.



71

Item 5.



72

Item 5.



73

Item 5.



74

Item 5.



75

Item 5.



76

Item 5.



77

Item 5.



78

Item 5.



79

Item 5.



80

Item 5.



81

Item 5.



82

Item 5.



 

STAFF REPORT 
 

City of Dripping Springs 

PO Box 384 

511 Mercer Street 

Dripping Springs, TX 78620 

Submitted By: Emily Nelson, Dripping Springs Ranch Park Manager 

Council Meeting Date: April 18, 2023 

Agenda Item Wording: Approval of a Co-Sponsorship Agreement between the City of 
Dripping Springs and Pride of Dripping Springs for the Pride of 
Dripping Springs Festival on June 24, 2023. 

Agenda Item Requestor: Juana Searcy: President, Pride of Dripping Springs 

Summary/Background: 

 

 

 

 

Board Recommendation:                                     

Pride of Drippings Springs has requested a Co-Sponsorship Agreement 

with the City of Dripping Springs for the Pride of Dripping Springs 

Festival on June 24, 2023. The application includes permission to hang a 

banner for the event at the Triangle.  The applicant will display the city 

logo on promotional materials for the event. This is a paid, private rental 

with a non-profit rate. 

They have completed all the required steps for this Co-Sponsorship 

Application. 

The Dripping Springs Ranch Park Board recommends approving this Co-

Sponsorship Agreement. 

 

  

Recommended  

Council Actions: 

Staff recommends approval of the 2023 Co-Sponsorship Agreement with 

Pride of Dripping Springs. 

Attachments: 

 

Next Steps/Schedule: 

2023 Co-Sponsorship Agreement – PODS 

 

Execute Agreement 

 

83

Item 6.



Pride of Dripping Springs
Juana Searcy, President

220 Retha Drive
Dripping Springs, TX 78620

512.308.8646
www.prideofdrippingsprings.org

March 20, 2023

City of Dripping Springs
Attn: Johnna Kratz
511 Mercer Street
Dripping Springs, TX 78620

Dear Johnna,

Please accept our application for the City’s co-sponsorship of the Pride of Dripping Springs Festival 2023. The event
will take place on June 24, 2023 from 1pm - midnight at DSRP.

As Dripping Springs grew and became more diverse, I recognized the opportunity to help facilitate acceptance of the
increasing numbers of LGBTQ+ members in our wonderful community. In its third year of existence, Pride of Dripping
Springs continues to make significant progress in showcasing the positive impact that inclusivity and collaborative
resources can provide by expanding its offerings of scholarship programs, resources and visibility within the community.

Pride of Dripping Springs Festival 2023 sends out a message of inclusion, furthering the sentiment, ‘Y’all means All’.
This family and kid-friendly event is a great conduit for facilitating change. As I have always believed, there is far more
that connects us than separates us.

By supporting Pride of Dripping Springs Festival 2023, the City of Dripping Springs showcases its commitment to being
a multicultural community, as well as its commitment to providing resources to residents who are undersupported and
marginalized. There will be parents who have recently learned their kid is within the LGTBQ+ spectrum and are seeking
information on how to support them, and also trying to find acceptance for their child within the community. Attendees from
the local community and beyond will not only enjoy a fabulous party, but also show their support as allies. Others may
learn a little more about the beauty of the LGBTQ+ community and hopefully adopt a more supportive perspective.
Attendees will not only support the local vendors at the event, they will also explore the beauty of the Hill Country and
come back to support our local businesses.

Thank you so much for your consideration. In addition to the application and budget overview, I have attached a list of
sponsorship tiers / packages for your review.

Best,
Juana Searcy, President - Pride of Dripping Springs
512-308-8636
juana.searcy@gmail.com

Pride of Dripping Springs strives to broaden awareness and create an environment of diversity and inclusion through education, resources, and events

for the LGBTQ+ community.

84

Item 6.



P a g e  | 1 

City of Dripping Springs 
Co-Sponsorship Agreement 

 Email:  

Co-Sponsor Name:  

Organization: 

Address:  

Phone Number:  

Event Description/Purpose: 

Event Date:  Event Location: 

THIS CO-SPONSORSHIP AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 

• Parties. The City of Dripping Springs, Texas (“City”) and Co-Sponsor, as indicated above.
• Agreement. The agreement documents shall consist of the Co-Sponsorship Agreement, Policy and Application form

("Attachment "A").
• Scope. This Agreement applies to Co-Sponsor’s utilization of the City’s property for the Event and reasons stated

above.
• Obligations of the City. The extent of the City’s obligations under this Agreement is that the City agrees to display a

banner for the Event at city facilities and parks, post the Event on the City’s website calendar and City social media
sites, and adhere to all obligations described in Attachment "A".

• Obligations of Co-Sponsor. Co-Sponsor agrees to oversee the organization and execution of the Event and agrees to
keep the City informed of plans for the Event as described in Attachment "A". Co-Sponsor agrees to provide all
volunteer labor needed to operate and oversee all aspects of the Event. Co-Sponsor will put City logo on event banners.

• Independent Contractor. The Parties agree that Co-Sponsor is an independent contractor and is neither an agent nor an
employee of the City. Co-Sponsor is solely responsible for directing and controlling Co-Sponsor’s resources and staff in
order to achieve the goals of this Agreement.

• Safety. Co-Sponsor agrees to abide by all state, federal, and local rules and regulations. Co-Sponsor agrees to take all
reasonable steps to ensure public safety and protection from fire damage. Participants in the Event shall obtain itinerant
vendor licenses, temporary food establishment permits, and mobile food unit permits, as applicable.

• Site Maintenance. Co-Sponsor agrees not to waste or damage City property and  right-of-way. In addition, Co-Sponsor
shall exercise reasonable care and due diligence to avoid harming City property and rights-of-way. Co-Sponsor shall
ensure that all trash is placed in the City-provided trash cans.

• Duration. This Agreement shall be enforceable when signed by both parties and shall be deemed terminated when all
duties and obligations created herein are fully satisfied.

24-Mar-2023

CLEAR

Pride of Dripping Springs

Juana Searcy

5123088646 juana.searcy@gmail.com

220 Retha Dr., Dripping Springs, TX  78620

DSRP, 1042 Event Center Dr., Dripping Springs, TX 78620

Family-friendly indoor festival celebrating the LGBTQ+ community and the positive impact that inclusivity and
collaborative resources can provide. It's a REALLY fun party. Highlights include local vendors, live entertainment,
concessions, a Kids Corral sponsored by the YMCA with athletic activities and bounce houses. In the evening, an
over-the-top Drag Queen Show tops the marquee for attendees 18 and older. Proceeds from the event sponsor
scholarships for local seniors.

85

Item 6.



P a g e  | 2 

• Termination. This Agreement may be terminated by mutual consent of the parties. It may be terminated by either party
without prejudice upon written notice to the other party via certified mail, return receipt requested, thirty (30) days
prior to the Event. Termination shall release each party from all obligations of this Agreement, except termination of
this agreement shall not prohibit or impair a claim by either party based upon any breach of this Agreement.

• Force Majure. In situations in which Co-Sponsor’s participation in the Event is delayed, cancelled or suspended due to
the Acts of God, severe weather, natural disaster, state of public emergency, or strike, the terms of this Agreement are
waived.

• INDEMNIFICATION. CO-SPONSOR AGREES TO INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS THE CITY AND ITS
AGENTS AND EMPLOYEES FROM AND AGAINST ALL CLAIMS, DAMAGES, LOSSES, AND EXPENSES,
INCLUDING ATTORNEY’S FEES, ARISING OUT OF OR RESULTING FROM THE CITY’S ASSOCIATION
WITH CO-SPONSOR UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, PROVIDED THAT ANY SUCH CLAIMS, DAMAGE, LOSS,
OR EXPENSE IS/ARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO BODILY INJURY, SICKNESS, DISEASE OR DEATH, INJURY TO
OR DESTRUCTION OF TANGIBLE PROPERTY, INCLUDING THE LOSS OF USE RESULTING THEREFROM,
AND IS/ARE CAUSED BY ANY NEGLIGENT OR WILLFUL ACT OR OMISSION OF CO-SPONSOR, AND
ANYONE ACTING UNDER THE DIRECT EMPLOYMENT OF THE CO-SPONSOR.

• Notice. Any notice provided for by this Agreement and any other notice, demand or communication which either party
may wish to send to the other, shall be in writing and given by registered or certified United States mail, return receipt
requested. Notices shall be addressed to the party for whom such notice, demand or communication is intended. Mail
notice to the City as: Attention: City Administrator, Post Office Box 384, Dripping Springs, Texas 78620.

• Assignment. Neither party shall assign any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without prior written
consent of the other party. Nothing herein shall be construed as giving any rights or benefits hereunder to anyone other
than the City and Co-Sponsor.

• Severability. In the event that any provision of this Agreement, or portion thereof, shall be found to be invalid or
unenforceable, then, such provision or portion thereof shall be reformed in accordance with applicable laws. The
invalidity or unenforceability of any provision or portion of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or
enforceability of any other provision or portion thereof within this Agreement.

• Modifications. All amendments or modifications to the Agreement must be in writing. No amendment or modification
shall be effective until it is in writing and approved by both parties.

• Merger. This instrument, and any Attachments affixed hereto, constitutes the entire Agreement between the City and
Co-Sponsor. To the extent there are any conflicts between this Agreement and the attachments, this Agreement shall
govern. This Agreement supersedes all other agreements, oral or written.

• Venue for Disputes. In the event that a lawsuit is brought concerning events arising out of this Agreement, the venue
for such action is Hays County, Texas. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of
Texas.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT: 

Owner: 
City of Dripping Springs, Texas 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 
Date   

Co-Sponsor: 

___________________________________ 

___________________________________ 
Date 

Michelle Fischer, City Administrator

SUBMIT

Pride of Dripping Springs

Juana Searcy, President

86

Item 6.



City of Dripping Springs 
Co-Sponsorship Policy & Application 

Co- Sponsorship Application 

SPONSORING ORGANIZATION NAME: 

APPLICANT 

Name: 

Position: 

Contact Number: 

Email: 

Address: 

EVENT 

NAME: 

START DATE/TIME: 

END DATE/TIME: 

ADDRESS: 

ESTIMATED ATTENDANCE: 

EVENT DESCRIPTION 

Parks & Community
Page 4 of 8  

Pride of Dripping Springs

Juana Searcy

President

5123088646

juana.searcy@gmail.com

220 Retha Dr., Dripping Springs, TX  78620

Pride of Dripping Springs Festival 2023

DSRP, 1042 Event Center Dr., Dripping Springs, TX 78620

2000

Family-friendly indoor festival celebrating the LGBTQ+ community and the positive impact that
inclusivity and collaborative resources can provide. It's a REALLY fun party. Highlights include
local vendors, live entertainment, concessions, a Kids Corral sponsored by the YMCA with
athletic activities and bounce houses. In the evening, an over-the-top Drag Queen Show tops
the marquee for attendees 18 and older. Proceeds from the event sponsor scholarships for
local seniors.

CLEAR

3/24/23

3/24/23

87

Item 6.



City of Dripping Springs 
Co-Sponsorship Policy & Application 

WILL THIS EVENT BE OPEN TO ALL MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC? 

Yes No 

HAVE YOU PREVIOUSLY CO-SPONSORED WITH THE CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS? 

Yes No 

WILL YOU NEED MARKETING ASSISTANCE FOR THIS EVENT? 

Yes No 

WILL THE CITY LOGO BE USED FOR THIS EVENT? 

Yes No 

WILL ADMISSION BE CHARGED? 

Yes No 
WILL ANYTHING BE SOLD? 
(Vendor permit may be required) 

Yes No 
WILL YOU BE SERVING FOOD? 
(Food permit may be required) 

Yes No 

IS THE ORGANIZATION A REGISTERED NONPROFIT CORPORATION OR 501(c)3? 
(Attach proof to Application) 

Yes No 

DOES THE ORGANIZATION HAVE LIABILITY INSURANCE FOR THIS EVENT? 
(Attach proof to Application) 

Yes No 

IS A BUDGET SHEET THAT INCLUDES THE EXPENSES THE SPONSORSHIP IS 
REQUESTING INCLUDED WITH YOUR APPLICATION? 

Yes No 

HOW WILL THE CITY BE RECOGNIZED AS A CO-SPONSOR? 

WHAT IS YOUR MEDIA AND/ OR PUBLICITY PLAN? 

Parks & Community
Page 5 of 8  

Logo will be showcased on all promotional material and logo will be on digital marquee.

Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, advertising at the Triangle, Dripping Springs Outlook, advertising through
neighboring community PRIDE organziations.

88

Item 6.



City of Dripping Springs 
Co-Sponsorship Policy & Application 

WHAT IS THE PRIOR HISTORY OF THIS EVENT OR SIMILAR EVENTS THAT 
INCLUDED COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT? 

PLEASE, CHOOSE ONE OR MORE OF THE FOLLOWING OPTIONS AND BRIEFLY 
EXPLAIN YOUR SELECTION(S) BELOW: 
This Event  

Promotes the City as a desirable place to live, visit and do business. 

Promotes the City as a visitor destination and/or bring tourism- associated revenue to the 
City. 

Enhances the quality of life and wellbeing of some or all residents of the community. 

Advances the City's commitment to and pride in being a multicultural community. 
Promotes the historic districts. 

Promotes cultural and artistic awareness among the citizenry. 

*********BELOW INFORMATION IS TO BE COMPLETED BY CITY STAFF********* 

RECEIVED BY CITY DATE: 

CITY ADMINISTRATOR:  

DATE:     APPROVE DENY            NOT REQUIRED 

DRIPPING SPRINGS RANCH PARK BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDATION: 

DATE:     APPROVE DENY            NOT REQUIRED 

CITY COUNCIL: 

DATE:    APPROVE DENY            NOT REQUIRED

Parks & Community
Page 6 of 8  

COMMENTS: 

We had incredible success with our last two events. Community support was overwhelming. Last year we were able to give
out 6 $500 scholarships.

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

Pride of Dripping Springs strives to broaden awareness and create an environment of diversity and inclusion
through education, resources, and events for the LGBTQ+ community.  In its third year of existence, Pride of
Dripping Springs continues to make significant progress in showcasing the positive impact that inclusivity and
collaborative resources can provide by expanding its offerings of scholarship programs, resources and visibility
within the community. Support of Pride of Dripping Springs Festivals showcases the City's commmitment to
being a multicultural community, as well as it's committment to providing resources to residents who are
undersupported and marginalized.

89

Item 6.



City of Dripping Springs 
Co-Sponsorship Policy & Application 

Sign Request Form 

THE CITY MUST BE A CO-SPONSOR OF AN EVENT OR SERVICE FOR A SIGN ADVERTISING 
IT TO BE DISPLAYED ON CITY PROPERTY. ATTACH THIS REQUEST TO THE CO-
SPONSORSHIP APPLICATION. 

Banners shall not be more than 32 square feet in area and 6 feet in height. 

Noncommercial signs and temporary signs shall not be more than 36 square feet in area and 6 
feet in height. 

Requirements for Banners to be displayed at The Triangle: 

Banner Width & Height: 4 feet tall by 8 feet wide 
Banner Material and Grommets: vinyl with hemmed grommets every 2 feet 

WIND SLITS ARE REQUIRED TO BE CUT IN BANNER TO ALLOW AIR 
FLOW. A BANNER WITHOUT WIND SLITS SHALL NOT BE DISPLAYED. 

Sign locations will be determined by the City, based on availability. 

The City will install the sign.   

The City is not responsible for damage caused to a sign.  

NAME OF ENTITY: 

NAME OF REPRESENTATIVE: 

MAILING ADDRESS: 

TELEPHONE NUMBER 

EMAIL ADDRESS: 

DESCRIPTION OF EVENT OR SERVICE: 

Parks & Community
Page 7 of 8  

Pride of Dripping Springs

Juana Searcy

5123088646

juana.searcy@gmail.com

220 Retha Dr., Dripping Springs, TX  78620

Family-friendly indoor festival celebrating the LGBTQ+ community and the positive impact that inclusivity and collaborative
resources can provide. It's a REALLY fun party. Highlights include local vendors, live entertainment, concessions, a Kids
Corral sponsored by the YMCA with athletic activities and bounce houses. In the evening, an over-the-top Drag Queen
Show tops the marquee for attendees 18 and older. Proceeds from the event sponsor scholarships for local seniors.

90

Item 6.



City of Dripping Springs 
Co-Sponsorship Policy & Application 

DESCRIPTION OF INFORMATION TO BE DISPLAYED ON SIGN (ATTACH GRAPHIC TO 
APPLICATION): 

SIGN DIMENSIONS AND HEIGHT: 

SIGN MATERIALS: 

REQUESTED DATE FOR SIGN TO BE DISPLAYED: 
(No more than 30 days prior to event/service)

TYPE OF SIGN: BANNER NONCOMMERCIAL TEMPORARY 

LOCATION WHERE SIGN WILL BE DISPLAYED: 

*********BELOW INFORMATION IS TO BE COMPLETED BY CITY STAFF********* 

RECEIVED BY CITY DATE: 

CITY ADMINISTRATOR:  

DATE:      APPROVE    DENY 

Parks & Community
Page 8 of 8  

Pride of Dripping Springs Festival 2023
Date: June 23, 2023  Time: 1pm - midnight
Location: Dripping Springs Ranch Park

4 ft x 8 ft

Vinyl banner with hemmed grommets every 2 feet

✔

At the Triangle located at the junction of 12 & 290.

Click here to attach SIGN IMAGE

91

Item 6.



PROPOSAL NUMBER
3110483
PREPARED ON
02/10/2023
PRICING VALID UNTIL
02/17/2023 (7 days)

Event General Liability Insurance
Proposal & Application

All Premiums have been paid!

PREPARED FOR

Pride of Dripping Springs
Juana Searcy
220 Retha Dr., Dripping Springs, TX 78620
Phone: 5126262393 Email: kathleenb@dstxevents.com

LICENSED AGENT (ALL 50 STATES)

East Main Street Insurance Services, Inc.
Will Maddux
PO Box 1298
Grass Valley, CA 95945

PROPOSAL CREATED BY

www.TheEventHelper.com Inc.
Direct Sale
PO Box 1549, Grass Valley, CA 95945
Phone: (530) 477-6521 Email: info@eventhelper.com

INSURED BY

Evanston Insurance Company  NAIC: 35378
Rating: A.M. BEST A(Excellent) XV

COVERAGE LIMITS
Each Occurrence (Includes Bodily Injury and
Property Damage)

$1,000,000

Damage to Rented Premises $100,000
Personal &  Advertis ing Injury $1,000,000
Products / Completed Operations Aggregate $2,000,000
General Aggregate $2,000,000
Medical Payments $5,000
Liquor Liability Host Included
Waiver of Subrogation Not Included
Primary & Non-Contributory Not Included
Additional Insured(s) Included
Hired & Non-Owned Auto Not Included
Deductible $1,000

POLICY COVERAGE INTENT
This is just a brief overview, see policy for exact coverage.
Property Damage Coverage for your rented Event Locations.
Bodily Injury Coverage for your Event Attendees.
Protection from Property Damage & Bodily Injury Lawsuits .

COST BREAKDOWN
Premium $244.86
Stamping Fees $0.18
Tax $11.88
Policy Fee $83.08
Risk Purchasing Group Membership Cost $0.00

Amount Paid $340.00

EVENT DETAILS

Where is your event? TX
Total days of coverage you need? 3
Estimated total attendance? 2,000
Festival & Cultural Event - Indoor Only

UNDERWRITING QUESTIONS

See Underwriting Document

COVERAGE TERM
06/23/2023, 06/24/2023, 06/25/2023

We can accept cash or check on a very limited basis and for
only certain types of events.
If you don't have a credit card or debit card, please contact
us at least 30 days before the start date of your event at
855-493-8368 or info@theeventhelper.com.
Payment must be made received and posted by us prior to
the first coverage date on the policy.

Dripping Springs Ranch Park
1042 Event Center Dr.
Dripping Springs, TX 78620

ADDITIONAL INSUREDS (SHOWING 1 OF 1)

Page 1 of 2Phone: (530) 477-6521  Email: info@eventhelper.com  Office Hours: Monday-Friday, 7am - 5pm PST
© 2023 www.TheEventHelper.com Inc., PO Box 1549, Grass Valley, CA 95945

92

Item 6.



PROPOSAL NUMBER
3110483
PREPARED ON
02/10/2023
PRICING VALID UNTIL
02/17/2023 (7 days)

Event General Liability Insurance
Proposal & Application

All Premiums have been paid!
If I choose to cancel my general liability policy, I will be subject to a refund fee of $83.08, the full Administration Charge on my policy. In the very unlikely case
www.TheEventHelper.com's coverage terms do not meet my venue's insurance requirements and cannot be amended to do so, I am eligible for a full refund of
my policy price. No refunds will be issued after the commencement of the policy period. See full refund policy.
Kathleen Rogers Baligad Agreed on March 7, 2023 at 08:04 AM

I agree to and understand the terms and conditions of my policy(s).
Kathleen Rogers Baligad Agreed on March 7, 2023 at 08:04 AM

I confirm that none of the excluded event types or services will be provided by the insured on this policy.
Kathleen Rogers Baligad Agreed on March 7, 2023 at 08:04 AM

I understand injuries to athletic /sporting partic ipants, performers/crews and volunteers will not be covered by this policy.
Kathleen Rogers Baligad Agreed on March 7, 2023 at 08:04 AM

I understand there is no coverage for any losses due to any communicable disease such as Coronavirus disease (COVID-19).
Kathleen Rogers Baligad Agreed on March 7, 2023 at 08:04 AM

NOTICE TO THE APPLICANT
No fact, c ircumstance or situation indicating the probability of a Claim or action for which coverage may be afforded by the proposed insurance is now known
by any person(s) or organization(s) proposed for this insurance other than that which is disc losed in this application. It is agreed by all concerned that if there
is knowledge of any such fact, c ircumstance or situation, any Claim subsequently emanating there from shall be excluded from coverage under the proposed
insurance.
For the purpose of this application, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, after reasonable inquiry, the statements in this application and in any
attachments, are true and complete. Underwriting Managers or the Company are authorized to make any inquiry in connection with this application. S igning
this application does not bind the Company to provide or the Applicant to purchase the insurance.
If the information in this application and any attachment materially changes between the date this application is signed and the effective date of the policy, I
will promptly notify the underwriter, who may modify or withdraw any outstanding quotation or agreement to bind coverage.

INSURANCE FRAUD WARNING
Any person who knowingly and with intent to defraud any insurance company or another person files an application for insurance or statement of c laim
containing any materially false information, or conceals for the purpose of misleading information concerning any fact material thereto, commits a fraudulent
insurance act, which is a crime in certain jurisdictions, and subjects the person to criminal and c ivil penalties.
Click here for STATE-SPECIFIC FRAUD WARNING STATEMENTS
Please review SAMPLE POLICY here

TERMS AND CONDITIONS
A. I warrant to the Company, that I understand and accept the notice stated above and that the information contained herein is true and that it shall be the
basis of the policy and deemed incorporated therein, should the Company evidence its acceptance of this application by issuance of a policy.
B. I confirm that I understand that this policy excludes coverage for: any Person while Practic ing for or Partic ipating in a Demonstration, Show, Competition,
Contest or Athletic  Event; Animal Exposures; (c lassified animal event removes animal exclusion) Assault & Battery; Auto Exposures; Communicable Diseases;
Cyber Acts, Inc idents or Data Breaches; Explosives; Firearms; Unmanned Aircraft
C. I confirm that there will be no Mosh Pits or Fireworks/Pyrotechnics (Only Cold Sparklers OK).
D. I understand there is no coverage for water activities, amusement devices, inflatables, rides or animals (c lassified animal event removes animal exclusion).
This does not mean I cannot have them at my event, it means this policy will exc lude coverage for water activities, amusement devices, inflatables, rides or
animals. This policy will not cover any athletic  or sports partic ipants, employees, volunteers, or individuals compensated by the insured.
E. I understand that the event types under "EXCLUDED EVENT TYPES" are excluded from this policy.

EXCLUDED EVENT TYPES & ACTIVITIES
Aircraft Events; Boat Shows (on the open water); Cannabis Events or Products; Childcare; Concerts with Rap, Hip Hop, Heavy Metal, or Hard Rock;
Firework/Pyrotechnics inc luding Hot Sparklers; Fraternity Events; Go Kart Races; Hang Gliding/SkyDiving; Haunted Attractions; Haunted Houses; Hot Air Balloon
Rides or Events; Motorized Sporting Events; Music  Events with Overnight Exposure; Obstacle Races and Mud Runs; Parachuting; Parasailing; Political or Activist
Events inc luding Protests, Rallies or Marches; Raves; Roller Coasters/Sky Coasters; Roller Derby; Roller Skating Events; SkyDiving; Skateboarding; Sorority
Events; Tractor Pulls; Trampolines; Unmanned Aircraft; Wall Climbing; War Games/Re-enactments; Water Events (unless c lassified as water event type); Water
S lides; Weapon Events inc luding Gun Shows
F. I am hereby notified that my policy will terminate effective no later than the date and time of its expiration. I have no right of automatic  renewal and
additional coverage will require application with no guarantee of approval or policy issuance.
I understand that by purchasing this insurance I am joining the Promotion, Event and Prize Purchasing Group.
Click here for STATE-SPECIFIC NOTICES
Licensed Agent in all 50 states: Will Maddux

93

Item 6.

https://www.theeventhelper.com/articles/cancellation-and-refund-policy
https://s3-us-west-1.amazonaws.com/insurancehelper.cdnhelper.com/State+Specific+Fraud+Warning.pdf
https://www.theeventhelper.com/samples/occurrence-gl-policy
https://s3-us-west-1.amazonaws.com/insurancehelper.cdnhelper.com/State Specific Wording.pdf


PROPOSAL NUMBER
3110483
ANSWERED ON
02/10/2023
POLICY EFFECTIVE
06/23/2023

Event General Liability Insurance
Underwriting Answers

No Yes Answer Date: 02/10/2023

No Yes Answer Date: 02/10/2023

No Yes Answer Date: 02/10/2023

No Yes Answer Date: 02/10/2023

No Yes Answer Date: 02/10/2023

No Yes Answer Date: 02/10/2023

None of the Above Music Will Be Played Yes Answer Date: 02/10/2023

No Yes Answer Date: 02/10/2023

No Yes Answer Date: 02/10/2023

UNDERWRITING QUESTIONS & ANSWERS

Question 1:
Are there water activities, amusement devices, inflatables, rides or animals?

Question 2:
Will your event(s) be a political event, activist event, protest, rally or march?

Question 3:
Is there camping, sleeping overnight or events past 2am?

Question 4:
Will you or anyone under your direction be operating a golf cart, ATV or UTV?

Question 5:
Have you or anyone involved in the Event had more than 1 Event Liability Claims/Losses or any Event Liability
Claim/Loss valued over $10,000 in the past 5 years?

Question 6:
Does your event include a live concert or a DJ performance?

Question 6A:
Will your event have any of the following live music?
Alternative Rock, Heavy Metal, Hip Hop, Punk Rock, R & B, Rap, Ska or Spoken Word.

Question 6B:
Will someone else like the venue or an independent insured firm be in charge of security?

Question 7:
Will you, the insured, your operations, your products, or your event participation have any involvement with cannabis
or cannabis-related products?

Question 8
Will your event involve any type of motorsports including but not limited to car, atv, utv or motorcycle racing, rallying,

94

Item 6.



No Yes Answer Date: 02/10/2023
stunts or burnouts?

95

Item 6.



96

Item 6.



97

Item 6.



98

Item 6.



99

Item 6.



100

Item 6.



101

Item 6.



102

Item 6.



103

Item 6.



104

Item 6.



105

Item 6.



106

Item 6.



107

Item 6.



108

Item 6.



 

STAFF REPORT 
 

City of Dripping Springs 

PO Box 384 

511 Mercer Street 

Dripping Springs, TX 78620 

Submitted By: Emily Nelson, Dripping Springs Ranch Park Manager 

Council Meeting Date: April 18, 2023 

Agenda Item Wording: Approval of a Professional Services & Use Agreement between 
the City of Dripping Springs and Hell Country Productions, Inc. 
for a Haunted House at Dripping Springs Ranch Park.  

Agenda Item Requestor: Aaron Sulser, Hell Country Productions, Inc. 

Summary/Background:  After a successful Haunted House event last year, Hell Country Haunts 

would like to host their Haunted House at Dripping Springs Ranch Park 

again this year.  

 

No changes this year other than dates. 

Board Recommendation: The Dripping Springs Ranch Park recommends approval of the 2023 

Professional Services and Use Agreement with Hell Country Productions, 

Inc. 

Recommended  

Council Actions: 

Staff recommends approval of the 2023 Professional Services and Use 

Agreement with Hell Country Productions, Inc. 

Attachments: 2023 Professional Services and Use Agreement with Hell Country 

Productions, Inc. 

Next Steps/Schedule: Execute agreement 

 

109

Item 7.



   

City of Dripping Springs  Hell Country Haunts Productions, Inc. 

Contractor Use Agreement  Page 1 of 6 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CONTRACT AND USE AGREEMENT 
 
This AGREEMENT is made and entered into this, the ______ day of ______by and between the 

City of Dripping Springs, Texas, a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as “City”), 

and Hell Country Productions, Inc, a registered Non-Profit in the State of Texas (hereinafter 

referred to as “Contractor”). 

 
PREAMBLE: 

 
WHEREAS,  the City desires to offer independent Contractors to provide events and attractions 

in the parks; and  

 

WHEREAS,  the City finds that the contractor assumes all liability and shall be an independent 

Contractor as related to this agreement; and  

 
WHEREAS,  this agreement can be terminated without cause by either party giving thirty (30) 

days written notice to the other party; and 

 

WHEREAS,  the Contractor will provide and operate a Haunted House and Hayride (“attraction”) 

in Dripping Springs Ranch Park; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the Contractor will pay the City a park use fee equal to 40% of attraction ticket 

sales; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City finds that it is in the best interest of the City and its residents to provide 

life-enriching, seasonal attractions and events at its parks. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties 

agree as follows: 

 
1. Duties. 

 
A. Duties of Contractor. 

(1) Build temporary set to serve as a Haunted House that adheres to approved 
specifications set forth by the City of Dripping Springs’ municipal codes to obtain 
proper and necessary permits for event. If set is altered from original 
proposed/approved submission, Contractor must obtain further City approval of 
alterations immediately before commencing construction. 

(2) Represent the City in a professional manner. 

(3) Communicate progress and goals with Dripping Springs Ranch Park Management. 

(4) Provide a safe environment for all attraction patrons by adhering to park rules as well 
as any rules or laws adopted by Hays County, the City of Dripping Springs, and the 
State of Texas. 

110

Item 7.



   

City of Dripping Springs  Hell Country Haunts Productions, Inc. 

Contractor Use Agreement  Page 2 of 6 

(5) Engage in excellent communication and customer service while working well with 
the public. 

(6) Submit security plan for approval to City Emergency Management Coordinator. 
Providing proof of retained security during the hours of operation. 

(7) Work with City Emergency Management Coordinator and Dripping Springs Ranch 
Park Management to create an Emergency Action Plan for the attraction. 

(8) Provide and operate a Hayride that transports patrons from parking to the Haunted 
House.  City Emergency Management Coordinator and Dripping Springs Ranch Park 
Management must approve the Hayride vehicle, related equipment, and path. 

(9) Address any complaints or concerns from attraction patrons, recording and 
submitting to Dripping Springs Ranch Park Management any incidents and accidents. 

(10) Contractor will provide volunteers/staffing that will direct attraction patrons to the 
correct location accommodating event parking. 

(11) Contractor will operate the attraction Friday, October 20 (7:30pm-10:30pm), 
Saturday, October 21 (7:30pm-10:30pm), Sunday, October 22 (2:00pm-6:00pm),  
Friday, October 27 (7:30pm-10:30pm), Saturday, October 28 (7:30pm-10:30pm ) and 
Sunday, October 29 (7:30pm-10:30pm) 2023. Additional option to add October 30-
31 (7:30-10:30) 2023 if staffing is available. Sunday October 29 (12PM-6PM) 2023, 
contractor operates trailers for a family friendly hayride. Flexibility to provide a “soft 
close” will be provided by on-site attraction staff and city staff to accommodate long 
lines and facilitate a positive attraction patron experience. 

(12) Contractor will adhere to the Traffic Control Plan prepared by the City Engineer 
for the attraction. 

(13) All outdoor lighting and signage shall be provided for review and approved prior to 
placement on site.   

B. Duties of City. 

(1) The City shall provide space at Dripping Springs Ranch Park for the Contractor to 
construct and operate a Haunted House and to operate a Hayride. 

(2) Dripping Springs Ranch Park staff shall provide customer service by staffing the 
Event Center Business Office during all hours of attraction operation, provide for the 
attraction ticket sales, and support attraction operations. 

(3) City shall provide a safe, clean, and well-kept location at Dripping Springs Ranch 
Park for hosting the attraction. 

(4)    City Engineer shall submit a Traffic Control Plan for the attraction to Dripping 
Springs Ranch Park Management and the Contractor. 

(5) Dripping Springs Ranch Park Management will work with Contractor and with City 

111

Item 7.



   

City of Dripping Springs  Hell Country Haunts Productions, Inc. 

Contractor Use Agreement  Page 3 of 6 

Communications & Marketing Director on all print, internet, and social media 
advertisement and marketing.  City Communications & Marketing Director will 
oversee and approve all advertising and media for the attraction. 

2. Duration.  The term of this Agreement shall be for beginning on Sunday, October 1, 2023, 

and ending on Sunday, November 5, 2023. With hours of operation limited to Friday, October 

20 (7:30pm-10:30pm), Saturday, October 21 (7:30pm-10:30pm) Friday, October 27 (7:30pm-

10:30pm), Saturday, October 28 (7:30pm-10:30pm) and Sunday, October 29 (7:30pm-

10:30pm) 2023. Flexibility to provide a “soft close” will be provided by on-site attraction staff 

and city staff to accommodate long lines and facilitate a positive attraction patron experience. 

This agreement can be terminated without cause by either party giving thirty (30) days written 

notice to the other party. 

The City, at its sole discretion for any reason whatsoever, may cancel this agreement at any 

time and without prior notice if the City determines that the activity is not in the best interest 

of the City.  

3. Pay/Fees. 

 

A. All fees are subject to final approval by the City Council at the recommendation of the 

Parks and Community Services staff. 

B. Contractor will pay a Use Fee equal to 40% of gross attraction ticket sale revenue to have 

exclusive use of the Expansion Event Room at Dripping Springs Ranch Park. City will pay 

Hays County Livestock Exposition 10% of the City’s revenue for use of the Expansion 

Event Room. 

C. City will pay the Contractor 60% of the gross attraction ticket sale revenue collected by 

city staff through ticket sales. 10% of the Contractor’s revenue shall be donated to a 

501(c)(3) of the Contractor’s choice. Payment will be accompanied by an accurate system-

generated report accounting of total sales no later than seven business days after the 

conclusion of the event and presence of Contractor on premises, November 56, 20232. 

4. Notices.  Notices pursuant to this Agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the 
United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

To the City:    To the Contractor: 
City of Dripping Springs   Hell Country Productions, Inc. 
Attn: City Administrator   Attn: Aaron Sulser 
PO Box 384    1032 Blue Ridge Dr. 
Dripping Springs, TX 78620  Dripping Springs, TX 78620 
 
Alternatively, notices required pursuant to this Agreement may be personally served in the 

same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as of the 

date of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such written notice in the course of 

transmission in the United States Postal Service.  Instructor or City may change the address 

112

Item 7.



   

City of Dripping Springs  Hell Country Haunts Productions, Inc. 

Contractor Use Agreement  Page 4 of 6 

for notices at any time with seven (7) days written notice to the other party. 

5. General Provisions. 

A. Relationship of Parties: It is understood by the parties that Contract Instructor is an 

independent Contractor with respect to the City and not an employee of the City. City will 

not provide fringe benefits, including health insurance benefits, paid vacation, or any 

employee benefit, for the benefit of independent Contractor.  The City may contract with 

other individuals or firms for entertainment services.  

B. Injuries/Insurance: Contractor acknowledges the Contractor’s obligation to obtain 

appropriate insurance coverage with the City named as an additional named insured. 

Required insurance in Attachment “A”.   Contractor waives the rights to recovery from 

City for any injuries that Contractor may sustain while performing services under this 

Agreement.  Contractor is to provide a copy of insurance coverage to City at least ten (10) 

days prior to the end of any existing coverage period if Contractor uses the services of any 

of Contractor’s employees for the provision of services to the City.  The City shall be 

named as an additional named insured on the Insurance. 

C. Indemnification: Contractor agrees to indemnify and hold City harmless from all claims, 

losses, expenses, fees, including attorney’s fees, costs, and judgments that may be asserted 

against City that result from acts or omissions of Contractor.  

D. Assignment: Contractor’s obligation under this Agreement may not be assigned or 

transferred to any other person, firm, or corporation without the prior written consent of 

City.   

E. Mandatory Disclosures:  Texas law requires that vendors make certain disclosures. Prior 

to the effective date of this Contract, the Contractor has submitted to the City a copy of the 

Conflict of Interest Questionnaire form (CIQ Form) approved by the Texas Ethics 

Commission (Texas Local Government Code Chapter 176) and the Affidavit regarding 

Prohibition on Contracts with Companies Boycotting Israel (Texas Government Code 

Chapter 2270).   

F. Force Majeure means acts of God, strikes, lockouts, or other industrial disturbances, acts 

of the public enemy, orders of any kind from the government of the United States or the 

State of Texas or military authority, insurrections, epidemics, landslides, lightning, 

earthquakes, fires, hurricanes, storms, floods, restraint of the government and the people, 

explosions, or other causes not reasonably within the control of the party claiming such 

inability.  Neither CITY nor Instructor shall be deemed in violation of this Agreement if it 

is prevented from performing any of its obligations hereunder by reasons for which it is 

not responsible as defined herein. However, notice of such impediment or delay in 

performance must be timely given, and all reasonable efforts undertaken to mitigate its 

effects. 

 

G. Entire Agreement: The text herein and attachments noted above shall constitute the entire 

Agreement between the parties. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 

113

Item 7.



   

City of Dripping Springs  Hell Country Haunts Productions, Inc. 

Contractor Use Agreement  Page 5 of 6 

benefit of the heirs at law and executors of Employee. 

H. Effective Date: This Agreement shall become effective commencing on the date of 
execution as indicated below. 

I. Severability: If any provision, or any portion thereof, contained in this Agreement is held 
unconstitutional, invalid, or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion 

thereof, shall be deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and 
effect. 

J. Enforcement and Venue: This Agreement shall be construed under and according to the 
laws of the State of Texas and venue for enforcement shall be in Hays County. 

K. Waiver of Contractual Right: The failure of any party to enforce any provision of this 
Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of that party's right to subsequently enforce 
and compel strict compliance with every provision of the Agreement. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Dripping Springs has caused this Agreement to be signed 
and executed on its behalf by its Mayor and duly attested by its City Secretary, and Employee has 
signed and executed this Agreement, both in duplicate, the day and year first above written. 
 

 

CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS:   CONTRACTOR: 
 
 
              
Bill Foulds, Jr., Mayor    Aaron Sulser, Hell Country Productions, Inc 
 
 
              
Date       Date 
 

 

 
 

ATTEST: 

 
 

 
       
Andrea Cunningham, City Secretary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

114

Item 7.



   

City of Dripping Springs  Hell Country Haunts Productions, Inc. 

Contractor Use Agreement  Page 6 of 6 

 
 

ATTACHMENT “A” 

 
 

CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS CONTRACTOR INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS: 

Firm providing goods, materials and services for the City of Dripping Springs shall, during the 

term of the contract with the City of Dripping Springs or any renewal or extension thereof, provide 

and maintain the types and amounts of insurance set forth herein.  All insurance and certificate(s) 

of insurance shall contain the following provisions: 

1. Name the City of Dripping Springs as additional named insured as to all applicable coverage. 

2. Provide for at least thirty (30) days prior written notice to the City of Dripping Springs for 

cancellation, non-renewal, or material change of the insurance. 

3. Provide for a waiver of subrogation against the City of Dripping Springs for injuries, including 

death, property damage, or any other loss to the extent the same is covered by the proceeds of 

insurance. 

Insurance Company Qualification:  All insurance companies providing the required insurance 

shall be authorized to transact business in Texas and rated at least “A” by AM Best or other 

equivalent rating service. 

Certificate of Insurance:  Certificates of Insurance evidencing all of the required insurance 

coverages shall be submitted with the Firm’s submission.  Copies of any modifications, 

amendments, renewals, or terminations of any coverage shall be promptly submitted to the City.  

If the contract is extended by the City of Dripping Springs, certificates of insurance evidencing all 

of the required insurance coverages shall be provided to the City prior to the date the contract is 

extended. 

Type of Contract and Amount of Insurance: 

 Statutory Workers Compensation insurance as required by state law. 

 Commercial General Liability minimum limits of $500,000 per occurrence for bodily 

injury, personal injury, and property damage. 

 Automobile Liability with a minimum of $500,000 Dollars combined single limit. 

 

115

Item 7.



 

STAFF REPORT 
 

City of Dripping Springs 

PO Box 384 

511 Mercer Street 

Dripping Springs, TX 78620 

Submitted By: Shawn Cox, Finance Director/City Treasurer 

Council Meeting Date: Tuesday, April 18, 2023 

Agenda Item Wording: Approval of Resolution Designating the Mayor, Mayor Pro Tem, and 

Certain City Staff as Authorized Signatories regarding Financial and 

Budgetary Procedures. 

Agenda Item Requestor: Shawn Cox, Finance Director/City Treasurer 

- Summary/Background:  

The City recently selected Texas Regional Bank as it depository.  This switch requires the City to 

provide an updated resolution identifying authorized signatories on the City’s accounts.  Included in the 

resolution as signatories are: 

 Bill Foulds, Jr. – Mayor 

 Taline Manassian – Mayor Pro Tem 

 Michelle Fischer – City Administrator 

 Ginger Faught – Deputy City Administrator 

 Shawn Cox – Finance Director/City Treasurer 

The only change from the previous resolution is the removal of Gina Gillis, the City previous City 

Treasurer. 

Commission 

Recommendations: 

N/A 

Recommended  

Council Actions: 

The Finance Director recommend approval of this resolution. 

Attachments:  Signatory Resolution 

Next Steps/Schedule: Provide a copy of the resolution to Texas Regional Bank. 

 

116

Item 8.



City of Dripping Springs  Check Signing Policy 

Resolution No. 2023-  Page 1 of 1 

CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS 

RESOLUTION No. 2023-R 

A RESOLUTION DESIGNATING THE MAYOR, THE MAYOR PRO TEM, 

AND CERTAIN CITY STAFF AS AUTHORIZED SIGNATORIES 

REGARDING FINANCIAL AND BUDGETARY PROCEDURES. 

 

WHEREAS,  the City Council has designated Texas Regional (hereafter, the “Bank”) as the 

City’s official bank depository; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is required that signatories be designated as the authorized signatories on the 

accounts with the Bank for the funds of the City of Dripping Springs, Texas; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has adopted a Financial and Budgetary policy dictating review and 

approval of financial documents; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this resolution 

was passed was open to the public and public notice of the time, place and purpose 

of said meeting was given, all as required by Chapter 551, Texas Government Code.   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

DRIPPING SPRINGS, TEXAS:   

1. Two signatures are required for drafts (i.e., checks, wires, electronic transfers of funds) 

upon the City’s financial accounts setup at the Bank, and any investment accounts the City 

may hold in other locations, for expenditure made in accordance with the annual budget, 

as may be amended. 

 

2. Mayor Bill Foulds, Jr., Mayor Pro Tem Taline Manassian, Finance Director Shawn Cox,  

City Administrator Michelle Fischer, and Deputy City Administrator Ginger Faught are 

hereby authorized to sign checks, wires, and electronic transfers of funds in any amount. 

 

3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its passage. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED this, the 18th day of April 2023, by a vote of ____(ayes) to ____ 

(nays) to 0 (abstentions) of the City Council of Dripping Springs, Texas: 

 

CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS: 
 

       

Bill Foulds, Jr., Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

       

Andrea Cunningham, City Secretary 

117

Item 8.



 

STAFF REPORT 
 

City of Dripping Springs 

PO Box 384 

511 Mercer Street 

Dripping Springs, TX 78602 

Submitted By: Shane Pevehouse, Building Official 

Council Meeting Date: 18 April, 2023 

Agenda Item Wording: Discuss and consider approval of the selection of a contractor and 

authorization for city staff to negotiate an agreement for Building 

Inspection and Plan Review Services based on the proposals in response 

to the Request for Proposals. 

Agenda Item Sponsor: Mayor Foulds 

Summary/Background:  In order to maintain competitive rates and negotiate a more favorable contract, 

the Building Department posted a Request for Proposals for Building 

Inspection and Plan Review Services on 15 February. 7 Packages were 

received during the 30 day RFP window. One company was disqualified for 

not meeting requirements and four were qualified, but not competitive. 

Building Department Staff interviewed the two remaining qualified and 

competitive companies and unanimously chose one; the Deputy City 

Administrator and City Attorney were present for the virtual interviews. 

Commission 

Recommendations: 

N/A 

Recommended  

Council Actions: 

Recommend Approval of WLB Inspections, LLC (DBA BB Inspections) 

and authorization for city staff to negotiate an agreement for Building 

Inspection and Plan Review Services based on the proposals in response to 

the Request for Proposals. 

Attachments: Proposals from BB Inspection Services and SAFEbuilt, LLC. 

Next Steps/Schedule: Negotiate Agreement an execute. 

 

118

Item 9.



City Council 

Planning Department Staff Report 
 

 

Project Name: Gateway Village  

Property Location: US 290 across from Drifting Wind 

Legal Description: 97.44 acres out of the Philip A Smith, William Walker, Edward Brown, 

and Davis Jr suveys 

Applicant: John Doucet, Doucet & Associates 

Property Owner: Cannon Family Ranch Partnership, LLC 

Request:  PDD 

 

  

Planning & Zoning 

Commission meeting: April 18, 2023 

Project No:  PDD2021-0004 

Project Planner:  Tory Carpenter, AICP, Planning Director 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the PDD 

Item Details 

119

Item 10.



Planning Department Staff Report                                                                                                 

PDD2021-0004 

 
Background 

The applicant is requesting the creation of a Planned Development District for a commercial and single 

family development. The plan consists of 307 single family residences with lot widths ranging from 50’ to 

60’. The plan also includes 7.2 acres of commercial land and 22.36 acres of open space. The applicant is 

also requesting expansion for Dripping Springs MUD #1 to the site which was originally established for 

the Village Grove development. The City will provide wastewater to the development.  

 

Surrounding Developments 

The property is one of three developments in various stages of entitlement within the existing property 

known as Cannon Ranch. The site is south of the Cynosure / Wild Ridge development and west of Blue 

Blazes.  

 

 

 

  

120

Item 10.



Planning Department Staff Report                                                                                                 

PDD2021-0004 

 
Comprehensive Plan 

 
The current comprehensive plan identifies this area as “Mixed Use” on the future land use map. The 

plan specifically states that this area is suitable for “mixed retail, office, and residential uses, also 

appropriate for multifamily residential.”  

Transportation 

The property will take its primary access via the proposed Wild Ridge Blvd which will be extended by 

the Wild Ridge developer. The latest roadway agreement indicates that this development will be 

responsible for 12% of the cost of Wild Ridge Blvd. The plan also includes residential road connections 

to the approved Wild Ridge / Cynosure development and a roundabout at the entrance of the 

commercial development.  

 

The Transportation Master Plan shows an extension of Drifting Wind through the property as a 

collector road. However, after reviewing the traffic impact analysis, staff found that any minimal benefit 

did not outweigh the concerns of an increase in cut and fill and traffic conflicts on US 290 with the 

extension of Drifting Wind. 

 

The applicant is requesting a 54 foot right-of-way for the residential roads as opposed to our standard 

65 foot cross section. The applicant has shown that this cross section will work with proposed utility 

placement. The Transportation Committee and staff are supportive of this change. 

Previous Meetings 

3/09/22 – DAWG met with applicant and provided comments 

2/06/23 – Parks & Recreation Commission approved the parks plan 

2/24/23 – DAWG met with applicant to discuss latest draft of the plan 

2/27/23 – The Transportation Committee approved the proposed traffic improvements 

2/28/23 – Planning & Zoning Commission Workshop 

3/27/23 – Transportation Commission approved the residential ROW 

3/28/23 – Planning & Zoning Committee voted unanimously to recommend approval 

121

Item 10.



Planning Department Staff Report                                                                                                 

PDD2021-0004 

 
Concept Plan 

 

122

Item 10.



Planning Department Staff Report                                                                                                 

PDD2021-0004 

 
Approval Criteria for Zoning Amendment (Chapter 30 Zoning, Exhibit A, Sec 2.28.1 and 2.28.2) 

 

2.28.2 The Planning & Zoning Commission and the City Council shall consider the following factors: 

 

Factors Staff Comments 

1. whether the proposed change will be 

appropriate in the immediate area 

concerned; 

This zoning change is consistent with recent 

development in the area.  

2. their relationship to the general area and 

the City as a whole; 

This zoning change would allow for 

additional single-family residences.   

3. whether the proposed change is in accord 

with any existing or proposed plans for 

providing public schools, streets, water 

supply, sanitary sewers, and other utilities 

to the area; 

The property is not within any existing or 

proposed City Plans.  

4. the amount of undeveloped land currently 

classified for similar development in the 

vicinity and elsewhere in the City, and any 

special circumstances which may make a 

substantial part of such undeveloped land 

unavailable for development; 

This request would not make other land 

unavailable for development.   

5. the recent rate at which land is being 

developed in the same zoning 

classification, particularly in the vicinity 

of the proposed change; 

Land with the same zoning classification has 

been developing rapidly.  

6. how other areas designated for similar 

development will be, or are unlikely to be, 

affected if the proposed amendment is 

approved; 

No areas designated for similar development 

will be affected by this proposed amendment.  

7. whether the proposed change treats the 

subject parcel of land in a manner which is 

significantly different from decisions 

made involving other, similarly situated 

parcels; and 

Approval of this zoning amendment would 

not be significantly different from decisions 

made involving other similar parcels.  

8. any other factors which will substantially 

affect the public health, safety, morals, or 

general welfare. 

The rezoning does not negatively affect the 

public health, safety, morals, or general 

welfare.  

 

  

123

Item 10.



Planning Department Staff Report                                                                                                 

PDD2021-0004 

 
Recommendation 

Staff recommends approval of this PDD request.  

 

The Planning & Zoning Commission, Transportation Committee, and Parks & Recreation Commission 

have each recommended approval of this request.  

 

 

2.36.1 After a public hearing is held before the City Council regarding the zoning application, 

the City Council May: 

 

(a)     Approve the request in whole or in part; 

 

(b)     Deny the request in whole or in part; 

 

(c)     Continue the application to a future meeting, specifically citing the city council 

meeting to which it was continued; or 

 

(d) Refer the application back to the P&Z for further study. 

 

Public Notification 

Staff provided legal notice advertising the public hearing in the Dripping Springs Century-News, signs 

posted on the-site, notice placed on the City Website, and all property owners within a 300-foot radius of 

the site notified of the zoning map amendment. To date, no letters for or against the request have been 

received.  

 

124

Item 10.



 

 

 

   April 10, 

2023 Draft “G”  

 

 

 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT No. __: 

Gateway Village 
 

Planned Development District Ordinance 
Approved by the Planning & Zoning Commission on: 

_______, 2023 

Approved by the City Council on: 

_______, 2023 

 

 

  

125

Item 10.



 

 

  

  

City of Dripping Springs Draft “G”  

PDD # __ (Gateway Village) 04-10-23  Page 2  

 

 

THIS PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT ORDINANCE (“Ordinance”) is enacted 

pursuant to City of Dripping Springs Code of Ordinances, Article 30.3. 

 

WHEREAS, the Owner is the owner of certain real property consisting of approximately 97.44 

acres located within the City Limits of the City of Dripping Springs (“City”), in 

Hays County, Texas, commonly known as “Gateway Village” and as more 

particularly identified and described in Exhibit A (the “Property”) to Attachment 

“A”; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Property will be subdivided and developed by Owner, its affiliates or their 

successors and assigns, for construction and use in general accordance with the PD 

Master Plan shown as Exhibit B to Attachment “A”; and 

 

WHEREAS,  the Owner, its affiliates or their successors and assigns intends to develop a master-

planned community that will include a mix of land uses, together with parkland and 

roadway connections described herein; 

 

WHEREAS, the Owner has submitted an application to the City to rezone the Property to 

Planned Development District (“PDD”), designating it “PDD – __”; and  

 

WHEREAS, after public notice, the Planning and Zoning Commission conducted a public 

hearing and recommended approval on _________________, 2023; and  

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the City’s Planned Development Districts Ordinance, Article 30.03 of 

the City’s Code of Ordinances (the “PD Ordinance”), the Owner has submitted a 

PD Master Plan that conceptually describes the Project, which is attached to this 

Ordinance as Exhibit B to Attachment “A”; and 

 

WHEREAS, this Ordinance, PD Master Plan, and the Code of Ordinances shall be read in 

harmony, will be applicable to the Property, and will guide development of the 

Property; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed this proposed Ordinance, the PD Master Plan, and 

the Annexation and MUD Consent Agreement for Gateway Village and has 

determined that it promotes the health, safety, and general welfare of the citizens 

of Dripping Springs; complies with the intent of the City of Dripping Springs 

Comprehensive Plan; and is necessary in light of changes in the neighborhood; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that this proposed Ordinance ensures the compatibility of 

land uses, and to allow for the adjustment of changing demands to meet the current 

needs of the community by meeting one or more of the following purposes under 

Code §30.03.004:  provides for a superior design of lots or buildings; provides for 

increased recreation and/or open space opportunities for public use; provides 

amenities or features that would be of special benefit to the property users or 

community; protects or preserves natural amenities and environmental assets such 

126

Item 10.



 

 

  

  

City of Dripping Springs Draft “G”  

PDD # __ (Gateway Village) 04-10-23  Page 3  

 

 

as trees, creeks, ponds, floodplains, slopes, hills, viewscapes, and wildlife habitats; 

protects or preserves existing historical buildings, structures, features or places; 

provides an appropriate balance between the intensity of development and the 

ability to provide adequate supporting public facilities and services; and meets or 

exceeds the present standards of this article; 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council is authorized to adopt this Ordinance in accordance with Texas 

Local Government Code Chapters 51 and 211; and 

 

WHEREAS,  the Ordinance has been subject to public notices and public hearings and has been 

reviewed and approved by the City’s Planning and Zoning Commission. 

 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of Dripping Springs:  

 

1. FINDINGS OF FACT 

  

The City Council finds that the facts and matters in the foregoing recitals are true and correct; and, 

are hereby incorporated into this Ordinance by reference as findings of fact as if expressly set forth 

herein. 

 

2. ENACTMENT 

 

A. Zoning District Created. PDD – __ is hereby established consistent with Attachment “A," 

which is attached hereto and incorporated into this Ordinance for all intents and purposes.   

Code of Ordinances Chapter 30, Exhibit A [Zoning Ordinance], § 3.1 [Zoning Districts] is 

hereby amended to add the zoning district identified as PDD – __. 

 

B. Zoning Map Amended. The official zoning map of the City is hereby amended to demarcate 

the boundaries of PDD – __ consistently with the boundaries of the Property delineated in the 

Property Legal Description, Exhibit A to Attachment “A”. 

 

C. PD Master Plan Approved. The PD Master Plan attached as Exhibit B to Attachment “A” 

is hereby approved.  The PD Master Plan, together with Attachment “A”, constitutes the 

zoning regulations for the Project. All construction, land use and development of the Property 

must substantially conform to the terms and conditions set forth in the PD Master Plan, this 

Ordinance, Attachment “A” and the exhibits.  The PD Master Plan is intended to serve as a 

guide to illustrate the general vision and design concepts.  The PD Master Plan is to serve as 

the conceptual basis for the site plan(s) subsequently submitted to the City seeking site 

development permit approval.  If this Ordinance and the PD Master Plan conflict, this 

Ordinance controls.  This approval shall not be interpreted as approval of a variance, utility 

sources, or other site plan or plat requirements without specific reference in the ordinance or 

variance chart, or in future approvals. 

 

127

Item 10.



 

 

  

  

City of Dripping Springs Draft “G”  

PDD # __ (Gateway Village) 04-10-23  Page 4  

 

 

D. Administrative Approval of Minor Modifications.  In order to provide flexibility with 

respect to certain details of the development of the Project, the City Administrator is authorized 

to approve minor modifications.  Minor modifications do not require consent or action of the 

Planning & Zoning Commission or City Council.  Examples of minor modifications include 

the location of use classifications; slight adjustments to the internal street and drive alignments; 

building envelopes; number of buildings; orientation of buildings; and adjustments that do not 

result in overall increases to traffic, density, or impervious cover.  The City Administrator may 

approve minor modifications in writing following consultation with the City Engineer.  Any 

appeal of the City Administrator’s determination regarding whether or not a change is a minor 

modification may be appealed by any aggrieved party to the Board of Adjustment.  

 

E. Code of Ordinances.  The Code of Ordinances as of the effective date of this Ordinance shall 

be applicable to the Project, except as specifically provided for by this Ordinance, Attachment 

“A”, or the PD Master Plan.  

 

F. Resolution of Conflicts. The documents governing the PDD should be read in harmony to the 

extent possible.  If a conflict arises between the charts included in the exhibits and the 

illustrations contained in the exhibits, the charts shall control. If a conflict arises between the 

terms of this Ordinance and the exhibits, the terms of this Ordinance shall control. 

 

G. Attachments and Exhibits Listed. The following attachment and exhibits thereto are 

incorporated into this Ordinance in their entirety, as though set forth fully in the text of this 

Ordinance: 

 

Attachment “A” – Planned Development District No. and Zoning Map 

 

Exhibit A  Property Legal Description 

Exhibit B  PD Concept/Master/Lotting Plan 

Exhibit C  Parks, Trails and Open Space Plan 

Exhibit D  PD Code Modifications Chart  

Exhibit E  PD Phasing Plan 

Exhibit F  PD Uses Chart 

Exhibit G   Street Standards 

Exhibit H  Water Quality Buffer Zones 

Exhibit I  Highway 290 Landscape Buffer 

 

 

3. REPEALER 

 

All ordinances, or parts thereof, that are in conflict or inconsistent with any provision of this 

Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict, and the provisions of this Ordinance 

shall be and remain controlling as to the matters regulated herein.  

 

 

 

128

Item 10.



 

 

  

  

City of Dripping Springs Draft “G”  

PDD # __ (Gateway Village) 04-10-23  Page 5  

 

 

4. SEVERABILITY 

 

Should any of the clauses, sentences, paragraphs, sections or parts of this Ordinance be deemed 

invalid, unconstitutional, or unenforceable by a court of law or administrative agency with 

jurisdiction over the matter, such action shall not be construed to affect any other valid portion of 

this Ordinance. 

5. PENALTY  

 

Any person, firm, association or persons, company, corporations or their agents or employees 

violating or failing to comply with any of the provisions of this Ordinance may be subject to a fine 

pursuant to Section 54.001 of the Texas Local Government Code, upon conviction of not more 

than Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00). The foregoing fine may be cumulative of other remedies 

provided by State law, and the power on injunction as provided by Texas Local Government Code 

54.012 and as may be amended, may be exercised in enforcing this Ordinance whether or not there 

has been a complaint filed. 

 

6. CODIFICATION 

 

The City Secretary is hereby directed to record and publish the attached rules, regulations and 

policies in the City’s Code of Ordinances as authorized by Section 52.001 of the Texas Local 

Government Code.  

 

7. PROPER NOTICE & MEETING 

 

It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this Ordinance was passed 

was open to the public, and that public notice of the time, place and purpose of said meeting was 

given as required by the Open Meetings Act, Texas Government Code, Chapter 551.  Notice was 

also provided as required by Chapters 52 and 211 of the Texas Local Government Code. 

 

8. EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

This Ordinance shall be effective immediately upon approval by the City Council and publication 

as required by law. 

  

129

Item 10.



 

 

  

  

City of Dripping Springs Draft “G”  

PDD # __ (Gateway Village) 04-10-23  Page 6  

 

 

 

PASSED & APPROVED this, the   day of                             , 2023 by a vote of      

(ayes) to              (nays) to        (abstentions) of the City Council of Dripping Springs. 

 

 

CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS: 

 

 

by: ________________________ 

Bill Foulds, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

____________________________ 

Andrea Cunningham, City Secretary 

  

130

Item 10.



 

 

  

  

City of Dripping Springs Draft “G”  

PDD # __ (Gateway Village) 04-10-23  Page 7  

 

 

Attachment “A” 

 

City of Dripping Springs 

 

CODE OF ORDINANCES 
 

ARTICLE 30.03: PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICTS 
 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. __:  

 
ARTICLE I.  GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 

1.1. Popular Name.  This Chapter shall be commonly cited as the “PDD – __ Ordinance”, also 

referred to as “this Ordinance” herein. 

 

1.2. Scope.  This Ordinance applies to the Property. 

 

1.3. PD Master Plan. The PD Master Plan has been approved by the City and shall guide 

permitting, development and use of the Property.  

 

1.4. Definitions. Words and terms used herein shall have their usual meaning except as they 

may be specifically defined herein, or, if capitalized and not defined herein, as defined in 

the Code (hereinafter defined):  

 

City: The City of Dripping Springs, an incorporated Type A, general-law municipality 

located in Hays County, Texas. 

 

City Administrator or Administrator: The chief administrative officer of the City of 

Dripping Springs, Texas.  The term also includes the Deputy City Administrator and City 

Administrator’s designee. 

 

City Council: The governing body of the City of Dripping Springs, Texas. 

 

City Engineer: The person or firm designated by the City Council as the engineer for the 

City of Dripping Springs, Texas. 

 

Code, City’s Code of Ordinances or City of Dripping Springs Code of Ordinances: 

The entirety of the City’s ordinances, regulations and official policies in effect as of 

___________, 2023 except as modified by the Project Approvals and variances granted 

131

Item 10.



 

 

  

  

City of Dripping Springs Draft “G”  

PDD # __ (Gateway Village) 04-10-23  Page 8  

 

 

under the Development Agreement and this Ordinance. This term does not include Zoning 

or Building Codes, Sign Ordinance, the Water Quality Protection Ordinance or regulations 

mandated by state law, or that are necessary to prevent imminent harm to human safety or 

property, which may be modified and made applicable to the Project even after the 

Effective Date. 

 

Dripping Springs Technical Criteria: The criteria adopted in Article 28.07 of the City of 

Dripping Springs Code of Ordinances that includes technical criteria standard 

specifications and adopted in Ordinance 2021-35 and as modified. 

 

Effective Date: The Effective Date of this Ordinance shall be the date of approval by the 

City Council and publication as required by law. 

 

Homeowners Association: A community group that is organized with respect to the 

Property in which individual owners of lots share common interests and responsibilities for 

costs and upkeep of common space or facilities. The group may take the form of a Home 

Owners Association or Property Owners Association.  

 

Impervious Cover: Buildings, parking areas, roads, and other impermeable man-made 

improvements covering the natural land surface that prevent infiltration as determined by 

City Engineer. For purposes of compliance with this document, the term expressly excludes 

storage tanks for rainwater collection systems.  

 

Impervious Cover Percentage: The percentage calculated by dividing the total area of 

impervious cover on the lot by the total area of the lot, excluding any public improvements 

for rights of way and sidewalks.  

 

Landscaping Ordinance: Article 28.06, Landscaping and Tree Preservation, of Chapter 

28, Subdivisions and Site Development of the City of Dripping Springs Code of 

Ordinances. 

 

Outdoor Lighting Ordinance:  Article 24.06, Outdoor Lighting, of Chapter 24 of the City 

of Dripping Springs Code of Ordinances. 

 

Owner:  North DSP, LLC, a Texas limited liability company, and its successors and 

assigns as subsequent owners of any portion of the Property.  

 

Project: A land use and development endeavor proposed to be performed on the Property, 

as provided by this Ordinance and generally depicted on the PD Master Plan on Exhibit 

B.   
 

Project Approvals:  The approvals, waivers and exceptions to the Applicable Rules 

approved by the City with respect to the development of the Property, as set forth in 

Exhibit D.   

 

132

Item 10.



 

 

  

  

City of Dripping Springs Draft “G”  

PDD # __ (Gateway Village) 04-10-23  Page 9  

 

 

Property: The land as more particularly described in Exhibit A. 

 

TCEQ: The Texas Commission on Environmental Quality, or its successor agency. 

 

TIA: Traffic Impact Analysis, as specified in Chapter 28, Article 28.02: Exhibit A-

Subdivision Ordinance, Section 11.11 of the Dripping Springs Code of Ordinances. 

 

TxDOT: The Texas Department of Transportation or its successor agency. 

 

Water Quality Protection Ordinance:  Article 22.05 of Chapter 22, General Regulations 

of the Code.  

 

ARTICLE II. DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 

 

2.1. General Regulations.  Except as otherwise provided in this Ordinance and the PD Master 

Plan, the Property shall be governed by the site regulations and development standards 

contained in the Code of Ordinances. 

 

2.2. Phasing.  The Property may be developed in phases.  The Project is intended to be 

developed in phases as shown on Exhibit E.  Owner may change the phasing of 

development from time to time in response to market conditions or other factors.  Phases 

may be developed concurrently.  Construction Plans or site plans shall be submitted to the 

City for approval with each phase. Each plat filed with the City shall contain parkland 

required for that phase and parkland for the entire Land shall be submitted by separate 

exhibit with each plat application including the amount associated with prior platted areas 

and the amount associated with the area subject to such plat. The chart shall also show the 

average lot size computation for the Land as a whole and resulting from the plat and prior 

platted areas. In addition, an impervious cover and LUE tracking chart shall be submitted 

as an exhibit with each plat filed indicating the amount of impervious cover proposed for 

the entire Land, the amount associated with prior platted areas and the amount associated 

with the area subject to such plat. 

 

2.3. Permitted Uses. 

 

2.3.1. Base Zoning:  The base zoning district for the residential portion of the Property 

shall be SF-3, which shall be the basis for all zoning specifications not addressed 

in this Ordinance or the PD Master Plan.  The Commercial portion of the Property 

shall be GR. 

 

2.3.2. Allowed Uses: Those uses listed in the PD Uses Chart attached as Exhibit F are 

hereby permitted by right within the Project.    

 

2.4. Commercial Design Specifications. 

 

2.4.1 Design Standards.  The Commercial portion of the Property may be developed 

133

Item 10.



 

 

  

  

City of Dripping Springs Draft “G”  

PDD # __ (Gateway Village) 04-10-23  Page 10  

 

 

consistent with applicable Zoning Regulations and Article 24.03 Exterior Design 

and Architectural Standards  established in the Code. 

 

2.5. Residential Design Specifications. 

  

2.5.1 Impervious Cover. Each residential or commercial lot shall be developed with an 

Impervious Cover limit compliant with respective base zoning district assigned 

per Section 2.3.1. 

 

2.5.2 Minimum Lot Area.  Six thousand (6,000) square feet. 

 

2.5.3 Building Height. Buildings shall not exceed 2 ½ stories or forty (40) feet, 

whichever is less, measured from the average elevation of the finished grade 

adjacent to the building to the highest point of a flat or multi-level or as defined in 

Section 28.05.004 of the 2017 City of Dripping Springs Code of Ordinances. 

 

2.5.4 Minimum Lot Width.  Fifty (50) feet measured from the front setback line. 

 

2.5.5 Setbacks.  Building setbacks in residential areas shall be as follows: 

 

a. Minimum Front Yard:  Building setbacks shall be twenty (20) feet from the 

street right of way. 

 

b. Minimum Side Yard:  Building setbacks shall be five (5) feet; provided, 

however corner lots will be set back a minimum of ten (10) feet from the street 

right of way. 

 

c. Minimum Rear Yard:  Building setbacks shall be ten (10) feet. 

 

d. Minimum Garage Setback: Garage doors shall be set back a minimum of 

twenty (20) feet from the front street right of way or ten (10) feet from the side 

street right-of-way. Garage doors must also be set back 18 feet from the nearest 

sidewalk.  

 

e. Minimum Setback for Accessory Building:  Five (5) feet; no accessory 

buildings or structures are permitted in any front yard. 

 

f. Maximum Height of Fence Outside Street Yard:  Six (6) feet measured 

from average natural grade. All fences shall provide a finished face to abutting 

streets and these fences shall not conflict with sight triangles at street 

intersections or obstruct views from adjacent driveways. Fences shall not 

extend into the front yard. 

 

2.5.6 Cut & Fill.  Improvements requiring a site development permit will be subject to 

cut and fill limits as stated in Exhibit E, Modification Chart.  

134

Item 10.



 

 

  

  

City of Dripping Springs Draft “G”  

PDD # __ (Gateway Village) 04-10-23  Page 11  

 

 

 

2.5.7 Retaining Walls.  Retaining walls shall be required within the Property as a typical 

part of development of the Property.  All retaining walls within the Property shall 

be finished with natural limestone material consistent with the following photo 

images. Retaining walls taller than 9 feet may be required to be terraced so that no 

vertical segment is taller than 9 feet.  The terracing requirement for walls over 9 

feet will be decided the City Development Review Committee on a case by case 

basis 

 

 

 
 

135

Item 10.



 

 

  

  

City of Dripping Springs Draft “G”  

PDD # __ (Gateway Village) 04-10-23  Page 12  

 

 

 
 

2.5.8 Parking.   

 

a. Residential Parking:  Development of the Property shall include parking at a 

minimum of two off-street spaces per residence.  On street parking shall be 

allowed along one (1) side of each internal local street and such side will be the 

side where there are no fire hydrants; sufficient signage with “No Parking – Fire 

Lane” lettering will be placed on no parking side curb.  If fire hydrants are on 

both sides of the street, then parking shall be allowed on only one side and 

sufficient “No Parking – Fire Lane” signage shall be placed at the fire hydrant 

in compliance with fire code. 

 

b. Commercial Parking:  Parking shall be provided for the commercial areas; the 

number of parking spaces within the Commercial Area shall be determined in 

accordance with City ordinances and the proposed use of the commercial 

spaces. The total number of parking stalls for the commercial areas may be 

determined by a shared use parking study provided by Owner and accepted by 

City. 

 

c. Amenity Center Parking:  Parking shall be provided for recreational sites that 

provide a community pool and other recreational facilities. The Amenity Center 

site shall include, but not be limited to, the following: A private access resort-

style pool, pool restroom building, pavilion(s) and shade structure(s), a multi-

age and ADA compliant playground facility, and an open lawn for passive 

recreation. The quantity of parking required will be one (1) parking space per 

300 square feet of pool surface area. 

136

Item 10.



 

 

  

  

City of Dripping Springs Draft “G”  

PDD # __ (Gateway Village) 04-10-23  Page 13  

 

 

 

d. Undeveloped Parkland Parking:  If it is determined by City staff that the 

dedication of the public parks requires parking to be provided for future 

recreational uses built by the City, the quantity of spaces shall be determined 

under Section 5.6.2 (12) Commercial amusement (outdoor) of the City’s Zoning 

Ordinances. The required parking spaces shall be met by on-street parallel 

parking. 

 

2.5.9 Design of Residences. 

 

a. Materials:  All residences shall consist of 100% masonry on all elevations. 

native stone, brick masonry, stucco, and cementitious siding shall be deemed 

appropriate materials to satisfy the masonry requirement. A variety of masonry 

material is encouraged in the design of each residence. 

 

b. Elevations:  The front elevation of all homes shall contain wall plane 

articulation. No elevation shall be single wall plan across the entire width of 

the front elevation. Each front elevation shall contain a minimum of two of the 

following elements, to be identified on the architectural plans submitted for 

building permit: 

 

1. A minimum of two wall planes on the front elevation, offset a 

minimum of 18 inches; 

 

2. Covered front porches or  patio with a minimum size of 60 square 

feet: 

 

3. A side-entry or swing-in garage entry (for garage doors that do not 

face the front street); 

 

4. A garage door recessed from the primary front facade a minimum 

of four feet (for garage doors that face the street): 

 

5. Shed roof or trellis (at least 18” deep) above garage door for 

additional architectural detail. 

 

6. A combination of at least two roof types (e.g. hip and gable) or two 

different roof planes of varying height and/or direction. 

 

7. Two or more masonry finishes to compliment the architectural style 

of the home; and 

 

8. The addition of one or more dormers on the front elevation to 

compliment the architectural style of the home. 

 

137

Item 10.



 

 

  

  

City of Dripping Springs Draft “G”  

PDD # __ (Gateway Village) 04-10-23  Page 14  

 

 

c. Floorplans: Floorplans will be available in single and two-story housing plans.  

A minimum of six (6) floorplans will be available, offering a variation of front 

elevations so that there is no discernable repetition in any street scape. 

Articulation on the front  face should be used to ensure a nonrepetitive  street 

scene.   Where  building  pads  are interrupted by a street or open space lot of 

at  least 50 feet in width, a plan may repeat. A plan can be repeated every third 

building pad (Example:  Plan A 1, Plan B 1,  Plan  A 1,  Plan B 2),  although 

elevations shall be different on  the two houses. 

 

d. Roofs and Overhead Structures:  On buildings with pitched roofs, the 

minimum main roof pitch is 5:12.  Lower roof pitches are acceptable on porch 

elements, awnings or architectural feature elements. 

 

e. Design Review and Compliance.  The City shall retain the right to review all 

building permits for consistency with the requirements of this section.  Upon 

review, City Staff may approve or deny individual building permits based on 

compliance determinations with the provisions of this Section, and consistency 

with this Ordinance.  The Applicant may appeal City Staff’s determinations(s) 

to the Board of Adjustments for a final decision(s).  Buildings with issued 

permits shall be deemed acceptable and approved for the purposes of this 

Ordinance. 

 

2.5.10 Density of Development.  With respect to the density of the Project, Owner will 

have the right to develop the Residential Land at a density not to exceed 3.4 

dwelling units per acre.  

 

2.5.11 Parkland.  The Project is required to have 13.35 acres of Parkland. The Project 

will include approximately 13.73 net acres that will be dedicated for Parkland, the 

area being shown more fully shown on Exhibit C attached hereto and incorporated 

herein for all purposes (the “Parkland”).  This dedication of the Parkland shall fulfill 

all parkland dedication requirements of the Project to the City, including, but not 

limited to the requirements of the Parkland Dedication Ordinance under the City’s 

Code of Ordinances and any applicable requirements within the Subdivision 

Ordinance.  Owner has prepared a Master Parks and Open Space Plan which has 

been approved by City.  The Owner will pay the Parkland Development Fee per 

City’s Code of Ordinances.  The Parkland Development Fee will be paid based on 

the number of dwelling units as required by City Code.  Owner or its assigns shall 

pay an additional fee of $125,000.00 to be used exclusively for park lighting 

improvements within Sports & Recreation Park; this fee shall be paid at the 

approval of each final plat on a per lot basis. 

 

2.5.12 Highway 290 Landscape Buffer. The Project boundary along Highway 290 

consists of steep topographic conditions that limit accessibility and visibility to the 

Project from the roadway.  A minimum fifty (50) feet landscape buffer shall be 

provided along the residential frontage of Highway 290.  The Owner will install 

138

Item 10.



 

 

  

  

City of Dripping Springs Draft “G”  

PDD # __ (Gateway Village) 04-10-23  Page 15  

 

 

landscaping within the landscape buffer to screen houses from the highway road 

surface as shown in Exhibit I.     

 

2.6. Parks, Trails and Open Space. Parkland and open space and associated improvements 

shall be in accordance the standards shown on Exhibit C attached hereto.  A Master Parks 

and Trails Plan shall be submitted to the City for approval prior to approval of the first 

preliminary plat for the Project.  No public trails shall be surfaced with decomposed 

granite.  The Master Parks and Trails Plan shall address all issues regarding public 

dedication, public access, maintenance and compliance with the City-wide trails plan.  The 

Owner shall maintain parks and open space within the Project. 

 

2.7. Access.  

 

2.7.1 Traffic Impact Analysis.  Owner has provided to the City, and the City has 

approved a Traffic Impact Analysis. 

 

2.7.2 Roadway Alignments:  The roadway alignments shown on the PD Master Plan are 

approved by the City.  All roadways and driveways not shown on the PD Master 

Plan shall be subject to the approval of the City Administrator, which approval shall 

not be unreasonably withheld.   

 

2.7.3 Offsite Roads:  Construction of the offsite roads and improvements to existing 

roads are addressed in the Offsite Road Agreement, as the same may be amended 

from time to time 

 

2.8. Streets.  All streets designed and constructed on the Property shall be fifty (50) feet right-

of-way local streets and seventy-five (75) feet right-of-way collector streets designed 

consistent with Exhibit G.  

 

2.9. Utilities.  All proposed utilities within the Property will be located underground (other than 

above-ground appurtenances to such underground utilities).  

 

2.10. Lighting and Signage.  All illumination for street lighting, signage, security, exterior, 

landscaping, and decorative facilities for the Project shall comply with Article 24.06 of the 

City’s Code of Ordinances (“Outdoor Lighting Ordinance”), as may be amended, from 

time to time. To the extent any portion of the Agreement conflicts or is inconsistent with 

the Outdoor Lighting Ordinance, the Outdoor Lighting Ordinance shall control.  Owner, 

homeowners, end users and/or a Property Owner Association will be required to operate 

and maintain the lighting within the Project according to the Applicable Rules. Owner 

agrees that the CCR’s for the Project shall reinforce this provision and be applied to all 

construction and builders.  A Master Sign Plan shall be submitted for City approval prior 

to the placement of any signs that are not in compliance with either (i) the City’s Sign 

Ordinance or (ii) the variances described in the PD Modifications Chart attached hereto as 

Exhibit D. 

 

139

Item 10.



 

 

  

  

City of Dripping Springs Draft “G”  

PDD # __ (Gateway Village) 04-10-23  Page 16  

 

 

2.11. Water  Quality Buffer Zones. The Water Quality Buffer Zones are depicted on Exhibit 

“H”. 

 

2.12. Water Quality. Owner agrees to implement and comply with the City’s Water Quality 

Protection Ordinance in place on the Effective Date except as modified by this Ordinance 

or by specific variance. 

 

2.13. Tree Preservation: Landscaping Ordinance: Article 28.06, Landscaping and Tree 

Preservation, of Chapter 28, Subdivisions and Site Development of the City of Dripping 

Springs City Code shall apply to the project except as modified by this Agreement. Full 

tree survey to be submitted with each preliminary plat. An aerial tree survey may be used 

in lieu of a full tree survey if approved by the City Administrator. 

 

2.13.1 Tree Replacement Plan. 
  

a. Replacement Plan: Subject to 2.13.1. b below, the Tree Replacement Plan 

shall be in accordance with the City of Dripping Springs Code of Ordinances 

– Chapter 28, Article 28.06 Landscaping and Tree Preservation. 
 

b. Cash-in-Lieu Requirements: The cash-in-lieu fee requirements are 

determined to be $513,000.  There will be 85.5 acres of Disturbed Trees (85.5 

acres times $6,000 equals $513,000).  Owner shall receive credit against the 

cash-in-lieu fees equal to the following: 

 

 306  lots with two 2.5-inch caliper size trees at $830.00 per tree for a 

total lot credit of $507,960 , plus 

        

 20 2.5-inch caliper size trees to be located in the amenity center at 

$830.00 per tree for a total of $16,600.  

The combined total credit will be $524,560.  The total cost of tree replacements 

in the Tree Replacement Plan exceeds the minimum the total cost per acre of 

disturbance in the Tree Removal Plan. 

 

 

140

Item 10.



Exhibit B 
PD Concept/Master/Lotting Plan

141

Item 10.



Exhibit C 
PD Parks, Trails and Open Space

142

Item 10.



EXHIBIT D 

Modification Chart (Project Approvals, including Variances and Exceptions) 

 

EXHIBIT D:  LIST OF VARIANCES & ALTERNATIVE STANDARDS 

# Ordinance Description Requirement Requested Variance Justification 

Chapter 11 - Water Quality Protection 

1 22.05.016(a)(2) 
Maximum 
Impervious 

Cover 

Sets maximum impervious cover for site development plans 
within the Edwards Aquifer Contributing Zone and the ETJ to 

35%. 

The area designation and 
impervious cover will be as 

follows: SF3 - 65%, and GR - 60% 
 

2 22.05.015(c)(3) 
Performance 

Standards 
Establishes 90% removal of total suspended solids, total 

phosphorus, and oil and grease 

Use water quality BMPs that 
achieve a TSS removal of 89% 

and comply with the TCEQ 
Optional Enhanced Measures 

(EOM) load management 
requirements per West Travis 
County Public Utility Agency 

requirements 

Providing stream buffer per the TCEQ OEM 
that exceed the City of Dripping Springs water 

quality buffer requirements, including the 
LCRA Streambank Erosion Control volume in 

the water quality pond to protect natural 
waterways and habitat.  Will create better use 

of the land, less long-term maintenance 
burden, more attractive water quality 

measures, and be consistent with State 
standards.  

 

Chapter 26 - Signs 

3 26.06.063(b) & (c) 
Monument 

signs for 
subdivisions 

Maximum area of a sign shall not exceed 32 sq. ft.  Maximum 
height for a sign shall not exceed 6 ft.  

Maximum area and height for 
monument signs shall refer to the 
configuration of the letters only.   

Allows flexibility for signage to be included 
as part of a decorative structure.  

  

143

Item 10.



EXHIBIT D (continued) 

Modification Chart (Project Approvals, including Variances and Exceptions) 

# Ordinance Description Requirement Requested Variance Justification 

Chapter 28 - Subdivisions and Site Development 

4 Exhibit A, 3.13 
Lapse of plat 

approval 

Preliminary Plat:  All of the following shall occur within 183 
calendar days following Preliminary Plat approval:  1) City 
Engineer's approval of engineering plans for all proposed 

public improvements; and 2) payment of all applicable fees 
that are traditionally collected prior to release for site 

construction.  In additional to the above, an application for 
approval of the final plat shall be submitted to the City within 

365 calendar days following approval of the preliminary plat in 
order to avoid lapse of the approved improvements; and 2) 
payment of all applicable fees that are traditional collected 

prior to release for site construction.  In addition to the above, 
an application for approval of the final plat shall be submitted 
to the City within 365 calendar days following approval of the 

preliminary plat in order to avoid lapse of the approved 
Preliminary Plat (unless such is extended or reinstated 

pursuant to provisions in this Chapter.) 

Preliminary Plat:  All of the following shall 
occur within the one hundred and eighty-
three (183) calendar days following Multi-
Phased Preliminary Plat approval: 1) City 

Engineer’s approval of engineering plans for 
Phase 1 or additional phases of proposed 

public improvements; and 2) payment of all 
applicable fees that are traditionally 

collected prior to release for site 
construction for Phase 1 or additional 
phases. In addition to the above, an 

application for approval of the Phase 1 final 
plat shall be submitted to the City within 

three hundred sixty-five (365) calendar days 
following approval of the preliminary plat 
to avoid lapse of the approved Preliminary 
Plat (unless such is extended or reinstated 

pursuant to provisions in this Chapter). 
Once conditions of Phase 1 are met the 

Preliminary Plat shall be valid for 10 years.  
Regardless of whether City wastewater 

service is  available, the City will review and 
approve all documents and permits 

necessary for development  to proceed and 
infrastructure be accepted.  However, no 
certificates of occupancy for structures 
within the Project shall be issued   until 

suitable wastewater service is available or, 
the City’s pending discharge permit has 

been cleared by the Texas court system or 
the City approves otherwise. 

Allows time for the construction of 
infrastructure improvements prior to 

recordation of plats.  

5 Exhibit A, 3.13 
Lapse of plat 

approval 

Final plat approved by the City Council but not yet filed with 
Hays County - All materials necessary to file the plat at the 

county, including plat mylars, filing fees, etc., shall be 
submitted to the City within 30 calendar days of the date of 

final approval.  (The 30 day period shall commence upon 
County approval of final plat if the property is in the ETJ.) 

Final plat approved by the City Council but 
not yet filed with Hays County - All 

materials necessary to file the plat at the 
County, including plat mylars, filing fees, 
etc., shall be submitted to the City within 

365 calendar days of the date of final 
approval. 

Allows time for the construction of 
infrastructure improvements prior to 

recordation of plats. 

6 Exhibit A, 11.21.1 
Residential 

block lengths 
Shall not exceed 1,200 ft. between centerlines of street 

intersections 

Shall not exceed 3,000 ft. between 
centerlines of street intersections at the 

perimeter of the property 

This relates only to the perimeter of the 
property where access to neighboring 

property is limited by topographic 
conditions and adjacent land use. 

144

Item 10.



EXHIBIT D (continued) 

Modification Chart (Project Approvals, including Variances and Exceptions) 

# Ordinance Description Requirement Requested Variance Justification 

7 Exhibit A, 30.2 
Performance 
Guarantees 

Required for public improvements 
Performance guarantees shall be issued in 

the name of each current and future 
owner of public improvements. 

Public improvement will be owned and 
maintained by separate entities and thus 

performance guarantees shall be issued for 
each entity's benefit for the improvements 

that will be dedicated to them. 

8 28.04.018 Cuts and fills 
No fill or cut on any building site shall exceed a 

maximum of 6 ft. of depth. 

Improvements requiring a site 
development permit will be held to no 

more than 18 feet of cut and/or fill.  Cut 
and fill for public infrastructure 

improvements, including but not limited to 
roadways and stormwater control ponds, 

may exceed 18 feet where specifically 
reviewed and approved by the City 

Engineer. Cut and fill for residential lot 
grading of up to 18 feet of cut and 18 feet 
of fill may be allowed in specific locations 
where approved by the City Engineer. All 
retaining walls and cut walls shall have 

native limestone facade and be approved 
by City Engineer. Retaining walls taller 

than 8  feet may be required to be 
terraced so that no vertical segment is 

taller than 8 feet.  The terracing 
requirement for walls over 8 feet will be 

decided by the City's Development Review 
Committee on a case-by-case basis.  Cut 

and fill for public infrastructure 
improvements, including but not limited to 
roadways and stormwater control ponds, 

and Project perimeter cut and fill 
conditions, may exceed 18 feet where 

specifically reviewed and approved by the 
City Engineer 

To respond to topographic conditions and 
provide roadways that meet design 

requirements 

9 
28.06.051 (a) & 

(B) 

Residential 
Street Tree 

Requirements 

Street trees (2 each, 4-inch caliper trees/50 linear ft.) to 
be planted adjacent to or near street right-of-way per 

associated zoning classification. 

Two (2) 2-1/2” -inch street trees per 
residential lot; 4-inch street trees along 
arterials, and within the Amenity Center 

lot to satisfy City tree replacement 
requirements. 

Consistency with industry standards for 
residential lot trees. The development will 

provide a strong streetscape with mature trees 
earlier in the life of the project with this street 

tree planting plan. 

Hays County Development Regulations (2017), Chapter 721 - Roadway Standards 

10 Table 721.02 
Cul-de-sac 

ROW/Pavement 
Radius (feet) 

70/45 for Urbanized Local and Minor Collector 
60/48 for Urbanized Local Streets (complies 

with fire code)   
To preserve the natural character of the site 

by minimizing roadway impacts. 

11 Table 721.02 Knuckles No provision 
Knuckles are allowed.  Minimum ROS radius 
is 50 ft.  Minimum pavement radius is 40 ft. 

Preserves natural character by minimizing 
roadway impacts and concentrating 

residential density.  

12 Section 5.6 

Parking 
requirement for 
Private Amenity 

Sites 

One parking space is required per 100 sq. ft. of pool deck 
plus pool surface area 

One parking space per 300 sq. ft. of pool 
surface area 

Private Amenity Centers are meant to be 
walkable for the community, reducing the 

reliance on large parking areas.  Trail 
connections and bike racks will be provided 

at the amenity to reduce the need for 
excessive parking. 

 
145

Item 10.



 

 

  
  

City of Dripping Springs Draft “D”  
PDD # __ (Gateway Village)  Page 28  
 
 

EXHIBIT E  
Phasing Plan 

 

146

Item 10.



EXHIBIT F 

PD Uses Chart 

 

The uses permitted in PDD – __ are as follows: 

 

Residential Areas: 

 

- Single-Family Dwelling, Detached; 

- Accessory Building/Structure (Residential); 

- Home Occupation; 

- Swimming Pool, Private; 

- Community Center, Private; and  

- Those uses listed in the City's zoning ordinance for SF-3 Districts, or any less intense 

residential district,  are hereby permitted by right within the Project. Uses designated as 

allowed by issuance of  a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) are allowed within the Project upon 

issuance of a CUP  

 

Commercial Areas: 

 

 

- Those uses listed in the City’s zoning ordinance for GR Districts are hereby 

permitted by right within the Project. Uses designated as allowed by issuance of a 

Conditional Use Permit (CUP) are allowed within the Project upon issuance of a 

CUP. Land uses not permitted in GR Districts but are permitted in lesser zoning 

districts are not allowed.  

-  

 Notwithstanding, the following uses will not be allowed.  

- Farm Animals 

- Check Cashing Service 

- Telemarketing Center 

- Appliance Repair, unless accessory to appliance retail sales 

- Auto Supply Store 

- Building Material Sales 

- Lawnmower Sales and Repair 

- Live-in Security Quarters 

- Locksmith 

- Major Appliance Repair, unless accessory to appliance retail sales 

- Restaurant (With Drive-Through Service) 

- Tool and Machinery Rental 

- Vacuum Cleaner Sales and Repair 

- Auto Tire Sales and Repair 

- Auto Washing Facility, Attended 

- Auto Washing Facility, Unattended 

- Automobile Repair, Minor 

- Tire Dealer, Indoor Storage 

- Psychic Reading Services 

- Video Rentals/Sales 

147

Item 10.



- Wireless Communication Tower 

- Radio, Television, Microwave Tower 

- Wastewater Treatment Plant 

- Pawnshop 

- Multiple-Family Dwelling 

 

 

 

 

 

148

Item 10.



EXHIBIT G

149

Item 10.

AutoCAD SHX Text
54' R.O.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
54' R.O.W. LOCAL STREET  TYPICAL SECTION N.T.S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WASTEWATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRY UTILITIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM DRAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" HMAC WITH 8" LIMESTONE BASE WITH 3' EXTENDED BASE BEYOND BACK OF CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SD (DEPTH VARIES)

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.0' WATER (3' DEPTH)

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' WW (5'-8' DEPTH)

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' ROADWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
2% SLOPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
2% SLOPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
7' LAND SCAPING

AutoCAD SHX Text
STD. CURB  & GUTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
STD. CURB  & GUTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.0' (OD TO OD) GAS (3.5' DEPTH)

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
7' LAND SCAPING



150

Item 10.



 

 

  
  

City of Dripping Springs Draft “D”  
PDD # __ (Gateway Village)  Page 31  
 
 

EXHIBIT H 
Water Quality Buffer Zones 

 

151

Item 10.



152

Item 10.



   

 
City of Dripping Springs                                                        ANNEX2023-0002 Gateway Village 

Ordinance No. __________ Page 1 of 5 

CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS 

  

ORDINANCE NO.  

 
 

106.23 ACRES OUT OF THE I.V. DAVIS JR. PREEMPTION 

SURVEY, EDWARD W. BROWN SURVEY NUMBER 136, C.H. 

MALLOT SURVEY, WILLIAM WALKER SURVEY, PHILIP A. 

SMITH SURVEY 

HAYS COUNTY, TEXAS 
 

ANNEXATION ORDINANCE 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS, TEXAS, TO 

VOLUNTARILY ANNEX BY REQUEST OF THE PROPERTY OWNER 

APPROXIMATELY 106.23 ACRES OF LAND INTO THE 

INCORPORATED MUNICIPAL BOUNDARIES OF THE CITY OF 

DRIPPING SPRINGS, TEXAS INCLUDING THE FOLLOWING: 

FINDINGS OF FACT; EFFECTIVE DATE; REPEALER; 

SEVERABILITY; AND PROPER NOTICE AND MEETING. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Dripping Springs (“City”) is a Type-A, General Law municipality 

located in Hays County, Texas with the rights and privileges thereto; and 

 

WHEREAS,  Section 43.0671 of the Texas Local Government Code authorizes a Type-A general 

law municipality to extend the boundaries of the municipality and annex area 

adjacent to the municipality by petition of area landowners in accordance with the 

procedural rules prescribed by Texas Local Government Code Chapter 43; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City received a written petition requesting the voluntary annexation of the area 

described in Exhibit “A” on November 12, 2021. 

 

WHEREAS, the area identified in Exhibit “A,” approximately 106.23 acres in the I.V. Davis Jr. 

Survey, Edward W. Brown Survey, C H Mallot Survey, William Walker Survey, 

Philip a. Smith Survey, Hays County, Texas, is in the extraterritorial jurisdiction of 

the City; and   

 

WHEREAS,  the City Council granted the petition and allowed City staff to proceed with 

negotiating the service agreement with the property owner, in accordance with 

Section 43.0672 of Texas Local Government Code;  

 

WHEREAS,   the City Council conducted a public hearing and considered testimony regarding 

the annexation of the property, in accordance with Section 43.0673 of Texas Local 

Government Code on April 18, 2023;  

153

Item 10.



   

 
City of Dripping Springs                                                        ANNEX2023-0002 Gateway Village 

Ordinance No. __________ Page 2 of 5 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council deems it to be in the best interest of the citizens of the City to 

annex said territory into the City. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

DRIPPING SPRINGS, TEXAS: 

 

1. FINDINGS OF FACT 

  

All of the above premises are hereby found to be true and correct legislative and factual findings 

of the City Council of Dripping Springs, Texas, and are hereby approved and incorporated into the 

body of this Ordinance as if copied herein in their entirety.  

 

2. ANNEXATION OF TERRITORY 

 

A. The property in the area described in Exhibit “A”, which is attached hereto and incorporated 

herein for all purposes, is hereby annexed and brought into the municipal boundaries (i.e., 

corporate limits) of the City of Dripping Springs, and is made an integral part, hereof. 

 

B. The official map and boundaries of the City of Dripping Springs are hereby amended and 

revised so as to include the area annexed, and to reflect the expansion of the City’s 

extraterritorial jurisdiction resulting from such annexation. 

 

C. A service plan agreement was executed prior to the annexation approval in accordance with 

Section 43.0672 of Texas Local Government Code, and is attached hereto as Exhibit “B” and 

incorporated herein for all intents and purposes. 

 

D. The owners and inhabitants of the area herein annexed are entitled to all of the rights and 

privileges of other citizens of the City of Dripping Springs and are hereby bound by all acts, 

ordinances and other legal actions now in full force and effect and those that may be hereafter 

adopted or enacted. 

 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

This ordinance is effective and the annexation achieved herein shall be final and complete upon 

adoption of this Ordinance on the date set forth below. 

 

4. FILING 

 

A. The City Secretary is hereby instructed to include this Ordinance in the records of the City. 

 

B. The City Secretary is hereby instructed to have prepared maps depicting the new municipal 

boundaries and extraterritorial jurisdiction. 

 

C. The City Secretary is hereby instructed to file a certified copy of this Ordinance with the Hays 

County Clerk. 

154

Item 10.



   

 
City of Dripping Springs                                                        ANNEX2023-0002 Gateway Village 

Ordinance No. __________ Page 3 of 5 

 

D. The City Secretary is hereby instructed to submit by certified mail a certified copy of the 

annexation ordinance a map of the entire city that shows the change in boundaries, with the 

annexed portion clearly distinguished, resulting from the annexation to the Texas 

Comptroller’s Office. 

 

5. SEVERABILITY 

 

It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the phrases, clauses, sentences, 

paragraphs and sections of this Ordinance be severable, and if any phrase, clause, sentence, 

paragraph or section of this Ordinance shall be declared unconstitutional by the valid judgment or 

decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such unconstitutionality shall not affect any of the 

remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs or sections of this Ordinance, and the remainder 

of this Ordinance shall be enforced as written. 

 

6. PROPER NOTICE AND MEETING 

 

It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this Ordinance was passed 

was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, place and purpose of said 

meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act, Chapter 551 of the Texas Government 

Code.  Notice was also provided as required by Chapter 52 of the Texas Local Government Code. 

 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the _____ day of ____________ 2023, by a vote of ___ (ayes) 

to ___ (nays) to ___ (abstentions) of the City Council of the City of Dripping Springs, Texas. 

 

 

THE CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS: 
 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Bill Foulds Jr.  

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_________________________________ 

Andrea Cunningham, City Secretary 

 

 

 

155

Item 10.



   

 
City of Dripping Springs                                                        ANNEX2023-0002 Gateway Village 

Ordinance No. __________ Page 4 of 5 

Exhibit “A” 

DESCRIPTION OF AREA TO BE ANNEXED  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

156

Item 10.



   

 
City of Dripping Springs                                                        ANNEX2023-0002 Gateway Village 

Ordinance No. __________ Page 5 of 5 

Exhibit “B” 

 

Municipal Services Agreement 

157

Item 10.



 

City of Dripping Springs  Gateway Village Property – 106 acres 

Annexation Municipal Services Agreement  Page 1 of 13 

 

MUNICIPAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE 

CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS, TEXAS AND  

SUSAN HOUSTON 

 

This Municipal Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into on ____ day of 

_________________ 2023, by and between the City of Dripping Springs, Texas, a General Rule 

municipality of the State of Texas, (“City”) and Cannon Family Ranch Partnership, Ltd., a Texas 

limited partnership (“Owner”). 

 

RECITALS 

 

The parties agree that the following recitals are true and correct and form the basis upon which the 

parties have entered into this Agreement. 

 

WHEREAS, Owner owns certain parcels of land situated in Hays County, Texas, which consists 

of approximately 97.44 acres of land situated in the City’s extraterritorial 

jurisdiction, such property being more particularly described and set forth in 

Exhibit “A” attached and incorporated herein by reference (“Property”); 

 

WHEREAS, City and Owner desire to set out the City services and Owner duties to be provided 

for the Property on or after the effective date of annexation; and 

 

WHEREAS, Sections 43.0671 and 43.0672 of the Texas Local Government Code authorizes the 

City and the Owner to enter into an Agreement for annexation and provision of city 

services. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, in exchange for the mutual covenants, conditions, and promises 

contained herein, City and Owner agree as follows: 

 

1. PROPERTY. This Agreement is only applicable to the Property, more specifically described 

in Exhibit “A”. 

 

2. INTENT. It is the intent of the City that this Agreement provide for the delivery of full, 

available municipal services to the Property in accordance with state law, which may be 

accomplished through any means permitted by law. 

 

3. MUNICIPAL SERVICES. Commencing on the effective date of annexation, the City will 

provide the municipal services set forth below. As used in this Agreement, “providing 

services” includes having services provided by any method or means by which the City may 

extend municipal services to any other area of the City. 

 

The City of Dripping Springs hereby declares the following services to be made available to 

the property and its owner(s): 

 

a. POLICE PROTECTION 

The City does not provide municipal police protection but has an agreement with Hays 

158

Item 10.



 

City of Dripping Springs  Gateway Village Property – 106 acres 

Annexation Municipal Services Agreement  Page 2 of 13 

 

County for protection through the Hays County Sheriff’s Office. 

 

b. FIRE SERVICE 

The City does not provide municipal fire services, but this area is served by the North Hays 

County Fire/Rescue.  Fire prevention activities will be provided by the Hays County Fire 

Marshal’s Office. 

 

c. BUILDING INSPECTION/CODE ENFORCEMENT SERVICES 

The City will provide Building and Code Enforcement Services upon annexation.  This 

includes issuing building, electrical, mechanical, and plumbing permits for any new 

construction and remodeling, and enforcing all other applicable codes which regulate 

building construction within the City of Dripping Springs. 

 

d. LIBRARIES 

The City does not own a municipal library. A community library is provided by the 

Dripping Springs Community Library. 

 

e. ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH AND HEALTH CODE ENFORCEMENT 

SERVICES 

The City has a septic system/on-site sewage facility ordinance. Complaints of ordinance or 

regulation violations within this area will be answered and investigated by City personnel, 

beginning with the effective date of the annexation ordinance.  Septic permitting services, 

where applicable, is also provided by the City. 

 

f. PLANNING AND ZONING 

The planning and zoning jurisdiction of the City will be extended to this area on the 

effective date of the annexation ordinance.  All services provided by the City will be 

extended to the area on the effective date of the annexation ordinance. 

 

g. PARKS AND RECREATION 

All services and amenities associated with the City’s Parks and Recreation activities will 

extend to this area on the effective date of the annexation ordinance. 

 

h. STREET AND DRAINAGE MAINTENANCE 

The City will provide street and drainage maintenance to public streets in the area in 

accordance with standard City Policy as the area develops. 

 

i. STREET LIGHTING 

The City provides street lighting to public streets in the area in accordance with standard 

City Policy as the area develops. 

 

j. TRAFFIC ENGINEERING 

The City will provide, as appropriate, street names signs, traffic control devices, and other 

traffic system design improvements to the area for any public roads.   

 

 

159

Item 10.



 

City of Dripping Springs  Gateway Village Property – 106 acres 

Annexation Municipal Services Agreement  Page 3 of 13 

 

k. SANITATION/SOLID WASTE COLLECTION AND DISPOSAL 

The City does not directly provide municipal sanitation/solid waste collection and disposal 

services.  However, the City has granted an exclusive franchise for these services to Waste 

Connections, which will be notified of all newly-annexed parcels.  

 

l. WATER SERVICE 

The City will be the water provider for this property.   

 

m. SEWER SERVICE 

The City municipal sewage collection treatment and disposal system will be provided 

pursuant to the Wastewater Utility Service and Fee Agreement between the City and North 

DSP, LLC.  

 

n. MISCELLANEOUS 

All other applicable municipal services will be provided to the area in accordance with 

policies established by the City of Dripping Springs. 

 

4. ANNEXED PROPERTY REQUIREMENTS.   

 

a. LIGHTING 

The Property Owner agrees to bring the property into compliance with City’s adopted 

regulations for outdoor lighting within one year after completion of the annexation process. 

 

b. ZONING 

The property shall be zoned Agriculture upon annexation unless zoning occurs 

concurrently with annexation process.  If zoning does not occur concurrently, the Property 

Owner shall request rezoning to occur on or before the 120th day after annexation as 

required by City Ordinance.  

 

5. AUTHORITY. City and Owner represent that they have full power, authority, and legal right 

to execute, deliver and perform their obligations pursuant to this Agreement.  

 

6. SEVERABILITY. If any term or provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid or 

unenforceable, the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining terms or provisions of 

this Agreement shall not be affected thereby, and in lieu of each such illegal, invalid or 

unenforceable term or provision, there shall be added automatically to this Agreement a legal, 

valid or enforceable term or provision as similar as possible to the term or provision declared 

illegal, invalid or unenforceable 

 

7. INTERPRETATION. The parties to this Agreement covenant and agree that in any litigation 

relating to this Agreement, the terms and conditions of the Agreement will be interpreted 

according to the laws of the State of Texas. The parties acknowledge that they are of equal 

bargaining power and that each of them was represented by legal counsel in the negotiation 

and drafting of this Agreement. 

 

8. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE. This Agreement and all of the transactions 

160

Item 10.



 

City of Dripping Springs  Gateway Village Property – 106 acres 

Annexation Municipal Services Agreement  Page 4 of 13 

 

contemplated herein shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the 

State of Texas.  The provisions and obligations of this Agreement are performable in Hays 

County, Texas such that exclusive venue for any action arising out of this Agreement shall be 

in Hays County, Texas. 

 

9. NO WAIVER. The failure of either party to insist upon the performance of any term or 

provision of this Agreement or to exercise any right granted hereunder shall not constitute a 

waiver of that party’s right to insist upon appropriate performance or to assert any such right 

on any future occasion. 

 

10. GOVERNMENTAL POWERS. It is understood that by execution of this Agreement, the 

City does not waive or surrender any of its governmental powers or immunities. 

 

11. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each 

of which shall be deemed an original and constitute one and the same instrument. 

 

12. CAPTIONS. The captions to the various clauses of this Agreement are for informational 

purposes only and shall not alter the substance of the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 

13. AGREEMENT BINDS SUCCESSORS AND RUNS WITH THE LAND. This Agreement 

is binding on and inures to the benefit of the parties, their successors, and assigns. The term of 

this Agreement constitutes covenants running with the land comprising the Property and is 

binding on the Owner. 

 

14. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. It is understood and agreed that this Agreement contains the entire 

agreement between the parties and supersedes any and all prior agreements, arrangements or 

understandings between the parties relating to the subject matter.  No oral understandings, 

statements, promises or inducements contrary to the terms of this Agreement exist.  This 

Agreement cannot be changed or terminated orally. 

 

 

Executed as of the day and year first above written to be effective on the effective date of 

annexation of the Property. 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signature pages follow.] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

161

Item 10.



 

City of Dripping Springs  Gateway Village Property – 106 acres 

Annexation Municipal Services Agreement  Page 5 of 13 

 

 

CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS: 

 

 

 

       

Bill Foulds, Jr., Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Andrea Cunningham, City Secretary 

 

STATE OF TEXAS   § 

     § 

COUNTY OF HAYS  § 

 

 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________________, 2023 

by, Bill Foulds, Jr. Mayor of the City of Dripping Springs, Texas, a a General Rule municipality 

of the State of Texas, on behalf of said municipality. 

 

 

              

       Notary Public, State of Texas 

 

  

162

Item 10.



 

City of Dripping Springs  Gateway Village Property – 106 acres 

Annexation Municipal Services Agreement  Page 6 of 13 

 

OWNER 

CANNON FAMILY RANCH PARTNERSHIP, LTD.     
A Texas limited partnership 

By its sole general partner: 

 Cannon Family Partnership Corporation 

 A Texas corporation 

 

 

 By: ______________________________  

Name: Susan Houston         

Title: President 

 

 

STATE OF TEXAS   § 

     § 

COUNTY OF HAYS  § 

 

 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________________, 2023 

by, Susan Houston, President of Cannon Family Partnership Corporation, a Teas corporation, 

which is the sole general partner of Cannon Family Ranch Partnership, Ltd., a Texas limited 

partnership, on behalf of said limited partnership. 

 

 

              

       Notary Public, State of Texas 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

163

Item 10.



 

City of Dripping Springs  Gateway Village Property – 106 acres 

Annexation Municipal Services Agreement  Page 7 of 13 

 

EXHIBIT A 

Legal Description and Location Map 

 

  

164

Item 10.



 

City of Dripping Springs  Gateway Village Property – 106 acres 

Annexation Municipal Services Agreement  Page 8 of 13 

 

  

165

Item 10.



 

City of Dripping Springs  Gateway Village Property – 106 acres 

Annexation Municipal Services Agreement  Page 9 of 13 

 

  

166

Item 10.



 

City of Dripping Springs  Gateway Village Property – 106 acres 

Annexation Municipal Services Agreement  Page 10 of 13 

 

  

167

Item 10.



 

City of Dripping Springs  Gateway Village Property – 106 acres 

Annexation Municipal Services Agreement  Page 11 of 13 

 

  

168

Item 10.



 

City of Dripping Springs  Gateway Village Property – 106 acres 

Annexation Municipal Services Agreement  Page 12 of 13 

 

  

169

Item 10.



 

City of Dripping Springs  Gateway Village Property – 106 acres 

Annexation Municipal Services Agreement  Page 13 of 13 

 

 

 

 

 

170

Item 10.



Exhibit “__” 
7401B Highway 71 West, Suite 160 

 Austin, TX 78735 
Office: 512.583.2600 

Fax: 512.583.2601 
 

Doucetengineers.com 

 

 

COMMITMENT YOU EXPECT. 
EXPERIENCE YOU NEED. 

PEOPLE YOU TRUST. 

97.44-Acre Tract           D&A Job No. 1455-003 

Hays County, Texas                                   June 21, 2022 

 

DESCRIPTION  

97.44-Acre Tract 

 

BEING A 97.44-ACRE TRACT OUT OF THE PHILIP A SMITH SURVEY, 

ABSTRACT NUMBER 415, THE C.H. MALOTT SURVEY, ABSTRACT NUMBER 

693, THE IV DAVIS JR SURVEY NUMBER 130, ABSTRACT NUMBER 475, 

EDWARD W. BROWN SURVEY NUMBER 136, ABSTRACT NUMBER 44, AND THE 

WILLIAM WALKER SURVEY NUMBER 130, ABSTRACT NUMBER 475, HAYS 

COUNTY, TEXAS, BEING A PORTION OF A THE REMAINDER OF A CALLED 69.91-

ACRE TRACT DESCRIBED TO DENNIS P. CANNON AND KATHERINE CANNON 

RECORDED IN VOLUME 211, PAGE 177 OF THE OFFICIAL PUBLIC RECORDS OF 

HAYS COUNTY, TEXAS [O.P.R.H.C.T.], ALSO BEING A PORTION OF A CALLED 

277.23-ACRE TRACT, CONVEYED TO CANNON FAMILY, LTD. (KNOWN AS 

SHARE NUMBER TWO) RECORDED IN VOLUME 198, PAGE 151 OF THE 

OFFICIAL PUBLIC RECORDS OF HAYS COUNTY, TEXAS [O.P.R.H.C.T.]; SAID 

97.44-ACRE TRACT BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY METES 

AND BOUNDS AS FOLLOWS: 

 

BEGINNING at a Concrete Highway monument found in the existing north right-of-way line of East Highway 

290, a 100-feet wide right-of-way, according to TxDot right-of-way map AUS011307AD, for the southwest 

corner of said 277.23-acre tract, and for the southeast corner of a called 58.000-acre tract, conveyed to Oryx 

Cannon 58 LLC, recorded in Document Number 20023358 [O.P.R.H.C.T], and for the southwest corner of the 

tract described herein; 

 

THENCE, N00°23'49"E, departing the existing north right-of-way line of said East Highway 290, with the 

common line of said 277.23-acre tract and said 58.000-acre tract, for a distance of 344.11 feet to a 1/2-inch iron 

rod with cap stamped “DOUCET” set for the beginning of a curve to the right, for the south corner of a 8.787-

acre proposed roadway parcel, and for an angle corner of the tract described herein; 

 

THENCE, with the southeast line of said 8.787-acre proposed roadway parcel and over and across said 277.23-

acre tract, the following six (6) courses: 

 

1) With said curve to the right, having an arc length of 26.27 feet, a radius of 943.00 feet, a delta angle of 

01°35'47", and a chord which bears N20°28'08"E, for a distance of 26.27 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod with 

cap stamped “DOUCET” set for an angle corner of the tract described herein, 

2) N21°16'01"E, for a distance of 550.66 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod with cap stamped “DOUCET” set for 

the beginning of a curve to the right and for an angle corner of the tract described herein, 

3) With said curve to the right, having an arc length of 332.63 feet, a radius of 943.00 feet, a delta angle of 

20°12'37", and a chord which bears N31°22'20"E, for a distance of 330.91 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod with 

cap stamped “DOUCET” set for an angle corner of the tract described herein, 

4) N41°28'38"E, for a distance of 315.03 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod with cap stamped “DOUCET” set for 

the beginning of a curve to the left and for an angle corner of the tract described herein, 

CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE 

171

Item 10.



 

 

PAGE | 2 of 7   COMMITMENT YOU EXPECT. 
EXPERIENCE YOU NEED. 

PEOPLE YOU TRUST. 

5) With said curve to the right, having an arc length of 681.06 feet, a radius of 1,057.00 feet, a delta angle 

of 36°55'03", and a chord which bears N23°01'06"E, for a distance of 669.34 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod 

with cap stamped “DOUCET” set for an angle corner of the tract described herein, and 

6) N04°33'35"E, for a distance of 12.95 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod with cap stamped “DOUCET” set in the 

common line of said 277.23-acre tract and a remainder of a called 291-1/3-acre tract, conveyed to 

Cynosure Corporation, recorded in Volume 258, Page 123 of the Deed Records of Hays County, Texas 

[D.R.H.C.T.], and for an angle corner of the tract described herein, from which a 1/2-inch iron rod with 

cap stamped “DOUCET” found bears S89°00'33"W, for a distance of 244.21 feet; 

 

THENCE, with the common line of said 277.23-acre tract and said 291-1/3-acre tract, the following eight (8) 

courses: 

 

1) N89°00'33"E, for a distance of 322.22 feet to a 1/2-inch iron pipe found for an angle corner of the tract 

described herein, 

2) N50°38'14"E, for a distance of 53.17 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod with cap stamped “DOUCET” set for an 

angle corner of the tract described herein, 

3) N21°13'11"E, for a distance of 64.75 feet to a MAG nail found for an angle corner of the tract described 

herein, 

4) N09°17'53"E, for a distance of 327.10 feet to a MAG nail found for an angle corner of the tract described 

herein, 

5) N20°28'59"W, for a distance of 204.36 feet to a calculated point for an angle corner of the tract described 

herein, from which a MAG nail found bears S13°52'35"E, for a distance of 2.61 feet, 

6) N14°46'26"W, for a distance of 324.06 feet to a 1/2-inch iron pipe found for an angle corner of the tract 

described herein, 

7) N11°59'53"W, for a distance of 327.25 feet to a 1/2-inch iron pipe with 60D nail found for the northwest 

corner of the tract described herein, and 

8) N89°15'51"E, for a distance of 1,222.57 feet to an 8-inch Cedar Fence Post for the northeast corner of a 

called 1.097-acre tract, conveyed to Bordie Partners LP, recorded in Volume 5086, Page 174 

[O.P.R.H.C.T.], and for the northeast corner of the tract described herein; 

 

THENCE, with the common line of said 277.23-acre tract and said 1.097-acre tract, the following ten (10) 

courses: 

 

1) S02°19'16"W, for a distance of 418.07 feet to a 6-inch Cedar Fence Post for an angle corner of the tract 

described herein, 

2) S05°15'07"E, for a distance of 88.61 feet to a 6-inch Cedar Fence Post for an angle corner of the tract 

described herein, 

3) S16°28'50"E, for a distance of 73.40 feet to a 6-inch Cedar Fence Post for an angle corner of the tract 

described herein, 

4) S03°28'59"E, for a distance of 14.21 feet to a 10-inch Cedar Fence Post for an angle corner of the tract 

described herein, 

5) S11°47'06"E, for a distance of 7.00 feet to a 10-inch Cedar Fence Post for an angle corner of the tract 

described herein, 

 

CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE 

172

Item 10.



 

 

PAGE | 3 of 7   COMMITMENT YOU EXPECT. 
EXPERIENCE YOU NEED. 

PEOPLE YOU TRUST. 

6) S22°31'47"E, for a distance of 32.14 feet to a 6-inch Cedar Fence Post for an angle corner of the tract 

described herein, 

7) S27°26'26"E, for a distance of 141.35 feet to a 6-inch Cedar Fence Post for an angle corner of the tract 

described herein, 

8) S39°07'52"E, for a distance of 222.18 feet to a 6-inch Cedar Fence Post for an angle corner of the tract 

described herein, 

9) S32°56'45"E, for a distance of 229.21 feet to a calculated point for an angle corner of the tract described 

herein, from which a 5/8-inch iron rod bears, N88°54'02"E, for a distance of 47.22 feet, and 

10) S14°21'53"E, for a distance of 407.89 feet to a to a calculated point in the north line of Lot 4, Block A, 

Blue Blazes Ranch Phase 1 Subdivision, recorded in Document Number 18010223 of the Plat Records of 

Hays County, Texas [P.R.H.C.T.], for the southeast corner of said 277.23-acre tract and for the southwest 

corner of said 1.097-acre tract and for the southeast corner of the tract described herein, from which a 5/8-

inch iron rod bears, N89°22'55"E, for a distance of 30.48 feet; 

 

THENCE, S89°22'55"W, with the common line of said 277.23-acre tract and said Lot 4, for a distance of 

165.73 feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod with cap stamped “G&R” found for the northwest corner of said Lot 4, 

Block A, same being for the northeast corner of Lot 5, Block A of said Blue Blazes Ranch Phase 1 

Subdivision, a distance of 264.31 feet passing a 1/2-inch iron rod with cap stamped “G&R” found for the 

northwest corner of said Lot 5, Block A, and the northeast corner of the remainder of Tract A-3 of Vista Tract 

Ranch Tract A, a subdivision recorded in Volume 14, Page 12 [P.R.H.C.T.], a distance of 547.78 feet passing 

a 1/2-inch iron rod found for the northeast corner of said Tract A-3, and for the northeast corner of Lot 4, 

Block B of said Blue Blazes Ranch Phase 1 Subdivision and continuing for a total distance of 1,370.57 feet 

to a 5/8-inch iron rod with cap stamped “Charles Swart” found for the northwest corner of said Lot 4, Block 

B, for the northeast corner of a called 14.3372-acre tract, conveyed to Cannon Family LTD, recorded in 

Volume 1641, Page 423 [O.P.R.T.C.T.], same being for an angle corner of the tract described herein, 

 
THENCE, with the common line of said 14.3372-acre tract and said Block B of said Blue Blazes Ranch Phase 1 

Subdivision, the following two (2) courses: 

 

1) S10°17'27"E, for a distance of 721.25 feet passing a 1/2-inch iron rod with cap stamped “G&R” found 

for the southwest corner of said Lot 4, Block B and for the northwest corner of Lot 3, Block B, of 

said Blue Blazes Ranch Phase 1 Subdivision, and continuing for a total distance of 937.32 feet to a 

1/2-inch iron rod found for the west corner of Lot 3, Block B, same being for an angle corner of the 

tract described herein, and 

2) S52°44'27"E, for a distance of 221.16 feet passing a 1/2-inch iron rod with cap stamped “Charles 

Swart” found for the south corner of said Lot 3, Block B, same being the southwest corner of Lot 2, 

Block B of said Blue Blazes Ranch Phase 1 Subdivision, and continuing for a total distance of 610.29 

feet to a 1/2-inch iron rod found for the south corner of said Lot 2, Block B and the southeast corner 

of said 14.3372-acre tract, same being in the existing north right-of-way line of said East Highway 

290, and for the southeast corner of the tract described herein; 
 

 

CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE 

 

173

Item 10.



 

 

PAGE | 4 of 7   COMMITMENT YOU EXPECT. 
EXPERIENCE YOU NEED. 

PEOPLE YOU TRUST. 

THENCE with the existing north right-of-way line of said East Highway 290, the following three (3) courses: 

 

1) S57°28'55"W, for a distance of 79.36 feet to 1/2-inch iron rod with cap stamped “Charles Swart” 

found for the beginning of a curve to the right and for an angle corner of the tract described herein, 

2) With said curve to the right, having an arc length of 551.63 feet passing a 5/8-inch iron rod with 

aluminum punched hole found for the southwest corner of said 14.3372-acre tract, same being the 

southeast corner of a called 6.000-acre tract conveyed to Cannon Family, LTD., recorded in Volume 

1619, Page 316 [O.P.R.H.C.T.], an arc length of 756.83 feet passing a 1/2-inch iron rod found for the 

southwest corner of said 6.000-acre tract, same being the southeast corner of a called 5.100-acre tract 

conveyed to Cannon Family, LTD., recorded in Volume 1619, Page 316, [O.P.R.H.C.T.], an arc 

distance of 1,455.56 feet passing a Concrete Highway Monument Found, and continuing a total arc 

length of 1,659.68 feet, a radius of 2,814.79 feet, a delta angle of 33°46'59", and a chord which bears 

S74°24'06"W, for a distance of 1635.74 feet to a concrete highway monument found for an angle 

corner of the tract described herein;   

3) N88°41'58"W, for a distance of 149.71 feet passing a 1/2-inch iron pipe found for the southwest 

corner of a called 10.0105-acre tract conveyed to Cannon Family, LTD., recorded in Volume 1619, 

Page 316 [O.P.R.H.C.T.], and continuing for a total distance of 393.02 feet to the POINT OF 

BEGINNING and containing 97.44 acres. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Basis of bearings is the Texas Coordinate System, South Central Zone [4204], NAD83 (2011), Epoch 2010. All 

distances are surface values and may be converted to grid by dividing by the surface adjustment factor of 

1.000077936. 

Units: U.S. Survey Feet. 

 

 

I, Christopher W. Terry, Registered Professional Land Surveyor, hereby certify that this description and 

accompanying exhibit of even date represent an actual survey performed on the ground. 

 

 

 

_________________________________________________ 

Christopher W. Terry                Date 

Registered Professional Land Surveyor 

Texas Registration No. 6649 

Doucet & Associates 

Cterry@DoucetEngineers.com 
TBPELS Firm Registration No. 10105800 

 

06/21/2022

174

Item 10.



7401 B. Highway 71 W, Ste. 160
Austin, TX 78735, Tel: (512)-583-2600

TBPE Firm Number: 3937
TBPELS Firm Number: 10105800

Civil Engineering // Entitlements // Geospatial

www.doucetengineers.com
175

Item 10.



7401 B. Highway 71 W, Ste. 160
Austin, TX 78735, Tel: (512)-583-2600

TBPE Firm Number: 3937
TBPELS Firm Number: 10105800

Civil Engineering // Entitlements // Geospatial

www.doucetengineers.com
176

Item 10.



7401 B. Highway 71 W, Ste. 160
Austin, TX 78735, Tel: (512)-583-2600

TBPE Firm Number: 3937
TBPELS Firm Number: 10105800

Civil Engineering // Entitlements // Geospatial

www.doucetengineers.com

06/21/2022

177

Item 10.



 

STAFF REPORT 
 

City of Dripping Springs 

PO Box 384 

511 Mercer Street 

Dripping Springs, TX 78620 

Submitted By: Laura Mueller, City Attorney; David Tuckfield, Wastewater Attorney  

Council Meeting Date: April 18, 2023 

Agenda Item 

Wording: 

Discuss and consider approval of Agreements related to the 
Gateway Village Subdivision.  Applicant: Matthew Scrivener 

a. Staff Report 
b. Offsite Road Agreement 
c. Wastewater Agreement 
d. Water Agreement 
e. Line Extension Agreement 

 

Agenda Item 

Requestor: 

Matthew Scrivener 

Summary/Background  In order to provide adequate infrastructure for the Gateway Village residential 

subdivision, multiple agreements have been negotiated related to the 

construction of the infrastructure.  These agreements include an Offsite Road 

Agreement, Water Agreement, Wastewater Agreement, and a Line Extension 

Agreement related to the East Interceptor Project.  

Offsite Road Agreement:  

The development will be responsible for the percentage pro rata share of two 

offsite roads that will serve the project.  These roads include the North/South 

Arterial which is planned to be Wild Ridge Boulevard and the East/West 

Arterial through the Wild Ridge Development.  As part of the Wild 

Ridge/Meritage MUD Consent Agreement the City agreed to coordinate 

funding for the pro rata share of these roads that were in excess of Wild 

Ridge/Meritage’s and these contributions will go towards that pro rata share.  

 East/West 

Arterial 

Contribution 

North/South 

Arterial 

Contribution 

Soft costs 

(30%) 

Contingency 

(20%) 

Total 

Gateway 

Village 

Project 

6.3% of actual 

costs; 

$1,668,000 = 

$105,084 

(estimate) 

15.77% of 

actual costs;  

($771,500 + 

1,302,600) = 

$327,086 

(estimate)  

$129,651 

(estimate) 

$86,434 

(estimate) 

$648,254 

Estimate 

 

 

 

 

178

Item 11.



Wastewater Service Agreement 

This Wastewater Service Agreement addresses wastewater service for the 

proposed Gateway Village Development on what has been referred to as the 

East Cannon Tract.  The Owner is North DSP, LLC (“Owner”).  The proposed 

agreement is based on our standard wastewater agreement.  Salient points of 

the proposed Agreement are listed below. 

1) LUEs made available to Gateway Village: 

a. 307 residential LUEs, 8 commercial LUEs, and up to an 

additional 2 LUEs for the amenities center. 

b. Owner may construct and operate Pump & Haul Facilities for 

wastewater flows up to 75 LUEs as a temporary solution to 

wastewater needs of the Development.  This was agreed to several 

years ago in order to obtain an easement across the Cannon Tract.  

Pump & Haul must cease as soon as the City System or package 

plant becomes available.   

c. Owner may construct and build a package plant as a temporary 

solution.  Once the City System becomes available, the package 

plant will be removed.  

2) Facilities and easements 

a. Owner pays all costs of building facilities (onsite and offsite) to 

connect to the East Interceptor. 

b. Owner pays all costs associated with removal of temporary 

facilities. 

3) Payments – Owner must pay the following 

a. Impact Fees 

i. Impact fees in the amount of $7,580 per LUE will be due 

upon such time as the permit required for construction of 

Units for that LUE is submitted to City. 

ii. Owner will pay the Beneficial Reuse Infrastructure fee.  

This payment shall be due This payment shall be due within 

sixty (60) days after the recording of each final plat of the 

Project. 

b. Owner pays for City inspection and review and legal fees. 

 

 

179

Item 11.



Water Agreement 

This Proposed Water Agreement will memorialize our Agreement with North 

DSP, LLC to provide retail water service to the residential development at the 

Gateway Village subdivision (often referred to as the Cannon East tract).  This 

Proposed Agreement provides the following salient points: 

1) The City will obtain wholesale service from WTCPUA and the City will, in 

turn, provide retail water service to the Gateway Village Development. 

2) Developer will provide, at its cost: 

A) All facilities that are required to connect to and extend water service 

from the WTCPUA System to the Proposed Development through 

and including retail water meters. 

B) Necessary easements. 

3) City will Provide up to 317 LUEs of retail water service for residential 

service.  

4) Developer agrees to: 

A) Pay fees associated with Agreement and obtaining water from 

WTCPUA. 

B) Construct facilities in accordance with City policies, WTCPUA 

policies, and TCEQ rules. 

C) Pay City inspection fees and any WTCPUA fees. 

D) Obtain any necessary permits. 

E) Obtain easements and convey them to City. 

F) Convey facilities to the City. 

G) Pay rates and charges imposed by City (which will include a pass 

through of any rates and charges charged to the City by the 

WTCPUA). 

5) The City has the Right to: 

 A) Inspect and approve facilities. 

B) Approve Easements 

6) Miscellaneous 

A) Facilities will have a two-year warranty. 

180

Item 11.



B) The City has already adopted a rate structure that has been codified 

by as an ordinance for retail water rates. 

East Interceptor Line Extension Agreement 

The East Interceptor Agreement (“Agreement”) memorializes an agreement for 

the construction of a portion of the East Interceptor wastewater transmission line 

from Gateway Village (north of 290), under 290 and down through Village 

Grove (the “East Interceptor Segment”). 

The Agreement is between the City of Dripping Springs, Dripping Springs 

Partners, LLC (The Village Grove Developers), and North DSP, LLC (the 

Gateway Village Developers). 

DSP and North will provide to the City (at no cost to the City) easements 

necessary for the East Interceptor Segment. 

The City, in its sole discretion, shall elect within ninety (90) days after the date 

of the Agreement to (1) construct the East Interceptor Segment, or (2) allow 

North to construct the East Interceptor Segment. 

If the City constructs the East Interceptor Segment, North will pay the City a 

sum of money equal to the cost of constructing the Developer Lines consisting 

of an eight inch wastewater line. 

If the City allows North to construct the East Interceptor Segment, the City will 

reimburse North for the oversizing of the line beyond 8-inches from Texas Water 

Development Board Funds, if available, or from a surcharge to be imposed 

(called a Reimbursement Fee) from each LUE on the development. 

 

Commission 

Recommendations: 

P&Z recommends approval of the project.  

Recommended  

Council Actions: 

Approval of all agreements related to this development.  

Attachments: 
Offsite Road Agreement 

Wastewater Agreement 

Water Agreement 

Line Extension Agreement 

Next Steps/Schedule: If approved all documents will be executed.  Also, the City must make a 

decision related to the East Interceptor.  

181

Item 11.



 

182

Item 11.



Consent to Expansion of Dripping Springs MUD # 1  Page 1 
of 3  

City of Dripping Springs 
Post Office Box 384 
511 Mercer Street 

Dripping Springs, Texas 78620 
 

Agenda Item Report from: Laura Mueller, City Attorney; Tory Carpenter, Planning Director  

Meeting Date: April 18, 2023  

Agenda Item Wording: Discuss and consider approval of a Resolution of the City of Dripping 
Springs, Texas consenting to the Annexation of Land commonly known as 
Gateway Village into Dripping Springs Municipal Utility District No. 1 and 
containing related findings and provisions.  Applicant: Matthew Scrivener 

Agenda Item 

Requestor: 

Matthew Scrivener, P.E., Austin Land Innovations, LLC 

Applicant: Matthew Scrivener, P.E., Austin Land Innovations, LLC 

Owner:   

Staff Recommendation Recommend approval of expansion of DS MUD 1 and approval of Agreement.   

  

 

183

Item 12.



Consent to Expansion of Dripping Springs MUD # 
1  Page 2 of 3  

Summary/Background:   

The applicant is requesting expansion of DS MUD Number 1.  The current MUD property is 

112 acres and is located south and east of the Sports and Recreation Park on Sports Park Road 

and is known as Village Grove.  The property proposed to be added includes 97.4 acres and is 

located just north of Highway 290 adjacent to the future Wild Ridge Boulevard.  It is named 

Gateway Village.  The proposal includes approving three main issues: (1) agree to expansion 

of the Municipal Utility District; (2) an increased park development fee for sports lighting as 

shown in the Planned Development District; and (3) assistance with the East Interceptor.  As 

part of the approval process the property is also being annexed into the City Limits and being 

zoned as a Planned Development District.  In addition, the amount of bonding will increase 

from $38,675,000 to $67,250,000 to fund the improvements in both Gateway Village and 

Village Grove.    

 

Physical and Natural Features:  

The property is vacant with tree coverage.  

 

Evaluation under the City of Dripping Springs MUD Policy: 

 

MUD Policy 

a) Improvements or services that advance or exceed the City's code of ordinances, take 

into consideration environmentally sensitive areas, lighting, or natural features within 

the area for development. 

This development will include parkland and trails and will be annexed into the City so 

that it will be required to follow all city ordinances including landscaping, water 

quality, and lighting.  It is also proposed to provide additional funding for sports park 

lighting and assistance with construction of the East Interceptor.  The property has 

also agreed to exterior architectural design standards.    

b) Projects that create or enhance parks, trails, recreational facilities, open space benefits 

that exceed what is required by applicable development and parkland dedication 

regulations. 

The project will pay the Park Development Fee that can be used to enhance parkland 

in the City in addition to funding for sports park lighting.     

c) Projects that improve environmental protection, storm water quality, drainage, and 

flood control benefits that meet or exceed what is required by applicable development 

regulations. 

 This project will comply with all city water quality regulations and additional 

regulations will be considered during the Planned Development District rezoning 

process.   

d) Projects that provide enhanced benefits to improve the public roadway and sidewalk 

network in the City or the City's ETJ. 

The project will contribute to Wild Ridge Boulevard.     

e) Projects that provide enhanced water and wastewater infrastructure in the City or the 

City's ETJ. 

This project will assist in providing construction of the East Interceptor for 

wastewater.   

184

Item 12.



Consent to Expansion of Dripping Springs MUD # 
1  Page 3 of 3  

 

 

 

Commission 

Recommendations: 

 

 N/A 

Actions by Other 

Jurisdictions/Entities: 

N/A 

 

Previous Action:  DS MUD 1 was created in 2022.  The bond election for 

MUD 1 has already occurred with the bond amounts being 

approved.     

Recommended Action: Approve expansion of the MUD.    Alternatively, postpone 

the MUD Consent to May 2, 2023.   

Budget/Financial Impact: The City will gain additional property tax, roads, trails, and 

various development fees.   

Attachments: - Proposed Consent to MUD Resolution 

- MUD Agreement 

- PDD and Annexation Ordinances  

- Staff Report 

 

Related Documents at 

City Hall: 

 DS MUD 1 Creation 

Public Notice Process:  Notices were published for the annexation and zoning 

ordinances.    

Public Comments: Comments have not been received.  

Enforcement Issues: N/A 

Comprehensive Plan 
Element: 

N/A  

185

Item 12.



 
City of Dripping Springs  DS MUD 1 Consent—Cannon Tract 
Resolution No. 2023-R___  Page 1 of 9 

CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS 

 

RESOLUTION No. 2023-R__ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS, TEXAS, 

CONSENTING TO THE ANNEXATION OF LAND INTO DRIPPING SPRINGS 

MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 AND CONTAINING RELATED 

FINDINGS AND PROVISIONS 

 

WHEREAS, Cannon Family Ranch Partnership LTD, a Texas limited partnership 

formerly known as Cannon Family Ltd. (the “Petitioner”), the owner of the land more fully 

described on Exhibit “A” attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference for all purposes 

(the “Property”), or Petitioner’s successors or assigns, intend to petition Dripping Springs 

Municipal Utility District No. 1 (the “District”) for the annexation and inclusion of all or a portion 

of the Property into the boundaries of the District; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is located within the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City of 

Dripping Springs, Texas (the “City”) and is proposed to be annexed into the corporate limits of the 

City and, therefore, the City’s consent to the annexation of the Property by the District is required 

by applicable law; and 

WHEREAS, Petitioner has, on behalf of itself and its successors and assigns, requested 

that the City consent to the proposed annexation and inclusion of all or a portion of the Property 

into the District by ordinance or resolution;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF DRIPPING SPRINGS, TEXAS: 

That the City hereby consents to the annexation and inclusion of all or any portion of the 

Property into the boundaries of the District.  For the avoidance of doubt, annexation of the Property 

into the corporate limits of the City will not affect the City’s consent to the annexation of all or 

any portion of the Property by the District. 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Dripping 

Springs, Texas at a regular meeting on the ___ day of ___________, 2023, at which a quorum was 

present, and for which due notice was given pursuant to Article 551, Texas Government Code.  

 

        

Bill Foulds, Jr., Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

      

Andrea Cunningham, City Secretary 

 

186

Item 12.



 
City of Dripping Springs  DS MUD 1 Consent—Cannon Tract 
Resolution No. 2023-R___  Page 2 of 9 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

THE PROPERTY 

 

[attached] 

  

187

Item 12.



 
City of Dripping Springs  DS MUD 1 Consent—Cannon Tract 
Resolution No. 2023-R___  Page 3 of 9 

 
  

188

Item 12.



 
City of Dripping Springs  DS MUD 1 Consent—Cannon Tract 
Resolution No. 2023-R___  Page 4 of 9 

 
  

189

Item 12.



 
City of Dripping Springs  DS MUD 1 Consent—Cannon Tract 
Resolution No. 2023-R___  Page 5 of 9 

 
  

190

Item 12.



 
City of Dripping Springs  DS MUD 1 Consent—Cannon Tract 
Resolution No. 2023-R___  Page 6 of 9 

 
  

191

Item 12.



 
City of Dripping Springs  DS MUD 1 Consent—Cannon Tract 
Resolution No. 2023-R___  Page 7 of 9 

 
  

192

Item 12.



 
City of Dripping Springs  DS MUD 1 Consent—Cannon Tract 
Resolution No. 2023-R___  Page 8 of 9 

 
  

193

Item 12.



 
City of Dripping Springs  DS MUD 1 Consent—Cannon Tract 
Resolution No. 2023-R___  Page 9 of 9 

 

194

Item 12.



Consent to Expansion of Dripping Springs MUD # 1  Page 1 
of 3  

City of Dripping Springs 
Post Office Box 384 
511 Mercer Street 

Dripping Springs, Texas 78620 
 

Agenda Item Report from: Laura Mueller, City Attorney; Tory Carpenter, Planning Director  

Meeting Date: April 18, 2023  

Agenda Item Wording: Discuss and consider approval of a First Amendment to Agreement 
Concerning Creation and Operation of Dripping Springs Municipal Utility 
District No. 1. Applicant: Matthew Scrivener 

Agenda Item 

Requestor: 

Matthew Scrivener, P.E., Austin Land Innovations, LLC 

Applicant: Matthew Scrivener, P.E., Austin Land Innovations, LLC 

Owner:   

Staff Recommendation Recommend approval of Agreement.   

  

 

195

Item 13.



Consent to Expansion of Dripping Springs MUD # 
1  Page 2 of 3  

Summary/Background:   

The applicant is requesting expansion of DS MUD Number 1.  The current MUD property is 

112 acres and is located south and east of the Sports and Recreation Park on Sports Park Road 

and is known as Village Grove.  The property proposed to be added includes 97.4 acres and is 

located just north of Highway 290 adjacent to the future Wild Ridge Boulevard.  It is named 

Gateway Village.  The proposal includes approving three main issues: (1) agree to expansion 

of the Municipal Utility District; (2) an increased park development fee for sports lighting as 

shown in the Planned Development District; and (3) assistance with the East Interceptor.  As 

part of the approval process the property is also being annexed into the City Limits and being 

zoned as a Planned Development District.  In addition, the amount of bonding will increase 

from $38,675,000 to $67,250,000 to fund the improvements in both Gateway Village and 

Village Grove.    

 

Physical and Natural Features:  

The property is vacant with tree coverage.  

 

Evaluation under the City of Dripping Springs MUD Policy: 

 

MUD Policy 

a) Improvements or services that advance or exceed the City's code of ordinances, take 

into consideration environmentally sensitive areas, lighting, or natural features within 

the area for development. 

This development will include parkland and trails and will be annexed into the City so 

that it will be required to follow all city ordinances including landscaping, water 

quality, and lighting.  It is also proposed to provide additional funding for sports park 

lighting and assistance with construction of the East Interceptor.  The property has 

also agreed to exterior architectural design standards.    

b) Projects that create or enhance parks, trails, recreational facilities, open space benefits 

that exceed what is required by applicable development and parkland dedication 

regulations. 

The project will pay the Park Development Fee that can be used to enhance parkland 

in the City in addition to funding for sports park lighting.     

c) Projects that improve environmental protection, storm water quality, drainage, and 

flood control benefits that meet or exceed what is required by applicable development 

regulations. 

 This project will comply with all city water quality regulations and additional 

regulations will be considered during the Planned Development District rezoning 

process.   

d) Projects that provide enhanced benefits to improve the public roadway and sidewalk 

network in the City or the City's ETJ. 

The project will contribute to Wild Ridge Boulevard.     

e) Projects that provide enhanced water and wastewater infrastructure in the City or the 

City's ETJ. 

This project will assist in providing construction of the East Interceptor for 

wastewater.   

196

Item 13.



Consent to Expansion of Dripping Springs MUD # 
1  Page 3 of 3  

 

 

 

Commission 

Recommendations: 

 

 N/A 

Actions by Other 

Jurisdictions/Entities: 

N/A 

 

Previous Action:  DS MUD 1 was created in 2022.  The bond election for 

MUD 1 has already occurred with the bond amounts being 

approved.     

Recommended Action: Approve expansion of the MUD.    Alternatively, postpone 

the MUD Consent to May 2, 2023.   

Budget/Financial Impact: The City will gain additional property tax, roads, trails, and 

various development fees.   

Attachments: - Proposed Consent to MUD Resolution 

- MUD Agreement 

- PDD and Annexation Ordinances  

- Staff Report 

 

Related Documents at 

City Hall: 

 DS MUD 1 Creation 

Public Notice Process:  Notices were published for the annexation and zoning 

ordinances.    

Public Comments: Comments have not been received.  

Enforcement Issues: N/A 

Comprehensive Plan 
Element: 

N/A  

197

Item 13.



 
City of Dripping Springs  Amendment to Dripping Springs MUD 1 Consent 
Agreement 
Cannon Tract (Gateway Village)   Page 1 of 15 

FIRST AMENDMENT 

TO AGREEMENT CONCERNING CREATION AND OPERATION 

OF DRIPPING SPRINGS MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 

 

THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 

     § 

COUNTY OF HAYS  §  

 

This FIRST AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT CONCERNING CREATION AND 

OPERATION OF DRIPPING SPRINGS MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 (this 

“Amendment”) is entered into effective as of _______________, 2023 between the CITY OF 

DRIPPING SPRINGS, TEXAS, a general law city located in Hays County, Texas (the “City”); 

DRIPPING SPRINGS PARTNERS, LLC, a Texas limited liability company (the “Developer”; 

as assignee of (i) Robert Mokhtarian, individually, Robert Mokhtarian, Trustee for Edward 

Mokhtarian, and Robert Mokhtarian, Trustee for Edmund Mokhtarian (collectively, 

“Mokhtarian”) and (ii) Clinton Cunningham and Dawn Cunningham (collectively, 

“Cunningham”)); 740 SPORTS PARK, LLC, a Texas limited liability company (“740 SP”); and 

DRIPPING SPRINGS MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1, a political subdivision of 

the State of Texas operating under Chapters 49 and 54 of the Texas Water Code (the “District”).  

The City, the Developer, 740 SP, and the District are sometimes referred to herein as the “Parties” 

and individually as a “Party”.  

RECITALS 
 

A. The City, Mokhtarian, Cunningham, and 740 SP previously entered into that certain 

“Agreement Concerning Creation and Operation of Dripping Springs Municipal Utility District 

No. 1” dated effective October 19, 2021 (the “Consent Agreement”), which, among other things, 

provided for the creation of the District over ±112.4 acres of land in Hays County, Texas within 

the city limits of the City (defined in the Consent Agreement as the “Land”).   

B. Mokhtarian subsequently assigned its interest in the Consent Agreement to the 

Developer pursuant to an “Assignment of Agreement Concerning Creation and Operation of 

Dripping Springs Municipal Utility No. 1” dated effective December 1, 2021. 

C. Cunningham subsequently assigned its interest in the Consent Agreement to the 

Developer pursuant to “Assignment of Agreement Concerning Creation and Operation of Dripping 

Springs Municipal Utility No. 1” dated effective January 7, 2022. 

D. The District was created by “An Order Granting the Petition for Creation of Wild 

Ridge Municipal Utility District and Appointing Temporary Directors” dated June 30, 2022 (the 

“Creation Order”); and, as required by the Consent Agreement, the District approved and executed 

the Consent Agreement on August 17, 2022. 

E. The Parties now desire to amend the Consent Agreement as provided herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 

which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 

198

Item 13.



 
City of Dripping Springs  Amendment to Dripping Springs MUD 1 Consent 
Agreement 
Cannon Tract (Gateway Village)   Page 2 of 15 

AGREEMENT 

 

1. Defined Terms.  All capitalized terms not defined in this Amendment have the 

meanings ascribed thereto in the Consent Agreement. 

2. City Consent to Annexation of the Cannon Tract into the District.  The land more 

particularly described on Exhibit “A” attached to this Amendment (the “Cannon Tract”) is 

currently located within the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City but is anticipated to be annexed 

into the corporate boundaries of the City.  The City acknowledges receipt of the request for the 

City’s consent to annexation of all or part of the Cannon Tract into the boundaries of the District; 

and, in accordance with applicable law, the City has consented to such proposed annexation 

pursuant to the Resolution of the City Council attached as Exhibit “B” to this Amendment.  No 

further action on the part of the City to evidence the City’s consent to the annexation of all or any 

portion of the Cannon Tract into the District’s boundaries will be required; however, the City 

agrees to provide additional confirmation of its consent if requested to do so.  For the avoidance 

of doubt, annexation of the Cannon Tract into the corporate limits of the City will not affect (i) the 

City’s consent to the annexation of all or any portion of the Cannon Tract by the District; or (ii) the 

terms, provisions, or enforceability of this Amendment. 

3. The District’s Maximum Bonding Authority.  The not-to-exceed dollar amount 

specified as the District’s maximum bonding authority in the first sentence of Section 3.01 of the 

Consent Agreement is hereby increased from $38,675,000 to $67,250,000.   

4. Effect of Amendment.  Except as specifically provided in this Amendment, the 

terms of the Consent Agreement continue to govern the rights and obligations of the Parties, and 

the terms of the Consent Agreement remain in full force and effect.  If there is any conflict or 

inconsistency between this Amendment and the Consent Agreement, this Amendment will control 

and modify the Consent Agreement. 

5. Counterparts.  To facilitate execution, (a) this Amendment may be executed in any 

number of counterparts; (b) the signature pages taken from separate individually executed 

counterparts of this instrument may be combined to form multiple fully executed counterparts; and 

(c) a signature delivered by facsimile or in another electronic format (e.g., DocuSign or .PDF via 

email) will be deemed to be an original signature for all purposes.  All executed counterparts of 

this instrument will be deemed to be originals, and all such counterparts, when taken together, will 

constitute one and the same agreement. 

* * * 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment to be effective as 

of the date first written above. 

  

199

Item 13.



 
City of Dripping Springs  Amendment to Dripping Springs MUD 1 Consent 
Agreement 
Cannon Tract (Gateway Village)   Page 3 of 15 

COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO: 

 

FIRST AMENDMENT 

TO AGREEMENT CONCERNING CREATION AND OPERATION 

DRIPING SPRINGS MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 

 

CITY: 

CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS, TEXAS 

By:       

 

Name:       

 

Title:       

 

Date:       

 

 

  

200

Item 13.



 
City of Dripping Springs  Amendment to Dripping Springs MUD 1 Consent 
Agreement 
Cannon Tract (Gateway Village)   Page 4 of 15 

COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO: 

 

FIRST AMENDMENT 

TO AGREEMENT CONCERNING CREATION AND OPERATION OF 

DRIPING SPRINGS MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 

 

THE DEVELOPER: 

DRIPPING SPRINGS PARTNERS, LLC, Texas 

limited liability company 

 

 

By:        

 

Name:        

 

Title:        

 

Date:        

  

201

Item 13.



 
City of Dripping Springs  Amendment to Dripping Springs MUD 1 Consent 
Agreement 
Cannon Tract (Gateway Village)   Page 5 of 15 

COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO: 

 

FIRST AMENDMENT 

TO AGREEMENT CONCERNING CREATION AND OPERATION OF 

DRIPING SPRINGS MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 

 

740 SP: 

740 SPORTS PARK, LLC, Texas limited liability 

company 

 

 

By:        

 

Name:        

 

Title:        

 

Date:        

 

 

 

  

202

Item 13.



 
City of Dripping Springs  Amendment to Dripping Springs MUD 1 Consent 
Agreement 
Cannon Tract (Gateway Village)   Page 6 of 15 

COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO: 

 

FIRST AMENDMENT 

TO AGREEMENT CONCERNING CREATION AND OPERATION OF 

DRIPING SPRINGS MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 

 

THE DISTRICT: 

DRIPPING SRINGS MUNICIPAL UTILITY 

DISTRICT NO. 1, a political subdivision of the 

State of Texas 

 

 

By:        

 

Name:        

 

Title:        

 

Date:        

 

 

 

203

Item 13.



 
{W1222202.4} Exhibit “A” – Page 1 of 8 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

THE CANNON TRACT 

 

[attached] 
  

204

Item 13.



 
{W1222202.4} Exhibit “A” – Page 2 of 8 

 
  

205

Item 13.



 
{W1222202.4} Exhibit “A” – Page 3 of 8 

 
  

206

Item 13.



 
{W1222202.4} Exhibit “A” – Page 4 of 8 

 
  

207

Item 13.



 
{W1222202.4} Exhibit “A” – Page 5 of 8 

 
  

208

Item 13.



 
{W1222202.4} Exhibit “A” – Page 6 of 8 

 
  

209

Item 13.



 
{W1222202.4} Exhibit “A” – Page 7 of 8 

 
  

210

Item 13.



 
{W1222202.4} Exhibit “A” – Page 8 of 8 

 

211

Item 13.



 
{W1222202.4} Exhibit “A” – Page 1 of 10 

EXHIBIT “B” 
 

CITY CONSENT RESOLUTION 
 

[attached] 
 

212

Item 13.



AGREEMENT CONCERNING CREATION AND OPERATION OF DRIPPING 
SPRINGS MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 

This AGREEMENT CONCERNING CREATION AND OPERATION OF 
DRIPPING SPRINGS MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 1 (this "Agreemenf') is by the 
City of Dripping Springs, Texas, a Type A general law municipality located in Hays County, 
Texas (the "City"); and Robert Mokhtarian, Individually, Robert Mokhtarian, Trustee for 
Edward Mokhtarian, and Robert Mokhtarian, Trustee for Edmund Mokhtarian 
(collectively, "Mokhtarian"); 740 Sports Park, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("740 
SP"); and Clinton Cunningham and Dawn Cunningham ("Cunningham", and collectively with 
Mokhtarian and 740 SP, the "Owners"). Subsequent to its creation, Dripping Springs Municipal 
Utility District No. 1, a proposed municipal utility district to be created pursuant to Article XVI, 
Section 59 of the Texas Constitution and Chapters 49 and 54 of the Texas Water Code as 
contemplated by this Agreement (the "District"), will become a party to this Agreement. The City, 
the Owners, and the District are sometimes referred to herein individually as a "Party" and 
collectively as the "Parties". 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Owners own the approximately 112 acres of land more particularly 
described by metes and bounds on the attached Exhibits Al, A2 and A3 (the "Land"); and 

WHEREAS, the Land is currently located entirely within the extraterritorial jurisdiction 
of the City but is anticipated to be annexed into the corporate boundaries of the City prior to the 
creation of the District; and 

WHEREAS, the Land is and its boundaries are depicted on the concept plan attached as 
Exhibit B (the "Concept Plan"); and 

WHEREAS, Mokhtarian owns the portion of the Land described and/or depicted on 
Exhibit A-1, 740 SP owns the portion of the Land described and/or depicted on Exhibit A-2, and 
Cunningham owns the portion of the Land described and/or depicted on Exhibit A-3; and 

WHEREAS, the Owners intend that the Land will be developed in phases as a 
master-planned, mixed-use community (the "Proiect"); and 

WHEREAS, the Owners and the City desire to enter into this Agreement to encourage 
innovative and comprehensive master-planning of the Land, provide certainty of regulatory 
requirements throughout the term of this Agreement, and result in a high-quality development for 
the benefit of the present and future residents of the City and the Land; and 

WHEREAS, the Owners have proposed to create the District over the Land pursuant to an 
application to be filed with and processed through the TCEQ (as defined in ARTICLE I below) 
and have presented the City with a petition requesting the City's consent to the creation of the 
District; and 

WHEREAS, the purposes of the proposed District include designing, constructing, 
acquiring, installing, financing, and conveying to the applicable governmental authority or utility 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page I of5 I 213

Item 13.



provider the District Improvements (as defined in ARTICLE I below) to serve the area within its 
boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, construction of the District Improvements will occur in phases (as 
determined by the District and the Developer(s) (as defined herein)) in accordance with this 
Agreement; the applicable ordinances of the City; Chapters 49 and 54, Texas Water Code, as 
amended; the rules and regulations of the TCEQ, as amended; and applicable state and federal 
regulations (collectively, the "Applicable Regulations"); and 

WHEREAS, the City and the Owners intend that the Reimbursable Costs (as defined in 
ARTICLE I below) of the District Improvements will be paid from the net proceeds of bonds 
issued by the District (or surplus funds of the District) in accordance with this Agreement, the 
applicable rules and regulations of the TCEQ, as amended, and the applicable requirements of the 
Texas Attorney General ' s Office, as amended; and 

WHEREAS, the District is authorized to enter into this Agreement pursuant to the 
provisions ofTexas law, including but not limited to, Chapters 49 and 54 of the Texas Water Code, 
as amended; Chapter 791 of the Texas Government Code, as amended; and Section 552.014, Texas 
Local Government Code, as amended; and 

WHEREAS, the City is a Type A general law municipality operating under the laws of 
the State of Texas pursuant to which the City has the authority to enter into and perform its 
obligations under this Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which are hereby acknowledged, including the agreements set forth below, the Parties contract as 
follows: 

ARTICLE I. 
DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.01 Definitions. In addition to the terms defined elsewhere in this 
Agreement, the following terms and phrases used in this Agreement w ill have the meanings set 
out below: 

Applicable Rules means the City's rules, ordinances, and regulations in effect as of the 
Effective Date of this Agreement, as amended by: (i) any amendments authorized by 
Chapter 245, Texas Local Government Code; (ii) any approvals, variances, waivers, and 
exceptions to such rules that are approved by the City; and (iii) any additional restrictions 
or regulations agreed to by the Developer in writing. 

Bonds means bonds, notes, or other obligations or indebtedness issued or incurred by the 
District under the District's borrowing power. 

City Administrator means the City Administrator of the City. 

Commission or TCEO means the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality or its 
successor agency. 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs lvfUD No. I 
Page 2 of 51 214

Item 13.



County means Hays County, Texas. 

Developer means any Owner, or any successor or permitted assign of an Owner, that 
notifies the City of its intent to develop all or any portion of the Land under Section 6.04 
below. 

District Improvements means the water, wastewater, and drainage utilities (including 
capacity or contract rights to capacity therein), Road Projects, and other public 
improvements, as authorized by applicable law, and whether on-site or off-site, to serve 
the area within the District boundaries. 

Effective Date of this Agreement means the /q~ ay of {)c,l;ch<.N 2021. 

Reimbursable Costs means all costs of the District Improvements (including land and 
easements costs) that are eligible for reimbursement from the net proceeds of Bonds issued 
by the District in accordance with this Agreement and, as applicable, the rules and 
regulations of the TCEQ, as amended. 

Road Projects means any road projects or improvements in aid of such road projects that 
the District is authorized to undertake pursuant to Article III, Section 52 and Article XVI, 
Section 59 of the Texas Constitution, as amended, and Chapters 49 and 54 of the Texas 
Water Code, as amended, or otherwise pursuant to any authority granted to the District by 
special act of the Texas Legislature. 

ARTICLE II. 
CREATION OF THE DISTRICT AND RELATED MATTERS 

Section 2.01 Consent to Creation of District. The City acknowledges receipt 
of the Owners' request, in accordance with Section 54.016 of the Texas Water Code and 
Section 42.042 of the Texas Local Government Code, for creation of the District over the Land. 
On the Effective Date of this Agreement, the City has approved the resolution attached as 
Exhibit C consenting to the inclusion of the Land within the District (the "Consent Resolution"). 
The City agrees that the Consent Resolution will constitute and evidence the City's consent to the 
creation of the District within the City's corporate limits in accordance with Section 54.016 of the 
Texas Water Code and Section 42.042 of the Texas Local Government Code, and that no further 
consent will be required on the part of the City to evidence the City's consent to the creation of 
the District. 

Section 2.02 District Execution of Agreement. 

(a) The Owners shall cause the District to approve, execute, and deliver to the City this 
Agreement within 30 days after the date that the District's Board of Directors holds its 
organizational meeting. If the District fails to do so within such 30-day period, then (after notice 
and opportunity to cure) the City may terminate this Agreement and may repeal the Consent 
Resolution. 

(b) If the District fails to approve, execute, and deliver to the City this Agreement as 
required by subsection (a) above, and if the City does not terminate this Agreement under 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 3 of51 215

Item 13.



subsection (a), such failure shall operate to prohibit the District from taking any actions to issue 
Bonds until the failure has been cured. The City shall have the right to enjoin the issuance of 
Bonds during any period in which such a material breach exists. 

(c) If the District fails to approve, execute, and deliver to the City this Agreement as 
required by subsection (a) above, and if the City has not terminated this Agreement under 
subsection (a), such failure shall operate to prohibit the Owners or any Developer from entering 
into any reimbursement agreements with the District until the failure has been cured. The City 
shall have the right to enjoin the execution of such reimbursement agreements during any period 
in which such a material breach exists. 

Section 2.03 Intent of Parties Related to Allocation Agreement. Under 
Section 54.016(f) of the Texas Water Code, the City, as a City providing written consent for 
inclusion of land in a district, may provide for a contract designated as an "allocation agreement", 
to be entered into between the City and the District. The Parties acknowledge that the provision 
for an "allocation agreement" under Section 54.016(f) of the Texas Water Code is at the City's 
discretion. The City confirms that it is intentionally not providing for an allocation agreement. 
The Parties agree that this Agreement does not constitute and will not be deemed to constitute an 
allocation agreement within the meaning of Section 54.016(f) of the Texas Water Code because 
the District will be located in the corporate limits of the City upon creation. 

Section 2.04 Dissolution. The City may dissolve the District at any time after 
the District has issued Bonds to finance all Reimbursable Costs paid or incurred to construct the 
District Improvements that are required to serve full development of the Land. Upon dissolution 
of the District, the City will assume the indebtedness and legal obligations of the District to the 
extent required by law. 

ARTICLE III. 
AUTHORITY OF THE DISTRICTTO ISSUE BONDS 

Section 3.01 Authority to Issue Bonds. The District agrees that the maximum 
aggregate amount of bonds issued by the District shall not exceed $38,675,000 without the 
approval of the City. The District may issue Bonds and reimburse any Developer for all purposes 
and expenditures authorized by applicable law, including: 

(a) The purchase, construction, acquisition, repair, extension, and improvement of 
land, easements, works, improvements, facilities, plants, equipment, and appliances (including 
capacity or contract rights to capacity in any of the foregoing) necessary to: 

(1) Provide a water supply for municipal uses, domestic uses, and commercial 
purposes; 

(2) Collect, transport, process, dispose of, and control all domestic, industrial, 
or communal wastes whether in fluid , solid, or composite state (other than solid waste, as 
defined in the Applicable Rules); 

(3) Gather, conduct, divert, and control local storm water or other local harmful 
excesses of water; 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 4 of5 l 216

Item 13.



(4) Design, acquire, construct, and finance Road Projects; and 

(5) Develop and maintain park and recreational facilities, to the extent 
permitted by applicable law; and 

(b) Refunding any outstanding Bonds, provided such refunding Bonds satisfy the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement; 

(c) Paying organizational, administrative, and operating costs during creation and 
construction periods and interest thereon, subject to the applicable limitations of Section 49 .155 
of the Texas Water Code; and 

(d) Paying other expenses authorized by Section 49.155 of the Texas Water Code. 

Section 3.02 City Submittals; Objections. 

(a) The District agrees to give written notice to the City of its intention to issue Bonds 
as follows: 

(1) If the District intends to issue Bonds that require TCEQ approval, the 
District will provide notice of same to the City Administrator and City Attorney 
concurrently with the District's submittal of each application to the TCEQ for approval of 
issuance of Bonds (a "Notice o(Intent to Issue Bonds"), which Notice of Intent to Issue 
Bonds will include the following: 

(A) The principal amount of Bonds expected to be issued; 

(B) The Summary of Costs of the Bond Issue including both 
Construction and Non Construction Costs; 

(C) The projected Schedule of Events related to the issuance of the 
Bonds; 

(D) The proposed District debt service rate and total District tax rate 
after issuance of the Bonds; and 

(E) A Letter from the District's Financial Advisor stating that the Bonds 
are being issued in compliance of the TCEQ rules in place at the 
time the Bonds are expected to be issued. 

(2) If the District intends to issue Bonds that do not require TCEQ approval 
(e.g., Bonds for Road Projects or refunding Bonds), the District will provide notice of same 
to the City Administrator and City Attorney at least 30 days prior to pricing of the Bonds. 

(b) The City may object to a Bond application or to the issuance of a series of Bonds 
for the reason that a Developer or the District is in default of any provision of this Agreement, 
including the terms and conditions in Section 3.03. If the City objects to a Bond application or 
issuance due to such a default (a "City Obiection"), the City shall have a period of 30 days after 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs l\11UD No. I 
Page 5 of51 217

Item 13.



receiving the notice required by Sections 3.02(a)(1) or 3.02(a)(2), as applicable, within which to 
notify the District of the City Objection. If the City timely objects to a Bond application or 
issuance due to such a default, the Bond application and issuance will be delayed until such time 
as the default is cured. If the City fails to object to a Bond application or issuance within such 
periods specified herein, the City shall be deemed to have waived all objections. If the City objects 
to a Bond application or issuance, such City Objection must: (i) be in writing; (ii) be given to the 
District; (iii) be signed by the City Administrator or the City Administrator's designee; and 
(iv) specifically identify the applicable provision of this Agreement as to which the District or the 
Developer is in default. If a City Objection is timely given to the District with respect to a specific 
Bond application or issuance of Bonds, the City and the District will cooperate to resolve the City 
Objection within a reasonable time, and the Bond application or issuance of Bonds to which the 
City Objection applies will be delayed until the City Objection has been cured or waived by written 
agreement. 

( c) Within 30 days after the closing date of a series of Bonds, the District shall deliver 
to the City Administrator a copy of the final official statement for such series of Bonds and a copy 
of any report on reimbursable costs required by the rules of the TCEQ. 

Section 3.03 Terms and Conditions of Bonds. Bonds, including refunding 
Bonds, issued by the District shall, unless otherwise agreed to by the City, comply with the 
following requirements: 

(a) No individual series of Bonds will be issued with a term which exceeds 25 years 
from the closing date of such series of Bonds; 

(b) The Bonds (other than refunding Bonds and Bonds sold to a federal or state agency) 
shall only be sold after the taking of public bids therefor (unless current law changes to permit 
otherwise), and no Bonds shall be sold for less than 97% of par, provided that the net effective 
interest rate on Bonds so sold, taking into account any discount or premium as well as the interest 
rate borne by such Bonds, shall not exceed 2% above the highest average interest rate reported 
by the Daily Bond Buyer in its weekly "20 Bond Index" during the 30-day period next preceding 
the date notice of the sale of the Bonds is given (or, if the Daily Bond Buyer ceases to exist, a 
comparable publication reporting average bond interest rates); 

(c) The District shall reserve the right to redeem its Bonds not later than the tenth 
anniversary of the closing date of such Bonds, without premium; 

(d) No variable rate Bonds shall be issued by the District; 

(e) Any refunding Bonds must provide for a minimum of 3% present value savings 
and, further, must provide that the latest maturity of the refunding Bonds may not extend beyond 
the latest maturity of the refunded Bonds; and 

(f) Capitalized interest shall not exceed three years interest. 

Section 3.04 Other Funds. The District may obtain and use funds and assets 
from any available, lawful source to provide for the acquisition, ownership, maintenance, and 
operation of the District Improvements or its other facilities, as well as to accomplish any purpose 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page6of51 218

Item 13.



or to exercise any function, act, power, or right authorized by law. Such funds and assets may 
include revenues from any of the systems, facilities, properties, and assets of the District not 
otherwise committed for the payment of indebtedness of the District; maintenance taxes; loans, 
gifts, grants, and donations from public or private sources and revenues from any other source 
lawfully available to the District. 

ARTICLE IV. 
WATER AND WASTEWATER SERVICE; OTHER UTILITIES 

Section 4.01 Retail Water Service. The Land is located within the certificated 
water service area ("CCN') of Dripping Springs Water Supply Corporation ("DSWSC") and will 
receive retail water service from DSWSC or the successor holder of the DSWSC CCN pursuant to 
a separate agreement with DSWSC. 

Section 4.02 Retail Wastewater Service. Retail wastewater collection and 
treatment services will be provided by the City, the specific terms of which will be governed by 
separate agreement (the "Wastewater Agreement"). The wastewater collection systems within the 
District shall be owned by the City. Subject to specific terms to be determined by the Wastewater 
Agreement, which could include interim alternatives, the City agrees and commits to provide 
wastewater service sufficient for the full build-out of the District at flow rates sufficient to meet 
the minimum requirements of all Applicable Regulations, and agrees to provide written 
confirmation of the availability of service upon the District's request if required in connection with 
any District Bond sale. 

Section 4.03 Other Utilities. The City will provide solid waste and recycling 
services w ithin the District for the same rates, in the same manner, on the same terms and 
conditions, and subject to the same regulations and ordinances, as amended, that the City provides 
solid waste and recycling services to other customers inside its corporate limits. The District will 
have no liability for charges for such services except for charges for services provided to the 
District, if any. The Developer will have the right to select the providers of cable television, gas, 
telephone, telecommunications, and all other utilities and services, or to provide "bundled" utilities 
within the Land. 

ARTICLEV. 
DESIGN, FINANCING, CONSTRUCTION, CONVEYANCE, OWNERSHIP, 

OPERATION, AND MAINTENANCE OF DISTRICT IMPROVEMENTS 

Section 5.01 Design, Financing, and Construction. Unless otherwise 
specifically provided in this Agreement, the Developer will design, finance, construct, and convey 
to the City (or, in the case of water improvements, convey to DSWSC) on behalf of the District all 
District Improvements at no cost to the City. Construction of all District Improvements will be 
bid in accordance with the requirements applicable to the District under the rules of the TCEQ and 
Chapters 49 and 54 of the Texas Water Code. All District Improvements will be designed and 
constructed in accordance with the Applicable Rules and the regulations of any other governmental 
entities w ith jurisdiction and pursuant to plans and specifications approved by the City. Neither 
the Developer nor the District will be required to pay for or construct any improvements to the 
City's existing utility systems or other off-site improvements required to serve the Land, except as 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 7 of 51 219

Item 13.



provided for herein with respect to the District Improvements or by separate agreement. Further, 
unless the Developer's service requirements for the Land change or the Parties otherwise agree in 
writing, the City will not require that any Developer or the District oversize, finance, or construct 
any utility or road improvements to serve property other than the Land. 

Section 5.02 Conveyance, Ownership, Operation, and Maintenance. Upon 
completion of construction of each phase of the District Improvements, subject to the Developer's 
right, if any, to reimbursement from the District for the cost of those District Improvements in 
accordance with applicable law: (a) the Developer will promptly convey the water utility 
components of the District Improvements to DSWSC for operation and maintenance in accordance 
with the rules and regulations of DSWSC; (b) the City will accept the remainder of the District 
Improvements (the "City Operated Dish'ict Improvements") for operation and maintenance in 
accordance with the Applicable Rules; and (c) the Developer will promptly convey the City 
Operated District Improvements to the City, subject to (i) the City' s obligation to provide service 
to the District as provided in this Agreement, and (ii) a reservation of all capacity in the City 
Operated District Improvements for the benefit of the District. The Developer will also assign to 
the City all easements, contract rights, warranties, guarantees, assurances of performance, and 
bonds related to the City Operated District Improvements that are conveyed to the City. The City 
agrees that its acceptance of the City Operated District Improvements and the related assignments 
will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. Upon any such conveyance and 
acceptance, the City agrees to operate and maintain such City Operated District Improvements in 
good condition and working order and to provide service to the District in accordance with this 
Agreement. Conveyance will not affect the Developer's right to reimbursement from the District 
for the cost of any District Improvements. Nothing herein will prevent the City from using City 
Operated District Improvements to serve customers outside of the District provided that there is 
sufficient capacity reserved to serve the residents and property owners within the District as and 
when required by development within the Land. 

ARTICLE VI. 
DEVELOPMENT MATTERS 

Section 6.01 Development Matters. 

(a) The City hereby confirms its approval of up to 531 residential units together with 
governmental, retail, and office uses within the Land. The Developer shall apply for zoning 
related to this approval. The Project shall comply with all Applicable Rules unless otherwise 
modified by this Agreement or future approvals. 

Section 6.02 Land Uses, Density, and Open Space. 

(a) The Land uses will be limited to townhomes, residential lots, and retail, office, 
governmental/utility/institutional, and park uses as reflected on the Concept Plan and comply with 
the Applicable Rules related to the approved zoning classification for the Land. The residential 
units will be townhomes or detached residential lots as defined by the Applicable Rules and the 
approved zon ing classification for the Land. 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page8of51 220

Item 13.



(1) Detached single family residential units shall consist of 100% masonry on 
all elevations. Native stone, brick masonry, stucco, and cementitious siding shall be 
deemed appropriate materials to satisfy the masonry requirement. 

(2) The front elevation of all detached single family residential homes shall 
contain wall plane articulation in compliance with the following. No elevation shall be 
single wall plane across the entire width of the front elevation. Each front elevation shall 
contain a minimum of two of the following elements, to be identified on the architectural 
plans submitted for building permit: 

a. A minimum of two wall planes on the front elevation, offset a 
minimum of 18 inches; 

b. Covered front porches or patio with a minimum size of 60 square 
feet; 

c. A side-entry or swing-in garage entry (for garage doors that do not 
face the front street); 

d. A garage door recessed from the primary front facade a minimum 
of four feet (for garage doors that face the street); 

e. Enhanced garage door materials (wood, ornamental metal , 
decorative door, window inserts and hardware, painted or stained to match house); 

f. Shed roof or trellis (at least 18" deep) above garage door for 
additional architectural detail; 

g. A combination of at least two roof types (e.g. hip and gable) or two 
different roof planes of varying height and/or direction; 

h. Two or more masonry finishes to compliment the architectural style 
of the home; and 

i. The addition of one or more dormers on the front elevation to 
compliment the architectural style of the home. 

(3) Although the requirements of subsections (I) and (2) above technically 
apply only to detached single family residential units, substantively similar requirements, 
modified as appropriate based on product type, will apply to townhomes. 

(4) The Land may include multiple phases for platting purposes. 

(b) The overall density of the development of the Land will be a maximum of 4.7 
dwelling units per acre, composed of 351 single family townhome units and 180 single family 
lots, as shown on the Concept Plan. 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 9 of SI 221

Item 13.



(1) Each of the townhome rows will be restricted to no more than six attached 
units per building/slab. 

(2) The single family lots shall have a minimum lot area of 6,000 square feet 
with the width at the street frontage of 50 feet. 

(3) The retail/GUI areas will be limited to no more than a total of 6.4 acres, 
which may be altered upon receipt of written administrative approval from the City 
Administrator. 

(c) The areas designated on the Concept Plan as Open Space are composed of 
detention/water quality areas, stream setbacks, slopes and landscape buffers containing 23.9 
acres, all as shown on the Concept Plan. In addition, the Project will have pocket parks, trails, 
and a potential town green dedicated to the City. This Open Space with the listed amenities shall 
fulfill and satisfy all parkland dedication requirements of the Land to the City, including, but not 
limited to, the requirements of Article 28.03 (Parkland Dedication) and Sections 19 .1 and 19 .4 
(Subdivisions) of the Applicable Rules. However, the Park Development Fees in Section 
28.03.010 of the Applicable Rules shall be paid at time of Final Plat. The Developer shall submit 
a Master Parks and Open Space Plan that complies with this Agreement at time of Final Platting. 

(d) The Project shall comply with the adopted City-wide Trail Plan in effect as of the 
Effective Date of this Agreement. 

Section 6.03 Easement Dedications. In consideration for the City's consent to 
the creation of the District, the Owners (as to their respective tracts) agree to dedicate and convey 
to the City, at no cost to the City, the collector road and wastewater easements depicted on 
Exhibit D. The Owners reserve the right to seek reimbursement for such dedications from the 
District in accordance with this Agreement and applicable law. 

Section 6.04 Phased Development. Because it is anticipated that the Land will 
be developed in phases, portions of the Land not under active development may remain in use as 
agricultural lands or as open space land. 

Section 6.05 "Developer" Status. If and as an Owner, or any successor or 
permitted assignee of an Owner, initiates development of all or any portion of the Land, such 
Owner, or the applicable successor or permitted assignee of the Owner, will notify the City in 
writing of such election (which notice must also describe the portion of the Land to be developed), 
at which time the Owner, or the applicable successor or permitted assignee of the Owner, will 
become (and will be deemed to have assumed the obligations of) a "Developer" under this 
Agreement as to the portion of the Land described in the notice. 

Section 6.06 Uniform and Continued Development; Vesting. The Parties 
intend that this Agreement authorize certain land uses and development on the Land; provide for 
the uniform review and approval of plats and development plans for the Land; provide exceptions 
to certain ordinances; and provide other terms and consideration. Accordingly, the Land will be 
developed and the infrastructure required for the Land will be designed and constructed in 
accordance with the Applicable Rules, the Concept Plan, and this Agreement. Subject to the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement, the City confirms and agrees that the Owners and any Developer 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs l'v[UD No. I 
Page 10 of5 1 222

Item 13.



hereunder have vested authority to develop the Land in accordance with the Applicable Rules. 
Ordinances, rules, or regulations, or changes or modifications to the City's ordinances, rules, and 
regulations, adopted after the Effective Date of this Agreement will only be applicable to the extent 
permitted by Chapter 245 of the Texas Local Government Code. If there is any conflict between 
the Applicable Rules and the terms of this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement will control. 
The City further agrees that it will not, during the term of this Agreement, impose or attempt to 
impose: (a) any moratorium on building or development within the Land; or (b) any land use or 
development regulation that limits the rate or timing of land use approvals, whether affecting 
preliminary plats, final plats or other necessary approvals, within the Land. The preceding 
sentence does not apply to temporary moratoriums uniformly imposed throughout the City due to 
an emergency constituting imminent threat to the public health or safety, however, any such a 
moratorium may continue only during the duration of the emergency. 

Section 6.07 Term of Approvals. The Concept Plan, and any preliminary 
subdivision plat or final subdivision plat that is consistent with the Concept Plan, the Applicable 
Rules, and State law, will be effective for the term of this Agreement. 

Section 6.08 Director Lots. The conveyance, from time to time, by metes and 
bounds or otherwise of any portion of the Land to any person for the purpose of qualifying such 
person to be a member of the Board of Directors of the District will not be considered a subdivision 
of land requiring a plat or otherwise requiring the approval of the City. 

Section 6.09 Manufactured Home for District Elections. One (I) 
HUD-certified manufactured home may be located within the Land solely for the purpose of 
providing qualified voters within the District for the District's confirmation, director, maintenance 
tax, and bond elections. The manufactured home permitted by this Agreement will comply with 
all City regulations and will be removed within sixty (60) days from the date oflast election needed 
for the purposes of this Agreement. 

Section 6.10 Impact Fees. Any impact fees payable to the City with respect to 
the Land will be paid by or on behalf of the Developer to the City in accordance with the Applicable 
Rules; and, in consideration of the payment of impact fees to the City, the Developer will acquire, 
on behalf of the District, the guaranteed right to receive service from the City's systems, as 
applicable, for the living unit equivalents of service for which impact fees have been paid. Any 
impact fees payable to DSWSC with respect to the Land will be paid by or on behalf of the 
Developer to DSWSC in accordance with DSWSC's rules. 

Section 6.11 Building Code. All buildings shall be constructed in accordance 
with the building or construction codes in the Applicable Rules. Fees for all building permits or 
building inspections by the City or the City's designee under this section shall be paid by builders. 
Building permit and building inspection fees are not included among the fees specifically listed in 
this Agreement. The City will provide inspections in a prompt and timely manner. 

Section 6.12 Lighting. All illumination for street lighting, signage, security, 
exterior, landscaping, and decorative facilities for the Project shall comply with Article 24.06 of 
the Applicable Rules. 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 11 of5 1 223

Item 13.



Section 6.13 Tree Preservation. Article 28.06, Landscaping and Tree 
Preservation, of the Applicable Rules shall apply to the Land. 

ARTICLE VII. 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

Section 7.01 Authority. This Agreement is entered into, in part, under the 
statutory authority of Section 552.014, Texas Local Government Code, which authorizes the City 
to enter into a written contract with a water district created under Article XVI, Section 59 of the 
Texas Constitution under which the district will acquire for the benefit of and convey to the City 
one or more projects. The City certifies, represents, and warrants that the execution of this 
Agreement has been duly authorized and adopted in conformity with applicable law and City 
ordinances. Each Owner hereby certifies, represents, and warrants that the execution of this 
Agreement has been duly authorized and adopted in conformity with the constituent documents of 
each person or entity executing on behalf of such Owner. 

Section 7.02 Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective 
Date and (unless terminated pursuant to the terms hereof) shall continue until the District is 
dissolved in accordance with Section 2.04 above. 

Section 7.03 Termination and Amendment by Agreement. This Agreement 
may be terminated or amended as to al I of the Land at any time by mutual written consent of the 
City, the Owners, and, following creation of the District, the District; may be terminated or 
amended only as to a portion of the Land at any time by the mutual written consent of the City, 
the Owner of the portion of the Land affected by the amendment or termination and, following 
creation of the District, the District; and, after full-build out of the Land, may be terminated or 
amended at any time by the mutual written consent of the City and the District. 

Section 7.04 Remedies. 

(a) If the City defaults under this Agreement, the Owners or the District may give 
notice setting forth the event of default ("Notice") to the City. If the City fails to cure any default 
that can be cured by the payment of money ("Monetarv Default") within 45 days from the date 
the City receives the Notice, or fails to commence the cure of any default specified in the Notice 
that is not a Monetary Default within 45 days of the date of the Notice, and thereafter to diligently 
pursue such cure to completion, the Owners or the District may enforce this Agreement by a writ 
of mandamus from a Hays County District Court or terminate this Agreement; however, any such 
remedy will not revoke the City's consent to the creation of the District. 

(b) If an Owner defaults under this Agreement, the City or the District may give Notice 
to the Owner. If the Owner fails to cure any Monetary Default within 45 days from the date it 
receives the Notice, or fails to commence the cure of any default specified in the Notice that is 
not a Monetary Default within 45 days of the date of the Notice, and thereafter to diligently pursue 
such cure to completion, the City or the District may enforce this Agreement by injunctive relief 
from a Hays County District Court or terminate this Agreement as to the portion of the Land 
owned by such Owner; however, except as permitted by Section 2.02(a), any such remedy will 
not revoke the City's consent to the creation of the District. 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 12 of SI 224

Item 13.



(c) If the District defaults under this Agreement, the City or the Owners may give 
Notice to the District. If the District fails to cure any Monetary Default within 45 days from the 
date it receives the Notice, or fails to commence the cure of any default specified in the Notice 
that is not a Monetary Default within 45 days of the date of the Notice, and thereafter to diligently 
pursue such cure to completion, the City or the Owners may enforce this Agreement by a writ of 
mandamus from a Hays County District Court or terminate this Agreement; however, any such 
remedy will not revoke the City's consent to the creation of the District. 

(d) If any Party defaults, the prevailing Party in the dispute will be entitled to recover 
its reasonable attorney's fees, expenses, and court costs from the non-prevailing Party. 

Section 7 .05 Assignment. 

(a) This Agreement, and the rights of the Owners hereunder, may be assigned by the 
Owners, with the City's consent, as to all or any portion of the Land. Any assignment will be in 
writing, specifically set forth the assigned rights and obligations, be executed by the proposed 
assignee, and be delivered to the City. The City's consent to any proposed assignment will not 
be unreasonably withheld or delayed. The City hereby expressly consents to and approves the 
assignment of this Agreement to Dripping Springs Pa1tners, Limited Liability Company and 
agrees that no further consent to such an assignment will be necessary; however, a copy of such 
assignment must be delivered to the City. 

(b) If an Owner assigns its rights and obligations hereunder as to a portion of the Land, 
then the rights and obligations of any assignee and the Owner will be severable, and the Owner 
will not be liable for the nonperformance of the assignee and vice versa. In the case of 
nonperformance by one Owner or Developer, the City may pursue all remedies against that 
nonperforming Owner or Developer, but will not impede development activities of any 
performing Owner(s) or Developer(s) as a result of that nonperformance. 

(c) This Agreement is not intended to be binding upon, or create any encumbrance to 
title as to, any ultimate consumer who purchases a fully developed and improved lot within the 
Land. 

Section 7.06 Cooperation. 

(a) The Parties each agree to execute such further documents or instruments as may be 
necessary to evidence their agreements hereunder. 

(b) The City agrees to cooperate with the Developer(s) in connection with any waivers 
or approvals that the Developer(s) may desire from Hays County in order to avoid the duplication 
of facilities or services in connection with the development of the Land. 

(c) In the event of any third-party lawsuit or other claim relating to the validity of this 
Agreement or any actions taken hereunder, the Parties agree to cooperate in the defense of such 
suit or claim, and to use their respective best efforts to resolve the suit or claim without diminution 
in their respective rights and obligations under this Agreement. 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 13 of 51 225

Item 13.



(d) Whenever the term "approve" or "approval" is used in this Agreement, the party 
whose approval is required will not unreasonably withhold or delay it. Where approval is 
necessary, the party seeking approval may request approval in writing. If the party whose 
approval is requested fails to either approve the submittal or provide written comments 
specifically identifying the required changes within 60 working days, the submittal, as submitted 
by the requesting party, will be deemed to have been approved by the party whose approval is 
requested. 

Section 7.07 Notice. Any notice given under this Agreement must be in writing 
and may be given: (a) by depositing it in the United States mail, certified, with return receipt 
requested, addressed to the Party to be notified and with all charges prepaid; or (b) by depositing 
it with Federal Express or another service guaranteeing "next day delivery", addressed to the Party 
to be notified and with all charges prepaid; or (c) by personally delivering it to the Party, or any 
agent of the Party listed in this Agreement. Notice by United States mail will be effective on the 
earlier of the date of receipt or three days after the date of mailing. Notice given in any other 
manner will be effective only when received. For purposed of notice, the addresses of the Parties 
will, until changed as provided below, be as follows: 

CITY: 

With Required Copy to: 

OWNERS: 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

City of Dripping Springs 
Attn: City Administrator 
P.O. Box 384 
Dripping Springs, Texas 78620 

City Attorney 
P.O. Box 384 
Dripping Springs, Texas 78620 

Robert Mokhtarian, Individually and as 
Trustee for Edward Mokhtarian and 
Edmund Mokhtarian 
c/o Gregg Bell 
I 00 Congress A venue, Suite 200 
Austin, Texas 78701 

740 Sports Park, LLC 
Attn: David Denbow 
2780 West Hwy 290, Bldg. A 
Dripping Springs, Texas 78620 

Clinton and Dawn Cunningham 
840 Sports Park Road 
Dripping Springs, Texas 78620 

Dripping Springs tvlUD No. I 
Page 14 of5 1 226

Item 13.



DISTRICT: John W. Bartram 
Armbrust & Brown, PLLC 
100 Congress Avenue, Suite 1300 
Austin, Texas 78701 

The Parties may change their respective addresses to any other address within the United States of 
America by giving at least five days' written notice to the other party. The Owners may, by giving 
at least five days' written notice to the City, designate additional Parties to receive copies of notices 
under this Agreement. 

Section 7.08 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is illegal, invalid, 
or unenforceable, under present or future laws, it is the intention of the parties that the remainder 
of this Agreement not be affected, and, in lieu of each illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision, 
that a provision be added to this Agreement which is legal, valid, and enforceable and is as similar 
in terms to the illegal, invalid, or enforceable provision as is possible. 

Section 7.09 Waiver. Any failure by a Party to insist upon strict performance by 
the other party of any material provision of this Agreement will not be deemed a waiver thereof or 
of any other provision, and such Party may at any time thereafter insist upon strict performance of 
any and all of the provisions of this Agreement. 

Section 7.10 Applicable Law and Venue. The interpretation, performance, 
enforcement, and validity of this Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of Texas. Venue 
will be in a court of appropriate jurisdiction in Hays County, Texas. 

Section 7.11 Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire agreement 
of the Parties. There are no other agreements or promises, oral or written, between the Parties 
regarding the subject matter of this Agreement. This Agreement supersedes all other agreements 
between the Parties concerning the subject matter. 

Section 7.12 Exhibits, Headings, Construction, and Counterparts. All 
schedules and exhibits referred to in or attached to this Agreement are incorporated into and made 
a part of this Agreement for all purposes. The paragraph headings contained in this Agreement 
are for convenience only and do not enlarge or limit the scope or meaning of the paragraphs. 
Wherever appropriate, words of the masculine gender may include the feminine or neuter, and the 
singular may include the plural, and vice-versa. The Parties acknowledge that each of them has 
been actively and equally involved in the negotiation of this Agreement. Accordingly, the rule of 
construction that any ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party will not be employed 
in interpreting this Agreement or any exhibits hereto. This Agreement may be executed in any 
number of counterparts, each of which will be deemed to be an original, and all of which will 
together constitute the same instrument. This Agreement will become effective (as of the Effective 
Date of this Agreement) only when one or more counterparts, individually or taken together, bear 
the signatures of all of the Parties. 

Section 7.13 Time. Time is of the essence of this Agreement. In computing the 
number of days for purposes of this Agreement, all days will be counted, including Saturdays, 
Sundays, and legal holidays; however, if the final day of any time period falls on a Saturday, 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. 1 
Page 15 of5 l 227

Item 13.



Sunday, or legal holiday, then the final day will be deemed to be the next day that is not a Saturday, 
Sunday, or legal holiday. 

Section 7.14 Force Majeure. If, by reason of force majeure, any Party is 
rendered unable, in whole or in part, to carry out its obligations under this Agreement, the Party 
whose performance is so affected must give notice and the full particulars of such force majeure 
to the other Parties within a reasonable time after the occurrence of the event or cause relied upon, 
and the obligation of the Party giving such notice, will, to the extent it is affected by such force 
majeure, be suspended during the continuance of the inability but for no longer period. The Party 
claiming force majeure must endeavor to remove or overcome such inability with all reasonable 
dispatch. The term "force maieure" means Acts of God, strikes, lockouts, or other industrial 
disturbances, acts of the public enemy, orders of any kind of the government of the United States 
or the State of Texas, or of any court or agency of competent jurisdiction or any civil or military 
authority, insurrection, riots, epidemics, landslides, lightning, earthquake, fires, hurricanes, 
storms, floods, washouts, droughts, arrests, restraints of government and people, civil disturbances, 
vandalism, explosions, breakage or accidents to machinery, pipelines or canals, or inability on the 
part of a Party to perform due to any other causes not reasonably within the control of the Party 
claiming such inability. 

Section 7.15 Interpretation. As used in this Agreement, the term "including" 
means "including without limitation" and the term "days" means calendar days, not business days. 
Wherever required by the context, the singular shall include the plural, and the plural shall include 
the singular. Each defined term herein may be used in its singular or plural form whether or not 
so defined. 

Section 7.16 No Third-Party Beneficia1y. This Agreement is solely for the 
benefit of the Parties, and neither the City, the District, nor the Owners intend by any provision of 
this Agreement to create any rights in any third-party beneficiaries or to confer any benefit upon 
or enforceable rights under this Agreement or otherwise upon anyone other than the City, the 
District, and the Owners (and any permitted assignee of the Owners). 

Section 7.17 Exhibits. The following exhibits are attached to this Agreement, 
and made a part hereof for all purposes: 

Exhibit A-1 Legal Description of Land for Mokhtarian 
Exhibit A-2 Legal Description of Land for 740 SP 
Exhibit A-3 Legal Description of Land for Cunningham 
Exhibit B Concept Plan 
Exhibit C City Consent Resolution 
Exhibit D Easement Dedications 

* * * 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned Parties have executed this Agreement on the 
dates indicated below to be effective as of the Effective Date of this Agreement. 

(Signatures on the following pages.) 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. 1 
Page 16 of 51 228

Item 13.



COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO 

CONSENT AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

THE STATE OF TEXAS 

COUNTY OF HAYS 

§ 
§ 
§ 

CITY: 

CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS 

By:______,,,,,.___~~ ~='--Q q-_ j)_ J___:__, ~ ....J---1 - -
Bill Foulds, Jr., Mayor 

Date: __ ll_/_1,._ 1,.___:.._/ _1,,o_ u ____ _ 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on tJoVeh'her1--'l,,2021, by Bill Foulds, 
Jr., Mayor of the City of Dripping Springs, a Texas Type A general law municipality on behalf of 
said municipality. 

(Seal) 

City of Dripping Springs 

ANDREA CUNNINGHAM 
My Nolafy ID# 131603237 

Expires June 13, 2022 

MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 17 of5I 229

Item 13.



230

Item 13.



THE STATE OF ---

COUNTY OF ----

§ 
§ 
§ 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _ day of ___ , 2021 , by Robert 
Mokhtarian, as Trustee for the Edmund Mokhtarian Trust on behalf of said Trust. 

(SEAL) 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operat ion Agreement 

Notary Public Signature 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 19 o f 5 1 231

Item 13.



232

Item 13.



233

Item 13.



COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGE TO 

CONSENT AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

THE STATE OF TEXAS 

COUNTY OF HAYS 

§ 
§ 
§ 

DISTRICT: 

DRIPPING SPRINGS MUNICIPAL 
UTILITY DISTRICT NO.1 

By: _____________ _ 
________ , President 
Board of Directors 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on ______ , 202_ , by 
_____ , President of the Board of Directors of Dripping Springs Municipal Utility District 
No. 1, a political subdivision of the State of Texas, on behalf of said District. 

(SEAL) 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Notary Public Signature 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 22 of51 234

Item 13.



Description of the Land 

EXHIBIT A-1 

Legal Description ofMokhtarian Land ( Two Tracts) 

Mokhtarian Tract I: 

FIELD NOTES DESCRIBING A 79.0723 ACRE TRACT OF LAND OUT OF THE P.A. ·SMITH 
LEAGUE SURVEY, THE C.H. MALOTT SURVEY AND THE BENJAMIN F, HIMS SURVEY NO. 
8 IN HAYS COUNTY, TEXAS, SAID 79. 0723 ACRE TRACT OF LAND BEING OUT OF AND 
A PORTION OF THAT CER'l'AIN 85,275 7 ACRE TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO MAIN PASS 
PARTNERS, LTD, BY DEED RECORDED IN VOLUME 785, PAGE 605 OF THE IIAY.S COUNTY, 
TEXAS om-m RECORl>S, SAID 79, 0723 ACRE TRACT OP LAND BEING MORE PAR'l'ICUl,ARLY 
DESCRIBED BY ME'l'ES AND BOUNDS AS FOLLOWS. 

BEGINNING at an iron pin found at the Northeast corner of that certain 
40,00 acre tract of land conveyed to Dripping Springs Independent School 
District .by Deed Recorded in Volume 646, Page 731 of the Hays County, Texas 
Deed Records, enid point being situated at the most Northerly Northwest 
corner of said 85,2757 acre tract~ 

THENCE, along the fenced North boundery line of said 85.2757 acre tract, 
same being the South boundary line of that certain tract of land conveyed 
to Robert F, Shelton by deed recorded in Volume 143, Page 16 of the Hays 
County, Texas Deed Records, the following three (3) courses: 

1, S 89°27 15811 B for 465,05 feet to an ir6n pin found. 

2, S 89°29 11611 B for 2496.82 feet to a 60-1-Dl' nail found, 

3, · N 79°12 15211 E for 480,33 feet to an iron pin found on the W811t 
boundary line of that certain 423,54 acre tract of land conveyed 
to D.T. Cowden by deed recorded in Volume 827, Page 81 of the Hays 
County, Texas Deed Records, same being the Northeast corner of the 
herein described tract, 

THENCE, along the fenced West boundary line of said 423,54 acre tract, 
S 0° 20'061' W for 1362.07 feet to an iron pin found at the Northeast corner 
of that certain 82.02 acre tract of land conveyed to Lidia Crabb, Trustee, 
by deed recorded in Volume 367, Page 294 of the Hays County, Texas Deed 
Records, same being the Southeast corner of the herein described tract. 

THENC&, along the .fenced North boundary line of said 82,02 acre tract, 
N 89°45 1 1~1 W for 1B21.9Q feet to an iron pin-found at the Southeast corner 
of tha·t certain 10. 00 acre tract of land conveyed to Gary and Fioela Doucl!t 
by deed recorded i.n Volume 795, Page 782 of the Hays County, Texas Deed Records. 

THENCE, along the East boundary line of said 10.00 acre tract, N 2°49 106" E 
for 691.47 feet to an iron pin found on the South boundary line of a proposed 
sixty (60) foot wide street, 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 23 of5 1 235

Item 13.



TH,ENCE, along the South boundary line of said proposed sixty foot wide 
street the followinF five (5) couraee: 

1. N 87°101 5411 W for 238.19 feet to an iron pin found , 

2. An arc distance of 182,90 feet along a curve to the left whose 
elements are: I ., 15°12 11311 , R .. 689,28 1 , T., 91.99 1 , and whose 

. chord bears S 85° 13 1 00" W for 182. 37 feet to an iron pin found, 

·· ·-·····3,· ··s 77°161 5-3° W· f-or- 1026-, 64- -feet to an iron pin found, 

4, An arc distance of 120,16 feet along a curve to the right whose 
total elements are: I• 12°02 149'', R • 1007,771 , T • 106,33 1 , 

and whose subchord bears s 81°0115011 W for 120,09 feet to an iron 
pin found. 

5. An ere distance of 91.72 feet along a curve to the ri~ht whose 
elements are: I• 5°12 1 53", R • 1007,77 1

, T,. 45,89 1 11nd whose 
chord bears S 87°03 115'' W for 91,69 feet to an iron nin found, 

THENCE, along the East boundary line of said 40,00 acre DrippinA Sprinµs 
Independent School Die trict Tract; N 0°20 1 1811 W for 84 7. 82 feet to the 
POINT OF BEGINNING of the herein described tract containing 79,0723 acres 
of land. 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 24 of51 

236

Item 13.



Mokhtarian Tract 2: 

FlnLONOTI! Dl:StlRIPTION 

01:SdRl?'ffON OF A STRIP 01' W\ND1 110·1'!:ET (60') IN Wil)TH, TOlAI.ING 1,18 ACRES IN ·r1-1e PIIILIP A 
SMllll U:AGUJ! ijUIWeY NO. 2B, A•416, IN HAYS oour-nv, lt:XAS, BetNG lHe Rl;NfAININe f'ORTION Or 
TH.AT OAl.lt:O 86.2767 AORI! iRACi OESORIBEO 1M lHli WA~RANTY OEED iO MAlN,J"AtlS J>ARTNl!RS, 
LTD .• Or hl:CORI> IN VOLUMJ; 70IS, PAGE; 800, Rl!AL PROPeRTY RlmORDs. HAYS OOUNlV, Yl?XA$ 
(RPRHOl}, Ll::88 'THAT CALLED 78.Q723 AClll:! 'rMOT 81:V~l!t, PROM SAIO 811.~'167 AOni; TRACT ANO 
DE80RlllED IN nte WARRANTY OBED WITH VENDOR'S UEN 'rO l'(OBER't MOl<HTARIAN, ET ALIA, OF 
RliOORD IN VOI.UME 11?.8, PAGE IMO, OFFICIAL PUllllO RF.CORDS, HAYS COUNTY, Te><AS; SAID 1.18 
A¢Rli $T~IP Of 1-1\ND, AS SHOWN ON rne ACCOMPANYING SKl:TCH, 8E!ING MORI! PARl'IOULAR\.V 
l)E8O~IQISD BY MEO"ES AND BOlJNPS NJ FOi.LOWS: 

BooJlng Baslll! Gild Boalln(JII ol lh0 Tuxaa Coorotnate SVstem Of 11188, 'l'oXR~ SOUi!\ CenltAI .Zoll& (42M), US 
SuNoy Feel, Roforonc& F111m,: NAD.,03(2011)Ui)looh:~ofo.oooo): Combined So11t~ Fuctor. 0,0&8020.2~; Mepptng 
Analo: o• 21• or, DJ!illlJIC68 clled horetn are sutfao1:1, 

OOMh'ISNOJliG tor rol8'1111llle ollron rod With oap etamped "l(CENG-" found on U1e nOl\lt line of a 30' Y11dl\ lllOM8B 
& t:gl'8\ll! EasotMnt tl&tQ!lbad In Volume 1111, Paga 171, Deed ttee)Otda Heys coun\y, lol!lln (DRHOll, being 1he 
mosteoulhor(y l!Olllhehst cormir Qf a 011llod-40,00 uora lraotd1,100/lb8tl Ill thu Genwol Wotronty bood to The Olly of 
OrlppJlt!I Stnrnll!I, of rocord In Votuma 14G2, Pogo ll'li1 OPflHOl', aame, bO/oo lhe oou\hwost COm!lr orthQlosl!ad 
17.0618 UOl9 <1oscrlbad In thsWaroinlY Ooedwllll Vena or's I.ten to Jean-craude Csrdwall, Md wife, Mara card we 11, 
Ohi!CO{\{ In Volume. 197, 1>11$8 71J9, Rl'ruioT, · 

TH!!NOa N 02• 18' 00' W, Y<1fh Ula OIIO\ Uno of enltl 110.00 1.1010 l/1101, U10 fo~owln; throo {3) C0\/1'11$ and d(Q(ano&S! 

1) N02• 1:t'os•w, with lhO\~tlb\oofoold 11,061011orelrftOl1 '101W4feollon u.Jnoh Iron rod rou11d for tho 
nc»t11weot wrner afe11ld 11.-0i.1e ~oM w~, mn1i bot119 11111 wast~tly souU1west cornor of aald llll.2767 
uoro tro.c~ am{ POIN'I' ()If 13~QINNING Mlotn: 

2) Noa• 1a• 09'W, eo,oo fuQtto a ¼-lnoll lrl/n rod found foruoulhe11Stroont,11ntoomsr ohald 4MD er:so 
tract, and n ll'IQDtw .. 1011y 11or1hY1t1at eol!entc:Qmet or eftl<I Oli,27Cl7 acre tract end lw111!n1 and • 

$) tH11• 40' ts1"li1 061!,70 reat to a~ Iron rot! found on lho we~t ~1e otea!IS79,O72~ acre ltaot, and 
being thP notUtuaqtcornarhemlo: and ftom whloh pol\\t, a l-Hnoh lrQlt llld r1111nd forlhe northeoetci1Jml)l·or 
B11ld -10.00 aoto lraot, rued tho nonhwoat 11omor of oalcl 7Q,072.a t1oru trao\ bet1111 No;,.• 1a1 oo•w, 708,W 
foul; 

l'Hf!NOll 5 oa· 13' oe· Ii, cro11e!IIO nold 86.2767 QOTO traol Vtilh oold W65t lino ,Uf70.0723 QC(u ttaot, 6MOfca\to a 
¼-lnoll I/On rod round on Iha eou1h Hno or e11ld OG.2767 11ore lnlot, 11amo belno 1h11 nollh lino of 11eld 17,0510 eore 
wot, for n iioulhweot oorMr or o81d 79,0723 (10/U flaot and eou\homt 0()11\0r herein; 

TH&Nca ~l)7• .,t6' tWW, wt\h I/lo 60U\ll ltno of ealcl rllll\Pblder ttl,cl, and 1101th llne of 801d 17,0510 ncru ltabt. 
(160. 70 roet lo llie f>OINl' OF Q~GINNIN.G contolnlug i. ~6 ecroo oflqml, moro or !Olis, VlllhltT lh11S9 matea ond 
llOUnds. 

Thlu dooe1lpllo11110001npanl<1<I by 8181/dl~urv&)'ln~, lno. Bo1111t1oty survey 17077,01.dwg 

S\IN'oyo!I b,YI 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 25 of SI 237

Item 13.



EXHIBIT A-2 

Legal Description of 740 SP Land (Three T racts) 

740 SP Land Tract I: 

BEING 17.038 ACRES OF LAND LOCATED IN THE P. ~ SMmi Lt:AGUE IN HAYS COUNTY, 
TEXAS AND BEING THE SAME PROPERTY OESCRJSED IN VOLUME 4783, PAGE 307, 
OFACIALPUBUC RECORDS OF HAYS COUNTY, TEXAS (O.P.R.H.C.T); SAID 17.038 ACRE 
TRACT BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS WITI-f ALL BEARINGS 
BASED ON THE TEXAS COORDINATE SYSTEM, CENTRAL ZONE NAD83 4~3. 

BEGINNING at an Iron rod with cap stamped "KC ENG" found for the most southerly southeast 
comer of a called 40.00 acre tract rlescnbed In Volume 646, Page 731 of the Hays County Deed 
Records (H.C.D,R..), said point also belng on tile north Jina of a called 82.02 acre tract described in 
Volt.Ir® 367, Page 294 H.C.D.R. and being the southwest comer of 1he herefn described tract; 

TfiENCE, with an east fine of sald 40.00 acre tract ancl the west line of the herein dest;;nbed iract, 
N02p12.'00"W, for a distance of 498,67feet to a¼ Inch fron rod founcl for the nortflwest comer of 
the hefein de$Cril)ed tract, same being -the southwest oomer of a called 1.18 acre tract as 

• described in Document Number 1704138 OPRHCT.; 

THENCE:, with 1he south rme of satti 1.18 acre-tract; and the north fine of the herein described tract 
N87"47'00"~ for a distance of 859.5Sfeetto a¼ Joell lron rocHound for the southeast comer af 
said 1.18 acre tract, same being the southwest comer of a called 79.0723 acre tract as descnbed In 
Volume 1128, Page 849 O.P .R,H.C. T., said point being the J)eglnnfng of a curve to the left; 

THENCE, with the north fine of the llereln dest:tibed tract. and the south Une of said 79.0723-acre 
tract, the follaw[ng courses amJ crrstances: 

1. wfth said curve to the left an aro length of 210.66 feet. said curve having a radlus of 
1001.01 feet, a central angle of 12"03'28", and having long choTd whtch bears 
N81 "45'16"1; fora distance of 210.27 wet to a calcuJat,:,..d point for the end of said curve; 

2. N75°43'32~ for a distance of 441.05 feet ro a¼ tnch Iron rod found for the northeast 
<:0mer of the herein described tract, sam~ be!ng the norfhwast comer of a called 6.0001 
acre tract as described in Vofurne 4258, Page 618 O.P.T.H.C.T ~ 

THENC~ wiilt the east nne of the herein descn'bed tract same being the west Una of sald 
5.0001 acre tract, S04°16'26'W, fora.disfance of561l.13feettoa ½ Tnch iron rod with cap 
stamped •AST" .set on the north line of.a called s:oo acre tract as described ln-Volame 285~ Pa~e 
201 O.P.R.H.C.T., said pofnt bemgihe southwest comer of satd 5.-0001 aCl'8 tract and the 
southeast comer of fue herein described tract; 

'fHENCE, with the lines con1m0n to said 5.0G·ac:retract amHhe herein desehbed fracf fhe following 
courses and distances: 

1, S88"21'29"W, fora disfatteeof358.71 feettoa%inehiron rod round farthe mostt1orthetfy 
northwest comer of said 6.00 acre itaci; 

2, S01 °3S01"E, for a distance o.f 69.68 feet to a.¼ inch-iron rod With cap stamped "Asr'-set; 

3. S88~1-8'03'.'W,, ata distance ofiS0.2$ pass a½ inch iron rodfoundfor1he rnostwesterty 
norfuwest comer of saJd 5.00 acre tract, same being the northeast comer of said 82.02 acre 
tract, continuing fur a iota! distance of 1077.43-feetfo the POINT OF BEGINNING and 
containing 17.038 acres of land, more or less. 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 26 of 5 I 238

Item 13.



740 SP Land Tract 2: 

Non-exclusive right of way and utility easement in common with other pa11ies, as created 
and further described in that conveyance recorded in Volume 181, Page 171, Deed 
Record&, Hays County, Texas. 

740 SP Land Tract 3: 

Non-exclusive ingress and-easement in common with other parties, as created and further 
described in that conveyance recorded in Document No. I 8007850, Official Public 
Records, Hays County, Texas. 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs wfUD No. I 
Page 27 of 51 239

Item 13.



EXHIBIT A-3 

Legal Description of Cunningham Land (Five Tracts) 

Cunningham Tract I: 

Being I 0.00 acres of land, more or less, in the P. A. SMITH SUR VEY, ABSTRACT NO. 4 I 5, 
situated in Hays County, Texas, being that same tract conveyed in Volume 4258, Page 618, of the Official 
Public Records of Hays County, Texas and as more particularly described by metes and bounds as 
follows: 

FIF.LD NOTES DESCRIBING A 10,00 ACRE TRACT OF Lt\ND OUT OF TIIE ·P, ~-!~1-tfri'~itF.·t\GUE 
IN IIAYS COUNTY, TEXAS, SAIi) 10,00 ACRE tRACT OF I.Atll> BEING OlJT OF ANO A PORTION 
OF TIJAT CERTAIN 1'111\CT OF J.AND CONVEY.Im 'fO• JACK llotmt.r. ny Dlmi> RF.CORDEi> IN VOLUME 
753, Pi\GE 252 OF TIIE umm RECORIJS OF HAYS COUNTY, i'F.XAS, sArn 10.00 ACRE TRACT OF 
LANO TIEJ.NG HORE rARTIClll,l\Rl,Y DESCRimm BY HP.TES AND DOU NOS AS FOl,LOHS: 

llEGlNNING FOR REFERENCE 11t 11n iron pin Ret nt the 11011thwe11t corner of the nbove 
snlcl .Jork llowell Trnct, All.Id point hoing situnted nt the most t1011therl.y southenst 
corner <>f that certnin forty /10,00 Acre trnct of ·lnncl conveyed to llrippinr, Sprl.n~s 
1 ndl'pc11<lc11 t Schoo 1 D:lR tr f ct hy cl eccl record eel fu Vo 111111e fiM,, Pnr,c 7 31. of the 1:ny11 
Count~• lleed Recor<l!'I, 11nl.d polnt heJ.nr. R.ltuntecl Cln the n<>rlh bounclnry l.fue of n 
tld rty (JO) foot wf de Lnr.t·o1111 nml er,r.ORR cnnemc,nt ,.IJ.~Rc:-.rlht!tl i.n n dee.! <>f record Jn 
Volume l.RJ., l'op,e 17.t of the llnys County lleed Recotcl's . . .•, . 

Tlllmcr,, n J onp, the north ho11nclnry .11.no of sn Ld ense11mn t, nnrnr. he I np, the:> nor.th ho11nd
nry line of thnl certnln 90.01 1.1cre trnct of. lnncl cnnvey<'d to Vlrp.fnln n. Wesson 
h>• de.eel rec<>nlnd 111 V<>lumc 2211, l'nr,f! SI.I, of t·hr> llnyn County IJ<>.e><I Hc;,cordn; 
S 89° /17 '00" I~ for 1.077, 2.t feet to n 60-1) nail sc t .I 11 n fonce corner post, 

THENCE, cont!t111inr, nl.onr, the fencr.d north hm11vln1·v .1.lne·of 11111.d 90 , 0l. ncre trnct, 
snme h1>it1R the Routh bounclnry lf.ne of snit\ ,lnck IJ~wel.l 'l'rnct, the followinr, two 
(2) courses: · 

1. N 0°16'55" E for 70.1,2 feet to nn iron pf.11 found, 

2, S 89°115 1 1.3 11 E f<>r 7111..35· fept to nn ir<>n pin Ret for thr. an11thwest corner 
<>f the heroin clcrncribed trnct nnd being the POlNT or nrmINNlNr. . 

TIIENCE, through the interior <>f. sni.cl Howell Trnct, N 2°119 1 0611 E for 636.99 feet 
lo nn :Iron pin set on lite> sn11th boun<lnry line o[ n propoRccl idxty (fiO) fnot wide 
r.ond, snid point hefng sltunted nt the northwest corner <>f the hcr.e:fn de11crlbecl 
tract. 

TIIENCF., continuinp.: through the interior of. snlcl llowc.1.1 'l'rnct nlon~ the Routh 
boundnry line of snirl propor.ecl rond, the foll.owing three (J) counarn: 

l. N 7r36 1 53" r, for 22/1,fi2 f ee t to nn :f.ron pJ.n AC!:, 

2 , An nrc distnnce of 182,90 feet nlonp, n curve to the right whoRe elements 
IHCl': l=J.5°12'13", Re689.2R feet, '1'=91,99 feet 1111d whose chord bears 
N 85°13 1 00" E for 182,37 feet to an iron p:f.n Aet, 

3, s 87°.10 1 54" F, for 238.19 feet to on ircin pln set for the northcnst 
corner or the herein described trnct, 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 28 of5 I 240

Item 13.



TIIENCE, continuing through the interior of enid llowell 1'roct, S 2°/19 10611 W 
for 691.47 feet to 1111 iron pln set on the fenced nor.th boundary 1Jne of edd 
90.01 ncre WeAson Tr11ct nnd being situated at the southeast corn~r of the here-

j , 

in described tract. ·· 

TIIENC~, alonR tlm nor.th boundnry line or nnid 90.0l ncre trnct nnd the nouth 
boun~nr.y lf.ne of en:ld Howell 'l'rnct, N 89°115 11311 W for 636,35 feet to the POIN'f 
OF mmJ.NNlNG 0£ the hcrnltt dascdhP.d tract contnining J.0.00 ncrP.s ol: lnnd, 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 29 of 51 241

Item 13.



Cunningham Tract 2: 

'.._~.., . w:~ ,Vlj ,, ,\ 

FIEl,IJ NOTES DESCRin T.NG A 5,000 ACRR 'l'RAC1' OF J,ANll OUT OF TIIE r, A. SJ-llTl1
1 

i;EAGUR 
1N HAYS COUNTY, TEXAS, SAlll 5,000 ACRE 'l'RACT OF I.AND IIIUNG OUT OF ANll A PORTION 
Of TII/\T CERTAIN 102.3069 TRIICT Of 1./\NI) CONVRYr.D TO tl/\lN rASs l'AR'l'tmRS, 1,1'1). nv 
l>E111l R!iCORl)P.() IN vot.mm 78~, l'Alm 6(Vi OF 'l'IIR IJRRI) llP.CORl)S OF IIAYS COllllTY, 'J'l1X/\S, 
SAJ.() 5. 000 ACRE TRACT OF 1,/\Nll nr.lNG NORR J'/\R'rICUJ,/\Ht.Y J>P.SClllllEI) DY tmrns Alm nourms 
AS FOl,l.OWS: 

nEGJ.NNJ.NG nt on iron pin found ot the aouthweRt corner of tha ohove de11crihed re
moi11i.np. trnc-t, 1rnt.cl point hclnr, the MuthC!O!lt c:ornrr of n 17,0518 nr.rn trnct of Jnncl 
r.1im 1eoyC'd to -'. C, nnd Mnrn Cnnlweo ll hy cl(.>ecl rccorcll'd in Vo.I mm! 797 1 l'nr,C' 709 of the 
llnys County Deed Rccor.cl11; Rold point nlRo oi.tuntecl 011 the?: nor.th bo1111dnry .linn of n 
90,0l ncre trnct of lnml convey<!d to Vlrg:1.ntn n . WeRROfl hy deed , r.cc:ordP.d in Volume 
220, Poge 511, of the lloys County Oced Recordn, 

TlmNCR , olong the WP.Rt hounclnry .1.1.ne of the nhove deRcrllmd troc:t, N l'i 0 J 2 1 l.011 E for 
560.25 foet to nn iron pin found nt the northweat corner of 1:ho her.n.ln clcacrllrncl 
trnct, nml hoi.nr, the northc:>nRI: corner of the J.7,0518 ncrn Cordwell 'J'rrict. 

TIIRNCF., throur,h the interior of anld Mnln PosA Pnrt11er 'J.'rnct nlonr, the 11011th boundnry 
Jin<.> of n 1n·opMe cl flixly (60) foot wide rond N 77°36 1 5.1" r. for. 361.0l foet to nn :lron 
pin f1111111\ n t the 11orthen:c1t corner o( the heoteln deAcrlhP.cl trnct: , f!Omn. heolng the north
we At cornc>r of n .l!J . 0(1 ncrr. trnct of tnnd conveyeod to Gory nncl 11'.l!!oln UoURl'tt by de nd 
recorded in Volume 795, rngr:o 872 of. the llnyA County t>eed Records, 

TIIF.NCF., nlonr, thc enAt bounclnry J.i.ne of t\1P. hernfn ,t.-,acr.lhed trnct, S 2°l19 1 0li" W for 
(iJ(i,99 £rct to nn :I.run pin founcl nt t.hc no11thc n11 I: c-nrnrr. of 1:he hetel.n deAcrf.bed trnct, 
l'lnmn hetnr, the aouthwe11 t corn<>r of the nhove tle11c1·Jhetf IJ011Rrtt Trnc t, nl110 bet.nit alt
unted on the fen ced north houndnry linC! of the nhove de11cr.ibcd V1rnlnln n. Wes1rnn Trac t. 

TIIP.NCP., n.lonr, tlw fe11 c f'<I Routh hn1111clnry ]:Inc of. the hernfn ,teiu:rl.hed tr.nr.t, s ome hclnr, 
n fenced por.tJon of the nor.th houndnr y line of the nbovc clc11crihcd Vlrr,tnln B. Wc1111011 
Trnct, N 89°/15 1 13" w for 382.61 fP.ct to the POUIT OF nrmrnNJ.Nn of the herein described 
tract contnining 5,000 ncre11 of lnnd. 

Cunningham Tract 3: 

Tract 3: Easement estate as created and described in Easement Agreement dated March 16, 1960, 
recorded in Volume 181, Page 17 1, Deed Records of Hays County, Texas, and being more particularly 
described therein. 

Cunningham Tract 4: 

Tract 4: Easement estate as created and described in Ing ress and Egress Easement dated February 
24, 20 18, recorded in Document No. 18007849, of the Deed Records of Hays County, Texas, and being 
more particularly described there in, 

Cunningham Tract 5: 

Tract 5: Easement estate as created and described in in that certain Deed of Easement dated July 3 1, 1993, 
recorded in Volume l O I 0, Page 53, of the Official Public Records of Hays County, Texas, and being more 
particularly described therein. 

City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creatio n & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. 1 
Page 30 of5 1 242

Item 13.



City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

EXHIBITB 

Concept Plan 

Dripping Springs MUD No. 1 
Page 3 1 of 51 243

Item 13.



City of Dripping Springs 
MUD Creat ion & Operation Agreement 

EXHIBIT C 

City Consent Resolution 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 32 of5 1 244

Item 13.



CITY OF DIUPPING SPRINGS 

RESOLUTION No. 2021-R33 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DRIPPING 
SPRINGS, TEXAS ("CITY"), CONSENTING TO THE CREATION OF 
DRIPPING SPRINGS MUN[CIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. l ON THE 
MOKHTARIAN, CUNNINGHAM, AND 740 SPORTS PARK TRACTS FOR 
THE VILLAGE GROVE SUBDIVISION; PROVIDING FOR EFFECTIVE 
DA TE; AND PROPER NOTICE AND MEETING. 

WHEREAS, pmsuant to Section 42.042 of the Texas Local Govemment Code and Section 
54.016 of the Texas Water Code, Robert Mokhtal'ian, Individually; Robert 
Mokhtarian, Tmstee for Edward Mokhtarian; Robert Mokhtarian, Tmstee for 
Edmund Mokhtarian; 740 Sports Park, LLC, a Texas limited liability company; and 
Clinton D. Cunningham and Dawn Cunningham (collectively, the "Owners") have 
submitted to the City the petition attached as Exhibit "A" to this Resolution (the 
"Petition") requesting the City's consent to the creation of Dripping Springs 
Municipal Utility District No. I (the "District") over the land more particularly 
described in the Petition (the "Lancf'), which, at the time of submission of the 
Petition, was located within the City's extraterritorial jurisdiction but proposed to 
be annexed into the corporate boundal'ies of the City; and 

WHEREAS, the City has annexed the Land proposed to be included in the District; and 

WHEREAS, the City and Owners have negotiated an Agreement Concerning Creation and 
Operation of Dripping Springs Municipal Utility District No. 1; and 

WHEREAS, following review of the Petition and Agreement, the City desires to grant the 
Petition and consent to the creation of the District over the Land, now therefore 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DRIPPING 
SPRINGS, TEXAS, THAT: 

SECTION 1. CONSENT 

The City, in reliance upon statements in the Petition regarding the Petitioners' ownership of the 
Land in the District, hereby grants the Petition and, in accordance with Section 42.042 of the Texas 
Local Govemment Code and Section 54.016 of the Texas Water Code, specifically gives its written 
consent to the creation of the Distl'ict over the Land. 

That the Mayor of the City is hereby authorized to execute the Agreement Concerning Creation 
and Operation of Dripping Springs Municipal Utility District No. I and that the City Secretary is 
hereby authorized to attest such execution for and on behalf of the City. 

City of Dripping Springs 
Resolution No. 202l-R33 

Cny ot 1Jnpp111g"""Spnngs 
tvfUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 

D 
. . S . Pal!eJ _ofJl! 

1 nppmg prmgs'1VIUD N"o. 
Page 33 of5 1 245

Item 13.



SECTION 2. EFFECTIVE DATE 

This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage on the date shown below. 

SECTION 3. OPEN MEETINGS 

The City Council hereby finds and declares that written notice of the date, hour, place, and subject 
of the meeting at which this Resolution was adopted was posted and that such meeting was open 
to the public as required by law at all times during which this Resolution and the subject matter 
hereof were discussed, considered, and formally acted upon, all as required by the Open Meetings 
Act, Chapter 551 , Texas Government Code, as amended. 

PASSED & APPROVED this, the 19111 day of October 2021, by a vote of 3 (ayes) to O (nays) 
to O (abstentions) of the City Council of Dripping Springs, Texas. 

City of Dripping Springs 
..Resolution No. 2021.-R33 
City ol Unppmg-Sprmgs 

CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS: 

;;,4J 1JI :r:z 
Bill Foulds, Jr., tvfayor 

ATTEST: 

MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 

Dripping SpriJ~ii,gR,rtJB -1-J!o. I 
Page 34 of 51 246

Item 13.



City of Dripping Springs 

Sl:'.P 2 '• 2021 
PETITION FOR CONSENT TO CREATION , 

OF DRIPPING SPRINGS MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRIC~t~d~ r11Y Secretary 

TO THE HONORABLE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS, 
TEXAS: 

The undersigned (collectively, the "Petitionel's"), holding title to the land described 
below (the "Land") and acting pmsuant to the provisions of Chapters 49 and 54 of the Texas 
Water Code and Section 42.042 of the Texas Local Government Code, respectfully petition the 
City Council of the Cily of Dripping Springs, Texas (the "QjJy") for its written consent to the 
creation of a municipal utility distl'ict over the Land and, in support of this Petition, would show 
the following: 

I. 

The name of the proposed district is DRIPPING SPRINGS MUNICIPAL UTILITY 
DISTRICT NO. 1 (the "District"), 

II. 

The District will be created and organized under the terms and provisions of Article XVI, 
Section 59 and Article III, Section 52 of the Texas Constitution and Chapters 49 and 54, Texas 
Water Code, together with all amendments and additions thereto. It is proposed that the 
Distl'ict he granted road powers under the authority of Article III, Section 52 of the Texas 
Constitution. 

III. 

The Land proposed to he contained within the Distl'ict is a total of 112.2903 acres of 
land, more or less, situated in Hays County, Texas, more particulady described on Exhibit A 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. All of the Land is cmrently located within 
the extrnterritorial jurisdiction of the City; however, Petitioners intend to voluntarily request 
that the Land be annexed into the corporate boundaries of the City prior to creation of the 
Distl'ict. The Land may be properly be included within the Distl'iet. 

IV. 

Petitioners hold title to the Land proposed to the included within the Distl'iet and are the 
owners of a majority in value of such Land, as indicated by the tax rolls of Hays County, Texas. 
The only licnholder on the Land, PlainsCapital Dank, has consented to the creation of the 
Distl'ict as evidenced by the Certificate of Lien holder's Consent attached as Exhibit n. 

V. 

The general natme of the work proposed to be clone by the Distdct, as contemplated at 
the present time, is the design, constrnetion, acquisition, improvement, extension, financing, 
and issuance of bonds: (i) for maintenance, operation, and conveyance of an adequate and 
efficient water works and sanitary sewet· system for domestic and commercial pmposes; (ii) for 
maintenance, operntion, and conveyance of works, improvements, facilities, plan ls, equipment, 
and appliances helpful or necessary to provide more adequate drainage fo1· the District, and to 
control, abate, and amend local storm waters or other h1\l'lnful excesses of waters; (iii) for 
conveyance of roads and improvements in aid of roads; and (iv) for maintenance, operation, and 

{W1068793.2} 

City of Dripping Springs 

dlf\9/lt!Jfli~g~ ·ln~J3 

MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 

Dripping Sprin~~!l$1btif ~t_ I 
Page 35 of51 247

Item 13.



conveyance of such other additional facilities, systems, plants, and enterprises as may be 
consistent with any or all of the purposes for which the District is created. 

VI. 

There is a necessity for the above-described work because there is not now available 
within the area an adequate waterworks system, sanitary sewer system, drainage and storm 
sewer system, or roadway system to serve the Land, which will be developed for a mix of 
single-family residential, multi-family residential, and commercial uses. The health and welfare 
of the present and future inhabitants of the area and of the adjacent ai·eas require the pmchase, 
design, constrnction, acquisition, ownership, operation, repair, improvement, and extension of 
an adequate waterworks system, sanitary sewer system, drainage and storm sewer system, and 
roadway system. A public necessity therefore exists for the creation of the District, in order to 
provide for the purchase, design, construction, acquisition, ownership, operation, repair, 
improvement, and extension of a waterworks system, sanitary sewer system, drainage and storm 
sewer system, and roadway system to promote the pmity and sanitary condition of the State's 
waters and the public health and welfare of the community. 

VII. 

A preliminary investigation has been made to determine the cost of the proposed 
District's projects, and it is now .estimated by the Petitioners, from such information· as is 
available at this time, that such cost will be approximately $23,643,904.00. 

VIII. 

Petitioners, by submission of this Petition, request the City's consent to the creation of 
the District, as described in this Petition. 

Petitioners request that this Petition be heard and that the City Council duly pass and 
approve an ordinance or resolution granting its consent to the creation of the District and 
authorizing the inclusion of the Land within the District. 

EXECUTED on the date or dates indicated below, to be effective the 16th day of 
September, 2021. 

{W1068793,2} 

City of Dripping Springs 

cfi§58!t!YRi1~R1/slJ·\i1~~3 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

2 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 

D . . S . Pa!.!.c.~ 1afJ& 1 nppmg pnngs'NluD ~o. 
Page36of5 1 248

Item 13.



THE STATE OF TEXAS 

COUNTY OF ___ _ _ 

§ 
§ 
§ 

PETITIONERS: 

As to the 79,0723 acres dcsc1•ibecl in 
ExhibitA--1 and the 1.18 acres described in 
Exhi~Ac:.:..-_2_"J_ ?7/7~---·-
By: '··· . -·/2., ?-t{Z..,7-··· 

Ro Individually 

ii~~!W:__· .. 
Robel't Mokhtal'ian, 1):ustee 

By: . 
Robert Mokhtarian, Trustee 
Edmund Mokhtnl'ian Trnst 

.. 
/ 

...... -1 

/ 

This instmmcnt was acknowledged before me on the _ day of ___ , 2021, by 
Robert Mokhtarian, individually. 

,-(SEAL) 

THE STATE OF TEXAS 

COUNTY OF ____ _ 

§ 
§ 
§ 

Sae attached certificate 
Noh\l'y Public Signature 

This insln!mcnt was acknowlc<lgc<l before me on the _ day of ___ , 2021, by 
Robert Mokhtal'inn, Trnstcc of the Edward Mokhtarinn Trust on behalf of said Trust. 

- SN attached certificate 
(SEAL) 

THE STATE OFTEXAS 

COUNTY OF ____ _ 

§ 
§ 
§ 

Notnl'}' Public Signature 

This instrnment was acknowledged before me on the _ clay of ___ , 2021, by 
Robert Mokhtarlan, ·n·ustee of the Edmund Mokhtnrian Trnst on behalf of said Trust. 

(SEAL) 

{W1068793,2} 

City of Dripping Springs 
Rcsolntion No. ?.02 I-R33 Cny of'Dnppmg~prmgs 

MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

3 

See attached certificate 
Notn1-y Public Signature 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 

Dripping Sprint~~rtef llo. I 
Page 37 of51 249

Item 13.



CALIFORNIA ALL-PURPOSE ACKNOWLEDQMEiNT CIVIL CODE§ 1109 

A noleiy publlo or other officer completing this oertlllcnto vorlnos only tho Identity of the lndlvlduol who signed Iha 
document to which Ihle certmceto Is ollachod, and not the ttulhfulness, occurooy, or validity of that document. 

State of Callfornla 
County of Los Angeles 
on ~p¼ikf \6 , 7.f:/L I before me, Narciso Meza, Notary Public 

Date 
O 1 1 

k . /-lere Insert Name and Tltf e of the Officer 
personally appeared f°'.0\Je11 Mo n~tf.\(1~n 

Name(s) of Signer($) 

who proved to me on the basis of satlsfaotory evidence to be the person(gj whose name~ ls/ate 
subscrlbect to the within lnstrumel)t and acl<nowledg9d to me that he/s~e/11\ey executed the same In 
hi s/11¢'/tl\elr authorized capaclty{IE)S), and that b_y hls/htfr/th.elr slgnature(s) on the Instrument the personOO, 
or the entity upon behalf of which the person~) acted, executed the Instrument. 

Place Notary Sea/ Above 

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws 
of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph 
Is true and correct. 

WITNESS my hand and offlolal seal. 

Slgnatur:X<ii't(Ljh-7~ , 
Signature of Notary Pub/le 

-------------- oPTIONAL --------------
Though this section Is optional, oompletlng this Information can deter alteration of tho document or , 

fraudulent reattachment of this form to an unintended document. . ' I u~ \ity (As ( 
Dosorlptlon of AttRohod Do~:il181lt " L ( 1 uf: pd1;01~ s~,,,~ ~c:r;' ,c ZDZ. 1 ,J(). 
TIiie or Type of Document: f~ for ~IT To _ra<TICl'l Documerl( Date: ____ :_..., __ 
Number of Pages: :6 Slgner(s) Other Than Named Above: ----- · 

OapeoltyOee) Clell):lqd l>Y ~ lgper{eY , 
Signer's Name: J(o\>tC+ MoKY'<>.j tWl(Al'1 Signer's Name: ... - ··' 
D Corporate Officer - Tltle(s): ______ D Corporate Ottloer - Tltle(s): ;..-------: 
D Partner - D Limited D General D Partner - D Limited __..Pefneral 
Wlndlvlduel D Attorney In Faot D lndlvldual p ,Atfornay In Fact 
®'Trustee D Guardian or Conservator D Trustee .,..---......-----□ Guardian or Conservator 
D Other:__________ ___ D Other;.-::: ___________ _ 
Signer la Representing: _ _______ -~ ner1s Representing: _______ _ 

/®'(,-W.,"!iAAOO!roW$®~~~~~ 

City of Dripping Springs 
...Re~glution No. ?1l2 I.-R33 
City l Dnpping:5pnngs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 

D 
. . S . Pae..c.6_of J 8 

nppmg prmgs-MUD No. I 
Page 38 of5 I 250

Item 13.



THE STATE. OF TEXAS 

COUNTYOF H~1 ~ 
§ 
§ 
§ 

PETITIONERS (continued): 

As to the 17.038 ac1•es descl'ibed in 
ExhibitA-3 

740 Sports Park, LLC, a Texas limited liability 
company A'\ 
By: __ ,, _Ll~- ~~=--------

David Denbow, President 

This instrnment wns acknowledged before me on the J.Q_ duy of :'x,Jc ttCt...r,20::n, by 
David Denbow, President of 740 Sports Pal'lc, LLC, a Texas limited liability company, on behalf 
of said limited liability company. 

(SEAL) 

~,*~~:Jf'1, REAGAN T. SHEPPERD 
~f{Xf~Notory Publlo, S1010 ofToxeo 
\1;/3,•IJJ Comrn. Explros 11-10•2024 

~,,1,m,i,, Notary ID 120206732 

{W1060793,2} 

City of Dripping Springs 
-Rcsolu.t.ioirNo. ?1l2 l-R33 U ty ot Drrppmg---Sprmgs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

4 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 
------~··-······-··---- p, :ToM'8 _______ _ 

Dripping Spring1~IUD No. I 
Page 39 of5 1 251

Item 13.



THE STATE OF TEXAS § 
§ 

PETITIONERS <continued): 

By,£1,.,_ ~ 
Dawn CUllllingh 

COUNTY OF~-- § 

This Instrument was acknowledged before me on the I~ dny of ~ 021, by 
Clinton D. Cunningham. 

~i~ AUCIAHMIILlON 
($ML) (i1({}~ MyNO!afy1D'124110737 

·-4:,IN..~\} ~ ~2.0. 2023 

THE STATE OF TEXAS 

COUNTYOF~ 

§ 
§ 
§ 

Notary Public Signature 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on the li'~dny of54fttN,t,\. 2021, by 
Dawn Cunnlngliam, 

s4t' I ~ ' 

{W1060793.2} 

City of Dripping Springs 
ResolHtiou No ?.021-R33 

Cny on.Jnppmg'Spnngs 

AUCIAHMULTON 
MyNo!ruylD# 124110737 

l!xpltos Soptombor 2.0, 2023 

MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

5 

l,Ut. ta in1l'i9w 
Notnty]>ubllc Signature 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 

D
. . S . Pal!cJtof 18 

nppmg prmgs'MUU No. I 
Page 40 of 51 252

Item 13.



EXHIBIT A 

The approximately 112.2903 acres of land consisting of the 79.0723 acres of land more 
particularly described on the attached Exhibit A-1; the 1.18 acres of land more particularly 
described on the attached ExhibitA-2; the 17.038 acres ofland more particularly described on 
the attached Exhibit A-3; the 10.00 acres of land more particularly descl'ibed on the attached 
ExhibitA-4; and the 5.000 acres of land more particularly described on the attached 
ExhibitA-5. 

{W1068793,2} 
City of Dripping Springs 

d lf iW'l)\qBJ}\Vg ~ -l1i~J3 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Exhibit A - Pngc 1 of 1 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 

Dripping Sprin£r%fJBf~~- I 
Page 41 of 51 253

Item 13.



I 

l'IRLI) IIOTU!l l>KtlCKIDlllO A 79,07?.3 IICI\IS TllAO't' 01' 1,Alll} ou·r Ol' TIIK P,A, sm·m 
Ll!MlUl'i OUIWIW 1 'tllK C, II, HJ\t.O'tr SUl\\lkY Mll> 'tllt! lll!llJhll(ll I', IIUlll SURVf\'I' 110, 
0 111 llhYS COUl!l"l, 'l'BXAS 1 8AlD 19. 0123 /\Cit'& 'l'MGT OJ1 LAtm UIHIHI 001' 01' AHO 
A l'Oll'l'IOII or 'lllAT 0111\'l'AIII OS, 2757 AG(lll 'l'llAO't' 01' 1,hND GOIIVBYW ·ro HAIi! 11,\SS 
PAlt'l'llBR8, 1,TD, IJ'i l)IJJlll lll!COIIOl!U XII VOLUHI! 705 1 P/\Gll 605 01' Tit& 11/\VS UOUIIT'I' 1 
'l'IIXAll Ul!III> l\ll<JOlll)ll 1 lthtl> 79 ,0723 MnR 'fM!lT l'll' LANI> IJlltllO HOllll l'i\R'rtGUl,Alll,Y 
llll!ICl\lllHO DV IIG1'B8 hllU noUIIIJ!l M FOLl.011!1, 

llKGXNNlllO nt nn iron tdn found ot tho HorthCJout 11orn11r o.C 1:hnt coi:tnin 
lc0,00 llc~a 1:1:oet of lmul convayod to Udp11illR 6pd11JIU tnclepcndnot School. 
Diuttf.ct by l>oocl Rtl-corJo<l in Volu1n11 646, Pnr,o '131 of tho lloyn County, 1·cxofl 
Dncd llCICO~llD, acHd point bninJJ oitual:ncl ut tho 100111: 1101:tlml'lY llot:1:hlfcut 
l!Ol:l\l'tl: o! Dllitl l)S,:!757 noro tl.'uct,, 

'tllRIICB1 nlonr, thu F,cnood lloi:1:h bountlory lino ol! nnid 05,2751 utiro tt·oot, 
onrno boinR tho South bounJnry lino or thnt cortnin l:rnat of hod CCJIIVoyod 
to nobort: l', Sholton by t\outl rooortlod 1.11 Vol.111no 11,3, l'u11a 16 uf tho lluyo 
Oounl:y I Toxn11 UooJ I\Mordo I t:hn Col1011l11g \:hroo (3) oournM 1 · 

1. !l 09"27 1!i011 II fut: lc65,05 foot to ill\ :l.rbn pin f.o11111I, 

?., !I 09°29 11611 It J:or 21196,02 £(lot la, n 60HH' nnU fouml, 

3.' 11 19°121$211 ll rot /100,33 fntt.t l:o OIi iton 1>fo found 01\ tho Wont 
bou11dn1.'y lino of 1:hnt coi:l:c11n 1123,511 11cro trnct of 11111d oonvoyutl 
to D,T, Cowdo1\ by de1ell rocorclo1I :ln Volurnn 1127, 1'110<1 111 of tho llnyn 
County, 'tnxno l)oad \\!!cordn, onMo hoillB tho lloi:thonot oornor. 0£ l;hQ 
ht1roin llonodhocl l!t:nut, 

TIIRllC81 nlo11Q tho 1.'onnoJ Hnot bonmlory Uno of oold 1123,511 oc,:n tr11ct 1 

s o• 20 106" \I for 1362, 07 root t:o nn i ran 11in founJ 111: thn llortlrnoo t coroor 
of thnt am•l;uin 82,02 ucro l!i·nct of lontl l!OllVoytul to Lict:l.n Cre1hlt 1 Tcuatoc., 
by tlootl cocoi:dod in Volurno 367 1 t>ngo 291, of l!l10 llnyd County I Toxou !)nod 
nocordo, onmd bolnR the Soul:holltll! coi:11or ol! tho hol!oin doooribod trnr.t, 

TIIBIIOlt, nlon& tho .~oucnd llU't'th lioundo~y lino 0£ onicl 82,02 e1ci:o troct: 1 
H 09°11,5 11:\11 H for 11121,90, fool:. to 111\ iron pin~.tound 11t tho 8out:hcnut: ool'no\' 
of tlmt oui:l:1\in 10,00 oern t:rnct of loml convoyed to Oory 1mtl l'!oo).o Doucht 
by dnocl l'ocorclml ii\ Volurun 1!1S, l'ogo '102 of tho lluyo Gou11ty 1 'toxno J)cod llocot'tlo, 

'l'lll!NCJB, 111011~ thn B1101: boundory lino 0£ ouitl io,011 ocro tl'H<Jt, II ?."119 10611 B 
r,n: 6!JJ.,l,7 fool: l:o 1111 $.ron pin l!ound ol\ tho Boul:h bo1111d11ty l'illD or o pi:011onn<l 
oixty (60) f.ooc witlo utrool!, 

{W106879.3,2} 
Cily orDripprng Springs 

dW8l1\YP.1pt/RilsWr\i/gJ3 

MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Exhibit A-1- J>ngc l of2 
Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 

Dripping Sprih~1v\-tv Afo. I 
Page 42 of 51 254

Item 13.



Tll,UIICR. ol.Ot\R the 8out:h bo11nJ1wy lillll of oo11t 1>ro1loood oixty I.out wido 
tJt\·cot tlio t'olluui 111.1 l':l.va (5) Mm:nno 1 

l, II o?•lo15411 W fot• i'.30,19 foot to 11n iron pJ.n found, 

'l., i\n Ill"<'.! dioto11ao of 182,!)0 foot: oloOR ll 011rVC! to thu loft whono 
01011101\Co 0Te1 t " 15° 1~' 1:111 , l\ u (,Q!), 28 1 , 'l' u 9l. 99 1 , ond whouu 

. chorcl honrn S 0.5°l!J 10o11 l~ £ot: 10?.,3~ foot: t:o on iron 11!11 f.ound, 

, .. -.... 3,, .. 8 '/7°36·1S·3° W·f-ot:·1026·,6/i-.foot: to nn it'nn pin found, 

s. 

hn ore dio toncc of l?.0, 16 foot PloOR n <H1rvo to tho d,:iht: whouo 
totol. olurncmto ni:o I t ,. 12 '0?. 1 f,9 11 , n .. 1001, 77 I , T " lOli, 3.1 1 

1 
nnd whoua uuhohortl uoot·o 8 01~01 1!1011 W for H0,0!) font. tu on .iron 
p;l.11 1:01111<1, 

An nrc diul:nnc.:o of 91. 72 foot 11101111 11 mn:vo tn tho rihht 11111100 
olomonto l'l\'01 I ,. !1°1?.'.5311

1 I\ .. 100'/,771 , T •• l,S,0!1 1 11111I 11horm 

chon\ hnoro 11 01°0:l 1 ).511 ll for !)1, 6!) tool; I.:<> otl h·on n!n fuu11d, 

'l'IIHIICB, nl.011r, tho ~uot bo1111d111:y lino of onid t,0,00 nct·o l>ri11ri11Jt !lpd.nr.o 
Indupondont Schoo). IHr>tricl; 'l'rocl;J II 0°201 ).0'1 W for Ofr7,0?. Coot to tho 
POXlrr OF llllGitlHlNO or tha horoin 111lucribod tt·not uont11i11inf1 79. 0723 nr.1•00 
of lond. 

I lll!RROY CER'CH'\' tho t tho11u i1oi:'ui1' •A'tiro" 1n:oi,'cii!nJ' t'i:om' 11" o\'.srvoy mnlln 01\" tho 
gtound under my UllflOl'virrl.011 nocordlnl! to ln,r nnd uro truo. nml corrucl: to 
tJ10 hoot of \OY k11011ldduo, 

{W1068793,2} Rxhihit (\-1 - Pngo 2 of?. 
City of Dripping Springs Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 

cl}§Wftt9Pi~J1,?~~J.-lii~~3 D . . s .PnP.c tut o.flll 1 nppmg prmgs-M u No. 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement Page 43 of51 255

Item 13.



I1Iu~0Nom mmon11>'\'10N 

DUSOHlll'flON or: A smlP Ot1 tANl)1 I\Q•l'~ITT (00') IN Wllnlf, l'OTAUNB 1,111 ACRES IN 'lHF. ~Hll.lP /\ 

~~m.1J~~~g~~~~~i~o~~ ~~i 1~~Wo'M'J!o~~~~h'vJ~~~1~:r:1riJ'~~~~~l~fJ~~~ 
LTD,, 0~ kl!CORO IN VOI.\JMI'; 7M{. Mor; OOUi t\lt/\l. PI\OJll?RlV IU!OOf\P8, u,wa OOUN'JY, lf7X/\1;1 
{RPRH<W)J_.MO THAT Q/\1.lEO io.(l,2S AOllt=! lMOl' envi::tut!> PROM 3/llll 0U'/6'{ /\Olm WAW ANO 
btm()l\lUllu IN nm WAIUl/\NlY omm Win! vntJOOll~ l.ll!N 'l'O I\OllliJ\11" MOl<H1'J\r\lAW. ITT Alli\, or
RIIOOI\D IN VOLUM\:11?.0, PI\CU! IMO, OJl(llOIA\, PUUl.\0 nt!OOR08LH1W6 OOUNlV, 'rl:XMV, 0/\IP 1.10 
/\Om, 8'TmP OJ' W\Nt>, /\8 OHOWN ON 'rflla AOOOMPANYINO Ul(ltlCU, l)l!INij MORI! r/11\"l'IOVL/\\'\l,V 
llOOOIIIUISD BY MCO'Lm /IND UOVNP() NJ l'OU,OW8: 

ooorlno l'ln~lnJ <~kl l)l)lll'f11111J ot Uni ·r~>mu 0001'\llnlllo 8)'/llam t>f '1003, Toxmi soulh 001\lrnl Zono Ml!M), Us 
0\IIV(l)'ffOts\, RolO!OllC!I r:rnnw) N/\D.,OS(2011)(6'J1Unhl!U>10,0000}:Qomlilnod Sooto ructor. Q,Ooooio2~1 M111>ploo 
M{Jlo: o• 1!1' or, Ulsl11nooo ollotl 1lo1ortl uro n111fnto, 

OOMMUNtllNO !uno(orohua n1 (1011 rot! Vlllh on(Y1Jl!l111)1ud ~,<c l!N0~ rountl 011 lhn no11h lln<> ur ,, 3Q' v1ldCl l1111roGn 
& UO~ Etnrotnon1 tlClwi\bn!l hi Vollll'l\b 11H, P«uo 111, Oood ltncordn llnyo C<>Un\y,)'mll\n (OHK01}, l)nll\(I 11\ll 
mooto0Ulho1ly \!Ollll1011Al t:0mor ()f tl Ollllod '10.00 IIDf(I trool doaofr110ll In \ho Oonwol Wotl'll1lly Ouod lo '(11~ Olli> (If 
ll11P11ln9 n111r111111, of rooord In Votmno Hui, t>noq !)tf 01,rlll0'\'111an11> 1>01110 lho UQttlllwut.t com11r oTlhnt o&llncJ 
{7,0010 llCf~((QS0ll\)~11 In lh0Wutt11n1y nood\~11 VOl\~Or'(I I.IOI\ lo Joan.Oloudo On(n\Vol, n11d wlfo, Mnt.t 0Mclv,o11, 
ol roco111111 VO!utl\l). 'lrtl, 11/\l)o '/00, RPRHO'J'I ' 

'l'Hlmos N oz• ill' on•w, \vllh tho 01101 lino of entcl40.oo ncto 11v1JI, lho ro1l<iv1lnJJ 01100 (a) covrooa 1111d ui,lonons! 

1) NO~- 1S' llll"W, wlU1 lhOWll&tlltlo ut no!d 1~.0IHO UOl'llttMl,400,04 lOl>l ton ¼-fnoh lrol\ to<l rnuntl lbr1ho 
11ollhv,11et ooroor Of u11kl 11.0Hi(I "uro <motl ~Ill() lllllo!l lho \YO&lo1t1 m\Ulh\Voct C()tnof of Mltl Oll.!!'707 
l<llf01/0.0\, Clllll )\t1JWI' 0\1 )'lt(QINNING hhlo n} 

2) N oi• 131 oirw, 00.00 fMI ton ¼,lnoh //Q11 rod fonndfor o oou\ho11,1 roont,unluomnr ot ot\ld ,10,00 aelo 
troel, aml o t'I\Obl WMl01ly 110111\wnot eBV011l('--O/J\OI or 011ld IIG,?.16'/ nctC'I tmct nni.l homln, m1tl • 

U) H o-t• ,fO' 111" rf1 llli0,70 fool to tJ Y,:-Jnoh ltOI\ mll fourt1I Oil U1n wo,\ llno Of VDIU 'll>,O'f?.:1 m:ro ltllct, Oud 
botno \ho no1U111n11tw111orhun,10: 111\11 (tom W!Jtn\11101111,a }Hnr~, Iron rod ro11n<1 rortho n11rthootl oQmor oJ 
~old '10.00 tl0/0 (t(IJ)I, n1td U10 1\01\1\WQQl IJ<J/l\llr I.if Ullhl 7Q,0'/?Jl ncrn Imo\ bonro N 11?.~ 1{\' IJO'W, 7110,07 
(on~ 

YflJ.lN0ll o oi~ 1$' UO" e, oronlflu noltl OU.~l07 uoto lraoMlhcio!d wo,;t lino .0110,01.2:, aero Imo( 00.00 foo\lo {\ 
½.-111011 l!on ,1111 fo\11111 on tho ao\1\h llno <>C 01~11 00.2'7ti7 uom troo~ 1Jnmo hPlno thb n<ull1 nrm -or nnld 1'f.0~1o ootb 
lroo~ for n oouU1w110\ OOMut of e1nl1l 10.on:i Mfll lmol Md ooulhoMt IXllmlr horoln, 

'l'llllNOl3 Q trt• .olt'>1 u•1· w, Wllh tho troU1h Ihm ,.,, onld 1001nh1dor towl, IU'ld nullh 11110 of ool\l 1'(,01$1 IJ t\Orn lrn~t. 
OliO,'/() rnutto tho ro1m· C>I' lll?GINNIN~ 0011lulnl110 MO ooot, ol lilnd, tnOltt or !0119, \'Mhh1 lhosn mnfon llhd 
11ou11tlo. 

11110 dooe1lpUon nono1111m1110<1 lly Olaudl ~u1vo~l,1g, !nu, oou111h119 a111voy 17(>11,01,ttwu 

S\U;'oyod hYI tllolldl uuivo.yl11a, 111(1. 
t-',t'>. Dox f2Y3 
iOl'ifO r-11,.huoh l\oalJ, 8\o, 10?. 
Om>)lllllJ 8p1lnoo, To><M 1il~O 
1m,uuo-2ROQ 
Plln) Ro11lnh'l'lllon Nl>,110001100 

./ ..• .A~',>d&ir,i .,, I ..... ,,,_' '" "' ' ""' /..,? "(~fi•t.,~..a:,o.~~-------~~' 1\6/1 dlora< P1nln~1i1cl11ol t.olld ll\llVAyor N , OU'/ 1\10 

. (W1.0(i87,93,2} . 
City bf IJnppmg S"pnngs 
Res:gu1ti9.n No ?.021-R33 Cny rm 1pp111g-Sprmgs 

MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Rxhihil A-2 - Page l or l 
Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 

Dripping Sprih~1'1tJrf ilfo. l 
Page 44 of5 l 256

Item 13.



EXHIBITA-3 

BEING 11,038 ACRES OF LAND LOGATen IN ·rns P.A. SMll'H U:At;UE IN HAYS COUNiY, 
Tl:XAS AND BmNG TME SAME PRO'PERiV IJl:$0nl~ED IN VOLUMI; '1783, PA~E 307, 
orr:ICIAL ~lJBLIC nECORDS OF HAYS COUNTY, iP.XAS (O,P,R.H.C,T); SAID 17.038 ACRE 
'l'~CT BEING MORE PAl~llCULARLY OESCRIBED AS r-:OLLOWS WITH ALL BEAmNGS 
BASl:!O ON THE! Ti:XAS COORDINA iE SY$iE:M1 CJ:NTRAL ZONI: NAD83 4203, 

BEGINNING at an Iron rod wllh cap stamped "l<C !:!NGq found for the most soulharly southeast 
oorner of a C(llfacl 40.00 MrE\ tract dascrlb0d In Volume 646, Page 731 of the Hays county Dead 
Records (M,O,D,R,), oald poh,t also bolng on tha north Uno of n callod 0?.,O?. acre tract dascrtbed In 
Volume 367, Page 294 H.C.D.R. and being the southwest cor11or of tho herein described tract; 

iHENCE, With an east !Ina or said 110.00 aom Ira ct and the wcmt Una of Iha heroin de.scribed tract, 
N02°12100'W, for a distance of 490,67 foet to a½ Inch Iron rod fountl for tho northwest comer of 
Iha herein desert bed tract, same being tha southwest oornor of a called 1.18 acre tract as 
descrlbed In Dor.umont Numho1· 1704130 OPRHCi.; 

iHBNGe, with the south line of said 1.1 fJ acre tract, and u,a north llno of lhe herein descrlbcd tract, 
N07°47'001151 for n dhilonoe of 869,69 feel to a½ Inch Iron rod found for tl\8 southeast corner of 
said 1, 18 aoro traot, oamo being the eouthwest cornor of a oollod 70.0723 aero traot no described In 
Volume 1128, Pago 840 O,P,R,M.C,r., said point being tho boghmlng of c curve to the loft; 

11-IBNCl:, Wllh the north line of the heroin doacrtlmd Imel, and u,o south llne or sold 70.0723 acre 
tract, the f<>llowlng courooo and dl!ifancoo: 

1, with oatd curve to the left an arc lonoth of 210,60 feet, sold curvo hnvlng fl mdluo of 
1001.01 foot, o centrol nnole of 12•0312011

, and hav1ng long chord which boats 
N81°'15'1G"fa, for a cllotance of 210.27 foot to o coloulototl point for U1a 011d or aalcl cuNe; 

2. N76°i1S132''E, for a dletanO<l of 441,06 foet to u ¼ Inch Iron rod found for u,e northoaot 
oomer of tho heroin described trnc~ samo bolng lhf) northwast eomor of n cnlled 0,0001 
aero lraot M doscrlbod In Volumo 4260, Page 618 o,i;,T.t-1,C. T.; 

i 'MENCE, with the east line of Iha herein described trttol, same being the wM t lln~ or eold 
15.0001 aor& tract, 804"16'20'W, for a dlatanco of 680,13 faet to a¼ Inch Iron rod with cap 
stampad 'AST' set on the nort11 llne of a called li,00 acre tmot aa desorlbod In Volume ?.858, Paga 
201 O.PJUI.O.T,, said point being the souu,wost comer of said 6,0001 ncra tract and tho 
southeast comer of the herein described tract; 

'fHENC'Ei, wl01 tho llnos con1mon to said ll,00 acre tract amJ Iha herein described tract Ille followln!J 
couraOJJ and dlst.oncos: 

1. soa02-t'28'W, for n distance of 360,'i'i foot to u ¼ Inch Iron rocl found for the most northorly 
northwest comer of sold $,OD ttcfe lracli 

2, S01°36'01"E:, for u dlstnnco of 60,613 feat to tt ¼ Incl\ Iron rod wllh cap stamped "ASl'' sat: 

3. S8B0 10'03'W,, al a dlsti:mca <>f 150,23 pass u ½ Inch lron rocl found for the most weoterly 
northwest comer of said 6,00 acre lraol, sum a bnlng the northeast corner of said 82,02 oore 
traot, continuing for a total dlslonr,e of 1071,43 feat to u,o POINi or- BE01NNING and 
r.onlaTnln(l 17,038 ncros or land, mote 01· lass, 

{W1068793.2} 

City of Dripping Springs 
- R!)_sgtuii{»l No. ?1l21.-R33 
U ty t DI 1pping""S"pnngs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Bxhibit A-3 - Pngc 1 of 1 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 

Dripping Spri:ii~\lJ<S' ~ o. I 
Page 45 of 51 257

Item 13.



EXHIBITA-4 

Oak Hill Surveying Co,, Inc. 
r.H 2'1 Mwy. 2~0 Weol: o Auul:ln, iX '10'735 • 1!312) B!l2-2.D7-2 . . .. 

llny ?.~ 1 1909 

l'lltLu 11otes mrnc1nntm1 /\ 10.00 M11n TIWYl' or uno ou·r OF -i:un•l', M~11P~i'~\llh0un 
Ill 11/iV!I <!OUlll'V, TRXIIS, !l/1 JI> ,\0 ,oo /IC,!llt "tMU'I' or 1,,\111) UltlllO Ol"f OJ: ,\Ill) ,\ l'Oll'l'lOII 
01' '(llh'I' <:111\Th UI Tlli\01' OP l,,\HI) (10111/RVRII 'f()• JM:K IIOIIHl,I, nv l)P.~!11 llHCOllllltll 111 1/0l,tllll!. 
753, l'hl.'CU 252 OP 'I'll!{ 11111-:11 nnr:O11110 011 lli\Vll COUln'Y, 'rBX/\ll, l),\lll .lCl.110 /\Cl!\& TMCl' OP 
1,/\110 mmm ttonn l'hl\l"H:Ul,11111,V l>UfllllllllF.11 I\V mmrn 111111 noutmll ,\fl 1'01,t,OHII, 

lll!GllUllllO l'OR nrlPlmJJtllllt nt nn fr1111 pin not: nc thQ no11tl11mnt corner of tha 11hnvn J 
nn Ill ,lnl'k lln11ell trnct I nn:l<I pof.nt ho1.nr, oll:11ntod nt tho 1n011 t nonthorJ.y 110111:hannt 
cornr.r nf thnt r.nrt.nin fol' ty f10,00 ncrl! trnct or ·.ln11cl convayn~ to llrl11pi11n 811rlnr,n 
l11,ll'rn11clo11\: llchnol IIJntrlr.t hy 1lt>111I rnoorclrcl In Vnl111n11 Mi(,, rn110 1:31 ot tho Hny11 
1:ount·y llt>01I ll11r.orcl11 1 /lll Lil 11olnt huJ.1111 nJllll'ltacl "'' tho 1111rth ho1111,t111•y 11110 of 11 
thJ rty (JII) r11nt 111110 lnnronn n111I nnr.<mn on11(1mr11t dr.ncll'lhncl ln II clcncl (1f racortl In 
Vol 111t10 J.OJ., 11ottc t 7.l or Lho llny11 C:011111:y llancl l1111:<1l.'1Yc1, •1 ,,. , 

TIIHIICI:, nJ0111t thn mirth honnclnr)' Hnn of 1111ld nnna111,111t, 11111110 holnn the, 1101:th hn1111clu 
nry lino or t:hl'II: cort11l11 IJll , 01 ncrn t:rnrt n( .\111111 MIIVt')'<'CI to VI r11lnln h, lfonnon 
hy clQocf n•nonlnll In Volum!' ?.1.11, l'nnn ~11, n( t·hn llny11 lln1111ty llnMI ll~oc1r1ln1 
fl 01)0fc7'UO" ~l for 1017,?.l rout; tu II l'ilH) 111111 ,rnr. Inn CMC:O ~omen: 1,nnr., 

TIIRJttll',, cu11tlmtln11 nl.oun l!lto fo11r.n1I north ho1111,!n1•>• llne · or ctnlcl ?11.01 nnrt' trnnt, 
11nn111 hntnn tho nnuth hmmclory llna of- nn\c\ ,look 11011111.l 'l'rool: 1 1:hu (0\.1.11111.1111 t111> 
(2) C()lll'M!III 

I, H o• 16' SS" II for 10. ,,z fou t to nn I T.011 r,ln f(IUllcl. 

2, il 09•t1S 1 1311 H for 71, I, '.IS fnrt to nn lron 11111 qQI; for thn 111111th\lont corner 
(1( thn hnl'cJ Ill ,lancrlhncl tl'(ICI; C'III\I 11111110 t.hk rourr OJ' tlr.llWIHN(I, 

'fllllllt:11, tht'o\11\h thn l11torl111· nl: 1111/cl 11011011 'rl'llot, 11 2•1,9 10611 & for liJf,,?9 Cont 
to nn Iron \1111 0111: nn thl' nn11th bn1111clnry 11110 (Ir 11 11Y(l1'0001I 1llxty (ftO) fnot ulclo 
\'nncl, nnid rnSnt. hnl11r, nituntncl ot t;hn 1101·th11out, uort1t1l' or 1:h11 hnr.nln clcn<:l'lbc\cl 
t1·11ct, 

'l'llfillOR, conl:l1111tnn Cl1r1,11gh tin, l11 tnrin1· or on;hl llo11t11.\ 'l'rnr.t n1on11 thll nouth 
l.1111111clnry Hnn of (llllcl 11ro11onocl rood, the. ro1J.011l11R thrno (3) couruoul 

1, ll 71°36 15311 II £or 221,,(,2 (uot to nn I.roll 11!.11 on~. 

2, An nm cUutnnc(l oC 102 . 90 foot nlonn n r.11rvo to tho ri11ht 11honl! ulut~ontu 
nrcn ln1S0 ),2 1 1~", llttCi09,2ll font, 1'a9.1,99 fnnl! 111111 Uhl)BQ cltorc1 buuw 
II us•1310011 R {or 102.37 ruot to on !toll pin not, 

3, II 07" 10151," I\ for 2311, 19 fol!t to 1111 i1:1'i11 11111 not Cor the northo0r1t 
cornot· or tho hero In cluo<ll'ihotl trnct. 

{W1068793.2} Exhibit A-4 - Pngc 1 of 2 

J 

City of Dripping Springs Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 
Resolution No. ?.021-R33 

Cny o t IJnppmg"Spnngs D
. . S .Page 14Uo.fl8 

1 nppmg prmgs M lJ No. 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement Page 46 of5 I 258

Item 13.



Hoy 25, 1909 ~' 
llo I 10, 00 nni:o tl'nat ~. 
Pngo 2 ··,i, . .. .i.. 

tllllllO&, conl;J.m1lnn l:l11:ou11h 1:ho J.ntorior of 1111ld llowuU Ti:nr.t, II t 0 t,9 100 11 II 
£or 691.47 fuut to 1111 ir,"' 1il,11 11111: un thn lonoo<l north huu111lnty ~JIii! o! nnlcl 
~0,01 noi:o l~enoon 'rrMt n11d bo!nn 11J.t\luto1I «t tho 11outhan1Jt cornrr or. tho huru~ 
in 1lnoutlliud tt:out, • 

{W1068793.2} 

City ofDrippi11g Springs 

&y5shYPlpl>JRlslir11i1~J3 

MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Exhibit A-,1 - Pngc 2 of 2 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 

Dripping Sprih~'Nro'ef il.Jlo. I 
Page 47 of 5 1 259

Item 13.



EXHIBITA-5 

,' 
Oak Hill Surveying Co., hie,· 

61~4 Hwy, ~O Woa~ .~ Aur.Un, TX 7U'IOl1 • l!H2l 89;?,2072 

,. 

Juno 11, 1 1990 

' ,4.i~ ,'ij(-.\1\· •, I, 
l'lBl,1> \IO'rnS l)f,SCR In um /I ~, 0011 hr.ntt ·tnMT 01' 1,/\1111 11111' UY 'rllll r, h. RlllTll 1,MOUll 
1H 11,WS llllllll'tY, 'tll)(,\A I Sh Ill 5,000 Ar.II~ 'l'IIMll' 01' r,i\1111 111\lllll OU1' OP' "111> h ronnoH 
01' TllhT Cllmr/1111 102,:11169 'l'IWl'r Of 1,1'11111 (:011v1mm ,·o 11,\IH rMS l'/ln'l'lll!llll, l,i'li, IIY 
111\f,ll RRCllRIIY.11 Ill v111.u1m 70rt, 11/\llB (\0:1 01' 'l'IIP. IIP.P.I) nm:omul 01' llhYll r.llllllT'i, 1'1L'<flll 1 

llfllll 5 .unu MlllR 'l'IIMW 01' l,Mlll \11-:l 110 11111111 rllntlGUl,i\111,Y Dlltllllll IIF.11 IIV lll\1P.ll t,111) nou111m j-
MI l'OJ,l,01/ll I . 

nr.OJ.NIIWO nt. n11 lrn11 11,\n fo11111I ot tll<l IJlllllhtlOOt co1•nor of· tho nhova 1lr1tr,l'lho1I rn-
Mnl11t11~ trML, 1111ld 1rnt11t hnlnl} l·hn 11n11thnnnt r,nr11r1' or n 17.0~l/1 or.rn tr11r.t or. l,1111I 
r.1•m•r)·rtl to ,1, 1:, mul ltnrn n111:1h1c-U. hy 1fru1I r~•u11r1lt•,I 111 IJnlnmll 797, l'nnn 7oq or l'ho 
lloyv ()nunty 1111ml Rouurc\01 ~nit\ point 11J.Rn nlt11ntc1\ on llll', uni:th lrn11111lnry Jinn nr n 
911 ,01 11oru Cr/I<'.~ of. lclml 111111vo>·0<I to V!r11i11ln n. 1/onnon hy ,land ,r.nnot'J,,J Jn Vn)umn 
220 1 1111110 51h of thl! II/Iyo Uounty llnntl neconln, " 

1·11mmn, 11lc111n tho 11not. hn111uln ry J.l.110 11( tho nhovc1 cfoll/lrlhml 1:root, II <i0 J?.1 lll11 r. for 
560,25 rt-ot to nn lrnn pin Count! nt. tlm nnct.huont c11rnnr of tho hnt·'1111 claucrJhod 
trnnt, n111I hnf.nn tho nnrllu,nnt Ol'l.'llnr or tho 17,051.0 111!1'0 lln1:1luoll 1'rl!ct , 

TIIRl!CP. 1 thrn11n1t i-110 lntortm· or 111111I ~l111n 11nn11 r•nrtnor ·1:l'll~t 111.ouo thn nnnth hnnmlnry 
1 lul' of n 11rn11on11il nt:<ty (fill) fnot Nl1IC1 tMtl ti 77°:Jli 15:I" n f11r :uil ,nt f<'nt to nn Jr1111 

11111 f1111111I nt thn nnrthnnol· r.nr.nnr or t h<1 lwrnln dnnr.rlh111I tt,u:1:1 110111'1 hC'lur, tho 11otlh-
1,011t c11rnrr 11( n 111,011 nnrn trnl!t nl' 10111.I cnnvnyr,I to lhlry 11111I l'J1,nln Unnnrtt. 11!1 don1I 
rclllmfoil Ju Vol111nn 79~, rnJ,:o 87:! or. thl! llny11 U111111ty llnn,I llncorc1n, 

tlll\lllllf, nlonn t,ltn c.,cwt ho1111dory l.1110 ne thn h(ltO{n 1IM111rlhll1I ti-net, R 2•1,9 1or,11 II for 
(,'.J(\,<J(l frat t11 nn l.rnn flln f.01111<\ nt 1.h11 nn11chnnn1: ('nrnrc nf l;hn h<-tt1l11 1lnnnrlhod trnct, 
1tn"n lioln1t t,lra 11011tll1101tt curnl'T nf tho nhovn llanr.rlhml Otmn/ttt 'l'~ll<'l, oltm hnlnj\ 111 t~ 
11nt;1111 n11 tho rancoJ 11orch hn11111l11ry 11111, of thn nhovn ,lnncdlinil Vlrnlnlt1 11, Won11on Tr11ct, 

Tllnlll\l~, nlonn tho fonr111l nouth hn11111lnr:,, lino of Lim hl"rnln dnnur l hn1I tr.nr.t, 11111110 hofn11 
I\ fnncotl 1•11r t h•n uf l:hn north h1111111ln\'y 11 nu l•f t:ho nhovn <lnncd \,Qd Vt l'I\ t II In n. lfonnon 
1'rnr.t I II n9 ,,,~ I 1311 II fl'lr 302. (il rMt tn th~ PUlll'I' UI' IIIIOJ.1111 um 0£ tho h<il'Dhl 1la11cribnd 
troat contnl11inn 5,Ullll ncron nr lnnd , 

l mmr.nv Ollll'rtl'Y thnt tl1<1no 11otn11 uoro ''""""rn,I frnm n nni:voy t~n,tn on thr, n1·01111d nnc1or 
thy 1111porv1&l1111 nccordlnn t:o .l111~ n111\ nrc truo nntl corr~.ct 1:0 C!)~ hont: or tfty lrn0Hlut.1111i, 

.~ ~·' 1': •. r••~•• I:,:. 
t!1,.,, .• , '❖, 

... 
i~(i1i' 

,lob ~H,Sl 

,,1(\11',o.~oloio 

Hp1l11tnil ~. • " ,:. ) 9-3M9.'.J 

{W1068793 .2} Rxhlbit A-5 - Pngc 1 of 1 

--j 

City of Dripping Springs 

&9s8l1IYR1~p'/R~~t1~i1~J3 

MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 

Dripping Spril:~1v\~~ ~o. 1 
Page 48 of 51 260

Item 13.



EXHIBITB 

CERTIFICATE OF LIENHOLDER'S CONSENT 

THE STATE OF TEXAS 

COUNTY OF HAYS 

§ 
§ 
§ 

PlainCapital Dank, Texas state bank, being the lienholder on a po1·tion of the land that 
is proposed to be included in Dripping Springs M\lnicipal Utility District No. 1, as described by 
metes and bounds on the attached Exhibit 11111

, hereby consents to the Petition for Creation of 
Dripping Springs Municipal Utility Dish·ict No. 1 signed by Robert Molchtal'ian, Individually; 
Robe1t Molchtarian, Trustee fo1· Edward Mokhtnl'inn Trnst; Robert Mokhtnrinn, Trustee for 
Edmund Mokhtal'ian; David Denbow, President of 740 Sports Park, LLC, a Texas limited 
liability company; and Clinton D. Cunningham and Dawn Cunningham concerning such land. 

WITNESS MY HAND effective as of the ,, o-tt-- day of 5f.£1l/Y1 BEA , 2021. 

THE STATE OF :ff.XA S 

COUNTYOF IJJILLIArY\SON 

§ 
§ 
§ 

PlainsCapital Bank, a Texas state bank 

Dnte: ___ q_,__.-----'-\ .....:O;....__;;i__.....:\ ____ _ 

This instrument was executed before me on this Jn!±: <lay of 5Ffa~ 'lr , 
2021, by Tommi WBM VIC( f'BCS(!x./J( of PlainsCapital Battle, a Tc~s state bnnk, on 
behalf of said bank, , 

(SEAL) 

{W1068793.2) 

e JULIEZITZ 
lkARIY AA!lo. Slale OI Toms 

lfCAarJ tor e11021.2 
My c«r,risslo!\ Explm 00. I I •2al3 

Exhibit D - Pngc 1 of 2 

City of Dripping Springs 

clijs8f~R1~p'!R1s?s>Ji·\i1~~3 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 

D;ippi,~g sp·;:a~~~mer~ . 1 · -··-· 

Page 49 of 5 1 261

Item 13.



EXHIBIT "1" 

BEING 17,038 ACRES OP LAND LOCATED IN Tlic P. A, SMITM I.EAGUE IN HAYS COUNTY, 
TEXA$ AND BEING THE SAME PRO})ERTY l)ESCM3ED IN VOLUME 4783, PA~E 307, 
OFFllCIAL PUBLIC RECORDS OF HAYS COUNTY, TEXAS (O,P,RJl,C,T); SAID 17,038 ACRE 
TRACT BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS WITH Af.L BEARINGS 
BASED ON THE! TEXAS COORDINATE SYSTI:M, CENTRAL ZONE; NAD03 4203, 

BEGINNING al an Iron rod wllh cap stamped "l<C ENG" found for tho most soulherly southeast 
comer 6f a called 40,00 acre tract described In Volume 646, Page 731 of the Hays County Deed 
Records (H,C.P,R,)1 said point also being on the north Una of a called 0.2,02 acre tract descnbed In 
Volume 367, Pago 294 H,C,D.R, and being the soulhweat comer of tho herein described trac11 

THENCE, With an east llne of said 40,00 acre tr.act and the west Jina of the herein descrlhed tract, 
N02°12100"W1 for a distance of 488,67 feet to a½ Inch Iron roct found for the northwest comer of 
the herein deacrlbad tract, same being th.e SO\lthwest corner of a called 1, 18 acre tract as 
descffhe<f In Document NumbQr 1704138 OPRH0T,: 

'rl-lENCI:, with the south llne of said 1.10. acre tract, and U1e north llne of the herein desetlbed tract, 
N07•47'00"e, fw a cflstanca of 869,60 feet to a ¼:Inch Iron rod found for the souU1east comer of 
said 1,18 aoro troot, oame being the southwesloorn13r of a callod.70.0723 aore tract as de!lctlbed In 
Volurne 1120, Pago 049 O,P,R,H,O,T,, said point being the beginning of a curve to the loft; 

'THENCE, wllh the north line of the herein described tract, and the souU1 llno of sold 70.0723 aero 
tract, the followlno courses and distances: 

1. with said curvo.tq the Ian an aro length of210,66 feet, a.old cuNo having a l't\dlus of 
1001.01 feet, o central angle of 12°0312011

, and l1rlVlng long chord Which boars 
N01 °46'18"E, for a distance of 210.27 feet to a calculated point.for the end of said curve; 

2, N76°4313211E1 for a dlstanco 6f 441,05 foot to a¼ Inch Iron rod found for the northeast 
comer of the heroin described tract, same being the northwast corner or o called 6,0001 
acre tract as described In Volumo 421,0, i>aua 010 O,P.T.H.O,T,; 

1'MEN.CE, with tha east line of .Iha herein desotlbed traol1 same )>elng the west tine of said 
6,0001 acre tract, S04°16'26'W, for a distance of 600, 13 feet to a¼ Inch Iron· rod with cap 
stamped 'AST" set on the north 11110 of a called 6,00 acre traot as described In Volume 2060, Page 
201 O,P,R,H,O,T,1 said point.being Iha souUlwost cornorof !,aid 6,0001 aoro tract and the 
southeast comer of the herein das1;rlbed tract; 

'fHBNCE, wlU1 the lines oommon to said 6,00 acre tract and Iha herein described tract the followlnu 
courses and distances: 

1. SOB021129'W, for a distance of 368,71 feet to u ¼ hu~h Iron rod found for the most norllietly 
northwest cornet of said 6.00 acre lracl; 

2, S0f 03o'01"E, "for u dlslance of 60,60 feet to a¼ Inch Iron rod WlU1 cap stamped "ASl'' set; 

3, s00~10'0311W, .. at a distance of 160,23 pass a ½ Inch Iron rod found for the most westerly 
northwest comer of said f>.00 acre tract, same being the norU1east comer of said 02,02 acre 
traot, conUnulng for a total dlstanoe·Clf 1077.43 feet to the POINT or BEGINNING and 
containing 17,038 acres of land, more or less, 

(W1068793,2} 

City of Dripping Springs 
...Rcsoh1lio11 No. 202 l.-R33 
Ctly of Unppmg Spnngs 
MUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

Exhibit B - Page 2 of 2 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I Consent 

D . . S Pag_e L& nf J & I 
nppmg prmgi; MUD No. 

Page 50 of 51 262

Item 13.



c 
Q) 

E 
Q) 
(/) 
(1) 

w 
ol 
C: 
.Q 

~ 
-0 
Q) 

Cl 

I 

City of Dripping Springs 
tvfUD Creation & Operation Agreement 

EXHIBITD 

Easement Dedications 

Dripping Springs MUD No. I 
Page 51 of 51 263

Item 13.



CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS 

ORDINANCE NO. 2021-41 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS, TEXAS, TO 
VOLUNTARILY ANNEX BY REQUEST OF THE PROPERTY OWNERS 
APPROXIMATELY 111.1103 ACRES OF LAND INTO THE INCORPORATED 
MUNICIPAL BOUNDARIES OF THE CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS, TEXAS 
INCLUDING THE FOLLOWING: FINDINGS OF FACT; EFFECTIVE DATE; 
REPEALER; SEVERABILITY; AND PROPER NOTICE AND MEETING. 

WHEREAS, the City of Dripping Springs ("City") is a Type-A, General Law municipality 
located in Hays County, Texas with the rights and privileges thereto; and 

WHEREAS, Section 43.0671 of the Texas Local Government Code authorizes a Type-A general 
law municipality to extend the boundaries of the municipality and annex area 
adjacent to the municipality by petition of area landowners in accordance with the 
procedural rules prescribed by Texas Local Government Code Chapter 43; and 

WHEREAS, the City received a written petition from Clinton Cunningham and Dawn 
Cunningham requesting the voluntary annexation of the area described in Exhibit 
"A" on September 30, 2021; and 

WHEREAS, the area identified in Exhibit "A", 15 acres located in the P.A. Smith League, Hays 
County, Texas, is adjacent and contiguous to the city limits; and 

WHEREAS, the City received a written petition from 740 Sports Park LLC, requesting the 
voluntary annexation of the area described in Exhibit "B" on October 1, 2021; and 

WHEREAS, the area identified in Exhibit "B", 17.038 acres located in the P.A Smith League, 
Hays County, Texas, is adjacent and contiguous to the city limits; and 

WHEREAS, the City received a written from petition Robert Mokhtarian individually and as 
Trustee for Edward Mokhtarian, and as Trustee for Edmund Mokhtarian requesting 
the voluntary annexation of the area described in Exhibit "C" on October 12, 2021; 
and 

WHEREAS, the area identified in Exhibit "C", 79.0723 acres of the P.A. Smith League Survey, 
the C.H. Malott Survey and the Benjamin F. Mims Survey No. 8, Hays County, 
Texas, is adjacent and contiguous to the city limits; and 

WHEREAS, the City Counci l granted the petitions and allowed City staff to proceed with 
negotiating the service agreement with the property owners, in accordance with 
Section 43.0672 of Texas Local Government Code; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council conducted a public hearing and considered testimony regarding 

City of Dripping Springs 
Ordinance No. 2021-41 

Village Grove Annexation 
Page I of 17 

264

Item 13.



the annexation of the property, in accordance with Section 43.0673 of Texas Local 
Government Code on October 19, 2021; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council deems it to be in the best interest of the citizens of the City to 
annex said territory into the City. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
DRIPPING SPRINGS, TEXAS: 

1. FINDINGS OF FACT 

All of the above premises are hereby found to be true and correct legislative and factual findings 
of the City Council of Dripping Springs, Texas, and are hereby approved and incorporated into the 
body of this Ordinance as if copied herein in their entirety. 

2. ANNEXATION OF TERRITORY 

A. The property in the area described in Exhibit "A", "B" and "C", which is attached hereto and 
incorporated herein for all purposes, is hereby annexed and brought into the municipal 
boundaries (i.e., corporate limits) of the City of Dripping Springs, and is made an integral part, 
hereof. 

B. The official map and boundaries of the City of Dripping Springs are hereby amended and 
revised so as to include the area annexed, and to reflect the expansion of the City's 
extraterritorial jurisdiction resulting from such annexation. 

C. An annexation agreement was executed prior to the annexation approval in accordance with 
Section 43.0672 of Texas Local Government Code and is attached hereto as part of Exhibit 
"A", "B" and "C" and incorporated herein for all intents and purposes. 

D. The owners and inhabitants of the area herein annexed are entitled to all of the rights and 
privileges of other citizens of the City of Dripping Springs and are hereby bound by all acts, 
ordinances and other legal actions now in full force and effect and those that may be hereafter 
adopted or enacted. 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE 

This ordinance is effective, and the annexation achieved herein shall be final and complete upon 
adoption of this Ordinance on the date set forth below. 

4. FILING 

A. The City Secretary is hereby instructed to include this Ordinance in the records of the City. 

B. The City Secretary is hereby instructed to have prepared maps depicting the new municipal 

City of Dripping Springs 
Ordinance No. 2021-4 1 

Village Grove Annexation 
Page 2 of 17 

265

Item 13.



boundaries and extraterritorial jurisdiction. 

C. The City Secretary is hereby instructed to file a certified copy of this Ordinance with the Hays 
County Clerk. 

D. The City Secretary is hereby instructed to submit by certified mail a certified copy of the 
annexation ordinance a map of the entire city that shows the change in boundaries, with the 
annexed portion clearly distinguished, resulting from the annexation to the Texas 
Comptroller's Office. 

5. SEVERABILITY 

It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the phrases, clauses, sentences, 
paragraphs and sections of this Ordinance be severable, and if any phrase, clause, sentence, 
paragraph or section of this Ordinance shall be declared unconstitutional by the valid judgment or 
decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, such unconstitutionality shall not affect any of the 
remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs or sections of this Ordinance, and the remainder 
of this Ordinance shall be enforced as written. 

6. PROPER NOTICE AND MEETING 

It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this Ordinance was passed 
was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, place and purpose of said 
meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act, Chapter 551 of the Texas Government 
Code. Notice was also provided as required by Chapter 52 of the Texas Local Government Code. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 19th day of October 2021, by a voteof3 (ayes) to O (nays) 
to O (abstentions) of the City Council of the City of Dripping Springs, Texas. 

City of Dripping Springs 
Ordinance No. 202 1-41 

THE CITY OF DRIPPING ~PRINGS: 

? 11'~ /?)Jt &v' 
Bill Foulds Jr. 

ATTEST: 

Village Grove Annexation 
Page 3 of 17 

266

Item 13.



City of Dripping Springs 
Ordinance No. 202 1-41 

EXHIBIT '' A" 

Village Grove Annexation 
Page 4 of 17 

267

Item 13.



PETITION REQUESTING ANNEXATION OF TERRITORY 
IN WHICH THERE ARE FEWER THAN THREE VOTERS 

TO THE MAYOR AND GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS, TEXAS. 

The undersigned owner of the hereinafter described tract of land, which is vacant and without 
residents, or on which less than three qualified voters reside, hereby petition your Honorable Body to extend 
the present city limits so as to include as part of the City of Dripping Springs, Texas, the territory being 
more fully described on Exhibit "A" attached hereto and incorporated herein for all purposes. 

I certify that the above described tract of land is contiguous and adjacent to the City of 
Dripping Springs, Texas, is not more than one-half (1/2) mile in width, and that this petition is signed 
and duly acknowledged by each and every person or corporation having an interest in said land. 

Dated: {) Ji , 2021 . 

Cli 

~Q/1 . 
Dawn Cunnin~ts"==-

ST A TTE OF TEXAS 
COUNTY or HAYS 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on {).rty / i"202 I by Clinton 
Cunningham and Dawn Cunningham. 

- ,,,';,;,i_'••,., -·~:£::t· KAREN RAY 
f{ ~ _.i:1 My Nota,y ID# 124526790 Notary Public, 
·-•. ~;f·· "'«:.'+':.··· 1:vnlres May 13 2023 ,,,,,,'!!.,,,,,' '-"fl' ' 

1y \..omm1ss1on t.xp1res: _ __ _ 

268

Item 13.



EXHIBIT A 
Property Legal Description: 

Tract 1: 

Oak Hill Su,-veying Co., Inc. 
6124 Hwy. 2\)0 W est~ Austin, TX 78735 • (512) B92,2!J72 

llay 25, 1909 

l'lllLD NOT~S Df.5Cl\lDlH11 h l0,00 /\r.l\ll Tn/\CT OP l.hNO OUT o~· 'rill! r . . -ll!~'s11'l.irir1"1.l!/\CUP. 
lH 11/\YR i;rnnn-y, . Tf.X/1S, S/ITII 10. 00 hClll! TMl~f 01' 1.111111 nnrnr, 01.rr 0~ 11110 ,I ronnon 
OF 1'11,\T (:r:n1·11111 1'nAC:'f Ol' J./ltl-) r.m1vr.vm1 TO' J/,C:K 11mm1.r. nv OF.Ill> RRCORIIP.I> Jll VOI.UIIE 
75), r11r.r. 252 OF l'lm m:m1 l\llC:Oltl>S (\f IIAYS r.1,UIITY, 'l'llXt.S, Sh ill )0,110 ACRE TRACT OF 
LflllO UllJ.tl(l llOl\ll PIIRTIClll,Anl,Y l>JlS1:ninr.r1 RY >11\Tllil Alm nour•ms Ml "FOl,1.0IIS l 

llP.GlNIIIllr. fllR 1\1\FJ?RlltH:f. nt nn Iron pl n ,mt nt tho . 11011thuo11t cor11<.>r of the nhovo 
11nld ,lnrk llnu<-ll Trnct, ,mi d pc,lnt hnlnR 11 ltnnt<ul nl" thr mo"t mmthorly 11011the,u;t 
corn<.>1· nf thot cartoln forty 11(1.0IJ nr.1'<.> t1·nct of ln111l convnyrd to 1lrl1>pln11 Sprl1111s 
l111lrpl'111la11t /khocd 1111<1.rlrr hv clrncl rc,o,nrdrcl In l'•1lrn11p r,1,fi, l'nnti 731 of tho 1:ny11 
C:ounl·y U~l',I l!Ot!nrc1A, Rn I ,1 po Inf· 1,a Inn RI tuntrrl 1'11 t:ln' nnrl h ho1111,ln ry I I II<' of n 
thlrt)' (JO) r(1c,t 1..rhlc ln "r<-nr; niul rn1·c•AR nnn("111<'nl' •lrr.,~r fl ,r,l In n df"'rtl nf n-iconl 111 
Vo.l.11nm JIii, l'n110 I 7l nr tho llny11 l:n11nty lleml l\pl'orcfR. 

Tlllmi:r., n '""~ rt,e llflr t h ho1111rl11ry l l110 nr ,,,, l,1 rnROllll'lll"' nnmq hr'"'' Lhr north 1101111<1-
nry line nr 1"11nt Cl'l"tlll\l 91),IJI ncrn trnrt of -,,,n,I l"OIIV('\' ('11 to Vlt·nln lo n. IIORNOI; 

hy clcn,l rrr.c,nlrcl 111 Vn l1101r 7.7.fl , l'nr,n ~l/1 nf 1hr 11111•,s_ 1:n1111ty l)rrcl 11<:c:nrcln; 
S R9"117 1Ull" r. for 1ll77 .2.1 foP.t to n (il)- IJ nnll. Art· 111 n fo11cn corno, 110At. 

TIIWt:r., r,,ncl1111fnf( nl,,nr. th<' r rur.rcl no rth hn1111•ln1·y 1 !110 11f ,inlcl 9ll.01 nr.r,, trnr.t, 
"""" hrlnA rhr r.nnlh 1,01111.!,iry llnc nr nnl,1 .111ck llm,rl I Trnct, thn follo111nr, to'> 

· (2) CollrAP$ t 

l, N 0°16'55" E ·fo r 70.1,2 ( ec, t to n•t lrt111 11111 found. 

2 . S 89°115 1 Jl" f. (or 7111. :J'.i fC"cat to on l rnn pin IJl'C f o r thn nmrt:lwcot r.orner 
of the herein ,Jancdhcd trn.:t n nd h<>lnr, thr, rolN"I' Of' Or.OlNIIHlr.. 

T IIEIICE , thr.our.h tJ1c lntrrlnr nf l'nlcl lln11o ll ·rr11,· i-, If 2•1,9 106" R for fiJCi,99 foot 
_to nn trnn rln se.t ...,, ll1<- ,.,,11th l,i,1111,lnry J inr ,,r n proro,in1l ,i1xl·y (liO) foot uldc 
rnnd, 1.mid ro!ut hol11~ sitnntn,1 nt tho north1.•e,i1. r.ornnr nf "the heroin de11cr lbcd 
trnct~ 

'l'llf.llCF.. r.ontlnnln1t throuv.h thr lni-erlnr nf ""''' 1101,r ll 'l'rnct nlollR the ,;uuth 
bnurHinry line of soicl 1n·o11oc;,HI r,,nll, lho (o_llo\lfnA throo (J) courgost 

1-. II 77"3!i 1 5J" F. for 2'211,62 fc,ct to rm lr1111 11L11 ,,_,1:, 

2, '"' nn: <llntnnc<' of IA 2,91l fr.et n lo111, n r.urv~ to tho rinht uhnnu olomcnts 
nrc,1 1d1s•12• D", l\n(iftlJ.211 foat, 'l'"91.?9 f re t nn,1 uhose r.hnrd bc,11r~ 
II 05°13 1 1111" F. ror 1112.37 feat Lo nn iron pin s<!t, 

3. s !17"10'511" F. for 230, llJ fret tn no in•n t>ln Rct Cnr tho nnrthcnsl: 
corner or tho hc,rc ln dc,icrihotl trnct. · 

269

Item 13.



Mny 25, 1909 
Re: 10.00 ocre troct 
raf\c · 2 

·rnf.Jlt:1':, contlnulnr. thro11r.h the Jntc rior of 11;1lcl llowtll.l Trnct , S 2•1,9io&" W 
for 691.li'l feet to 1111 iron pJn S(\I: 1111 t he fonccd north hu1111clnry lJ11e of 11nlr.l 
90,Ul ncn~ 1Je1rn!ln Trnc.:t mul hcln11 sit11ntor.l ot the southcn!lt coi:ncr of. the here
in described tract . 

'flll!Nl:Jl , alonp, thr. 1101.th b u11111l11ry 1.1.nr. of isn ld 90.0.l 11crc lrnct 1111cl thP. nou t h 
botnt\h\ty .I lne of: 11nitl lln11olt Trnrt, ti 69°115' J J" W for 6Jli,J5 foct to thr 1'0111"1' 
Ol' nll<llNUl l'lG o( Lhc hcH·rln tlr1<cdhr.1I tenet ,:1111Lnlnl11~ _JO,OO ncrM of lnnd. 

I tmnr.111· rf.RT IF'i tl,nt tlt('fll' notcn 
nnclcr mr 1<11pcrvl s l o11 ncrurdinB t o 
kno1~1c,lgc • 

.lnh 1/lMft 

270

Item 13.



Tract 2: 

,,. 
Oal·<: Hill SLwve·y·ing Co. , 'inc. 

6 12-<1 Hwv. ~90 1Nest • Austin, TX "18735 • (512) 892-29"/2 

.lune Hi, 1990 

• l\,: If. •ii;. 
l'tELll tH)'l'RS llF:SCRlll llll~ (\ 5. 000 ,\cnt, ·rnACT OF 1./1111> 011·1· llF 'fllR !', A . s 111·rn 1,P./IGUr. 
IN 111\YS CUlllffY, l'l!XI\S 1 llt\ lll :l ,llllll At:f.f. 'l"IIA<:'I' Ill' I.MIil llRHII: 1111'1 l)f /lllll A l'IIR1' IOII 
lll' Tll/lT Cf.RT,\ 111 1112. ](l(,!l 'l'IIAC'I (lf' l .hllll 1:nnv1w 1m TO ti,\ 111 PASS l't\l\'rtlfm:;, l ,Tp. llY 

. 11r.m1 m ,Clllllll\JI Ill VOI.IIHF. 711'>, l'i\(;j\ (,(l'l Ill' TIii! t•rmtl 111\(:l)R!Hl (ll' llflYS Ctlllll'l'Y, TF.XAS, 
l,1\11) 5,111)() M!RI\ TIIA<:T Ill' 1.1\llll 1m1111: 111111" l'All'l'll!Ul,1\111,Y l>f;SC:Ullll; I) (,'j rmn,s I\IUJ fi() IIIJJ>S 
AS YOl.l ,fJIJS : 

nr-.c:rmllt1C: nt 011 Iron :,In fo,1111I nt llm !'1,111h1~P11 t c-:,ir11c-r uf thn nhnvr. ,lc-i;r. rlhoil Tll
ma \nlnr. tr:irl, isn !,I 11 n l11t )1r l11 (l 1hr 11n111·hrn:.1· rnr11r1· nf:, 17.ll'illl ,wrr (l"i'H:I nf l;,11<I 
r1•11Vr)·rd t·n .I. (!, -1111I Hrti·n l!11r,1t; c-l I h~• 1lrr1I 1'N;11 r<1, ,,t 111 l',1 l11on•• 711}, l'n(t<' J()q oi ,('hi' 
llnys C:n11n(·y ll<'C' <l llcc,,nhq ,sn ( ,I pnln l: nl"n 1d tunt r, t 1111 t lir ll"l'lh (H,11111lnry l lnr of 11 
90 . lll nc-1·c l't"ill't ,,r ln",1 C:nllV<')'NI 1·0 Vlrl\lnln n. \.1('!1.Sl'fl ,.,. ,lro,1 rc,:onlc ,I ln Volume 
220 1 Pnr,c 5111 of tl111 lln)'.'I 1:011111 y llnctl llc-c:11nl". . 

TIIF:IIC:1', n lnnr, LhP. i,r,-1: hnu1ulnry line- nf l'hc- i\h,wr 1lr,s1•1· thr1I t'rnr.r , II C. 0 12 1 10" r-; for 
"C.11,25 <('et t.n nn in,n pin f1n1111l at Lhr nnrth>u'r.t r.tl rn" l' nf t·hr hnTn\n cll!sc:rl h r,1 
trnc:t, nnd h c- lnn thr. nnr(h<'n.~ I r11r11c-r nf thn 17.ll'i,n nc:rr C:nnlwrll 'J'rncl. 

TllliNC:f., lh r c>nnh th!! fnt<•rloi- n f ,s:tl ,1 Unln 1'11:s,, l'n\·l11,;-r Trn<' t nl n11r. thr 11011th h1>11111lnry . 
line of n pn>t"" ' " " ,. , ~ 1.,· ( fill) f n 111· 111 ,11' TMHI 11 77"'11i''i1" r,; f111· 11i l. fl \ r c•,:, t lo nn Iron 
ptu ruu,ul :tt t:hf" l'tOrlhonttl cnrnri- ,,r t"lu• h,, ,•t"' fl\ tlt•tu· i-lh,..,l 1,rn('l • l'Hltnf' hrlHtt Lh('\' nnrlh
UO/lt cnrn<'I· nf n I0,1)(1 n,·rr I ra1· 1· nf ln11,l rnnvc-vr,I 1,, c:nrv nn,I Vl roln 1ln11:s('tt hy d r.ncl 
r c.:onlell I II Vol umr. 795, l'nr,1• II 72 n f Lhc tlny11 c,,;m l v· llcwil itc-.:nnls. 

1·11m1cn, nlonr. th<l t''11>t hni1111l11ry l iun nf t·hr ltr1·,.111 •lrrw rlhc,l trnc:t, S 2'1,9 11)h11 I~ f<lr 
636,9!1 · fc·ct tn nn 1.rnn pin fn11111l n l lho 111111!.111,nn l: r nrnrr of 1hr. h rrr. ln ,lrr.c:rlbod crnct , 
:snmr h c lnn 1-h ~ is1,11Llnrnl"I' c-c•r11r1· nr 1hr n!rnvc- dr11c- rlhr•l 1>n 11io"11 Tr:ir-L, n l1«1 hnl1111 sit-

·. unted 011 the f <' IIC-<':d rto rCh h n11111lnry 1111<' n f th<' l\hov<1 <lrRr:rll,c-,t Vfrrtl11ln R, l~C RRon Trnc:t, 

TIIP.IICP., nlonr, LI><' fr.11cr ,l sc>11lh h1n1111l111·~• l lnr 11f th,• hr1·rl11 ,lc-.~c:r lh<>tl I n 11:L, onmc lm lnr, 
. n (('ncc1I ('!'rt l nn of I h o tlf'l'I h ho111ulnr)• II n n n f I h1• nhnVI' , Jr,.r:r I 111:11 VI rn I II In II. Hcsf!ot1 
1·rnct, N 119•1,5•13" H for 3l12.Gt rrnt tn the l'll\llT 1)1' Bl',1: rn11rn1: of the hotei 11 ,lescdbe<l 
trnct ~on tnlnln~ 5. nnn nc rc s of lnn<l . 

l IIF.llP.IIY 1:rnrt l'Y t hot thP:'l<' nnl·ro 1-,i;-rn pn•1u11·<',I f r nm n 1111rvcy mn<IC\ on l11r r,ro11111l 1111,iP.r 
my s 11porv isl11n nc,:or,111111 to 11111 nnrl nre !Tue nncl r:11\'l'N; t to t·h c h<-:1 t' of my kno llledr,e , 

· ,;lob ·31651 

,: ~i:' li,' j·. 
' .. ~-~-. ::~~~,;: •::.-_: 
.· ·,.;:it" ·•:. 
··y 1fi,1 

.. , . U..Jill<--.. 
:•-.~.O) .· !{; !' :s,..• .--..(1""'40'"'lc::8,----~ 
I. /·: -- t' ; 

llp,lntnd •· '· · 9-.3- 93 

271

Item 13.



City of Dripping Springs 
Ordinance No. 202 1-4 1 

EXHIBIT ''B" 

Village Grove Annexation 
Page 9 of 17 

272

Item 13.



PETITION REQUESTING ANNEXATION OF TERRITORY 
IN WlllCH THERE ARE FEWER THAN THREE VOTERS 

TO THE MAYOR AND GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS, TEXAS. 

The undersigned owner of the hereinafter described tract of land, which is vacant and without 
residents, or on which less than three qualified voters reside, hereby petition your Honorable Body to extend 
the present city limits so as to include as part of the City of Dripping Springs, Texas, the 'tenitory being 
more fully described on Exhibit "A" attached hereto and incorporated herein for all purposes. 

I certify that the above described tract of land is contiguous and adjacent to the City of 
Dripping Springs, Texas, is not more than one-half (1/2) mile in width, and that this petition is signed 
and duly acknowledged by each and every person or corporation having an interest in said land. 

Dated: __ /Q~b~I _____ , 2021. 

740 Sports Park, LLC 
A Texas limited liability company 

By: f) 
Name: David Denbow 
Title: Manager 

STATTE OF TEXAS 
COUNTY OF HAYS 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on fJe.Jo/,c.r / s±, 2021 by David Denbow, 
Manager of 740 Spmt Park, a Texas limited liability company, on behalf of said limited liability 
company. 

Nota~ a~~ 

My Commission Expires: 11--1 I, ,Zt,'1-'-/ 

273

Item 13.



EXHIBIT A 
Property Legal Description: 

BEING 17.038 ACRES OF LAND LOCATED IN THE P.A. SMITii LEAGUE IN HAYS COUNTY, 
TEXAS ANO BElNG THE SAME PROPERTY OESCRlBED IN VOLUME 4783, PAGE 307, 
OFACIAL PUBLIC RECORDS OF HAYS COUNlY, TEXAS (O.P.R.H.C.T); SAID 17.038 ACRE 
TRACT BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS wm-t ALL BEARINGS 
BASED ~O.N THE TEXAS COORDINATE SYSTEM, CENTRAL ZONE NA083 4~3. 

BEGINNING at an iron rod with cap stamped "KC ENG" found for the most southerly southea-st 
comer of a called 40.00 acre tract described In Volume 646, Page 731 of the Hays County Deed 
Records (H.C.D.R.}, said point also befog on the north li'nf! of a called 82.0.Z acre tract described in 
Vof~ 367, Page 294 H.C.D.R. and being the southwest comer of tile herefn descobed tract: 

THENCE, with an east line of said 40.00 acre tract and the west llne of the herein describad ~ 
N02p12.'00'W, for a distance of 498,67 feet to a¼ Inch lron rocf found for 1he nortflwest comer of 
the herein de$CrlJ>ed tract; same being 1he southwest comer of a called 1.18 acre tract as 

. described in Document Number 1704138 OPRHCT.; 

THENCE, wiih ~ south fine of said 1.18 acre tract. and ffle north fine of the herein descnbed tr~ 
N87947WE, for a distance of859.59feetto a ½loch iron rocf founclfor1hesoUtheast comer of 
said 1.18 acre tract. same being the southWest comer of a called 79,0723 acre tract as described In 
Volume 1128, Page 849 O.P .R,H.C. T., said point belng the beginning of a curve to the left; 

THENCE, with ihe north nne of the herem described -tract. and the south lfne of said 79.0723 acre 
tract. the followlng courses and d"rstances: 

1. wfth said a.uve to the left an aro length of 210.68 feet. s-.Jd curve having a radlus of 
1001.01 feet, a cenfiaJ angle of 12~3'28". and having long chord whtch bears 
N81 °45'16"5, for a dlstance of 210.27 feet to a ca[c:ulated point for the end of said Qll'Ve; 

2. N15°43'32"E, for a distance-of 441.05 feet to a½ lnch Iron rod found for the northeast 
comer of the herein described tra~ same being the northwest comer of a called 5.0001 
acre tract as described in Vofume 4258. Paga 618 O.P. T.H.C. T.; 

THENCB, witlt ths east One of the herein descnbed tra~ same being ilie west line of said 
5.0001 acre tract, S04°16'2S'W, for a.distance of 560.13feetto a½ Tnch iron rod with cap 
stamped •AST" set on the north lfne of-a called s:oo acre tract as described ln Votame 2858, Page 
201 O.P .R.H.C.T., said point beingihe soulhwest cort.rer of said 5.-0001 acre fract and fhe 
sotrlheast comer of the herein described tract; 

nu:NcE, with the lines common to said 5.0G·acre tract andihe herein described tract the following 
courses and distances: 

1. S88°21'2S"W, fora disfattceof358.71 feetfo.a¼inch iron rod fotmd fbrthe mostt1orfherly 
notihwest comer of said 5.00 acre tcacl; 

2 , S01~01"E, for a distance elf 69.68 feet to a.¼ inch iron rod With cap stamped "Asr"-set; 

3. S88!.1-8103~, , at a distance of 1'50.2~ pass a½ inch iron rod found for the most westerly 
north~ comer of said 5.00 acre tract, same being 1he northeast comer of said 82.02 acre 
tract, continuing for a total distance of1077.43-feeUo the POINT OF BEGINNING and 
containing 17.038 acres of land, more or' less. 

274

Item 13.



City of Dripping Springs 
Ordinance No. 2021-41 

EXHIBIT ''C" 

Village Grove Annexation 
Page 12 of 17 

275

Item 13.



PETITION REQUESTING ANNEXATION OF TERRITORY 
IN WIDCH THERE ARE FEWER THAN THREE VOTERS 

TO THE MAYOR AND GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF DRIPPING SPRINGS, TEXAS. 

The undersigned owner of the hereinafter described tract of land, which is vacant and without 
residents, or on which less than three qualified voters reside, hereby petition your Honorable Body to extend 
the present city limits so as to include as part of the City of Dripping Springs, Texas, the territory being 
more fully described on Exhibit "A" attached hereto and incorporated herein for all purposes. 

I certify that the above described tract of land is contiguous and adjacent to the City of 
Dripping Springs, Texas, is not more than one-half (1/2) mile in width, and that this petition is signed 
and duly acknowledged by each and every person or corporation having an interest in said land. 

Dated: IIJ Liz , 2021. ~~-=-
Robert Mokhtarian individually and as Trustee for Edward Mok.htarian, and Robert Mokhtarian 
Trustee for Edmund Mokhtarian 

STATTE OF CALIFORNIA 

couNTY oF Lo~ Ar"geles 
This instrument was acknowledged before me on / O-- /2 , 2021 by Robert 

Mokhtarian, Robert Mokhtarian Trustee for Edward Mokhtarian, and Robert Mokhtarian Trustee 
for Edmund Mokhtarian. 

My Commission Expires: OC/- 23 - 2 0 & '-( 

S -e,,e a ttctch.Qcl CA Ac1L11~CQcl91nen-f 

ID - 12- 20 2- 1 A-V, 

276

Item 13.



CALIFORNIA ALL-PURPOSE ACKNOWLEDGMENT CIVIL CODE § 1189 

A notary public or other officer completing this certificate verifies only the identity of the individual who signed the 
document to which this certificate is attached, and not the truthfulness, accuracy, or validity of that document. 

State of California 

County of Los Angeles 

On /()-- I 2 - Z01-I before me, ______ A_._\/_a_la_d_e_z~, N_ot_a_ry~P_ub_l_ic __ _ 
Date Here Insert Name and Title of the Officer 

personally appeared ---------FJ2=o~' =b=c~r_i~~M~o~k~b....,fcf-->-=;1 ..... r~t~'{;(_~[\~ ----
Name(s) of Signer(s) 

who proved to me on the basis of satisfactor; evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is/are 
subscribed to the within instrument and ac~nowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in 
his/her/their authorized capacity(ies) , and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), 
or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

Place Notary Seal Above 

I certify under PENAL TY OF PERJURY under the laws 
of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph 
is true and correct. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

Signature a. [JaCact/ __ 
Signature otjo--;;.,1 Public 

----------------OPTIONAL ----------------
Though this section is optional, completing this information can deter alteration of the document or 

fraudulent reattachment of this form to an unintended document. 

Description of Attached Document /;efih'vn /l.eqitesting lqnf){!XO 1-to,1 oF Tern'tOY:J 
Title or Type of Document: ____________ Document Date: /Q- /"2_ - 2.0Z( 
Number of Pages: I Signer(s) Other Than i'lamed Above: ____________ _ 

Capacity(ies) Claimed by Signer(s) 
Signer's Name: ______ · ______ _ Signer's Name: ____________ _ 
D Corporate Officer - Title(s): ______ _ l=:J Corporate Officer - Title(s): ______ _ 
D Partner - D Limited D General D Partner - 0 Limited D General 
D Individual D Attorney in Fact 0 Individual CJ Attorney in Fact 
D Trustee D Guardian or Conservator D Trustee O Guardian or Conservator 
D Other: _ __________ __ _ 0 Other: _ _ _ ___________ _ 
Signer Is Representing: _________ _ Signer Is Representing: ________ _ 

m:@:.'li:<:<;.;<,%1<;.'@;.%1<;.i;;<;.i,;<','C:<.,~™~'@;,~~~-g,~~~~ 

©2014 National Notary Association· www.NationalNotary.org • 1-800-US NOTARY (1 -800-876-6827) Item #5907 

I 
I 

277

Item 13.



EXHIBIT A 

Property Legal Description: 
Tract 1: 

FIELD NOTES DESCRIBING A 79.0723 ACRE TRACT OF LAND OUT OF THE P.A. SMITH 
LEAGUE SURVEY, THE C.H. MALOTT SURVEY AND TH8 BENJAMIN F. MIMS SURVEY NO. 
8 IN HAYS COUNTY, TEXAS, SAID 79.0723 ACRE TRACT OP LAND BEING OUT OF AND 
A PORTION OF TIIAT CERTAIN 85,2757 ACRE TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO MAIN PASS 
PARTNERS, l,TD, BY DEED RECORDED IN VOLUME 785, PAGE 605 OF THE HAYS COUNTY, 
TEXAS DF.F.O RECORDS, SAID 79. 0723 ACRE TRACT OF LAND BEING MORE PARTICULARI.Y 
DESCRIBED BY METES AND BOUNDS AS FOLLOHS, 

BEGINNING at an iron pin found at the Northeast corner of that certain 
40,00 acre tract of land conveyed to DrippinR Springs Independent School 
District by Deed Recorded in Volume 646, Page 731 of the Hays County, Texas 
Deed Records, said point being situated at the most Northerly Northwest 
corner of said 85,2757 acre tract. 

THENCE, along the fenced North boundory line of said 85.2757 acre tract, 
same being the South boundary line of that certain tract of land conveyed 
to Robert F. Shelton by deed recorded in Volume 143, Page 16 of the Hays 
County, Texas Deed Records, the following three (3) courses: 

1. S 89°27 158" E for 465,05 feet to an ir6n pin found. 

2, S 89°29 116" E for 2496,82 feet to a 60im• nail found. 

3. · N 79°12 15211 E for 480.33 feet to an iron pin found on the West 
boundary line of that certain 423,54 acre tract of land conveyed 
to D.T. Cowden by deed recorded in Volume 827, Page 81 of the Hays 
County, Texas Deed Records, same being the Northeast corner of the 
herein described tract, 

THENCE, along the fenced West boundary line of said 423,54 acre tract, 
S 0° 201 0611 W for 1362,07 feet to an iron pin found at the Northeast corner 
of that certain 82.02 acre tract of land conveyed to Lidia Crabb, Trustee, 
by deed recorded in Volume 367, Page 294 of the Hays County, Texas Deed 
Records, earn~ being the Southeast corner of the herein described tract, 

THENCE, aloni the ~enced North boundary line of said 82.02 acre tract, 
N 89 ° l1S 11311 W for 1821. 90. feet to an iron pin "found at the Southeast corner 
of that certain 10.00 acre tract of land conveyed to Gary and Fioela Douc~t 
by deed recorded in Volume 795, Page 782 of the Haye County, Texas Deed Records. 

THENCE, along the East boundary line of said 10,00 acre tract, N 2°49 106" E 
for 691.47 feet to en iron pin found on the South boundary line of a proposed 
sixty (60) foot wide street. 

278

Item 13.



T~ENCE, along the South boundary line of said proposed sixty foot wide 
street the followin~ five (5) courses: 

1. N 87°10 1 54" W for 238.19 feet to an iron pin found. 

2. An arc distance of 182,90 feet along a curve to the left whose 
elements are: I., 15°12 1 13", R"' 689,28 1, T = 91.99 1, and whose 

. chord bears S 85°13'0011 W for 182.37 feet: to an iron pin found • 

... -- ····3. · ··s 7"7°36-' 5-3u W· for· 1026-. 64- -feet to an iron pin found, 

4, An arc distance of 120.16 feet along a curve to the right whose 
total elements are: I• 12°02 111911 , R .. 1007.77 1 , T .. 106,331 , 

and whose subchord bears S 81°01 1 501' W for 120. 09 feet to an iron 
pin found. 

5. An arc distance of 91. 72 feet alon~ a curve to the rip,ht whose 
elements are: I= 5°12 1 53", R • 1007,77 1 , T .. 45,89 1 and whose 
chord bears S 87°03 1 15" W for 91.69 feet to an iron nin found. 

THENCE, along the East boundary line of said 40.00 acre Drippinp Sprinps 
Independent School District: Tract; N 0°20 1 1811 W for 847.82 feet: to the 
POINT OF BEGINNING of the herein described tract containing 79.0723 acres 
of land, 

I IIEREOY CERTIFY that these notes· ~~ere .. prej,.1.i"red . from· a· sutv-ey made ·on··the 
ground under my supervision according to law and are true and correct to 
tpe best of ~Y knowledge, 

R,P.L,S.04018 

279

Item 13.



Tract 2: 

fl~lONOTI: DESO~IPTION 

t>~SCRIPTION OF A STRIP or- t..AND, 60·FEET (60') IN WIDTH, TOTAi.iNG 1.18 ACRES IN THE PHILIP A 
SMliH LEAGUE SUR.Vf!Y NO. 26, A-416. IN HAYS COUNTY, Tt::XAS, 8EINC3 lHE REMA1NIN0 PORTION OF 
THAT CALLEO 66.2767 ACRE TRACT DESORIBEO IN THE. WARRANTY OEED TO MAIN,J>ASS PARTNERS, 
LTD., OF Rl:CORO IN VOLUME 785, PAGE 806, REAL PROPERTY RECORDS. HAYS COUNlY, lEXAS 
(RPRHCT), LESS THAT OAl,.LEO 79.Q123 ACRE TRACT SEVERE:O FROM SAID 86.i757 ACRI; TRACT ANO 
DESCRU3ED IN THE WARRANTY DEED Wlnt V~NOOR'S l.lEN TO ROBER'r MOKHTARIAN, ET ALIA. OF 
RliCORD IN VOLUME 1128, PAGf: 849, OFFICIAL PUBLIC RECORDS, HAYS COUNn', Te>CAS: SAID 1.18 
ACR6 $TRIP OF I.ANO, AS SHOWN ON THE ACCOMPANYING S)(ETCH, 8EING MORI! PARTICULAR!. V 
OESCRl815D BY ME.lES ANO BOUNDS A6 FOLLOWS: 

B1mrlng Basis: Grid &arJng8 of the Tl)Xas Coottllnate System of 1983, Texas. south Cenltal Zone (4204), US 
S1,1ivey Feet, Roforenett FtaM&: NAO •. Jl3(2011}(epoc:h::2010,0000): C<imblned $oate Factor. 0,999920221 Mapping 
Anglo: o• 27' 07•, Dlswncas clted herern are surfaca, 

COMMENCING for reference at tron rod With oap i;lamped •l(c ENG" found on U\e n01ln llne of a 30' wldtl Jngre&& 
e.. Eg~ Easoment descl'lbed In Volume 181, Paga 171, Deed RMords Hays coun\y, roxal\ (DRHOl), being the 
moot ooulherly eouthaflst comer of a catted 40.00 aore tract de&01ihed Ir, the G1m~al Werra11\}' Deed tr> l'he Olly of 
OrlppJng SprJngs, of record In Volume 1462, Paoo 611, OPftHOT, same b&1n9 the soulhwoat com~r or that oallsd 
17,0518 80f8 descrlt)ed fn the WalT8.l\ty Oeed with Vendor's I.Ian to Jean.Claude CardWell, rutd wire, Mara Cardwell, 
of recol\l 111 Voluma '/97, Pas~ 709, RPRHGT; · 

THENOB N 02• 13' 00" W. With lhs eaot Una of sal~ 40.0o acre ttuol, tho following three (3) cow.es and dllsta11o&s: 

1) N 02• 13• os•w, with thowastllne ofe;,td 17.0610 o.oretraot, 498.64 feetloa ¼-lnoh Iron rod round tor the 
northwest comer of eatd 17.0618 e.ore trll<it, wmo befog tllu westerly soulhwsst comer of Mid as.~757 
acr& tro.ct. and POINT()~ Bl:tGINNING heroin; 

2) N 02° 13' 09" W, 60,00 l'eet to a ¼-lnoh Iron rod found for o southeast roent/ftl\t oornsr of said 40.00 acue 
tract, and a mo11tw$,terly northwa8t salient comet of said 86.2761 acre tract end herein, and 

3) N a1• '16' !W Ii, 859,70 feet lo a v...tnoh Iron 10d found <>n thct we!lt line of ~alll 79,0720 acre ttect, and 
being the nortneaatcorner horelo: end ~om which point. a Y.rJnch Iron rod f()Und forthe northeast oomer of 
said 40,00 aero traot, aud the northWl}fil oorner of eald 7Q,0723 acre trao\ bears N 02• 131 oe·w, 788,07 
fee~ 

THENCE S oa• 13' 09" I:, CTOGslng Hid 86.2757 sore tract with Geld wost Ill\& tJt79.0723 acte tmot. 60.00 f11at too 
¼-lnoh Iron rod fotJnd on the south llne of eald 06.2767 110.rs traot, same being 1h13 north line of asld 17.0510 acre 
traot, for a tJoulhweol oorl\er of eald 79.0723 "ore tract and eoutheast comer herein; 

TH6NCE $ 81• -46' tW W1 Wllh tho 61:1Ulh llno of eald rerr111lnder tnscl, and north llne of aetd 17,0516 ~l;llt ttatt 
869,70 feet lo tile POINT OF BEGINNIN~ COlllafnlng 1.18 8Cl0$ of lime!, ITTQre or leas, Wlthh) lttesa metm alld 
bounds. 

Thie dosc,lptlon aooompanled by Sle.Udt Surveyln91 too. Boll/ldaty Survey 17077•01,dwg 

Survoyed by: 8taudt surveying, lno. 
P.O. Box 12'78 
16740 Fltzhug"h Road, Ste, 102 
Orlpplng Springs, Toxes 7(16'-0 
512·668-2236 
firm Reglst<aUon NC>.: 10091700 

l~t'lrerl Pmfi,selo11111 lend survayor o. 

\ 

\ 

\ 

280

Item 13.



Work Order # Title WO Status

00380 MD002-30000-Replace Fuel Filters (Engine and Frame Void

00379 MD002-45000-Replace Air Inlet Foam Filter Completed

00378 MD004-15000-Ball Joints (Lubricate) Completed

00377 MD004-7500-Oil Change and Filter Completed

00375 MD003-7500-Oil Change Completed

00374 Mercer St. Banner swap Void

00373 Mercer St. brush clean up Completed

00372 MD002 wipers Completed

00371 BD003 Oil Change Completed

00370 Platform for paint shed swrf Completed

00369 Parking lot base Completed

00368 Weed Eat around Drip Fields and LS Completed

00367 MD005 recall Completed

00366 College Street 50 amp service install Completed

00365 Mount HAM Radio tower New Work Order

00364 EM001 to estimator for damage repair New Work Order

00363 Butterfly Valve Repair - Digester 2 New Work Order

00362 Meter Reads Completed

00361 Mow Lift Stations Completed

00360 All US flags to Half-Staff until Sunset 3/31/2023 Completed

00359 567 pecos river crossing Completed

00358 Please remove bench structure. Completed

00357 Trim the trees on the trail on the north side Completed

00356 Tool Inventory Completed

00355 MD002 Emission Recall 20E07 Completed

00354 Move Supplies to Shipping Container New Work Order

00353 Backfill Hole in Field 44 Completed

00352 FMP Telephone pole replacement Completed

00351 MD003-7500-Oil Change Completed

00350 MD003 and MD005 Registration Completed

00349 PW004 Brake light out Completed

00348 Trash disposal Completed

00347 Rob Shelton ROW mowing Completed

00346 Sports Park Rd. ROW Mowing Completed

00345 Founders Pool light pole(s) power check Completed

00344 Office #7 painting Completed

00343 Office Furniture Relocation Completed

00376 MD004 Alignment Issues and Tire Wear Completed

00342 Orange Fence removal Completed

00341 Wallace St. Pothole Completed

00340 PW004 - Oil Change Completed

00339 Door Knob Repair Completed

00338 Herbicide application New Work Order

00337 Mulch Dump Completed

00336 Handrail and landing replacement In Progress

March 2023

Maintenance and Facility Work Order Report

281

Item 14.



00335 Wallace and San Marcos Void

00334 Stop Sign San Marcos and Wallace st. Completed

00333 MD006 Oil Change Completed

00332 Sign removal Completed

00331 Ranch House septic tank Completed

00330 Container canopy install In Progress

00329 Ex mark Completed

00328 Furniture moving Completed

00327 MD004 Inspection needed Completed

00326 MD002 Inspection needed Completed

00325 Install bollards around Generac generator. In Progress

00324 Install new lock on CB panel(s) on Mercer St. Completed

00323 Install new lock on CB Panel on College St. Completed

00322 DSRP A/C Filter check/replacement Completed

00321 Ranch House A/C Filter Replacement Completed

00320 Repair Road to WWTP Completed

00319 Barn Water Valve non-operational Completed

00318 Skid Steer hydraulic fitting leaking Completed

00317 Reinstall handicap sign Void

00316 Scorekeeper shack maintenance Completed

00315 Fix gate & clean up area inside the electrical box Completed

00314 Take down signs at Adult Softball Fields *See pict Completed

00313 RP002 Safety Recall Completed

00312 MD003 Inspection needed Completed

00311 MD005 Inspection needed Completed

00310 MD002 Oil Change Completed

00309 Spare tire Completed

00308 Ramirez Ln Pot holes Completed

00307 Weeds Completed

00306 Springlake Dr. Potholes Completed

00305 Handicap sign Completed

00304 Flower pot Completed

00303 DRIP Field Main and Return Line Repair Completed

00302 Gate Valve Install RAS Completed

00301 Council Chamber Air Duct cover cleaning Completed

00300 Close/Lock Door to storage room Completed

00299 395 Mason Court Water Meter Completed

00298 Re-attach fence panels at Ranch House Completed

00297 Hitch Lock Key copies made Completed

00296 City Hall Kitchen - Multi-Outlet Cord Failure Completed

00295 Dog Waste Bags Founders Completed

00294 Pool Fence Netting New Work Order

00293
Fallen Tree Disposal @ Adult Softball Field

Pleas
Completed

00292 Set Water Meter 102 Yellow Rose Completed

00291 Diesel In WWTP Generator Completed

00290 Landscaping - VMP Completed

00289 Landscaping - Rob Shelton Completed

00288 Storm Damage - SRP Completed

282

Item 14.



00287 New Banner Install - DSRP - SRP Completed

00286 Wind Damage - VMP Completed

00285 Weed Control - Rob Shelton Completed

00284 Weed Control - Rob Shelton Completed

00283 Possible toilet leak Completed

00282 Drain Completed

00281 Ice storm recovery Completed

00280 Digester Valve Repair In Progress

283

Item 14.



Priority Origin Source Asset Source User

PM MD002 - 2018 Ford F-350 Craig Rice

PM MD002 - 2018 Ford F-350 Sonny Garza

PM MD004 - 2018 Ford F-250 Craig Rice

Medium - 3-7 days PM MD004 - 2018 Ford F-250 Craig Rice

PM MD003 - 2019 Ford F-150 Craig Rice

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM John Hill

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM MD002 - 2018 Ford F-350 Sonny Garza

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM BD003 - 2022 Chevy Blazer Sonny Garza

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Wacey Henager

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM MD005 - 2021 Ford F-150 Sonny Garza

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Craig Rice

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM EM001 - 2022 Chevy 1500 Craig Rice

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Wacey Henager

High - 1-3 days Non-PM Wacey Henager

High - 1-3 days Non-PM Anthony  Pennell

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Andrew Thompson

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM Andrew Thompson

High - 1-3 days Non-PM Wacey Henager

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM MD002 - 2018 Ford F-350 Craig Rice

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Gray Lahrman

High - 1-3 days Non-PM Wacey Henager

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM Andrew Thompson

PM MD003 - 2019 Ford F-150 Sonny Garza

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM MD003 - 2019 Ford F-150 Craig Rice

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM PW004 - 2019 Ford F-150 Sonny Garza

High - 1-3 days Non-PM Andrew Thompson

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM John Hill

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM John Hill

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

High - 1-3 days Non-PM Andrew Thompson

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM MD004 - 2018 Ford F-250 Craig Rice

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM Andrew Thompson

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Low - 7-15 days PM PW004 - 2019 Ford F-150 Sonny Garza

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM John Hill

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM Billy Stevens

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Anthony  Pennell

High - 1-3 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

March 2023

Maintenance and Facility Work Order Report

284

Item 14.



Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Robert Hutson

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Andrew Thompson

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM MD006 - 2022 GMC 2500 Andrew Thompson

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM PW-Exmark-LzrZ Sonny Garza

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Andrew Thompson

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM MD004 - 2018 Ford F-250 John Hill

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM MD002 - 2018 Ford F-350 Sonny Garza

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM Craig Rice

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Robert Hutson

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Robert Hutson

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Wacey Henager

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM Andrew Thompson

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM PCS-New Holland-L228 Sonny Garza

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM RP002 - 2021 Ford F-350 Sonny Garza

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM MD003 - 2019 Ford F-150 Sonny Garza

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM MD005 - 2021 Ford F-150 Riley Sublett

Spare Time Non-PM MD002 - 2018 Ford F-350 Craig Rice

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM PCS-Texas Pride-Dmp Trlr Andrew Thompson

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Andrew Thompson

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM John Hill

Critical - ASAP Non-PM John Hill

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Andrew Thompson

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM John Hill

Critical - ASAP Non-PM Gray Lahrman

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Anthony  Pennell

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM Andrew Thompson

High - 1-3 days Non-PM John Hill

Critical - ASAP Non-PM Anthony  Pennell

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM PCS-Texas Pride-Dmp Trlr Sonny Garza

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM John Hill

High - 1-3 days Non-PM John Hill

Low - 7-15 days Non-PM Craig Rice

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

High - 1-3 days Non-PM Anthony  Pennell

High - 1-3 days Non-PM Anthony  Pennell

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM John Hill

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM John Hill

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM John Hill

285

Item 14.



Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM John Hill

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM John Hill

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM John Hill

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM John Hill

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Robert Hutson

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Andrew Thompson

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Sonny Garza

Medium - 3-7 days Non-PM Billy Stevens

286

Item 14.



Assigned Expected

03/31/2023 11:58:00 AM 04/07/2023 11:59:00 PM

03/31/2023 11:56:00 AM 04/07/2023 11:59:00 PM

03/31/2023 11:50:00 AM 04/07/2023 11:59:00 PM

03/31/2023 11:42:00 AM 04/07/2023 11:59:00 PM

03/31/2023 10:52:00 AM 04/07/2023 11:59:00 PM

03/31/2023 10:45:00 AM

03/31/2023 10:44:00 AM

03/30/2023 12:55:00 PM

03/30/2023 10:56:00 AM

03/29/2023 03:30:00 PM

03/29/2023 03:27:00 PM

03/29/2023 10:33:00 AM

03/29/2023 10:25:00 AM

03/29/2023 10:09:00 AM

03/29/2023 10:05:00 AM

03/29/2023 10:02:00 AM

03/29/2023 07:32:00 AM

03/29/2023 07:14:00 AM

03/29/2023 06:59:00 AM

03/28/2023 08:22:00 AM

03/27/2023 01:19:00 PM

03/27/2023 09:33:00 AM

03/27/2023 09:34:00 AM

03/24/2023 01:55:00 PM 03/28/2023 05:00:00 PM

03/24/2023 08:45:00 AM

03/24/2023 06:54:00 AM

03/24/2023 06:43:00 AM

03/23/2023 04:11:00 PM

03/23/2023 03:45:00 PM 03/30/2023 11:59:00 PM

03/23/2023 03:42:00 PM

03/23/2023 01:02:00 PM

03/23/2023 12:46:00 PM

03/21/2023 04:04:00 PM

03/21/2023 04:02:00 PM

03/21/2023 03:31:00 PM

03/20/2023 02:19:00 PM 03/24/2023 03:00:00 PM

03/20/2023 02:13:00 PM 03/23/2023 09:00:00 AM

03/20/2023 11:11:00 AM

03/20/2023 09:14:00 AM

03/20/2023 08:15:00 AM

03/17/2023 02:27:00 PM 03/18/2023 11:59:00 PM

03/17/2023 01:45:00 PM

03/17/2023 10:32:00 AM

03/17/2023 09:12:00 AM

03/17/2023 08:18:00 AM

March 2023

Maintenance and Facility Work Order Report

287

Item 14.



03/16/2023 02:23:00 PM

03/16/2023 01:54:00 PM 03/16/2023 01:00:00 AM

03/16/2023 09:41:00 AM

03/17/2023 08:22:00 AM

03/15/2023 09:10:00 AM

03/15/2023 08:53:00 AM 03/31/2023 12:00:00 AM

03/14/2023 03:26:00 PM

03/14/2023 01:38:00 PM

03/14/2023 11:29:00 AM

03/14/2023 11:15:00 AM

03/14/2023 09:58:00 AM

03/14/2023 09:54:00 AM

03/14/2023 09:51:00 AM

03/14/2023 08:44:00 AM

03/14/2023 08:43:00 AM

03/13/2023 03:03:00 PM

03/13/2023 08:33:00 AM

03/13/2023 08:32:00 AM

03/10/2023 11:36:00 AM

03/10/2023 11:32:00 AM

03/10/2023 11:31:00 AM

03/10/2023 11:29:00 AM

03/09/2023 02:33:00 PM

03/09/2023 02:03:00 PM

03/09/2023 01:59:00 PM

03/09/2023 01:51:00 PM

03/09/2023 11:22:00 AM

03/08/2023 03:12:00 PM

03/08/2023 03:10:00 PM

03/08/2023 03:09:00 PM

03/08/2023 03:02:00 PM

03/08/2023 02:58:00 PM

03/08/2023 12:52:00 PM 03/09/2023 12:00:00 AM

03/08/2023 12:49:00 PM

03/08/2023 09:47:00 AM

03/08/2023 08:29:00 AM

03/07/2023 04:25:00 PM

03/08/2023 08:09:00 AM

03/08/2023 08:08:00 AM

03/06/2023 01:44:00 PM

03/06/2023 12:40:00 PM

03/08/2023 08:07:00 AM

03/08/2023 08:06:00 AM

03/03/2023 03:22:00 PM

03/03/2023 11:08:00 AM

03/03/2023 10:45:00 AM

03/03/2023 10:41:00 AM

03/03/2023 10:39:00 AM

288

Item 14.



03/03/2023 10:35:00 AM

03/03/2023 10:33:00 AM

03/03/2023 08:33:00 AM

03/03/2023 08:30:00 AM

03/08/2023 08:06:00 AM

03/01/2023 08:26:00 AM

03/01/2023 08:23:00 AM

03/01/2023 07:28:00 AM

289

Item 14.



Site Total Average days to close

Total

Average days to close

Facilities 15 4.64

Fleet & Equipment 24 6.30

Parks & Rec/Forestry 21 9.02

Streets/Signs/Sidewalks 16 11.02

Water Distribution & Wastewater 11 8.48

Report Parameters

[ Originated ] Between '03/01/2023' And '03/31/2023'Advanced Filters:

Search:

Filter:

Tags:

Date Printed: 04/12/2023

Completed WOs by Site Analysis

Page 1 of 1

290

Item 14.



PM vs Non-PM Comp. WOs

Site Region Active WOs Comp WOs Active PM WOs Comp PM WOs
Active Non-PM

WOs
Comp Non-PM

WOs
WO Cost $ WO Hours Avg Cost $ Avg Hours

Facilities
Dripping
Springs

5 15 0 0 5 15 1078.22 41.77 53.91 2.09

Fleet &
Equipment

Dripping
Springs

1 24 0 6 1 18 3680.94 33.50 147.24 1.34

Parks &
Rec/Forestry

Dripping
Springs

1 21 0 0 1 21 1323.37 57.50 60.15 2.61

Streets/Signs/
Sidewalks

Dripping
Springs

0 16 0 0 0 16 1203.02 38.75 75.19 2.42

Water
Distribution &
Wastewater

Dripping
Springs

3 11 0 0 3 11 2176.42 111.25 155.46 7.95

Filter:

Search:

Report Parameters

Site Comparison

Date Printed: 04/12/2023 Page 1 of 2

291

Item 14.



Site Region Active WOs Comp WOs Active PM WOs Comp PM WOs
Active Non-PM

WOs
Comp Non-PM

WOs
WO Cost $ WO Hours Avg Cost $ Avg Hours

Advanced Filters: [ Originated ] Between '03/01/2023' And '03/31/2023'

Tags:

Site Comparison

Date Printed: 04/12/2023 Page 2 of 2

292

Item 14.



Subdivision Project Name
City Limits / 

ETJ
Location Description Status

SUB2021-0065 Heritage Phase 2 Final Plat CL
Sportsplex Drive (Heritage 
Development)

162 Lots on 69.999 acres, 160 of which are residential 
with an average lot size of 0.143 acres

Waiting on Resubmittal

SUB2021-0069 Cannon Ranch Ph 1 Construction 
Plans

CL Cannon Ranch Road
Development of 122 residential lots with public 
roadways, utilities, and drainage features. 

Approved with conditions

SUB2021-0073 Hardy  Preliminary Plat CL 2901 W US 290 41 Residential lots on 39.341 Under Review
SUB2022-0002 Hays Street Subidivision CL 102 Bluff Street Subdivision of 6 residential lots in the Historic District Approved with conditions
SUB2022-0009 Driftwood Subdivision Phase 3 
Preliminary Plat

ETJ 17901 FM 1826
Preliminary Plat for 14 lots: 12 Residential, 1 
Commercial, 1 Industrial

Approved with conditions

SUB2022-0012 Driftwood Sub Ph 3 Sec 1 FP ETJ 17901 FM 1826 Final Plat for 1 Commercial Lot Waiting for Resubmittal

SUB2022-0013 Driftwood Sub Ph 3 Sec 2 FP ETJ 17901 FM 1826
FP for 11 single-family residential lots, 1 open space 
lot, and 1 private street lot on 34.67 acres

Waiting for Resubmittal

SUB2021-0011 Double L Phase 1 Prelim Plat ETJ 1.5 miles N of US 290 & RR 12 PP for 243 residential units and 1 amenity center Approval with Conditions

SUB2022-0021 Headwaters at BC Phase 3 CP ETJ
Intersection of Hazy Hills Loop and 
Roy Branch Road

Construction Plans Approved with conditions

SUB2022-0023 Overlook at Bunker Ranch CP CL 2004 Creek Road
Construction Plans for 12 single family lots with 1 
drainage lot

Approved with conditions

SUB2022-0028 Parten Ranch Phase 8 ETJ
End of Bird Hollow near Trickling 
Brook Road Intersection

90 Lot Subdivision Approved with conditions

SUB2022-0033 The Ranch at Caliterra ETJ Premier Park Loop Preliminary plat of the Carter tract with 243 lots Approved with conditions

SUB2022-0036 Driftwood Creek FM 150 12 Treated 
Effluent and 10 Raw Wastewater Forcemains Ph I and II

ETJ FM 150
12 inch treated effluent line and 10 inch wastewater 
forcemains to connect with Dripping Springs WWTP

Approved with conditions

SUB2022-0039 Village Grove Preliminary Plat CL Sports Park Rd
Village Grove PDD. This is 112.40 acres including 207 
lots, 511 residential units, and 6.82 acres will be 
commercial

Waiting for Resubmittal

SUB2022-0040 102 S Bluff St CP CL Hays st
Construction Plans for 7 lots. Six of wich are residential 
and 1 will be landscaping

Waiting for Resubmittal

SUB2022-0041 Hays St Preliminary Plat CL Hays st
Preliminary Plat for 7 lots. Six of wich are residential 
and 1 will be landscaping

Approved with conditions

SUB2022-0042 Silver Creek Subdivision ETJ Silver Creek Rd
70-acre tract to be developed into a 28 single family 
lots with access, paving, on-site sewage, water supply 
well, and an undisturbed open space

Approved with conditions

SUB2022-0043 Howard Ranch Sec 4 Lots 62 & 63 AP ETJ 590 Cypress Creek Dr
An amending plat to remove a site parking area from 
the single family lot. This request is by the property 
owner.

Waiting for Resubmittal

SUB2022-0045 Ellington Estates MP ETJ 206 Darden Hill Rd Legalizing the lot Under Review

SUB2022-0046 Kali Kate ETJ 4550 FM 967
City of Dripping Springs and City of Buda Interlocal 
Agreement

Waiting for Resubmittal

SUB2022-0047 Ariza West 290 ETJ 13900 W US Highway 290 The Final Plat for an apartment complex In Administrative Completeness
SUB2022-0048 Wild Ridge Phase 1 CP CL E US 290 Construction plans for phase 1 of Wild Ridge Waiting for Resubmittal

SUB2022-0049 Serenity Hills ETJ
1111 HAYS COUNTRY ACRES 
ROAD

50 Lot subdivision in Dripping Springs ETJ Approved with conditions

SUB2022-0050 North 40, Section 2, Block B, Lots 1, 2, 
29, and 30

CL 28501 RR 12 Amending Plat to combine 4 lots into 1 Waiting for Resubmittal

SUB2022-0052 Village Grove Phase 1 CP CL Sports Park Rd
The construction plans for phase 1 of the Village Grove 
development

Waiting for Resubmittal

SUB2023-0001 Village Grove Phase 2B CP CL Sports Park Rd
Residential townhome infrastructure improvements. 
Construction of 16 Townhome lots and roadways.

Waiting for Resubmittal

SUB2023-0003 The Ranch at Caliterra CP ETJ Soaring Hill Rd at HC Carter Way Construction Plans for the Carter tract. Waiting for Resubmittal

SUB2023-0004 Driftwood 967, Ph 1, Lot 2 Replat ETJ FM 967 at FM 1826
Subdividing 1 lot to 11 lots to be part of the Driftwood 
Development

Waiting for Resubmittal

SUB2023-0005 Skylight Hills Prelim ETJ 13001 & 13111 High Sierra Creating 11 residential lots in the ETJ Waiting for Resubmittal

SUB2023-0006 Wild Ridge Phase 1 FP CL E US 290
Approximately 62.1 acres to include 136 residential 
lots, roadways, and a commercial lot

Waiting for Resubmittal

SUB2023-0007 Skylight Hills Construction Plans ETJ 13001 & 13111 High Sierra Creating the infrastructure of 11 residential lots Waiting for Resubmittal
SUB2023-0008 Silver Creek Subdivision Construction 
Plans

ETJ Silver Creek Rd
29 Single family residential lots with access, paving, 
OSSF, water supply well, and open space

Under Review

SUB2023-0009 Needham Estate, Lot 3 Replat ETJ 701 Needham Rd Dividing lot 3 into two lots, 3A and 3B. Under Review
SUB2023-0010 Caliterra Phase 5 Section 13 Prelim ETJ Bridge Water Loop at Kelsey Lane Prelim plat for 11 new lots in phase 5 section 13 Under Review

SUB2023-0012 Springlake Lot 57 Replat ETJ 100 Oakview Dr
Subdivide the existing tract of land into two newly 
platted tracts of land. 

Under Review

SUB2023-0011 Big Sky Ranch Phase 3 AP CL 171 Sue Peak Loop
Amending plat to accommodate builders larger home 
designs.

Under Review

SUB2023-0013 WT Chapman, 5th Addition, Lots 1-4 
Amending Plat

CL 216 South Bluff St Dividing 1 lot into 4. Under Review

SUB2023-0014 Parten Ranch Phase 8 CP ETJ
End of Bird Hollow near Trickling 
Brook Road Intersection

81.03 acres with 87 single family lots and 3 drainage / 
open space lotss and right of way.

Under Review

SUB2023-0015 CAK Capital Office Building AP CL 28496 Ranch Road 12
Removal of lot line between LOTS 1-2 BLK A, to create 
LOT 1 BLK A 

Under Review

293

Item 16.



Site Development Project Name
City Limits / 

ETJ
Location Description Status

SD2021-0005 Dripping Springs WWTP Expansion CL 23127 FM 150 W Expansion of the Wastewater treatment plant HOLD

SD2021-0021 RR 12 Commercial Kitchen CL 28707 RR 12
Commercial kitchen that will support a catering 
business, no on-site dining is proposed

Approved w/ Conditions

SD2021-0013 Dreamland ETJ Waiting on resubmittal

SD2021-0030 Belterra Townhomes ETJ Belterra
Seven townhome units with associated parking, 
sidewalk, utilities, and drainage

Waiting on resubmittal

SD2021-0033 Bell Springs Business Park, Sec 1&2 
Rev

ETJ 4955 Bell Springs
A revision for minor adjustments on site layouts, 
rainwater, and overall drainage & water quality

Waiting on resubmittal

SD2022-0001 Julep Commercial Park ETJ
Northeast corner of W US 290 and 
Trautwein Rd

11.27 acre site of mixed-use commercial buildings with 
supporting driveways, water quality and detention 
pond, rainwater harvesting, and other utilities

Waiting on resubmittal

SD2022-0010 Wenty's Wine Bar ETJ 5307 Bell Springs Rd Wine bar and associated improvements Waiting on resubmittal

SD2022-0007 Heritage Effluent Line Stage II Extension CL 511 Mercer Street

Extension of the existing 12" effluent line north along 
RR12, along with an 8" effluent line that spans from 
Rob Shelton, across Hwy 290, and north to Heritage 
Stage 2

Waiting on resubmittal

SD2022-0008 Patriot's Hall Phase 1B ETJ 231 Patriots Hall Blvd
New Patriot's Hall event building with parking, 
infrastructure and
water quality

Waiting on resubmittal

SD2022-0013 DS Flex Business Park CL 28513 RR 12
Construction of two shell buildings with accompanying 
site improvements

Waiting on resubmittal

SD2022-0011 Skybridge Academy CL 519 Old Fitzhugh Road
Remodel/repurpose of exisiting historic structures, add 
new construction to tie together the house and garage 
with additional parking and revised driveway

Approved w/ Conditions

SD2022-0014 Bell Springs Site Plan (Travis Flake) ETJ 5307 Bell Springs Rd
Office and Warehouse with drives, parking, waterline 
connection, and pond

Approved w/ Conditions

SD2022-0016 JWLP Lot 6 Revision 1 CL 249 Sportsplex Drive Revision to the original site plan Waiting on resubmittal

SD2022-0018 Office 49 ETJ 241 Frog Pond Lane
The construction of eleven office buildings of varying 
sizes along with the related
paving, grading, drainage, and utility improvements.

Waiting on resubmittal

SD2022-0019 Double L Ranch, Phase 1 ETJ RR 12
Construction of water, wastewater, drainage and 
paving improvements for 244 single family lots.

Waiting on resubmittal

SD2022-0020 Merigian Studios ETJ 105 Daisy Lane
Art studio with driveway, parking, and external 
structures

Approved w/ Conditions

SD2022-0022 Belterra Medical Office ETJ 164 Belterra Village Way
Medical office building with associated parking, 
sidewalk, utility and drainage improvements

Approved

SD2022-0023 Christian Automotive ETJ 100 N. Canyonwood Drive
Construction of an approximately 6,000 square feet of 
light automotive facility

Approved w/ Conditions

SD2022-0024 4400 US 290 SP ETJ 4400 US 290 7 Commercial Buildings in the ETJ Waiting on resubmittal

SD2022-0025 Hardy Drive ETJ 2901 US 290
Construction of a road for the Hardy and Bunker Ranch 
development to meet fire code

Waiting on resubmittal

SD2022-0027 Sawyer Ranch Lot 3A CL 13341 W US 290
Lot 3A of the Sawyer Ranch at US 290 development. 
This consists of commercial buildings with parking, 
sidewalks, and utilies.

Approved w/ Conditions

SD2022-0029 Headwaters Commercial East Phase 1 
SP

CL Headwaters Blvd.

Development of a preschool with associated utility 
infrastructure, storm infrastructure, parking lot 
improvements, and a water quality/detention pond that 
accounts for future developments

Waiting on resubmittal

SD2022-0031 WHIM Corporate Site Plan CL 27950 RR12
The construction of the corporate HQ for WHIM along 
with the site improvements needed and as shown in 
the site plan.

Waiting on resubmittal

SD2022-0032 Driftwood Ranch Clubhouse ETJ 17901 FM 1826 Clubhouse buildings and parking Approved

SD2022-0037 Burlebo ETJ 149 American Way
Warehouse/office for business and distribution 
operation of Burlebo

Approved

SD2022-0038 CAK Capital Office Building CL 28496 Ranch Road 12 Site improvements for future detached office building Approved w/ Conditions

SD2022-0039 Big Sky Ranch WWTP CL Sue Peaks Loop
Temporary Wastewater Treament Plan and subsurface 
area drip disposal system to serve Big Sky 
Development

Waiting on resubmittal

SD2022-0041 Dripping Springs Urgent Care CL 164 Belterra Village Way
Ground up development of an urgent care facility 
within the Belterra Commercial District

Waiting on resubmittal

SD2022-0042 Suds Brothers Car Wash CL 610 W Hwy 290 Rapid car wash facility Waiting on resubmittal
SD2022-0043 Tiger Lane Office Complex CL Tiger Lane Office complex with potential for food trucks Waiting on resubmittal
SD2023-0001 Arrowhead Ranch Offsite Wastewater 
Extension

CL Arrowhead Ranch
To connect the existing wastewater improvements from 
Arrowhead to the City wastewater system.

Approved w/ Conditions

SD2023-0002 Fitzhugh Corners ETJ 15310 Fitzhugh Road A 13,908 sq ft building with site improvements Waiting on resubmittal

SD2023-0003 Dutch Bros Coffee ETJ 12400 US Hwy. 290
Revision to the Ledgestone Commercial East Site Plan 
specifically for Dutch Bros Coffee

Approved

SD2023-0004 Austin Ridge Bible Church Revision ETJ 31330 Ranch Road 12
Revmoval of the existing old house, the addition of 3 
portable buildings and pavilion; additional parking.

Waiting on resubmittal

SD2023-0005 DGRC Creek Phase 1 WQ Pond Revision ETJ Thurman Roberts Way Driftwood Water Quality pond revision Under Review 

SD2023-0006 DS Vet Clinic CL Cortaro Dr & RR 12
2 Phase Site Development Plan with 3,957sf 
veterinarian clinic with paving, drainage and utility 
infrastructure

Waiting on resubmittal

SD2023-0007 Phase 4A Drip Irrigation System 
Improvements

ETJ 2581 E Hwy 290
The project is Phase 4A of the drip disposal fields and 
consists of 14.76 acres of drip irrigation fields only.

Approved w/ Conditions

ADMINISTRATIVE APPROVAL PROJECTS

2
294

Item 16.



Site Development Project Name
City Limits / 

ETJ
Location Description Status

SD2023-0008 102 Rose Drive CL 102 Rose Dr
Construction of tow additional duplexes w/ 
accompanying site improvments

Waiting on resubmittal

SD2023-0009 Paloma CL 235 Sports Park Rd Adding improvements to the site Waiting on resubmittal

SD2023-0010 Creek Road Horse Farms CL/ETJ 1225 Creek Rd
Horse training facility with covered riding arena, barn, 
storage building and open-air riding.

Under Review 

SD2021-0031A Rob Shelton Blvd. Extension CP CL 27110 Ranch Road 12
Full depth new construction of Rob Shelton Blvd with 
curb and gutter, rasied median, illumination and storm 
drain

Approved

SD2023-0011 Amazing Explorers Academy ETJ Ledgestone
Daycare facility, including driveways, parking areas; 
and water, wastewater, and stormwater facilities.

Under Review 

3
295

Item 16.



Comprehensive 
Plan

Gateway Village

Cannon Mixed-Use

PDD2023-0001 
Madelynn Estates

Ongoing Projects

Meetings with DTJ

City Council to make ultimate 
decision on April 18 

Back and forth comments

New PDD

296

Item 16.


	Top
	Item 1.	PID: Heritage
	Heritage PID.staff report.2022
	Heritage Staff Report Revised (6-16-17lm an) edited
	Attachment B-DS PID POLICY

	Item 2.	MIN: 03.21.23 CC Minutes
	03.21.23 CC Minutes_draft

	Item 3.	MIN: 04.04.23 CC Minutes
	04.04.23 CC Minutes_draft

	Item 4.	RPT: March 2023 City Treasurer's Report
	March 2023 Treasurer's Report
	Budget Report - March 2023

	Item 5.	AGMT: Confidential Tax Information Los Olivos Market
	Los Olivos Sales Tax Reporting - Staff Report - 4.18.23
	Agreement for Disclosurer of Confidential Tax Information - Los Olivos
	2010 -- Hays Co. MUD No. 4_Strategic Partnership Agreement

	Item 6.	AMGT: Co-Sponsorship Agreement Pride of Dripping Springs
	2023 - CC Staff Report - Pride of Dripping Springs
	City of Dripping Springs Co Sponsor request letter.docx
	Co-Sponsorship Agreement- PODS (Draft)2023
	PODS Triangle banner (002)
	2023_05_25_PrideofDS_RentalAgreement_Updated

	Item 7.	AGMT: PSA Hell Country Productions, Inc.
	2023 - CC Staff Report - Hell Country Productions 
	2023 - Hell Country Haunts Use Agreement Draft

	Item 8.	RES: Bank Signatory Resolution
	Banking Signatory Resolution - Staff Report - 4.18.23
	Check Signing 2023 Resolution

	Item 9.	AGMT: Building Inspection Services
	Staff Report Inspection Services 4-13-2023

	Item 10.	PDD2021-0004 Gateway Village
	1. StaffReport CC Workshop
	2. PDD Ordinance
	3. Exhibit B Gateway Village - Concept Plan
	4. Exhibit C Gateway Village - Parkland Exhibit
	5. EXHIBIT D Gateway Village - Variance Chart
	6. Exhibit E Gateway Village - Phasing Plan
	7. Exhibit F Gateway Village  - PD Uses Chart
	8. Exhibit G Village Grove - Street Standards
	8. Exhibit G Village Grove - Street Standards2
	9. Exhibit H Gateway Village - WQBZ
	10. Exhibit I - 290 Landscape Buffer
	ANNEX2023-0002 Ordinance
	ANNEX2023-0002 Service Agreement - Gateway Village revised rgb 041223
	Exhibit A_Legal Description

	Item 11.	AGMT: Gateway Village Agreements
	Gateway Village Agreements Staff Report

	Item 12.	RES: DS MUD 1
	Staff Report - Gateway Village Consent To MUD.1
	13. DS MUD 1 - City Consent Resolution

	Item 13.	AGMT: DS MUD 1
	Staff Report - Gateway Village MUD Agreement
	12. DS MUD 1 - Agreement Amendment
	2021 -- Dripping Springs MUD No. 1_Creation & Operation Agreement

	Item 14.	RPT: Facilities and Maintenance Report
	Maintenance and Facilty Work Order Report - March 2023
	Completed WOs by Site Analysis - March 2023
	Summary Report_SiteComparison - March 2023

	Item 16.	RPT: Planning Department Report
	Planning Dept Report 4.18.23

	Bottom

